

Classe di Scienze Corso di Perfezionamento in Matematica

Functions of bounded variation on RCD spaces

Candidato Camillo Brena Relatori Prof. Luigi Ambrosio Prof. Nicola Gigli

Anno accademico 2023-2024

Abstract

In the Euclidean framework, a (vector valued) function of bounded variation is a function $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)^m$ whose distributional differential is a matrix valued Radon measure, meaning that there exist nm Radon measures, $(D_i f_j)_{i=1,...,n,j=1,...,m}$, satisfying

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f_j \partial_{x_i} g \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^n = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g \mathrm{d}\mathrm{D}_i f_j \qquad \text{for every } g \in C^1_c(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

for every i = 1, ..., n, and for every j = 1, ..., m. An important class of functions of bounded variation is the one of sets of finite perimeter, i.e. those sets whose characteristic function $f = \chi_E$ has bounded variation.

Functions of bounded variation have proven to be an essential tool in many situations, both from the theoretical perspective and from the applied perspective, for instance in the fields of minimal surfaces, image segmentation, and denoising. This led to the study of many properties of functions of bounded variation (in particular, of sets of finite perimeter), such as their fine properties and calculus rules. For example, a fundamental theorem of De Giorgi characterizes a suitable measure theoretic boundary for sets of finite perimeter and shows properties similar to those of sets with smooth boundary, whereas the Vol'pert chain rule describes the distributional differential of $\varphi \circ f$ in terms of the distributional differential of f, for a (vector valued) function of bounded variation f and a C^1 Lipschitz function φ .

Recently, there has been growing interest in the class of RCD(K, N) spaces. RCD(K, N)spaces are those metric measure spaces whose Sobolev space is a Hilbert space and having, in a synthetic sense, Ricci curvature bounded from below by K and dimension bounded from above by N. A metric measure space consists in a triplet (X, d, m) given by a set, a complete and separable distance and a non-negative Borel measure that is finite on bounded sets. In this non-smooth framework, it is possible to give a meaning to various function spaces. The RCD(K, N) condition can be enforced through several (equivalent) methods, such as requiring the convexity of certain entropy functionals defined on the space of probability measures or a version of the Bochner inequality, coupled with the request that the Sobolev space is a Hilbert space. One of the motivations of the interest in RCD(K, N) spaces is the following: any sequence of Riemannian manifolds with Ricci curvature bounded from below by K and dimension bounded from above by N, has a subsequence that converges to an RCD(K, N) space (which, in general, is not a Riemannian manifold). For this reason, RCD(K, N) spaces have been proven to be useful also when one starts from an investigation in the smooth context of Riemannian manifolds.

The goal of this manuscript is to provide a comprehensive study of (vector valued) functions of bounded variation defined on RCD spaces, describing their distributional differential and investigating their fine properties and calculus rules. More precisely, this note begins with a recollection of results already present in the literature, some of which are proved in a slightly different way in comparison to the original references: the ideas and techniques used are still the same, but a careful reordering and slight modifications bring to an improvement of the presentation. Then, the bulk of this note contains a collection of results obtained by the author together with coauthors, see [32, 33, 46, 45, 44, 42, 43]. Improvements about the organization of the results and their proofs, in comparison to the original references, are obtained also in this part.

Contents

1	\mathbf{Intr}	oducti	on 9)
	1.1	Functi	ons of bounded variation on Euclidean spaces	i
		1.1.1	Definitions	I
		1.1.2	De Giorgi's Theorem	I
		1.1.3	Fine properties	I
		1.1.4	Calculus rules	
		1.1.5	Subgraphs	
		1.1.6	Alberti's Rank one Theorem 12	i
	1.2	RCD s	spaces	, L
		1.2.1	Definitions	i
		1.2.2	Properties	;
		1.2.3	Functions of bounded variation on metric measure spaces	2
		1.2.4	Functions of bounded variation on PI spaces	-
	1.3	Contri	butions \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 15)
		1.3.1	Structure of the thesis)
		1.3.2	Contents)
2	Pre	limina	ries 19	I
	2.1	Metric	e measure spaces	I
		2.1.1	Definitions	I
		2.1.2	Sobolev functions	ļ
		2.1.3	Infinitesimal Hilbertianity	ļ
		2.1.4	Heat flow on infinitesimally Hilbertian spaces	
		2.1.5	Normed modules	
	2.2	RCD s	spaces $\ldots \ldots 22$	ŗ
		2.2.1	Definitions	i
		2.2.2	Doubling and Poincaré	,
		2.2.3	Test functions and test vector fields	,
		2.2.4	Second order calculus	,
		2.2.5	Heat flow on RCD spaces	ì
		2.2.6	Convergence of spaces	,
		2.2.7	Tangents	I
		2.2.8	Structure theory	
		2.2.9	Fine modules	ļ
	2.3	Functi	ons of bounded variation	,
		2.3.1	Definitions and basic properties	,
		2.3.2	Fine properties on PI spaces	ł

CONTENTS

		2.3.3	Integration by parts		41							
		2.3.4	Total variation and capacity		43							
		2.3.5	Cartesian surfaces		44							
		2.3.6	Vector valued functions of bounded variation		45							
		2.3.7	Functions of bounded variation on RCD spaces		46							
3	Sets of finite perimeter 51											
	3.1	Regula	behaviour		. 51							
	3.2	Blow-u	ps		. 52							
		3.2.1	Tools		. 53							
		3.2.2	Splitting maps		. 56							
		3.2.3	Main result		. 64							
	3.3	Reduce	d boundary		. 67							
	3.4	Rectifia	bility		. 68							
	3.5	Repres	entation formula		. 71							
	3.6	Bibliog	raphical notes		72							
4	Dist	tributic	nal differential of BV functions		75							
	4.1	Exister	ce and basic notions		75							
		4.1.1	Formal interpretation		. 78							
	4.2	Fine pr	operties		. 80							
		4.2.1	The jump set		. 86							
	4.3	Calcul	s rules		. 89							
	1.0	4.3.1	Chain rule		. 90							
		4.3.2	Leibniz rule		. 91							
		433	Vol'pert chain rule		91							
		434	General chain rule	• •	93							
	4.4	Bibliog	raphical notes		. 97							
F												
J	5 1	Moin r	oulte		00							
	9.1	5 1 1	Auviliante regulta	• •	99 101							
		5.1.1	Droof of the main results	• •	115							
	5.2	Bibliog	raphical notes	•••	. 116							
_	-			•••								
6	Rank one Theorem119											
	6.1	Main r	esult	• •	119							
		6.1.1	Proof of Lemma 6.1.3		121							
	6.2	Bibliog	raphical notes		127							
7	Nonlocal characterization 129											
	7.1	Main r	esults		129							
		7.1.1	Auxiliary results		129							
		7.1.2	Proof of the main results		135							
	7.2	Bibliog	raphical notes		137							

CONTENTS

8	App	Appendix										
	8.1	Differentiability of Lipschitz functions	. 139									
	8.2	Bibliographical notes	. 140									
A	cknov	wledgments	141									

CONTENTS

Chapter 1

Introduction

This manuscript is about functions of bounded variation on RCD spaces. We start this introduction by recalling the most classical results about functions of bounded variation on Euclidean spaces, with the goal of generalizing them to the non-smooth framework. Then, we recall the definition of RCD space along with some properties. Finally, we discuss how the results mentioned at the beginning of this introduction can be proved in the context of RCD spaces.

1.1 Functions of bounded variation on Euclidean spaces

As stated above, we begin with a recollection of results that are nowadays part of the classical literature of geometric measure theory, e.g. [18, 77, 76, 79, 91], and are fundamental tools in various areas of both applied and theoretical analysis.

1.1.1 Definitions

Functions of bounded variation are those functions whose distributional derivatives can be represented by a Radon measure and arise naturally, for example, taking weak limits of sequences of smooth functions with uniformly bounded 1-Sobolev norm. Namely, for $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we say that fis a function of bounded variation, or $f \in BV(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if there exist n Radon measures $D_1 f, \ldots, D_n f$ satisfying

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f \partial_{x_i} g \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^n = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g \mathrm{d}\mathrm{D}_i f \quad \text{for every } g \in C^1_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

for every i = 1, ..., n. We also have a local version of this definition: $f \in BV_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if for every open and bounded set B, we can find $f_B \in BV(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $f_B = f$ on B. This induces a well-defined notion of distributional differential also for functions belonging to $BV_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Finally, applications often require the study of vector valued functions of bounded variation, i.e. *m*-tuples of functions of bounded variation. To a map of bounded variation $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_m) \in$ $BV(\mathbb{R}^n)^m$ (or in $BV_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)^m$) one associates in a natural way the matrix-valued Radon measure $Df := (D_i f_j)_{i=1,\ldots,n,j=1,\ldots,m}$, the distributional differential of f. Then, the total variation of a map $f \in BV_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)^m$ is, by definition, the total variation (as a matrix-valued Radon measure, with respect to the Hilbert–Schmidt norm) of Df and is denoted by |Df|. It is also customary to write the polar decomposition

$$\mathbf{D}f = \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{D}f}{\mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f|}|\mathbf{D}f|,$$

where $\frac{dDf}{d|Df|}$ is the polar matrix which has (Hilbert–Schmidt) norm equal to 1 |Df|-a.e.

As a particularly relevant example, we have sets of finite perimeter, also known as Caccioppoli sets, after [54, 55]. A set of finite perimeter is a Borel set E such that $\chi_E \in BV_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $|D\chi_E|(\mathbb{R}^n) < \infty$. The total variation of the indicator function of a set of finite perimeter is also called perimeter and is also denoted by $Per(E, \cdot) := |D\chi_E|$. In this case, one denotes the polar vector as ν_E , so that $D\chi_E = \nu_E |D\chi_E| = \nu_E Per(E, \cdot)$. A similar notation is used for sets of locally finite perimeter, i.e. those Borel sets E satisfying $\chi_E \in BV_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The perimeter measure can be seen as a generalization of the concept of (n-1)-dimensional surface area.

Of great importance, and a hint towards the strong link between sets of finite perimeter and functions of bounded variation in general, we have the coarea formula [78],

$$|\mathbf{D}f| = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathbf{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}}| \mathrm{d}t, \qquad (1.1.1)$$

which holds for any $f \in BV_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

1.1.2 De Giorgi's Theorem

A deep result establishes that sets of (locally) finite perimeter behave infinitesimally as sets with regular boundary do. Specifically, as proved in [65], given a set of (locally) finite perimeter E, there exists an (n-1)-rectifiable set $\mathcal{F}E$ such that the perimeter measure is concentrated on $\mathcal{F}E$, more precisely

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_E| = \mathcal{H}^{n-1} \, \sqcup \, \mathcal{F}E$$

(here and after, \mathcal{H} denotes the Hausdorff measure), and satisfying the following blow-up conditions. For every $x_0 \in \mathcal{F}E$, the blow-ups $\iota_{x_0,r}(E)$ converge in measure to the half-space

$$\{z \in \mathbb{R}^n : z \cdot \nu_E(x_0) \ge 0\}$$

and the blow-ups $r^{-(n-1)}(\iota_{x_0,r})_*|D\chi_E|$ weakly converge to

$$\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^n : z \cdot \nu_E(x_0) = 0 \},\$$

as $r \searrow 0$. Here $\iota_{x_0,r} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is defined by $y \mapsto r^{-1}(y-x_0)$ and $(\iota_{x_0,r})_* |D\chi_E|$ is the push-forward of $|D\chi_E|$ through $\iota_{x_0,r}$.

1.1.3 Fine properties

Given $f \in BV_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)^m$, one considers its singular set S_f , i.e. the complement of the set of approximate continuity of f, the latter defined as the set of those $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that there exists (a unique) $\bar{f}(x) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ satisfying

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \oint_{B_r(x)} |f - \bar{f}(x)| \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^n = 0.$$
(1.1.2)

Here and after, the dashed integral sign denotes the averaged integral. Moreover, there exists a \mathcal{H}^{n-1} -rectifiable set J_f , the jump set of f, such that $\mathcal{H}^{n-1}(S_f \setminus J_f) = 0$ (this is meaningful, as $|Df| \ll \mathcal{H}^{n-1}$), that is characterized as follows. If $\nu_f^J : J_f \to \mathbb{R}^n$ denotes a Borel choice of the unit normal to J_f , every point $x \in J_f$ is a jump point, i.e. there exist $f^r(x), f^l(x) \in \mathbb{R}^m$, satisfying

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \oint_{B_r^+(x,\nu_f^J(x))} |f - f^r(x)| \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^n = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \oint_{B_r^-(x,\nu_f^J(x))} |f - f^l(x)| \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^n = 0, \tag{1.1.3}$$

where
$$B_r^{\pm}(x, \nu_f^J(x)) := \{ y \in B_r(x) : \pm (y - x) \cdot \nu_f^J(x) \ge 0 \}$$
. On J_f , we set
 $\bar{f}(x) := \frac{f^r(x) + f^l(x)}{2}$.

Recall (1.1.2) and notice that \overline{f} is a Borel representative of f, called the precise representative.

It is customary to split the total variation into absolutely continuous part and singular part as

$$|\mathbf{D}f| = |\mathbf{D}f|^a + |\mathbf{D}f|^s$$
 where $|\mathbf{D}f|^a \ll \mathcal{L}^n$ and $|\mathbf{D}f|^s \perp \mathcal{L}^n$,

and further split the singular part into jump part and Cantor part,

$$|\mathbf{D}f|^s = |\mathbf{D}f|^j + |\mathbf{D}f|^c$$
 where $|\mathbf{D}f|^j = |\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup J_f$.

1.1.4 Calculus rules

As soon as one has at disposal the precise representative of a map of bounded variation, it is possible to investigate various calculus rules. The most powerful is the general chain rule of [12]: if $f \in BV(\mathbb{R}^n)^m$ and $\varphi \in LIP(\mathbb{R}^m)$ with $\varphi(0) = 0$, then $\varphi \circ f \in BV(\mathbb{R}^m)$ and it holds

$$\mathbf{D}(\varphi \circ f) \sqcup J_f = \left(\varphi(f^r) - \varphi(f^l)\right) \nu_f^J |\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup J_f,$$
$$\mathbf{D}(\varphi \circ f) \sqcup (\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f) = \left(\nabla \varphi(\bar{f}) \cdot \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{D}f}{\mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f|}\right) |\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup (\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f).$$

Here, it is part of the claim that for |Df|-a.e. $x \notin J_f$, φ is differentiable at $\overline{f}(x)$ in the directions of the image of $\frac{dDf}{d|Df|}$. Hence, the term in brackets in the second line is meaningful (this is not due to Rademacher Theorem, notice indeed that it is possible that the image of \overline{f} is contained in a negligible set, see the discussion after (4.3.10)).

Among the consequences of the general chain rule, we find the Vol'pert chain rule (which has been proved, previously and independently, in [125, 126]), that is the specialization to the case $\varphi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^m) \cap \operatorname{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^m)$: in this case, we can even combine the two equations above using the so-called "Vol'pert averaged superposition" as

$$\mathbf{D}(\varphi \circ f) = \left(\int_0^1 \nabla \varphi(tf^r + (1-t)f^l) \cdot \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{D}f}{\mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f|} \,\mathrm{d}t\right) |\mathbf{D}f|.$$

Finally, if $f, g \in BV(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that $fg \in BV(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with

$$\mathcal{D}(fg) = \bar{f}\mathcal{D}g + \bar{g}\mathcal{D}f,$$

which can be seen as a straightforward consequence of the above chain rule applied to $\varphi(t) = t^2$ (by polarization) or to $\varphi(u, v) = uv$ (applied to (f, g)).

1.1.5 Subgraphs

The results of this section provide another inspiring link between sets of finite perimeter and general functions of bounded variation (recall the coarea formula (1.1.1)). Let $f \in BV(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then, as investigated in [107], see also [79], setting

$$\mathcal{G}_f := \{ (x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} : t < f(x) \},\$$

it turns out that \mathcal{G}_f is a set of locally finite perimeter. Furthermore, if we denote $\pi^1 : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^n$ the map defined by $(x,t) \mapsto x$, the expressions concerning the push-forwards $\pi^1_* D_i \chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}, \pi^1_* |D_i \chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$, and $\pi^1_* |D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ can be computed in terms of Df (such rules are obviously compatible with the usual ones, recall e.g. the area formula, in the case in which f is smooth).

1.1.6 Alberti's Rank one Theorem

It is not hard to prove that on J_f , $\frac{\mathrm{dD}f}{\mathrm{d}|Df|} = (f^r - f^l) \otimes \nu_f^J$, in particular, $\frac{\mathrm{dD}f}{\mathrm{d}|Df|}$ is a rank one matrix $|\mathrm{D}f| \sqcup J_f$ -a.e. Alberti's Rank one Theorem, conjectured in [14] and proved in [1] (see also [106]), shows that this behaviour also holds for the Cantor part. In other words, for any $f \in \mathrm{BV}(\mathbb{R}^n)^m$, $\frac{\mathrm{dD}f}{\mathrm{d}|Df|}$ is a rank one matrix $|\mathrm{D}f|^s$ -a.e. Notice that the same claim for the absolutely continuous part of $|\mathrm{D}f|$ is obviously false.

The Rank one Theorem has found application, for example, in the field of partial differential equations, as in [8, 38] (it has to be said that the Rank one Theorem is not strictly necessary for [8], see [8, Remark 3.7]), and in the field of relaxation of integral functionals, see [13].

1.2 RCD spaces

We introduce RCD spaces and some of their key properties that will be needed in the rest of this introduction, with the aim of motivating the fact that, despite being non-smooth spaces, RCD spaces have a regular enough structure to allow the generalization of the results recalled in Section 1.1. We do not provide a systematic introduction to this deep subject, as it is not the focus of the manuscript and also as we are going to use the fine properties of RCD spaces as a "black box" rather than a comprehensive understanding of the subject. We refer to the surveys [124, 9, 85], the references therein, and the textbook [123], for an account on this subject.

1.2.1 Definitions

Now we briefly introduce the RCD condition, which stands for Riemannian Curvature-Dimension condition. In essence, RCD(K, N) spaces are those metric measure spaces whose Ricci curvature is bounded from below by K and whose dimension is bounded from above by N, in a synthetic sense. Here and after, a metric measure space is a triplet (X, d, m) where X is a set, d is a complete and separable distance and m is a (non-negative) Borel measure giving finite mass to bounded sets. On metric measure spaces one can define the 2-Sobolev space $W^{1,2}(X)$. For example, the approach of [21], after [57], is as follows. Given a function $g \in \text{LIP}(X)$, one defines

$$\operatorname{lip}(g)(x) := \begin{cases} \limsup_{y \to x} \frac{|g(y) - g(x)|}{\mathsf{d}(y, x)} & \text{if } x \text{ is not isolated,} \\ 0 & \text{if } x \text{ is isolated} \end{cases}$$

and then the Cheeger energy of $f \in L^2(\mathsf{m})$ is defined by

$$\operatorname{Ch}(f) := \inf \left\{ \liminf_{k} \int_{\mathsf{X}} \operatorname{lip}(f_{k})^{2} \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} : \{f_{k}\}_{k} \subseteq L^{2}(\mathsf{m}) \cap \operatorname{LIP}(\mathsf{X}), f_{k} \to f \text{ in } L^{2}(\mathsf{m}) \right\}.$$

Then the 2-Sobolev space $W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ is defined as

$$W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) := \left\{ f \in L^2(\mathsf{m}) : \mathrm{Ch}(f) < \infty \right\}$$

and it is endowed with the $\|\cdot\|_{W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})}$ norm,

$$||f||_{W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})}^2 := ||f||_{L^2(\mathsf{m})}^2 + \operatorname{Ch}(f) \quad \text{for every } f \in W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}).$$

It turns out that $(W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}), \|\cdot\|_{W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})})$ is always a Banach space, but, in general, is not a Hilbert space. Moreover, to $f \in W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$, one associates $|\nabla f| \in L^2(\mathsf{m})$, called the minimal asymptotic relaxed slope, satisfying $\operatorname{Ch}(f) = \int_{\mathsf{X}} |\nabla f|^2 \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}$.

By definition, (X, d, m) is an RCD(K, N) space, where $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty]$, if it satisfies the Curvature-Dimension condition CD(K, N) ([120, 121], [104], a suitable convexity property of certain entropy functionals in terms of Wasserstein geodesics) and its 2-Sobolev space is a Hilbert space ([82], [22]). It is possible to give an idea towards the rigorous definition of the RCD condition, considering an equivalent formulation with respect to the one mentioned above. Namely, a metric measure space (X, d, m) is an RCD(K, N) space if, in addition to certain technical assumptions (a bound for the growth of volumes and the so-called Sobolev to Lipschitz property), the associated 2-Sobolev space is a Hilbert space, and moreover the "Bochner inequality"

$$\Delta \frac{|\nabla f|^2}{2} \ge \frac{(\Delta f)}{N} + \nabla f \cdot \nabla \Delta f + K |\nabla f|^2$$
(1.2.1)

holds in a weak sense for any $f \in D(\Delta)$ such that $\Delta f \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$.

Let us motivate this definition involving the weak Bochner inequality. For an *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold (M, g), the well known Bochner equality states that, for a C^3 function f,

$$\Delta \frac{|\nabla f|^2}{2} = \nabla \Delta f \cdot \nabla f + |\text{Hess}f|^2_{\text{HS}} + \text{Ric}(\nabla f, \nabla f).$$
(1.2.2)

If the Ricci curvature is bounded from below by K, in the sense that $\operatorname{Ric} \geq Kg$, and $N \geq n$, we can use the bound from below on the Ricci tensor and the inequality $N|\operatorname{Hess} f|_{\operatorname{HS}}^2 \geq n|\operatorname{Hess} f|_{\operatorname{HS}}^2 \geq (\Delta f)^2$ to prove that (1.2.1) is satisfied in this setting. Conversely, if (1.2.1) above holds for any C^3 function f at any point, then indeed Ric $\geq Kg$ and $N \geq n$. This is seen by plugging into (1.2.1) suitable chosen test functions, namely, for every $p \in M$, $v \in T_p M$, and $\lambda > 0$, it is possible to choose a C^3 function $f = f_{p,v,\lambda}$ satisfying $\nabla f(p) = v$ and $\nabla^2 f(p) = \lambda \operatorname{Id}$, see [123, Proof of Theorem 14.8] for details in a more general situation (i.e. the weighted case). Thus, we have seen that the inequality (1.2.1) is strong enough to entail bounds on the Ricci tensor and on the dimension, but, with respect to (1.2.2), the term $|\operatorname{Hess} f|$ (which involves second order derivatives and that cannot be directly understood in the sense of distributions) disappeared.

In this Introduction, we will only consider finite dimensional RCD spaces, i.e. the case $N \in [1, \infty)$.

RCD spaces enjoy many interesting properties, for example, the class of RCD spaces (with a bound on the volume of unit balls) is compact with respect to the pointed-measured-Gromov–Hausdorff (pmGH) topology (at the end of this section, we give a brief description of such convergence). Moreover, as discussed above, the RCD(K, N) condition is compatible with the smooth case: the metric measure space (M, d_g, Vol_g) naturally induced by an *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold (M, g) is RCD(K, N) if and only if $\text{Ric}_g \geq K$ and $n \leq N$. As a consequence, the following important fact is usually used to motivate the interest in the class of RCD space:

given any sequence of Riemannian manifolds with Ricci curvature uniformly bounded from below and dimension uniformly bounded from above, there exists a subsequence converging (in the pmGH topology) to an RCD space.

It is worth mentioning that RCD spaces obtained with such procedure are usually called Riccilimits, after [59, 60, 61], and are not, in general, Riemannian manifolds.

1.2.2 Properties

This short section recollects results about the structure theory of finite dimensional RCD spaces, obtained in several papers [67, 98, 111, 52, 90, 49]. Given an RCD(K, N) space (X, d, m), there

exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \leq N$, such that $\mathbf{m} = \Theta_n \mathcal{H}^n$, where Θ_n is a Borel function. The integer n is called the essential dimension of the space. Moreover, an RCD space of essential dimension n is n-rectifiable, in the sense that it can be covered, up to an m-negligible set, by countably many Lipschitz images of Borel subsets of \mathbb{R}^n . A notable property of RCD spaces is that at m-a.e. $x \in X$, the blow-up of (X, d, m) at x is $(\mathbb{R}^n, d_e, c_n \mathcal{L}^n)$, where the blow-up is the suitable generalization of the tangent space, and c_n is a renormalization constant that depends only on n. Rigorously, a blow-up is the pmGH limit of the sequence

$$\left(\mathsf{X}, r^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \frac{\mathsf{m}}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}, x\right)$$

as $r \searrow 0$ (later on, we are going to take a different renormalization factor, but this plays no role). Informally speaking, a sequence of pointed RCD(K, N) spaces $(X_i, \mathsf{d}_i, \mathsf{m}_i, x_i)$ converges to a pointed metric measure space $(\mathsf{X}_{\infty}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}, \mathsf{m}_{\infty}, x_{\infty})$ in the pmGH topology if there exists a complete and separable metric space $(\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}})$ such that, for every $i \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$, we can isometrically embed $(\mathsf{X}_i, \mathsf{d}_i)$ in $(\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}})$ and the image measures of m_i weakly converge to the image measure of m_{∞} and the image points corresponding to x_i converge to the image of x_{∞} . It is worth mentioning that, after [37], rectifiability and characterization of blow-ups are morally equivalent.

1.2.3 Functions of bounded variation on metric measure spaces

In the seminal paper [108] (and in [6, 7]), a definition of function of bounded variation on general metric measure spaces has been given (see [71] and references therein), inspired by [35] (recall also the definition of the 2-Sobolev space above, [57]). In particular, this definition suits the context of RCD spaces, but, nevertheless, in this section we will consider also less regular spaces. More precisely, given a metric measure space (X, d, m) and $f \in L^1(m)$, define

$$|\mathrm{D}f|(U) := \inf\left\{\liminf_{k} \int_{\mathsf{X}} \mathrm{lip}(f_k) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} : \{f_k\}_k \subseteq L^1(\mathsf{m}) \cap \mathrm{LIP}(\mathsf{X}), f_k \to f \text{ in } L^1(\mathsf{m})\right\}$$
(1.2.3)

for any $U \subseteq X$ open. Then, $f \in BV(X)$ if $|Df|(X) < \infty$ and, in such case, it is possible to prove that |Df| is induced by a Radon measure, still denoted by |Df|. As in the Euclidean framework, one can define the space $BV_{loc}(X)$ and sets of (locally) finite perimeter.

1.2.4 Functions of bounded variation on PI spaces

An intermediate (thanks to [113], [121]) setting between general metric measure spaces and RCD spaces is given by the one of PI spaces. PI spaces are those metric measure spaces (X, d, m) such that there exists $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ and, for every R > 0, there exist $C_D(R), C_R(P) > 0$ satisfying

$$\mathsf{m}(B_{2r}(x)) \le C_D(R)\mathsf{m}(B_r(x)) \qquad \text{for every } x \in \mathsf{X}, \, r \in (0, R),$$

and, for every $f \in LIP(X)$,

$$\int_{B_r(x)} \left| f - f_{B_r(x)} f \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \right| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \le C_P(R) r f_{B_{\lambda R}(x)} \operatorname{lip}(f) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \qquad \text{for every } x \in \mathsf{X}, \ r \in (0, R).$$

BV functions on metric measure spaces start behaving like the ones on Euclidean spaces already in the PI framework. For example, given a set of (locally) finite perimeter E, it holds that ([6, 7])

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_E| = \Theta_E \mathcal{H}^h \, \sqcup \, \partial^* E,$$

1.3. CONTRIBUTIONS

where Θ_E is a suitable Borel function, \mathcal{H}^h is the one-codimensional spherical Hausdorff measure and is a replacement for \mathcal{H}^{n-1} , and $\partial^* E$, the essential boundary of E, is the replacement for $\mathcal{F}E$ and is defined as

$$\partial^* E := \left\{ x \in \mathsf{X} : \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap E)}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} > 0 \text{ and } \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \setminus E)}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} > 0 \right\}.$$

Then, one is tempted to study further fine properties of functions of bounded variation and hence, for a (scalar valued function) of bounded variation f, one defines f^{\vee}, f^{\wedge} (which play the role of f^r, f^l) using approximate limits:

$$\begin{split} f^{\wedge}(x) &:= \operatorname{ap} \liminf_{y \to x} f(y) \; := \sup \left\{ t \in \bar{\mathbb{R}} : \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap \{f < t\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = 0 \right\},\\ f^{\vee}(x) &:= \operatorname{ap} \limsup_{y \to x} f(y) := \inf \left\{ t \in \bar{\mathbb{R}} : \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap \{f > t\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = 0 \right\}, \end{split}$$

and finally defines $\bar{f} := \frac{f^{\vee} + f^{\wedge}}{2}$. However, it turns out that the usual Leibniz rule does not hold even if one only looks at total variations: the seemingly natural inequality

$$|\mathbf{D}(fg)| \le |\bar{f}||\mathbf{D}g| + |\bar{g}||\mathbf{D}f| \quad \text{for } f, g \in \mathrm{BV}(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{X})$$

does not hold in general, see e.g. [102, Example 4.8]. For various reasons, including this one, further investigation is needed in the more regular setting of RCD spaces.

1.3 Contributions

Now we want to discuss how the results of Section 1.1 can be generalized to the setting of RCD spaces as in Section 1.2.

1.3.1 Structure of the thesis

We first draw a parallel between the results recalled in Section 1.1 and their generalization contained in this manuscript.

The first section of this manuscript aims at generalizing the results mentioned in Section 1.1.2. This manuscript begins by recalling the main results about the study of sets of finite perimeter on RCD spaces obtained in [10, 51, 50]. At the time when [10, 51] were written, the powerful result of [70] was still not available. Later on, the result of [70] was used in [50] to sharpen one of the conclusions of [51]. We can then leverage the findings from [70] right from the beginning to introduce the results of the articles mentioned above. This not only significantly shortens the proofs but also makes some of them simpler and better suited for the subsequent development of the theory. The main ideas and techniques used in this section, even after the modifications described above, are the ones contained in [10, 51, 50]. As we do not use the remarkable "splitting via rigidity in the Bakry–Émery inequality in BV" of [10] in this manuscript, we add a brief discussion about the topic in Section 3.6.

The second section of the manuscript deals with the results of Section 1.1.1, Section 1.1.3, and Section 1.1.4. In particular, we define the distributional differential of (vector valued) functions of bounded variation and study some related properties. The material is mostly taken from [42, 43], but simplifications have been made especially for what concerns the proofs. It is worth noticing that in the particular case of sets of finite perimeter, a definition of the distributional differential has already been proposed in [51]. Here, the result has been improved to hold for vector valued functions of bounded variation, but the technique is still borrowed from [51]. With respect to the definition of the distributional differential, a completely different technique can be used, see [44].

The third section deals with the interplay between functions of bounded variations and the sets of locally finite perimeter represented by their subgraphs, see the results of Section 1.1.5. The material is taken from [32, 33] and proofs have been rewritten to become more readable.

The fourth section deals with the bulk of the proof of the Rank one Theorem, [32], and is a generalization of Section 1.1.6. Thanks to the adaptations of some key lemmas about the rectifiability of the reduced boundaries of sets of finite perimeter, the proof contained in this manuscript is shorter than the original one.

Finally, the fifth section is extracted from [46] and deals with the nonlocal characterization of the total variation, but it will not be discussed in this introduction.

1.3.2 Contents

Having thus outlined the structure of the manuscript, we pass to a more detailed discussion about the mathematical content. The statements are not always completely precise, and are sometimes informal: this is done not to overwhelm this introduction with the necessary technicalities, which, given the technical nature of this work, would make this introduction unreasonably long. Also, as most of the results of the first section were already present in the literature, the discussion is limited to some properties of functions of bounded variation, taken from the second, third, and fourth sections (we do not discuss here the fifth section). The purpose of this introduction is to highlight the main challenges faced in obtaining the results presented in this thesis as well as to give a taste of the techniques of geometric measure theory on non-smooth spaces we used.

For what remains of the introduction, fix an RCD(K, N) space (X, d, m). First, one has to define the objects that are at the centre of the investigation, namely the distributional differentials of functions of bounded variation. There are (at least) two equivalent approaches: the polar decomposition as in [51] and the abstract one as in [44], here we consider the first one. In order to define this object, one needs the machinery of normed modules on metric measure spaces ([84], [69]). Without entering into details, a normed module is the suitable generalization of a vector bundle. For example, the notion of tangent module, read in the smooth (Riemannian) framework, is the algebraic object whose elements are the sections of the tangent bundle. In the non-smooth world, elements in normed modules are defined up to equivalence with respect to a suitable outer/Radon measure; even though the possibility of defining these elements almost everywhere with respect to total variations is a key point, let us avoid this discussion. To sum up, it is possible to show that given a function of bounded variation f, we have the "polar decomposition" $Df := \nu_f |Df|$, where

- ν_f is an element of the tangent module, defined up to |Df|-a.e. equivalence,
- |Df| is the total variation of f, as defined in (1.2.3).

Generalizing this notion to vector valued functions of bounded variation does not take much effort. Indeed, if $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_m) \in BV(X)^m$, one defines $Df := \nu_f |Df|$:

• ν_f is an element of the Cartesian product of *m* copies of the tangent module, defined up to |Df|-a.e. equivalence,

1.3. CONTRIBUTIONS

• |Df| is the total variation of f, seen as a vector valued function of bounded variation. We omit the adaptation of (1.2.3) to the vector valued setting, but it is important to mention that this definition is compatible with the standard one in the Euclidean context.

As soon as that one has the object Df, the first step is the investigation of its fine properties. Namely, a generalization of the coarea formula as in Section 1.1.1 ([108]) and rather soft arguments building upon the theory of sets of finite perimeter, allow us to prove what follows. For a vector valued function of bounded variation $f \in BV(X)^m$, there exists a vector field ν_f^J ("normal to J_f ") such that, for every i = 1, ..., m,

$$\nu_{f_i}$$
 is parallel to ν_f^J on J_f

where J_f is a suitable generalization of the jump set of f. Also, we obtain the analogue of (1.1.3). Moreover, adopting the notation as in Section 1.1.1, we prove that

$$|\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup J_f = d_n |f^r - f^l| \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^h \sqcup J_f,$$

where d_n is a constant that depends only on the essential dimension of (X, d, m). The just mentioned properties will play a role in the derivation of the calculus rules, as they imply that it is morally enough to establish the calculus properties outside the jump set.

For what concerns the calculus properties, we generalize the results of Section 1.1.4. In the Euclidean framework, one can follow this scheme:

- 1. General chain rule: compute $D(\varphi \circ f)$, where $f \in BV(X)^m$ and $\varphi \in LIP(\mathbb{R}^m)$,
- 2. Vol'pert chain rule: compute $D(\varphi \circ f)$, where $f \in BV(X)^m$ and $\varphi \in LIP(\mathbb{R}^m) \cap C^1(\mathbb{R}^m)$,
- 3. Leibniz rule: compute D(fg), where $f, g \in BV(X) \cap L^{\infty}(X)$,
- 4. Chain rule: compute $D(\varphi \circ f)$, where $f \in BV(X)$ and $\varphi \in LIP(\mathbb{R}) \cap C^1(\mathbb{R})$.

Indeed, item (1) can be proved by slicing, relying on elementary results about functions of bounded variation of real variable, [12]. Then item (2) and item (4) follow as particular cases whereas item (3) follows taking as $\varphi \in \text{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ a function that coincides with $(u, v) \mapsto uv$ on a sufficiently large neighbourhood of $0 \in \mathbb{R}^2$.

In the non-smooth setting the slicing technique used to prove item (1) in the Euclidean framework is not available so we have to resort to other ideas. The technique is then to reverse the procedure, i.e. starting from item (4) and obtain, as a chain of consequences, items (3), (2), and finally (1). In particular, item (4) is obtained via a suitable modification of the coarea formula, carefully exploiting fine properties of functions of bounded variation. Then item (3) is obtained by polarization, from item (4). Item (2) is then proved in the case in which φ is a polynomial, iterating item (3), and then is proved by approximation, in the general case. Finally, (1) is obtained by approximation from (2), exploiting a link between "closability of certain differentiation operators" and "differentiability of Lipschitz functions in related directions", [2]. Just to explain the difficulties encountered in proving the implication from item (2) to item (1), notice the following fact: it is false, in general, that φ is differentiable at $\bar{f}(x)$ for |Df|-a.e. x, hence a statement of the kind $D(\varphi \circ f) = \nabla \varphi(f) Df$ has to be suitably interpreted.

In order to build the tools for the proof of the Rank one Theorem, we need to study the relations between functions of bounded variation and the sets of locally finite perimeter given by their subgraphs. Namely, let $f \in BV(X)$, and consider, in the product space,

$$\mathcal{G}_f := \{ (x, t) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : t < f(x) \}.$$

It is not hard to prove that \mathcal{G}_f is a set of locally finite perimeter. Let $\pi : \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathsf{X}$ be defined by $(x,t) \mapsto x$. Then we establish the link between the push-forward $\pi_*|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ and $|\mathsf{D}f|$. Moreover, we study important relations between $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x,t)$ and $\nu_f(x)$. As a result, it turns out that the singular behaviour of f is presented at the projections of the points (x,t) at which the vector $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}$ is horizontal. In particular, we have a description of the set C_f , i.e. the set on which the Cantor part of $|\mathsf{D}f|$ is concentrated, as a projection of a suitable set in $\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}$.

With the tools mentioned above at our disposal, it is possible to prove the Rank one Theorem, which is the most technical result of the manuscript. The motivation behind the interest in this theorem is to showcase the possibility of obtaining very refined results in the non-smooth setting of RCD spaces. The proof of this result builds upon all the theory developed in this thesis and its bulk aims at showing what follows. Given $f \in BV(X)^m$, the polar vector ν_f has rank one $|Df|^c$ -a.e., where this means that $\nu_{f_1}, \ldots, \nu_{f_m}$ are parallel $|Df|^c$ -a.e. It is not hard to realize that it is enough to prove this statement in the case m = 2.

The discussion above implies that it is enough to show that ν_{f_1} and ν_{f_2} are parallel a.e. with respect to $|Df_1|^c \wedge |Df_2|^c$, where the wedge denotes the minimum of two measures, i.e. the biggest measure μ satisfying $\mu \leq |Df_1|^c$ and $\mu \leq |Df_2|^c$. Then, one relies on fine properties of functions of bounded variation to reduce the claim to a statement about the reduced boundaries of subgraphs of functions of bounded variation. Then, we prove a transversality lemma in the spirit of [106], exploiting heavily the rectifiability of reduced boundaries of sets of finite perimeter, which ultimately implies the thesis.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

The aim of this chapter is to give the preliminary notions that are necessary for the understanding of the thesis. For most of the results, we will not give a proof but rather some references, and in some cases, we refer to the references also for the definition of objects involved. Most of the material contained in Section 2.1 and Section 2.2 (and much more) can be found in [89]. We assume that the reader has familiarity with the content of [89], nevertheless, we recall below the notions that we are going to use most frequently.

2.1 Metric measure spaces

Here we deal with metric measure spaces in general, which will be the framework in this manuscript. Later on, we are going to focus on RCD spaces, as in Section 2.2.

2.1.1 Definitions

In this manuscript, we consider only complete and separable metric spaces. A metric measure space is a triplet (X, d, m) where X is a set, d is a (complete and separable) distance on X and m is a non-negative Borel measure that is finite on balls. We adopt the convention that metric measure spaces have full topological support, that is to say that for any $x \in X$ and r > 0, we have $m(B_r(x)) > 0$. Also, to avoid pathological situations, we assume that metric measure spaces are not single points.

A pointed metric measure space is a quadruplet (X, d, m, x) where (X, d, m) is a metric measure space and $x \in X$. We consider two pointed metric measure spaces (X', d', m', x') and (X'', d'', m'', x'')to be isomorphic if there exists an isometry $\Psi : X' \to X''$ such that $\Psi(x') = x''$ and $\Psi_*m' = m''$, where the notation $f_*\nu$ denotes the push-forward of the measure ν through the measurable map f.

We denote the Borel σ -algebra of X by $\mathcal{B}(X)$. For B subset of X and A open subset of X, we write $B \subseteq A$ if B is a bounded subset of A with $d(B, X \setminus A) > 0$. Clearly, if the space is proper (i.e. bounded sets are relatively compact), $B \subseteq A$ if and only if \overline{B} is a compact subset of A.

Given $A \subseteq X$ open, we denote with $\operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{loc}}(A)$ the space of Borel functions that are Lipschitz in a neighbourhood of x, for any $x \in A$. If the space is locally compact, $\operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{loc}}(A)$ coincides with the space of functions that are Lipschitz on compact subsets of A. $\operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{bs}}(X)$ denotes the space of Lipschitz functions that have bounded support. We adopt the usual notation for the various Lebesgue spaces and we extend the meaning of the subscripts loc and bs in the natural way to other function spaces.

2.1.2 Sobolev functions

The *Cheeger energy* ([57], see also [116, 21, 20]) associated to a metric measure space (X, d, m) is the convex and lower semicontinuous functional defined on $L^2(m)$ as

$$\operatorname{Ch}(f) := \frac{1}{2} \inf \left\{ \liminf_{k} \int \operatorname{lip}(f_k)^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} : \{f_k\}_k \subseteq \operatorname{LIP}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^2(\mathsf{m}), f_k \to f \text{ in } L^2(\mathsf{m}) \right\}, \quad (2.1.1)$$

where lip(f) is defined as

$$\operatorname{lip}(f)(x) := \limsup_{y \to x} \frac{|f(y) - f(x)|}{\mathsf{d}(y, x)},$$

which has to be understood to be 0 if x is an isolated point. The finiteness domain of the Cheeger energy is denoted by $H^{1,2}(X)$ and is endowed with the complete norm $||f||^2_{H^{1,2}(X)} := ||f||^2_{L^2(\mathsf{m})} + 2\mathrm{Ch}(f)$. It is possible to identify a canonical and local object $|\mathrm{d}f| \in L^2(\mathsf{m})$, called minimal relaxed slope, providing the integral representation

$$\operatorname{Ch}(f) = \frac{1}{2} \int |\mathrm{d}f|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}$$
 for every $f \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$.

We denote with $H_{\text{loc}}^{1,2}(X)$ the space of measurable functions $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for every point $x \in X$, there exist a neighbourhood of $x, B = B_x$, and a function $f_B \in H^{1,2}(X)$, such that $f = f_B$ m-a.e. on B, and we define |df| exploiting locality. We define $S^2(X)$ as the space of functions f such that, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $(f \wedge n) \vee -n \in H_{\text{loc}}^{1,2}(X)$ and such that |df| (which is well defined by locality), belongs to $L^2(m)$. Sometimes, with a slight abuse, we write $|\nabla f|$ in place of |df|. In the setting of infinitesimal Hilbertian spaces, however, it is possible to prove that this is not an abuse at all.

It is important to mention that most of the usual calculus rules hold also in this context.

2.1.3 Infinitesimal Hilbertianity

Any metric measure space on which Ch is a quadratic form is said to be *infinitesimally Hilbertian*, [82]. Under this assumption, (see [82]) it is possible to define a symmetric bilinear form

$$H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) imes H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})
i (g,f) o
abla f \cdot
abla g \in L^1(\mathsf{m})$$

such that

$$\nabla f \cdot \nabla f = |\mathrm{d}f|^2 =: |\nabla f|^2$$
 m-a.e. for every $f \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$.

On infinitesimally Hilbertian metric measure spaces it is possible to define a linear Laplacian operator $\Delta : D(\Delta) \subseteq H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) \to L^2(\mathsf{m})$ in the following way: we let $D(\Delta)$ to be the set of those $f \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ such that, for some $h \in L^2(\mathsf{m})$, one has

$$\int \nabla f \cdot \nabla g \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = -\int hg \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \qquad \text{for every } g \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}), \tag{2.1.2}$$

and, if this is the case, we put $\Delta f = h$, which is uniquely determined by the equation above, as $\text{LIP}_{bs}(\mathsf{X}) \subseteq H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ is dense in $L^2(\mathsf{m})$.

We are going also to use the Laplacian for functions defined on balls, see [25], or [51, Section 1.2.2]. In particular, one fist defines the space $H_{\text{loc}}^{1,2}(B)$, where *B* is any (open) ball, similarly to what done at the end of Section 2.1.2. Then, $H^{1,2}(B)$ are those functions $f \in H_{\text{loc}}^{1,2}(B)$ with $f, |\nabla f| \in L^2(B, \mathsf{m})$. Then, for $f \in H^{1,2}(B)$, one defines Δf as the unique (if exists) function $h \in L^2(B, \mathsf{m})$ satisfying (2.1.2), tested against Lipschitz functions whose support is contained in *B*.

2.1.4 Heat flow on infinitesimally Hilbertian spaces

We can define the *heat flow* h_t as the L^2 gradient flow of Ch, whose existence and uniqueness follow from the Komura-Brezis theory. On infinitesimally Hilbertian spaces, we can characterize the heat flow by requiring that for any $u \in L^2(\mathsf{m})$, the curve $[0, \infty) \ni t \mapsto h_t u \in L^2(\mathsf{m})$ is continuous in $[0, \infty)$, locally absolutely continuous in $(0, \infty)$ and satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \mathbf{h}_t u = \Delta \mathbf{h}_t u & \text{ for every } t \in (0, \infty), \\ \mathbf{h}_0 u = u, \end{cases}$$

where we implicitly state that if t > 0, $h_t u \in D(\Delta)$. It is possible to prove that on infinitesimally Hilbertian spaces, the heat flow provides a linear, continuous and self-adjoint contraction semigroup in $L^2(\mathbf{m})$, which extends to a linear and continuous contraction semigroup, that we still denote with h_t , in all spaces $L^p(\mathbf{m})$, for $p \in [1, \infty)$. We define h_t on $L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})$ in duality with $L^1(\mathbf{m})$, i.e. if $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})$,

$$\int g \mathbf{h}_t f \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \int f \mathbf{h}_t g \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \qquad \text{for every } g \in L^1(\mathbf{m})$$

and, with this extension, h_t turns out to be a linear and continuous contraction semigroup in all spaces $L^p(\mathbf{m})$ with $p \in [1, \infty]$. Moreover, Δ and h_t , when well defined, commute.

2.1.5 Normed modules

We assume that the reader is familiar with the notion of normed module, introduced in [84], inspired by the theory developed in [127]. To briefly introduce this concept, take a metric measure space (X, d, m). Let R be either $L^{\infty}(m)$ or $L^{0}(m)$ and let \mathcal{M} be an algebraic module of the commutative ring R. A L^{p} -pointwise norm, for $p \in \{0\} \cup [1, \infty)$, is a map $|\cdot| : \mathcal{M} \to L^{p}(m)$ such that

- $|v| \ge 0$ m-a.e. for every $v \in \mathcal{M}$, and |v| = 0 m-a.e. if and only if v = 0,
- $|v+w| \le |v| + |w|$ m-a.e. for every $v, w \in \mathcal{M}$
- |fv| = |f||v| m-a.e. for every $f \in R$ and $v \in \mathcal{M}$.

One can then consider

- $L^{p}(\mathsf{m})$ -normed $L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$ -modules, for $p \in [1, \infty)$, i.e. the case of a module \mathcal{M} over $R = L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$, endowed with an $L^{p}(\mathsf{m})$ -pointwise norm $|\cdot|$ such that $||v||_{\mathcal{M}} = |||v|||_{L^{p}(\mathsf{m})}$ is a complete norm on \mathcal{M} ,
- $L^{0}(\mathsf{m})$ -normed $L^{0}(\mathsf{m})$ -modules, i.e. the case of a module \mathcal{M} over $R = L^{0}(\mathsf{m})$, endowed with an $L^{0}(\mathsf{m})$ -pointwise norm $|\cdot|$ inducing a complete distance on \mathcal{M} .

It is possible to prove that there exists a unique couple $(L^2(T^*X), d)$ where $L^2(T^*X)$ is a L^2 -normed L^{∞} -module (the *cotangent module*) and $d : H^{1,2}(X) \to L^2(T^*X)$ a linear operator (the *differential*), such that

- i) |df| is equal to the one introduced in Section 2.1.2, for every $f \in H^{1,2}(X)$,
- ii) $L^2(T^*X)$ is generated (in the sense of modules) by $\{df : f \in H^{1,2}(X)\}$.

We define the *tangent module* $L^2(TX)$ as the dual (in the sense of modules) of $L^2(T^*X)$. We define $L^0(T^*X)$ as the L^0 -completion of the cotangent module $L^2(T^*X)$ and also (this definition coincides with the previous one if p = 2)

$$L^p(T^*\mathsf{X}) := \left\{ v \in L^0(T^*\mathsf{X}) : |v| \in L^p(\mathsf{m}) \right\} \quad \text{for } p \in [1,\infty].$$

Similarly, we define $L^0(TX)$ as the L^0 -completion of $L^2(TX)$ and

$$L^{p}(T\mathsf{X}) := \left\{ v \in L^{0}(T\mathsf{X}) : |v| \in L^{p}(\mathsf{m}) \right\} \quad \text{for } p \in [1, \infty].$$

We also remark that our definition of the tangent and cotangent modules is, in general, different from the one given in [53] for $p \neq 2$. If the space is infinitesimally Hilbertian, it turns out that $L^2(T^*X)$ is a Hilbert module so that we can, and will, identify $L^2(T^*X)$ with its dual $L^2(TX)$, via a map that sends df to ∇f (the latter vector field being given by Riesz Theorem).

Definition 2.1.1. Let $p \in \{2, \infty\}$. For $v \in L^p(TX)$ we say that $v \in D(\operatorname{div}^p)$ if there exists a function $g \in L^p(\mathsf{m})$ such that

$$\int df(v) dm = -\int fg dm \quad \text{for every } f \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) \text{ with bounded support,} \qquad (2.1.3)$$

and such g, which is uniquely determined, is denoted by div v.

Notice that if $v \in D(\operatorname{div}^2) \cap D(\operatorname{div}^\infty)$, then the two objects div v as above coincide, in particular, div $v \in L^2(\mathsf{m}) \cap L^\infty(\mathsf{m})$. From (2.1.3) it follows that supp (div $v) \subseteq$ supp v and also notice that, if the space is infinitesimally Hilbertian and p = 2 (then $\operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{bs}}(\mathsf{X}) \subseteq H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ is dense, as a consequence of the result in [20, Section 8.3] or [11]), (2.1.3) reads

$$\int \nabla f \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \int fg \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \qquad \text{for every } f \in \mathrm{LIP}_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{X}).$$

Also, the classical calculus rule holds: if $v \in D(\operatorname{div}^{\infty})$ and $f \in \operatorname{LIP}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{X})$, then $fv \in D(\operatorname{div}^{\infty})$ and

$$\operatorname{div}(fv) = \mathrm{d}f(v) + f\operatorname{div} v. \tag{2.1.4}$$

In the case p = 2, again from the algebra properties of bounded Sobolev functions together with an easy approximation argument, we have that if $v \in D(\operatorname{div}^2) \cap L^{\infty}(TX)$ and $f \in S^2(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$, then $fv \in D(\operatorname{div}^2)$ and the calculus rule above holds.

In the case p = 2, we often omit to write the superscript 2 for what concerns the divergence.

2.2 RCD spaces

Now we turn to the particular framework of RCD metric measure spaces.

2.2.1 Definitions

The main setting for our investigation is the one of RCD(K, N) metric measure spaces (for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty]$), that are infinitesimally Hilbertian spaces ([82]) satisfying a lower Ricci curvature bound and an upper dimension bound (meaningful if $N < \infty$) in synthetic sense according to [120, 121], [104]. General references on this topic are [19, 21, 22, 23, 29, 83, 84, 74, 89] and we assume the reader to be familiar with part of this material. See also [124, 9, 85] and references therein.

Our focus be mainly on *finite dimensional* RCD spaces, so that in the sequel when we write RCD(K, N) we will assume $1 \le N < \infty$.

2.2.2 Doubling and Poincaré

Recall that RCD(K, N) spaces are *locally uniformly doubling* ([104, 121]), i.e. for every R > 0 there exists $C_D = C_D(R) > 0$ such that

$$\mathsf{m}(B_{2r}(x)) \le C_D \mathsf{m}(B_r(x)) \qquad \text{for every } x \in \mathsf{X} \text{ and } 0 < r < R, \tag{2.2.1}$$

and support a weak local (1,1)-Poincaré inequality ([113]), i.e. there exists $\lambda \geq 1$ and for every R > 0, there exists $C_P = C_P(R) > 0$ such that, for every $f \in LIP(X)$,

$$\int_{B_r(x)} \left| f - \oint_{B_r(x)} f \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \right| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \le C_P r \oint_{B_{\lambda r}(x)} \mathrm{lip}(f) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \qquad \text{for every } x \in \mathsf{X} \text{ and } 0 < r < R.$$
(2.2.2)

By [93, Theorem 5.1], the Poincaré inequality improves to the following form (see also [57] for what concerns this formulation): there exists $\lambda \geq 1$ and for every R > 0, there exist $C'_P = C'_P(R) > 0$ and Q = Q(R) > 1 such that, for every $f \in \text{LIP}(X)$,

$$\left(\oint_{B_r(x)} \left| f - \oint_{B_r(x)} f \mathrm{dm} \right|^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} \mathrm{dm} \right)^{\frac{Q-1}{Q}} \leq C'_P r \oint_{B_{2\lambda r}(x)} \mathrm{lip}(f) \, \mathrm{dm} \qquad \text{for every } x \in \mathsf{X} \text{ and } 0 < r < R.$$
(2.2.3)

Recall that locally uniformly doubling spaces are proper. We call locally uniformly doubling spaces supporting a weak local (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality PI spaces. We can, and will, assume that $R \mapsto C_D(R), R \mapsto C_P(R), R \mapsto C'_P(R)$ are non-decreasing functions.

2.2.3 Test functions and test vector fields

Following [84, 114] (with the additional request of a L^{∞} bound on the Laplacian), we define the vector space of *test functions* on an $\text{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space as

$$\operatorname{TestF}(\mathsf{X}) := \{ f \in \operatorname{LIP}(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m}) \cap D(\Delta) : \Delta f \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m}) \},\$$

and the vector space of test vector fields as

$$\operatorname{TestV}(\mathsf{X}) := \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i \nabla g_i : f_i \in \mathrm{S}^2(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^\infty(\mathsf{m}), g_i \in \operatorname{TestF}(\mathsf{X}) \right\}.$$

To be precise, the original definition of TestV(X) was slightly different. However, when using test vector fields to define regular subsets of vector fields such as $H_{\rm H}^{1,2}(TX)$ and $H_{\rm C}^{1,2}(TX)$ (see Section 2.2.4), the two definitions produce the same subspaces, as one may readily check inspecting the proofs of Lemma 2.2.2 and Lemma 2.2.3 below.

It is possible to see that $\text{TestF}(\mathsf{X}) \subseteq H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ is dense. Also, if $f \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$, we can find a sequence $\{f_n\}_n \subseteq \text{TestF}(\mathsf{X})$ with $f_n \to f$ in $H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ and $\|f_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})} \leq \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})}$. Using [89, Theorem 6.1.11] (extracted from [114]), one proves that $\text{TestF}(\mathsf{X})$ is an algebra. Clearly, if $f \in S^2(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m}) \supseteq \text{TestF}(\mathsf{X})$ and $v \in \text{TestV}(\mathsf{X})$, then $fv \in \text{TestV}(\mathsf{X})$.

2.2.4 Second order calculus

By [84], we know that RCD spaces admit second order calculus. In particular, it has been defined the object of covariant derivative for vector fields in $L^2(TX)$, in particular, of Hessian of functions, denoted by Hess f. These definitions build upon integration by parts and the use of test vector fields as in Section 2.2.3. Vector fields admitting a covariant derivative in L^2 are said to belong to $W_{\rm C}^{1,2}(TX)$, which is proved to be a normed space, subspace of a tensor product of the tangent/cotangent module. The closure of TestV(X) in the $W_{\rm C}^{1,2}(TX)$ topology is denoted by $H_{\rm C}^{1,2}(TX)$. A remarkable fact is that for any $f \in D(\Delta)$, it holds that $\nabla f \in H_{\rm C}^{1,2}(TX)$, in other words, f admits a Hessian in L^2 (see [84], but in this direction, also [36, 114, 122]). The spaces $W_{\rm H}^{1,2}(TX)$ and $H_{\rm H}^{1,2}(TX)$ have been defined in [84]. The former is the space of L^2 vector fields with divergence in L^2 and exterior derivative in L^2 , whereas the latter is the closure of test vector fields in the topology of $W_{\rm H}^{1,2}(TX)$.

For future reference, we record a consequence of the improved Bochner inequality of [94], stated in [51, (1.22)]. For every $f \in D(\Delta)$ with $\Delta f = 0$,

$$r^{2} \int_{B_{r}(x)} |\mathrm{Hess}f|^{2} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \leq C_{K,N} \inf_{m \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{B_{2r}(x)} ||\nabla f|^{2} - m|\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} - r^{2}K \int_{B_{2r}(x)} |\nabla f|^{2} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}.$$
(2.2.4)

We conclude this subsection with a couple of simple lemmas.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space and let $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m) \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(TX)^m$ with $|v| \leq 1$ m-a.e. Then there exists a sequence $\{v^k = (v_1^k, \ldots, v_m^k)\}_k \subseteq \operatorname{TestV}(X)^m$ such that $|v^k| \leq 1$ m-a.e. for every k and $v_i^k \to v_i$ in $H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(TX)$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$.

Proof. By the very definition of $H_{\mathrm{H}}^{1,2}(T\mathsf{X})$, for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$, we have a sequence $\{w_i^k\} \subseteq \mathrm{TestV}(\mathsf{X})^m$ with $w_i^k \to v_i$ in $H_{\mathrm{H}}^{1,2}(T\mathsf{X})$. Set then, for $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$v_i^{k,\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{(1+\varepsilon) \vee \sqrt{\sum_j |w_j^k|^2}} w_i^k$$

and finally $v^{k,\varepsilon} := (v_1^{k,\varepsilon}, \ldots, v_m^{k,\varepsilon})$. It is clear that $|v^{k,\varepsilon}| \leq 1$ m-a.e. so that, using also a diagonal argument, it suffices to show that for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$v_i^{k,\varepsilon} \to \frac{1}{1+\varepsilon} v_i \quad \text{in } H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X}) \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

Fix then $i = 1, \ldots, m$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. It is clear that

$$v_i^{k,\varepsilon} \to \frac{1}{1+\varepsilon} v_i \quad \text{in } L^2(T\mathsf{X}) \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

By the calculus rules in Lemma 2.2.2 below, we just have to show that

$$\left| \nabla \frac{1}{(1+\varepsilon) \vee \sqrt{\sum_j |w_j^k|^2}} \right| |w_i^k| \to 0 \qquad \text{in } L^2(\mathsf{m}) \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

Set now $A^{k,\varepsilon} := \left\{ \sqrt{\sum_j |w_j^k|^2} > 1 + \varepsilon \right\}$ and notice that $A^{k,\varepsilon} \to \emptyset$ in $L^0(\mathsf{m})$ as $k \to \infty$. Using the

calculus rules, we can estimate

$$\begin{split} \nabla \frac{1}{(1+\varepsilon) \vee \sqrt{\sum_j |w_j^k|^2}} \Bigg| |w_i^k| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \chi_{A^{k,\varepsilon}} \left(\frac{1}{\sum_j |w_j^k|^2} \right)^{3/2} \left| \nabla \sum_j |w_j^k|^2 \right| |w_i^k| \\ &\leq \chi_{A^{k,\varepsilon}} \left(\frac{1}{\sum_j |w_j^k|^2} \right)^{3/2} \left(\sum_j |w_j^k|^2 \right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_j |\nabla w_j^k|^2 \right)^{1/2} |w_i^k| \\ &\leq \chi_{A^{k,\varepsilon}} \left(\frac{1}{1+\varepsilon} \right)^2 \sum_j |\nabla w_j^k| |w_i^k|, \end{split}$$

where in the second inequality we used the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, and then we see that the last term converges to 0 in $L^2(\mathsf{m})$ as $k \to \infty$.

In the previous proof we used the following calculus rules, which are an immediate consequence of the already known ones proved in [84]. We add also another lemma, again based on [84], which is not explicitly used in this work but whose proof grants coincidence between the definitions of $H_{\rm C}^{1,2}(TX)$ via the usual definition of test vector fields and our definition of test vector field.

Lemma 2.2.2. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space, $X \in W^{1,2}_{\operatorname{H}}(TX) \cap L^{\infty}(TX)$ and $f \in \operatorname{S}^{2}(X) \cap U^{\infty}(TX)$ $L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$. Then $fX \in W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$ and

$$div(fX) = \nabla f \cdot X + f div X,$$
$$d(fX) = \nabla f \wedge X + f dX.$$

If moreover $X \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$, then $fX \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$.

Proof. Recall that $W_{\rm H}^{1,2}(TX)$ and $H_{\rm H}^{1,2}(TX)$ are Hilbert spaces. We prove the claim with an approximation argument. Also, as in the discussion after [84, Definition 3.5.11], if $\omega \in L^2(TX)$, then $\omega \in D(\delta)$ if and only if $\omega \in D(\operatorname{div})$ and, if this is the case, $\delta \omega = -\operatorname{div}(\omega)$.

If $f \in \text{TestF}(X)$, the claim is a consequence of [84, Proposition 3.5.4] (which is stated with a slightly different definition of TestV(X)) and the calculus rules for the divergence and the following approximation argument. If $\{X_n\}_n \subseteq \text{TestV}(X)$ with $X_n \to X$ in $W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(TX)$, then $fX_n \in \text{TestV}(X)$ and $fX_n \to fX$ in $W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(TX)$ (see the next paragraph for more details). If $f \in H^{1,2}(X) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$, take $\{f_n\}_n \subseteq \text{TestF}(X)$ with $\|f_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})}$ uniformly bounded and

 $f_n \to f$ in $H^{1,2}(X)$. Now we can use the calculus rules for $f_n \in \text{TestF}(X)$ and easily prove, using also dominated convergence,

$$div(f_n X) = \nabla f_n \cdot X + f_n div X \to \nabla f \cdot X + f div X \quad \text{in } L^2(\mathsf{m})$$
$$d(f_n X) = \nabla f_n \wedge X + f_n dX \to \nabla f \wedge X + f dX \quad \text{in } L^2(\Lambda^2 T \mathsf{X}).$$

This shows that $fX \in W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$, that the calculus rules hold and finally that $f_nX \to fX$ in $W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$, so that if $X \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$, then $fX \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$. If $f \in \mathrm{S}^2(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$ we fix $\bar{x} \in \mathsf{X}$ and we take $\{\varphi_n\}_n \subseteq \mathrm{LIP}_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{X})$ with $\varphi_n(x) := ((n - \mathsf{d}(x, \bar{x})) \land \mathsf{d}(x, \bar{x}))$.

1)⁺. Similar computations to the ones of the previous paragraph with $f\varphi_n$ in place of f_n show that

 $fX \in W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$, that the calculus rules hold and finally that $(f\varphi_n)X \to fX$ in $W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$, so that if $X \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$, then $fX \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$.

Lemma 2.2.3. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space, $X \in W^{1,2}_{\mathbb{C}}(TX) \cap L^{\infty}(TX)$ and $f \in S^2(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$. Then $fX \in W^{1,2}_{\mathbb{C}}(TX)$ and

$$\nabla(fX) = \nabla f \otimes X + f \nabla X.$$

If moreover $X \in H^{1,2}_{\mathcal{C}}(T\mathsf{X})$, then $fX \in H^{1,2}_{\mathcal{C}}(T\mathsf{X})$.

Proof. Recall that $W_{\rm C}^{1,2}(TX)$ and $H_{\rm C}^{1,2}(TX)$ are Hilbert spaces. We prove the claim with an approximation argument.

Assume first $f \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$. Then the first part of the statement has been proved in [84, Proposition 3.4.5]. The second part follows approximating X with a sequence of test vector fields.

If $f \in S^2(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$ we fix $\bar{x} \in \mathsf{X}$ and we take $\{\varphi_n\}_n \subseteq \operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{bs}}(\mathsf{X})$ with $\varphi_n(x) := ((n - \mathsf{d}(x, \bar{x})) \land 1)^+$ and we set $f_n := f\varphi_n$. We can use the calculus rule for $f_n \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$ and easily prove, using also dominated convergence,

$$\nabla(f_n X) = \nabla f_n \otimes X + f_n \nabla X \to \nabla f \otimes X + f \nabla X \quad \text{in } L^2(T^{\otimes 2} \mathsf{X}).$$

This shows that $fX \in W^{1,2}_{\mathcal{C}}(T\mathsf{X})$, that the calculus rule holds and finally that $f_nX \to fX$ in $W^{1,2}_{\mathcal{C}}(T\mathsf{X})$, so that if $X \in H^{1,2}_{\mathcal{C}}(T\mathsf{X})$, then $fX \in H^{1,2}_{\mathcal{C}}(T\mathsf{X})$.

2.2.5 Heat flow on RCD spaces

The RCD condition entails good properties at the level of the heat flow semigroup. A first important feature is the L^{∞} -Lipschitz regularization property: given any function $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$ in an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space and $t \in (0, 1]$, it holds $|\nabla \mathbf{h}_t f| \in L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$ and

$$\||\nabla \mathbf{h}_t f|\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})} \le \frac{\|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})}}{e^K \sqrt{2t}}.$$
(2.2.5)

In particular, $h_t f$ admits a Lipschitz representative (which we still denote by $h_t f$) having Lipschitz constant at most $\frac{\|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})}}{e^K \sqrt{2t}}$; this is a consequence of the so-called *Sobolev-to-Lipschitz property* of RCD spaces, which states that every Sobolev function $f \in W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ satisfying $|\nabla f| \leq 1$ m-a.e. has a 1-Lipschitz representative. Notice also that the maximum principle ensures that for any $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$

 $|\mathbf{h}_t f| \le ||f||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})}$ everywhere on X.

Given any $\mu \in \mathscr{P}_2(\mathsf{X})$ (i.e. μ is a Borel probability measure on X with finite second moment), it makes sense to define $h_t \mu$ for any t > 0 as the unique element of $\mathscr{P}_2(\mathsf{X})$ satisfying the identity

$$\int f dh_t \mu = \int h_t f d\mu \quad \text{for every } f \in C_{\rm b}(\mathsf{X}), \qquad (2.2.6)$$

where we took the Lipschitz representative of f at the right hand side. Equivalently ([19, 22, 21, 80]), h_t is the EVI_K gradient flow of the entropy, and it turns out that the existence of this gradient flow for any initial datum can be used to characterize $\text{RCD}(K, \infty)$ spaces among length spaces with a growth condition on the reference measure. Moreover, the heat flow of measures is Kcontractive with respect to the Wasserstein W₂ distance and, for t > 0, maps probability measures

into probability measures that are absolutely continuous with respect to **m** (the latter assertion is an immediate consequence of fact that $t \mapsto h_t \mu$ is the gradient flow of the entropy). Then, we can define the *heat kernel* $(0, +\infty) \times X \times X \ni (t, x, y) \mapsto p_t(x, y)$ as

$$p_t(x,\cdot) := \frac{\mathrm{dh}_t \delta_x}{\mathrm{dm}},$$

where δ_x stands for the Dirac measure at x.

We now focus on $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ spaces (X, d, m) with $N < \infty$. Recall from Section 2.2.2 that these spaces (X, d, m) are PI, thus accordingly $(t, x, y) \mapsto p_t(x, y)$ admits a locally Hölder continuous representative by [118, 119]. In [97] it has been proved that, for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist positive constants $C_1 = C_1(\varepsilon, K, N) > 0$ and $C_2 = C_2(\varepsilon, K, N) > 0$ such that for every $t > 0, x, y \in X$, the following estimate holds

$$\frac{1}{C_1 \mathsf{m}(B_{\sqrt{t}}(y))} \exp\left\{-\frac{\mathsf{d}(x,y)^2}{(4-\varepsilon)t} - C_2 t\right\} \le p_t(x,y) \le \frac{C_1}{\mathsf{m}(B_{\sqrt{t}}(y))} \exp\left\{-\frac{\mathsf{d}(x,y)^2}{(4+\varepsilon)t} + C_2 t\right\}.$$
 (2.2.7)

For any finite Borel measure $\mu \geq 0$ on X we can define

$$h_t \mu(x) := \int p_t(x, y) d\mu(y)$$
 for every $x \in X$.

Using Fubini's theorem, one can check that this definition is consistent with the one in (2.2.6) when $\mu \in \mathscr{P}_2(X)$, and that $h_t(fm) = h_t f$ for every $f \in L^1(m)$ non-negative.

It is worth mentioning that the regularizing properties of the heat flow on (finite dimensional) RCD spaces have been used to prove the existence of "good" cut-off functions, [111, Lemma 3.1] and [29, Lemma 6.7].

Lemma 2.2.4. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space. For any 0 < 2r < R and $x \in X$, there exists $\eta \in \text{TestF}(X)$ satisfying

- $0 \leq \eta \leq 1$, $\eta = 1$ on $B_r(x)$, $\eta = 0$ on $X \setminus B_{2r}(x)$,
- $r^2 |\Delta \eta| + r |\nabla \eta| \leq C$, where $C = C_{K,N,R}$ is a constant that depends only on K, N and R.

Heat flow and vector fields

On an RCD (K, ∞) space (X, d, m), following [84], one can consider $h_{H,t}$, the gradient flow relative to the augmented Hodge energy functional in $L^2(TX)$, which is defined as

$$\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{H}}(\omega) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \int |\mathrm{d}\omega|^2 + \mathrm{div}(\omega)^2 \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} & \text{if } \omega \in W^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(TX) \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This means that for every $v \in L^2(TX)$ the curve $t \mapsto h_{H,t}v \in L^2(TX)$ is the unique curve that is continuous in $[0, \infty)$, locally absolutely continuous in $(0, \infty)$ and satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{H},t}v = -\Delta_{\mathrm{H}}\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{H},t}(v) & \text{for every } t \in (0,\infty), \\ \mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{H},0}v = v, \end{cases}$$

where we implicitly state that if t > 0, $h_{H,t}v \in D(\Delta_H) \subseteq H_C^{1,2}(TX)$.

In [84] and [51, Section 1.4] there are proved several properties of the heat flow $h_{H,t}$, we recall here some of them. The first is the pointwise estimate for $v \in L^2(TX)$

$$|\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{H},t}v|^2 \le e^{-2Kt}\mathbf{h}_t(|v|^2)$$
 m-a.e. for every $t \ge 0$

Then we recall that $h_{H,t}$ is self-adjoint, meaning that for every $v, w \in L^2(TX)$,

$$\int \mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{H},t} v \cdot w \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \int v \cdot \mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{H},t} w \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \qquad \text{for every } t \ge 0.$$

Also, we recall the commutation, for $v \in D(\text{div})$,

$$\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{H},t}v) = \mathbf{h}_t(\operatorname{div} v)$$
 m-a.e. for every $t \ge 0$,

where we recall $h_{H,t}v \in D(\Delta_H) \subseteq D(div)$. Finally we state that if $f \in H^{1,2}(X)$, then

 $h_{\mathrm{H},t}(\nabla f) = \nabla h_t f$ for every $t \ge 0$.

2.2.6 Convergence of spaces

We assume the reader to be familiar with the notion of *pointed-measured-Gromov-Hausdorff topology* (pmGH for short), see [92] and [120, 88], and we recall that we are assuming that metric measure spaces have full topological support.

We only need to consider the pmGH topology on a collection \mathcal{X} whose elements are pointed $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ spaces with

$$\sup_{\mathsf{X},\mathsf{d},\mathsf{m},x)\in\mathcal{X}}\mathsf{m}(B_1(x))<\infty,$$

and we give a bit more detail in this specific context. We have the following properties. First, the pmGH topology on \mathcal{X} is metrizable, say by d_{pmGH} . This is due to the fact that elements in \mathcal{X} are PI with uniform parameters as in (2.2.1). Then, \mathcal{X} is relatively compact with respect to the pmGH topology, this is to say that for any sequence of elements of \mathcal{X} , there exists a subsequence converging to a pointed $\mathrm{RCD}(K, N)$ space. We add a bit more detail to this statement, as there is a slight abuse of notation in it. First, by Gromov compactness Theorem and weak compactness in the space of measures, we have a subsequence converging in the pmGH topology to a metric measure space. We are committing a slight abuse, as it may very well happen that for this limit metric measure space, the measure does not have full support. Then, the deep result of stability of the RCD condition under pmGH convergence implies that the support of the measure is an RCD(K, N) space. Finally, we have this equivalent characterization of pmGH convergence on \mathcal{X} . A sequence $\{(X_k, \mathsf{d}_k \mathsf{m}_k, x_k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ converges in the pmGH topology to $(X_{\infty}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}, \mathsf{m}_{\infty}, x_{\infty})$, or

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}\big((\mathsf{X}_k,\mathsf{d}_k\,\mathsf{m}_k,x_k),(\mathsf{X}_\infty,\mathsf{d}_\infty\,\mathsf{m}_\infty,x_\infty)\big)\to 0,\tag{2.2.8}$$

if and only if we have a realization of the convergence as follows: we have a proper metric space $(\mathsf{Z},\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}})$ together with a sequence of isometric embeddings $\{\iota_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}$, where for every k, $\iota_k(\mathsf{X}_k,\mathsf{d}_k) \to (\mathsf{Z},\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}})$ and it holds that

$$\iota_k(x_k) \to \iota_{\infty}(x_{\infty}) \qquad \text{in } (\mathsf{Z},\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}}),$$

$$(\iota_k)_*\mathsf{m}_k \to (\iota_{\infty})_*\mathsf{m}_{\infty} \qquad \text{in duality with } C_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{Z}).$$

$$(2.2.9)$$

We assume familiarity with convergences of function spaces along convergent spaces, as in [24, 25]. See, for instance, the preliminaries of [10, 51].

Fix a sequence as in (2.2.8), together with a realization (Z, d_Z) . We remark that the following results may depend on the choice of the particular realization, i.e. the notions are *not* intrinsic.

The following is [26, Theorem 3.3], building upon [80, 88].

Theorem 2.2.5 (Pointwise convergence of heat kernels). For every sequence $u_k, v_k, t_k \in X_k \times X_k \times (0,\infty)$, for $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ with $\iota_k(u_k) \to \iota_\infty(u_\infty)$ and $\iota_k(v_k) \to \iota_\infty(v_\infty)$ in $(\mathsf{Z},\mathsf{d}_\mathsf{Z})$ and $t_k \to t_\infty \in (0,\infty)$, it holds that

$$p^{\mathsf{X}_k}(u_k, v_k, t_k) \to p^{\mathsf{X}_\infty}(u_\infty, v_\infty, t_\infty)$$

Definition 2.2.6. Let $f_k : X_k \to \mathbb{R}$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $f_\infty : X_\infty \to \mathbb{R}$.

- We say that f_k locally uniformly converge to f_{∞} if for every R > 0 and for every $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, there exist $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta \in (0, 1)$ such that for every $k \ge k_0$, $z_k \in X_k$ and $z_{\infty} \in B_R(x_{\infty})$ with $\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}}(\iota_k(z_k), \iota_{\infty}(z_{\infty})) < \delta$, it holds $|f_k(z_k) - f_{\infty}(z_{\infty})| < \varepsilon$. This convergence is also sometimes called *pointwise convergence*.
- We say that $\{f_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is locally equi-uniformly continuous if for every R > 0 there exists a function $\omega_R : (0, +\infty) \to (0, +\infty)$ with $\omega_R(s) \searrow 0$ as $s \searrow 0$ such that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, for every $u_k, v_k \in B_R(x_k)$, it holds that $|f_k(u_k) f_k(v_k)| \le \omega_R(\mathsf{d}(u_k, v_k))$.

The previous definitions can be localized to the case of functions defined on balls, as well as the following following proposition, which is proved as the classical Arzelà–Ascoli Theorem.

Proposition 2.2.7. Let $\{f_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of locally equi-uniformly continuous functions such that $\{f_k(x_k)\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded. Then there exist a subsequence $\{n_k\}_k$ and function $f_{\infty} : X_{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that f_{n_k} locally uniformly converges to f_{∞} . Moreover, if $\omega_R : (0, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$ for R > 0 are the function as in the definition of locally equi-uniform continuity for $\{f_k\}_k$, then for every $u_{\infty}, v_{\infty} \in B_R(z_{\infty})$, it holds that $|f_{\infty}(u_{\infty}) - f_{\infty}(v_{\infty})| \leq \omega_R(\mathsf{d}(u_{\infty}, v_{\infty}))$.

Now we deal with L^p or Sobolev convergence.

Definition 2.2.8. Let $f_k \in L^2(X_k)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $f_\infty \in L^2(X_\infty)$.

- We say that f_k weakly converge in L^2 to f_∞ if $f_k \mathsf{m}_k \to f_\infty \mathsf{m}_\infty$ in duality with $C_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{Z})$ and $\sup_k \|f_k\|_{L^2(\mathsf{m}_k)} < \infty$.
- We say that f_k strongly converge in L^2 to f_∞ if f_k weakly converge in L^2 to f_∞ and $\|f_k\|_{L^2(\mathfrak{m}_k)} \to \|f_\infty\|_{L^2(\mathfrak{m}_\infty)}$.

Definition 2.2.9. Let $f_k \in L^1(X_k)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $f_\infty \in L^1(X_\infty)$.

• We say that f_k strongly converge in L^1 to f_∞ if $\sigma \circ f_k$ strongly converge in L^2 to $\sigma \circ f_\infty$, where $\sigma(t) := \operatorname{sign}(t) \sqrt{|t|}$.

We also recall the following definition.

Definition 2.2.10. Let $E_k \subseteq X_k$ and $E_{\infty} \subseteq X_{\infty}$ be Borel sets, with $\mathsf{m}_k(E_k) < \infty$ and $\mathsf{m}(E_{\infty}) < \infty$.

- We say that E_k strongly converge in L^1 to E_∞ if $\mathsf{m}_k(E_k) \to \mathsf{m}_\infty(E)$ and $\mathsf{m}_k \sqcup E_k \to \mathsf{m}_\infty \sqcup E_\infty$ in duality with $C_{\rm bs}(\mathsf{Z})$.
- We say that E_k strongly converge in L^1_{loc} to E_{∞} if $E_k \cap B_R(x_k) \to E_{\infty} \cap B_R(x_{\infty})$ in L^1 for every R > 0.

We have the following properties.

Proposition 2.2.11. Let p = 1, 2, let $f_k, g_k \in L^p(X_k)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $f_\infty, g_\infty \in L^p(X_\infty)$.

- If $f_k \to f_\infty$ strongly in L^p , and $g_k \to g_\infty$ strongly in L^p , then $f_k + g_k \to f_\infty + g_\infty$ strongly in L^p .
- In the case p = 2, if $f_k \to f_\infty$ strongly in L^2 , and $g_k \to g_\infty$ strongly in L^2 , then $f_k g_k \to f_\infty g_\infty$ strongly in L^1 .
- In the case p = 1, if $f_k \to f_\infty$ strongly in L^1 and $\sup_k ||f_k||_{L^\infty(\mathsf{m}_k)} < \infty$, then $f_k \to f_\infty$ strongly in L^2 .

For what concerns (local) Sobolev spaces, we have the following definitions.

Definition 2.2.12. Let $f_k \in H^{1,2}(X_k)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $f_\infty \in H^{1,2}(X_\infty)$.

- We say that f_k weakly converge in $H^{1,2}$ to f_{∞} if f_k weakly converge in L^2 to f_{∞} and $\sup_k \operatorname{Ch}(f_k) < \infty$.
- We say that f_k strongly converge in $H^{1,2}$ to f_∞ if f_k weakly converge in L^2 to f_∞ and $\operatorname{Ch}(f_k) \to \operatorname{Ch}(f_\infty)$.

The local counterpart is defined similarly.

2.2.7 Tangents

We recall now the definition of tangent cone to an RCD(K, N) space. First, given a pointed metric measure space (X, d, m, x) and $r \in (0, 1)$ we define the rescaled space $(X, r^{-1}d, m_r^x, x)$ where

$$\mathsf{m}_r^x := (C_x^r)^{-1}\mathsf{m},$$

for

$$C_x^r := \int_{B_r(x)} \left(1 - r^{-1} \mathsf{d}(x, z) \right) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(z).$$
 (2.2.10)

The transformation from m to \mathbf{m}_r^x is performed in order to have the space normalized, i.e.

$$\int_{B_1^{r^{-1}\mathsf{d}}(x)} \left(1 - r^{-1}\mathsf{d}(x, z)\right) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}_r^x(z) = 1.$$

As a notation, we set

$$\underline{\mathcal{L}}^k := (\mathcal{L}^k)_1^0 = \frac{k+1}{\omega_k} \mathcal{L}^k, \qquad (2.2.11)$$

where \mathcal{L}^k denotes the k dimensional Lebesgue measure and

$$\omega_k := \mathcal{L}^k(B_1^{\mathbb{R}^k}(0)).$$

Definition 2.2.13. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space and $x \in X$. We say that a pointed metric measure space (X', d', m', x') is *tangent* to (X, d, m) at x if there exists a sequence of radii $r_j \searrow 0$ such that $(X, r_j^{-1}d, m_{r_j}^x, x) \to (X', d', m', x')$ in the pointed-measured-Gromov-Hausdorff topology. We denote the collection of all tangent spaces to (X, d, m) at x as $\operatorname{Tan}_x(X, d, m)$.

If (X, d, m) is an RCD(K, N) space, Gromov compactness theorem shows that for every $x \in X$, $\text{Tan}_x(X, d, m)$ is not empty. Moreover, by the stability and rescaling property of the RCD(K, N) condition, we see that elements of $\text{Tan}_x(X, d, m)$ are RCD(0, N) spaces.

2.2.8 Structure theory

The known results of structure theory for RCD(K, N) spaces can be summed up in the following theorem, which, in particular, states that RCD(K, N) spaces are rectifiable as metric measure spaces (see [49, 52, 87, 98, 111, 90]).

Theorem 2.2.14. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space. Then there exists a unique $n \in \mathbb{N}$, called the essential dimension of X, with $1 \le n \le N$, such that:

i) for m-a.e. $x \in X$,

$$\operatorname{Tan}_{x}(\mathsf{X},\mathsf{d},\mathsf{m}) = \{(\mathbb{R}^{n},\mathsf{d}_{e},\underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n},0)\}$$

and we call the collection of points $x \in X$ satisfying the equation above $\mathcal{R}_n(X)$.

- ii) (X, d, m) is countably n-rectifiable. More precisely, given any $\varepsilon > 0$, we can cover (X, d, m), up to an m-negligible subset, by a countable union of subsets that are $(1 + \varepsilon)$ -bilipschitz equivalent to measurable subsets of \mathbb{R}^n .
- iii) There exists a non-negative density $\theta \in L^1_{loc}(X, \mathcal{H}^n \sqcup \mathcal{R}_n(X))$ such that

$$\mathbf{m} = \theta \mathcal{H}^n \, \sqcup \, \mathcal{R}_n(\mathsf{X}). \tag{2.2.12}$$

Remark 2.2.15. We point out that the set $\mathcal{R}_n(\mathsf{X})$ of *n*-regular points is Borel. To check it, define $\varphi : \mathsf{X} \to [0, \infty)$ as $\varphi(x) := \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \mathsf{d}_{pmGH}((\mathsf{X}, r^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_x^r, x), (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0))$. One can readily verify that $(0, 1) \ni r \mapsto (\mathsf{X}, r^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_x^r, x)$ is d_{pmGH} -continuous for any given $x \in \mathsf{X}$, whence it follows that

$$\varphi(x) = \inf_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \sup_{q \in \mathbb{Q} \cap (0, 1/k)} \mathsf{d}_{pmGH} \left((\mathsf{X}, q^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_x^q, x), (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0) \right) \quad \text{for every } x \in \mathsf{X}.$$
(2.2.13)

Since $X \ni x \mapsto (X, r^{-1}d, m_x^r, x)$ is d_{pmGH} -continuous for any given $r \in (0, 1)$, we deduce that $X \ni x \mapsto d_{pmGH}((X, q^{-1}d, m_x^r, x), (\mathbb{R}^n, d_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0))$ is a continuous function for any $q \in \mathbb{Q} \cap (0, 1)$. Consequently, (2.2.13) ensures that $\mathcal{R}_n(X) = \{x \in X : \varphi(x) = 0\}$ is a Borel set (in fact, a countable intersection of F_{σ} sets), as we claimed.

If (X, d, m) is an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n, it holds that for every $x \in X$,

$$(\mathbb{R}^k, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^k, 0) \notin \operatorname{Tan}_x(\mathsf{X}, \mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}) \quad \text{if } k > n,$$

this is due to the lower semicontinuity of the essential dimension, [101, 49].

Now, we introduce the set $\mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$. As customary, given a metric measure space (X, d, μ) and a real number $k \ge 0$, we define the upper and lower k-dimensional densities of μ as

$$\overline{\Theta}_k(\mu, x) := \limsup_{r\searrow 0} \frac{\mu(B_r(x))}{\omega_k r^k}, \qquad \underline{\Theta}_k(\mu, x) := \liminf_{r\searrow 0} \frac{\mu(B_r(x))}{\omega_k r^k} \qquad \text{for every } x \in \mathsf{X},$$

respectively. In the case where $\overline{\Theta}_k(\mu, x)$ and $\underline{\Theta}_k(\mu, x)$ coincide, we denote their common value by $\Theta_k(\mu, x) \in [0, \infty]$ and we call it the *k*-dimensional density of μ at x.

Definition 2.2.16. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space having essential dimension n. Then we define the Borel set $\mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$ as

$$\mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X}) := \big\{ x \in \mathcal{R}_n(\mathsf{X}) : \exists \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \in (0, \infty) \big\}.$$

We have that, cf. (2.2.12),

$$\mathbf{m} = \Theta_n(\mathbf{m}, x) \, \sqcup \, \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X}). \tag{2.2.14}$$

Take an RCD(K, N) space (X, d, m) of essential dimension n and consider the product $(X \times \mathbb{R}, d \otimes d_e, m \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)$. We will often use, without mention, this fact: $x \in \mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$ if and only if $(x, t) \in \mathcal{R}_{n+1}^*(X \times \mathbb{R})$ for some (hence all) $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and, if this is the case,

$$\Theta_{n+1}(\mathsf{m}\otimes\mathcal{L}^1,x)=\Theta_n(x,\mathsf{m}).$$

2.2.9 Fine modules

We assume familiarity with the definition of capacitary modules, quasi-continuous functions and vector fields and related material in [69]. A summary of the material we use can be found in [51, Section 1.3].

We start by recalling the notion of capacity.

Definition 2.2.17. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space. For any set $A \subseteq X$ we define the 2-capacity, (or simply capacity) as

$$\operatorname{Cap}(A) := \inf \left\{ \|f\|_{H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})}^2 : f \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}), f \ge 1 \text{ m-a.e. on some neighbourhood of } A \right\}.$$

It turns out that Cap is a submodular outer measure, finite on bounded sets, and, obviously, $m \leq \text{Cap.}$ Moreover, a function $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ is quasi-continuous if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $E_{\varepsilon} \subseteq X$ with $\text{Cap}(E_{\varepsilon}) < \varepsilon$ such that the restriction of f to $X \setminus E_{\varepsilon}$ is continuous. We denote by QCR the quasi-continuous representative.

The following theorem states that, on RCD spaces, gradients of test functions have a better representative than gradients of general Sobolev functions. These representatives enjoy the property (actually, define the property) of being quasi-continuous.

Theorem 2.2.18 ([69, Theorem 2.6]). Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space. Then there exists a unique couple $(L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(TX), \overline{\nabla})$, where $L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(TX)$ is a $L^0(\operatorname{Cap})$ -normed $L^0(\operatorname{Cap})$ -module and

$$\overline{\nabla}$$
 : TestF(X) $\rightarrow L^0_{Cap}(TX)$

is a linear operator such that:

- i) $|\overline{\nabla}f| = \text{QCR}(|\nabla f|)$ Cap-a.e. for every $f \in \text{TestF}(\mathsf{X})$,
- ii) the set $\{\sum_n \chi_{E_n} \bar{\nabla} f_n\}$, where $\{f_n\}_n \subseteq \text{TestF}(\mathsf{X})$ and $\{E_n\}_n$ is a Borel partition of X is dense in $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$.

Uniqueness is up to unique isomorphism, in the sense that, if another couple $(L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})', \bar{\nabla}')$ satisfies the same properties, then there exists a unique module isomorphism $\Phi : L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X}) \to L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})'$ such that $\Phi \circ \bar{\nabla} = \bar{\nabla}'$. Moreover, $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ is a Hilbert module that we call capacitary tangent module.

It is worth spending a few words on $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -normed $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -modules and, in particular, on $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(TX)$, as the $L^0(\text{Cap})$ and $L^0(\mathsf{m})$ topologies may behave quite differently. First, $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -normed $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -modules enjoy the following important properties (cf. [84, Definition 1.2.1]):

i) locality: for every $v \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ and $\{A_i\}_i$ sequence of Borel subsets of X such that $\chi_{A_i}v = 0$ for every $i \in \mathbb{N}$, then $\chi_{\bigcup_i A_i}v = 0$,

ii) gluing: if $\{v_i\}_i \subseteq L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ and $\{A_i\}_i$ is a sequence of pairwise disjoint Borel subsets of X , there exists $v \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ such that $\chi_{A_i}v = \chi_{A_i}v_i$ for every $i \in \mathbb{N}$.

Indeed, the first property follows trivially from the existence of the pointwise norm. For what concerns the second property, notice first that, partitioning the sets A_i and using locality, we can with no loss of generality assume that $|v_i| \in L^{\infty}(\text{Cap})$ for every *i*. We can then set $a_i := 2^{-i}||1 + |v_i|||_{L^{\infty}(\text{Cap})}$ and consider the Cauchy sequence $n \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i^{-1} \chi_{A_i} v_i$ and then multiply its limit by $f := \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} a_i \chi_{A_i}$ so that we can conclude by locality. However, the gluing property for $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ follows directly from its construction, starting from the set of infinite linear combinations as in item *ii*) of Theorem 2.2.18. Notice that one needs the gluing property for $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ to define the multiplication by functions in $L^0(\text{Cap})$ so that we cannot use the argument above to prove the gluing property for $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$. This discussion is relevant because the map

$$L^{0}(\operatorname{Cap}) \times L^{0}_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X}) \ni (f, v) \mapsto fv \in L^{0}_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$$

is not continuous in general. For example, set $(X, d, m) = ([0, 1], d_e, \mathcal{L}^1)$, recall [69, Example 2.17], and notice that $L^{\infty}(\text{Cap})$ is a closed (non-trivial) subspace of $L^0(\text{Cap})$. Take $v_n := (1 + n^{-1})\chi_{(0,1)}$ and f(x) := 1/x. Clearly $v_n \to v := \chi_{(0,1)} \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(TX)$, however $\{fv_n\} \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(TX)$ is not even a Cauchy sequence.

Notice that we can, and will, extend the map QCR from $H^{1,2}(X)$ to $S^2(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$ by a locality argument. We define

$$\operatorname{Test}\bar{\mathcal{V}}(\mathsf{X}) := \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{QCR}(f_i) \bar{\nabla} g_i : f_i \in \operatorname{S}^2(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m}), g_i \in \operatorname{TestF}(\mathsf{X}) \right\}.$$

We define also the vector subspace of quasi-continuous vector fields, $\mathcal{QC}(T\mathsf{X})$, as the closure of $\operatorname{Test}\bar{\mathsf{V}}(\mathsf{X})$ in $L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ and finally,

$$\mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}) := \{ v \in \mathcal{QC}(T\mathsf{X}) : |v| \text{ is Cap-essentially bounded} \}.$$

Recall now that as $m \ll Cap$, we have a natural projection map

$$\Pr: L^0(\operatorname{Cap}) \to L^0(\mathsf{m}) \quad \text{defined as} \quad [f]_{L^0(\operatorname{Cap})} \mapsto [f]_{L^0(\mathsf{m})}$$

where $[f]_{L^0(\text{Cap})}$ (resp. $[f]_{L^0(\mathsf{m})}$) denotes the Cap (resp. m) equivalence class of f. It turns out that Pr, restricted to the set of quasi-continuous functions, is injective ([69, Proposition 1.18]). We have the following projection map \overline{Pr} , given by [69, Proposition 2.9 and Proposition 2.13], which plays the role of Pr on vector fields.

Proposition 2.2.19. Let (X, d, m) be an $RCD(K, \infty)$ space. There exists a unique linear continuous map

$$\overline{\Pr}: L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X}) \to L^0(T\mathsf{X})$$

that satisfies

i)
$$\Pr(\nabla f) = \nabla f$$
 for every $f \in \operatorname{TestF}(\mathsf{X})$,

ii) $\overline{\Pr}(gv) = \Pr(g)\overline{\Pr}(v)$ for every $g \in L^0(\operatorname{Cap})$ and $v \in L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$.

Moreover, for every $v \in L^0_{Cap}(T\mathsf{X})$,

$$|\Pr(v)| = \Pr(|v|)$$
 m-a.e.

and $\bar{\Pr}$, when restricted to the set of quasi-continuous vector fields, is injective.

We point out that if $v \in \mathcal{QC}(T\mathsf{X})$, [69, Proposition 2.12] shows that $|v| \in L^0(\operatorname{Cap})$ is quasicontinuous, in particular, $v \in \mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X})$ if and only if $\overline{\Pr}(v) \in L^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X})$.

In what follows, with a little abuse, we often write, for $v \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$, $v \in D(\text{div})$ if and only if $\overline{\Pr}(v) \in D(\text{div})$ and, if this is the case, $\operatorname{div} v = \operatorname{div}(\overline{\Pr}(v))$. Similar notation will be used for other operators acting on subspaces of $L^0(T\mathsf{X})$.

Theorem 2.2.20 ([69, Theorem 2.14 and Proposition 2.13]). Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space. Then there exists a unique map $Q\bar{C}R : H^{1,2}_{C}(TX) \to L^{0}_{\operatorname{Cap}}(TX)$ such that

- i) $Q\bar{C}R(v) \in QC(TX)$ for every $v \in H^{1,2}_C(TX)$,
- ii) $\bar{\Pr} \circ Q\bar{C}R(v) = v$ for every $v \in H^{1,2}_C(T\mathsf{X})$.

Moreover, QCR is linear and satisfies

$$|Q\bar{C}R(v)| = QCR(|v|)$$
 Cap-a.e. for every $v \in H_C^{1,2}(TX)$,

so that $Q\bar{C}R$ is continuous.

We often omit to write the $Q\bar{C}R$ (which, as before, stands for quasi-continuous) operator for simplicity of notation. This should cause no ambiguity thanks to the fact that

$$Q\bar{C}R(gv) = QCR(g)Q\bar{C}R(v) \quad \text{for every } g \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m}) \text{ and } v \in H^{1,2}_{C}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}).$$
(2.2.15)

This can be proved easily as the continuity of the map QCR implies that $QCR(g)Q\bar{C}R(v)$ as above is quasi-continuous and the injectivity of the map \bar{Pr} restricted the set of quasi-continuous vector fields yields the conclusion. Again by locality, we have that (2.2.15) holds even for $g \in S^2(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$.

We have the following dimensional decomposition of the capacitary tangent module, along with the existence of a basis on the sets of a suitable partition. This is proved in [43]. Notice that to every element of the partition A_k is associated an integer $n(k) \leq n$, and the inequality may be strict, see e.g. [69, Example 3.17]

Theorem 2.2.21. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space of essential dimension n. Then there exists a partition of X made of countably many bounded Borel sets $\{A_k\}_k$ such that for every k there exist n(k) with $0 \le n(k) \le n$ and $\{v_1^k, \ldots, v_{n(k)}^k\} \subseteq \operatorname{TestV}(X)$ with bounded support which is an orthonormal basis of $L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(TX)$ on A_k , in the sense that

$$v_i \cdot v_j = \delta_i^j$$
 Cap-a.e. on A_k

and for every $v \in L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ there exist $g_1, \ldots, g_{n(k)} \in L^0(\operatorname{Cap})$ such that

$$v = \sum_{i=1}^{n(k)} g_i v_i^k$$
 Cap-a.e. on A_k ,

where, in particular,

$$g_i = v \cdot v_i^k$$
 Cap-a.e. on A_k .

Here we implicitly state that if n(k) = 0 then for every $v \in L^0_{Cap}(TX)$ we have v = 0 Cap-a.e. on A_k .

Proof. First, we remark that that it is easy to show that in item *ii*) of Theorem 2.2.18 we can replace TestF(X) with a countable subset, say $\{f_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$. This is due to the fact that $H_C^{1,2}(TX)$ is separable, so that we can take a countable dense subset of TestV(X) in the $W_C^{1,2}(TX)$ topology. Set now $v_k := \tilde{\nabla} f_k$ and $D := \{v_k\}_k$.

Consider now the (countable) sequence of Cap-a.e. defined functions

$$F_I := \det \left(v_i \cdot v_j \right)_{i,j \in I}$$

where I ranges over all finite subsets of N. Notice that if |I| > n then the fact that $L^2(TX)$ has dimension n and basic linear algebra yield that $F_I = 0$ m-a.e. hence $F_I = 0$ Cap-a.e. because F_I is quasi-continuous. We set then for $i \in \mathbb{N}$, $i \ge 1$

$$A_i := \bigcup_{|I|=i} \{F_I \neq 0\} \bigcap_{|J| \ge i+1} \{F_J = 0\}$$

and $A_0 := \mathsf{X} \setminus \bigcup_{i \ge 1} A_i$. Notice $\mathsf{X} = A_0 \cup \cdots \cup A_n$ as a disjoint union.

Notice now that we can show, by density, that for every $v \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ we have v = 0 Cap-a.e. on A_0 . Then, by definition, we can write $A_i = \bigcup_I A_i^I$ countable (disjoint) union, where on A_i^I we have that $F_I \neq 0$ Cap-a.e. and $F_J = 0$ Cap-a.e. if |J| > |I|. We claim now that $\{v_k\}_{k \in I}$ is a basis of $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ on A_i^I , in the sense that for every $v \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ there exists $\{g_k\}_{k \in I}$ such that

$$v = \sum_{k \in I} g_k v_k$$
 Cap-a.e. on A_i^I

and that if for some $\{g_k\}_{k\in I} \subseteq L^0(\text{Cap})$ we have that $\sum_{k\in I} g_k v_k = 0$ Cap-a.e. then $g_k = 0$ Cap-a.e. on A_i^I for every $k \in I$.

The second claim follows by basic linear algebra: indeed if $\sum_{k \in I} g_k v_k = 0$ Cap-a.e. then we have in particular

$$\sum_{k,h\in I} g_h g_k v_h \,\cdot\, v_k = 0 \quad \text{Cap-a.e.}$$

and this implies $g_k = 0$ Cap-a.e. on A_i^I for every $k \in I$ as $F_I \neq 0$ Cap-a.e. on A_i^I .

We show now the first claim. This is again basic linear algebra together with a simple density argument. Take any w in $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(TX)$, then a density-continuity argument and the fact that $F_{I\cup\{k\}} = 0$ Cap-a.e. on A_i^I for every k show that if we set (with an abuse) $v_{\bar{k}} := w$ we have that

$$F_{I\cup\{\bar{k}\}} = 0$$
 Cap-a.e. on A_i^I .

In particular, as $F_I \neq 0$ Cap-a.e. on A_i^I , we have that $v_{\bar{k}} \cdot v_l = \sum_{j \in I} g_j v_j \cdot v_l$ Cap-a.e. on A_i^I for $l \in I \cup \{\bar{k}\}$ where $\{g_j\}_j \subseteq L^0(\text{Cap})$ (as they are the unique solution of a linear system with coefficients in $L^0(\text{Cap})$). This immediately implies

$$\left| v_{\bar{k}} - \sum_{j \in I} g_j v_j \right|^2 = 0$$
 Cap-a.e. on A_i^I .

We do now a further decomposition of the sets A_i^I . First, we orthogonalize the basis $\{v_k\}_{k\in I}$ by means of a Gram-Schmidt procedure as follows. Assume for simplicity $I = \{1, 2, ..., m\}$. We set recursively

$$v'_k := c_k^k v_k + \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} c_l^k v'_l \quad \text{for } k = 1, \dots, m$$

where $\{c_l^k\}_{1 \le l \le k \le m}$ are defined as

$$c_{l}^{k} := \begin{cases} \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v'_{j} \cdot v'_{j} & \text{if } l = k, \\ \\ -\frac{v_{k} \cdot v'_{l}}{v'_{l} \cdot v'_{l}} \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v'_{j} \cdot v'_{j} & \text{if } l < k. \end{cases}$$

Notice that $\{c_l^k\} \subseteq S^2(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$ and that $\{v_k'\}_{k \in I}$ is still a basis on A_i^I in the sense described above. Also, $v_h' \cdot v_k' = 0$ Cap-a.e. on A_i^I if $h \neq k, h, k \in I$.

If $\varepsilon > 0$, we set then $(A_i^I)_{\varepsilon} := A_i^I \cap \{|v_k'| > \varepsilon \text{ for every } k \in I\}$, notice that $A_i^I = \bigcup_{\varepsilon > 0} (A_i^I)_{\varepsilon}$ and we can write such union as a countable union. We rescale now the basis writing

$$v_k'' := \frac{1}{\varepsilon \vee |v_k'|} v_k'$$

and this allows us to conclude the proof.

The following theorem, which is [51, Section 1.3] (see also [42]), is crucial in the construction of modules tailored to particular measures.

Theorem 2.2.22. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space and let μ be a Borel measure finite on balls such that $\mu \ll \text{Cap}$. Let also \mathcal{M} be a $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -normed $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -module. Define the natural (continuous) projection

$$\pi_{\mu}: L^0(\operatorname{Cap}) \to L^0(\mu).$$

We define an equivalence relation \sim_{μ} on \mathcal{M} as

 $v \sim_{\mu} w$ if and only if |v - w| = 0 μ -a.e.

Define the quotient module $\mathcal{M}^0_{\mu} := \mathcal{M}/\sim_{\mu}$ with the natural (continuous) projection

$$\bar{\pi}_{\mu}: \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}^0_{\mu}.$$

Then \mathcal{M}^0_{μ} is a $L^0(\mu)$ -normed $L^0(\mu)$ -module, with the pointwise norm and product induced by the ones of \mathcal{M} : more precisely, for every $v \in \mathcal{M}$ and $g \in L^0(\text{Cap})$,

$$\begin{cases} |\bar{\pi}_{\mu}(v)| := \pi_{\mu}(|v|), \\ \pi_{\mu}(g)\bar{\pi}_{\mu}(v) := \bar{\pi}_{\mu}(gv). \end{cases}$$
(2.2.16)

If $p \in [1, \infty]$, we set

 $\mathcal{M}^p_{\mu} := \left\{ v \in \mathcal{M}^0_{\mu} : |v| \in L^p(\mu) \right\},\$

which is a $L^p(\mu)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(\mu)$ -module. Moreover, if \mathcal{M} is a Hilbert module, also \mathcal{M}^0_{μ} and \mathcal{M}^2_{μ} are Hilbert modules.

In the particular case in which $\mathcal{M} = L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ and μ is a Borel measure finite on balls such that $\mu \ll \text{Cap}$, we set

$$L^p_{\mu}(T\mathsf{X}) := (L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X}))^p_{\mu} \quad \text{for } p \in \{0\} \cup [1,\infty].$$
2.2. RCD SPACES

In the case $\mu = \mathbf{m}$ notice that considering the map

$$\dot{\nabla} : \mathrm{TestF}(\mathsf{X}) \xrightarrow{\bar{\nabla}} L^0_{\mathrm{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X}) \xrightarrow{\bar{\pi}_{\mathsf{m}}} (L^0_{\mathrm{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X}))^0_{\mathsf{m}}$$

we can show that $(L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X}))^0_{\mathsf{m}}$ is isomorphic to the usual L^0 tangent module via a map that sends ∇f to $\dot{\nabla} f$ so that we have no ambiguity of notation and, by construction, the map $\bar{\pi}_{\mathsf{m}}$ coincides with $\bar{\Pr}$ defined in Proposition 2.2.19. We define the traces

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mu} : H^{1,2}_{\operatorname{loc}}(\mathsf{X}) \to L^{0}(\mu) \qquad \text{as} \qquad \operatorname{tr}_{\mu} := \pi_{\mu} \circ \operatorname{QCR},$$

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mu} : H^{1,2}_{\operatorname{c}}(T\mathsf{X}) \to L^{0}_{\mu}(T\mathsf{X}) \qquad \text{as} \qquad \operatorname{tr}_{\mu} := \overline{\pi}_{\mu} \circ \operatorname{QCR}.$$

To simplify the notation, we often omit to write the trace operators. This should cause no ambiguity because from (2.2.15) and (2.2.16) it follows that

$$\bar{\mathrm{tr}}_{\mu}(gv) = \mathrm{tr}_{\mu}(g)\bar{\mathrm{tr}}_{\mu}(v) \qquad \text{for every } g \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m}) \text{ and } v \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{C}}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}).$$

We define

$$\operatorname{TestV}_{\mu}(\mathsf{X}) := \overline{\operatorname{tr}}_{\mu}(\operatorname{TestV}(\mathsf{X})) \subseteq L^{\infty}_{\mu}(T\mathsf{X})$$

and the proof of [51, Lemma 2.7] gives the following result.

Lemma 2.2.23. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space and let μ be a finite Borel measure such that $\mu \ll \operatorname{Cap.}$ Then $\operatorname{TestV}_{\mu}(X)$ is dense in $L^p_{\mu}(TX)$ for every $p \in [1, \infty)$.

We also need Cartesian products of normed modules. Fix $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \geq 1$ and denote by $\|\cdot\|_e$ the Euclidean norm of \mathbb{R}^n . Given a $L^0(\mathsf{m})$ -normed $L^0(\mathsf{m})$ -module \mathcal{N} , we can consider its Cartesian product \mathcal{N}^n and endow it with the natural module structure and with the pointwise norm

$$|(v_1, \ldots, v_n)| := ||(|v_1|, \ldots, |v_n|)||_e$$

which is induced by a scalar product if and only if the one of \mathcal{N} is, and if this is the case, we still denote the pointwise scalar product on \mathcal{N}^n by the dot \cdot . We endow \mathcal{N}^n with the norm induced by the Lebesgue norm of the relevant exponent of the pointwise norm with respect to \mathbf{m} . Also, \mathcal{N}^n is a $L^2(\mathbf{m})$ -normed $L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})$ -module if and only if \mathcal{N} is, and, if this is the case, a subspace \mathcal{N}_1 of \mathcal{N} is dense if and only if $(\mathcal{N}_1)^n$ is dense in \mathcal{N}^n . Similar considerations hold if \mathbf{m} is replaced by a Borel measure, finite on balls and (with the suitable interpretation) in the case of $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -normed $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -modules or if we alter the integrability exponent. It is clear that if \mathcal{M} is a $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -normed $L^0(\text{Cap})$ -module and μ is a Borel measure finite on balls such that $\mu \ll \text{Cap}$, then also

$$(\mathcal{M}^p_{\mu})^n = (\mathcal{M}^n)^p_{\mu} \quad \text{for } p \in \{0\} \cup [1, \infty].$$

We adopt the natural notation

$$\mathcal{L}^p_{\mu}(T^n\mathsf{X}) := L^p_{\mu}(T\mathsf{X})^n$$

and, when possible, we endow $L^p_{\mu}(T^n X)$ with the norm induced by the $L^p(\mu)$ norm of the (Euclidean) pointwise norm $|\cdot|$.

The following remark will be used in the sequel without further notice: if $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n) \in \mathcal{N}^n$ is such that for every $i = 1, \ldots, n, v_i \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$, then $|v| \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$. This follows from the fact that if $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ and $\varphi \in \operatorname{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R})$ is such that $\varphi(0) = 0$, then $\varphi(f_1, \ldots, f_n) \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$.

2.3 Functions of bounded variation

Now we turn to the study of functions of bounded variation on metric measure spaces. Most of the material can be found in the thesis [71] and the references therein.

2.3.1 Definitions and basic properties

We assume that the reader is familiar with the theory of functions of bounded variation and sets of (locally) finite perimeter in metric measure spaces developed in [6, 7, 108] and in the more recent [10, 51] for what concerns the RCD(K, N) setting. We recall now the main notions.

Fix a metric measure space (X, d, m). Given $f \in L^1_{loc}(m)$, we define, for any $A \subseteq X$ open, the total variation

$$|\mathrm{D}f|(A) := \inf\left\{\liminf_{k} \int \operatorname{lip}(f_k) \,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} : \{f_k\}_k \subseteq \mathrm{LIP}_{\mathrm{loc}}(A), f_k \to f \text{ in } L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(A, \mathsf{m})\right\},$$
(2.3.1)

where $f_k \to f$ in $L^1_{loc}(A, \mathsf{m})$ if for every $x \in A$ there exists a neighbourhood $U = U_x$ of x such that $f_k \to f$ in $L^1(U, \mathsf{m})$.

For $\Omega \subseteq \mathsf{X}$ open, we say that f has locally bounded variation on Ω provided that for every $x \in \Omega$, there exists a neighbourhood $A = A_x$ of x with $|\mathrm{D}f|(A) < \infty$. In this case we write $f \in \mathrm{BV}_{\mathrm{loc}}(A)$. If moreover $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ and $|\mathrm{D}f|(\Omega) < \infty$, we say that f has bounded variation on Ω and we write $f \in \mathrm{BV}(\Omega)$. In particular, we say that f is a function of bounded variation, and we write $f \in \mathrm{BV}(\mathsf{X})$, if $f \in L^1(\mathsf{m})$ and $|\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) < \infty$. In this case it is easy to show that in (2.3.1), L^1 convergence can be equivalently taken instead of L^1_{loc} convergence.

If $f = \chi_E$, we say that E is a set of locally finite perimeter if $\chi_E \in BV_{loc}(X)$ and we say that E is a set of finite perimeter if $|D\chi_E|(X) < \infty$.

If $f \in BV_{loc}(\Omega)$, then $|Df|(\cdot)$ turns out to be the restriction to open sets of a Borel measure (finite or locally finite) that we denote with the same symbol and that we still call *total variation*. If $f = \chi_E$, we denote $|Df|(\cdot)$ also with $Per(E, \cdot)$ and we call it *perimeter*.

Notice that, by its very definition, the total variation is lower semicontinuous with respect to L^1_{loc} convergence, is subadditive and $|D(\varphi \circ f)| \leq L|Df|$ whenever $f \in BV(X)$ and φ is *L*-Lipschitz. Finally, (2.2.3) and, in particular, (2.2.2) extend immediately to the case $f \in BV(X)$, with the term $\frac{1}{\mathsf{m}(B_{cr}(x))}|Df|(B_{cr}(x))$ in place of $f_{B_{cr}(x)}|\mathrm{lip}(f) \,\mathrm{dm}$. Therefore,

$$\min\{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x)\cap E), \mathsf{m}(B_r(x)\setminus E)\} \le 2C_P r |\mathsf{D}\chi_E|(B_{\lambda r}(x)) \qquad \text{for every } x \in \mathsf{X} \text{ and } r \in (0, R).$$
(2.3.2)

The following remark will be used with no further reference.

Remark 2.3.1. Let $f \in BV(X)$. Whenever we have an optimal sequence $\{f_k\}_k \subseteq LIP_{loc}(X) \cap L^1(\mathsf{m})$ for the computation of |Df|(X) as in (2.3.1), i.e. $f_k \to f$ in $L^1(\mathsf{m})$ and $\int_X lip(f_k) d\mathsf{m} \to |Df|(X)$, then it holds that $lip(f_k)\mathsf{m} \to |Df|$ in duality with $C_{\mathrm{b}}(X)$. Moreover, by the results in [71], there exists at least one such sequence, which moreover satisfies $\{f_k\}_k \subseteq LIP_{\mathrm{bs}}(X)$.

Several classical results have been generalized to the abstract framework of metric measure spaces. Among them, the Fleming–Rishel *coarea* formula, which we now state.

Proposition 2.3.2 (Coarea). Let $A \subseteq X$ open and let $f \in L^1_{loc}(A)$. Then

$$|\mathbf{D}f|(A) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Per}(\{f > r\}, A) \, \mathrm{d}r \, .$$

In particular, for $f \in L^1(A)$, it holds that $f \in BV(A)$ if and only if $\int_{\mathbb{R}} Per(\{f > r\}, A) dr < \infty$.

2.3. FUNCTIONS OF BOUNDED VARIATION

In the proposition above, it is part of the statement that if $|Df|(A) < \infty$, then the set $\{f > r\}$ has finite perimeter for \mathcal{L}^1 -a.e. $r \in \mathbb{R}$.

We also have the following consequence of the coarea formula above. If $f \in BV(X)$, then

$$\int h \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int h \,\mathrm{dPer}(\{f > r\}, \cdot) \,\mathrm{d}r \qquad \text{for any Borel function } h: \mathsf{X} \to [0, \infty].$$
(2.3.3)

A standard consequence of the coarea formula is that given $x \in X$, then for \mathcal{L}^1 -a.e $r \in (0, \infty)$ the ball $B_r(x)$ has finite perimeter. In the framework of RCD(K, N) spaces this conclusion holds for every $r \in (0, \infty)$ and the Bishop–Gromov inequality ([121]) provides sharp upper bounds for perimeters of balls. We also recall that sets of finite perimeters are an algebra, more precisely, if Eand F are sets of finite perimeter, then

$$\operatorname{Per}(E,\,\cdot\,) = \operatorname{Per}(\mathsf{X}\setminus E,\,\cdot\,) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \operatorname{Per}(E\cap F,\,\cdot\,) + \operatorname{Per}(E\cup F,\,\cdot\,) \leq \operatorname{Per}(E,\,\cdot\,) + \operatorname{Per}(F,\,\cdot\,).$$

2.3.2 Fine properties on PI spaces

We now fix a PI space (X, d, m). The following definitions make sense on arbitrary metric measure spaces, but most of the results of this section hold for PI spaces.

Given a measurable set E, we define its *essential boundary* as

$$\partial^* E := \left\{ x \in \mathsf{X} : \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap E)}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} > 0 \text{ and } \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \setminus E)}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} > 0 \right\},$$

and given a measurable function $f: \mathsf{X} \to \mathbb{R}$, we define the approximate lower and upper limits as

$$\begin{split} f^{\wedge}(x) &:= \operatorname{ap} \liminf_{y \to x} f(y) \; := \sup \left\{ t \in \bar{\mathbb{R}} : \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap \{f < t\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = 0 \right\}, \\ f^{\vee}(x) &:= \operatorname{ap} \limsup_{y \to x} f(y) := \inf \left\{ t \in \bar{\mathbb{R}} : \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap \{f > t\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = 0 \right\}. \end{split}$$

Notice that if E is a measurable subset of X, then

$$\partial^* E = \{ x : (\chi_E^{\wedge}(x), \chi_E^{\vee}(x)) = (0, 1) \}.$$

We define

$$S_f := \left\{ x : f^{\wedge}(x) < f^{\vee}(x) \right\}.$$
 (2.3.4)

If $x \in \mathsf{X} \setminus S_f$, then $f^{\wedge}(x) = f^{\vee}(x)$ and we denote their common value by $\overline{f}(x)$. If $x \in S_f$ we define

$$\bar{f}(x) := \frac{f^{\wedge}(x) + f^{\vee}(x)}{2}$$

adopting the convention $+\infty + (-\infty) = 0$. We call \bar{f} the precise representative of f.

We also need the definition of codimension one spherical Hausdorff measure, defined as

$$\mathcal{H}^h(A) := \lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \mathcal{H}^h_\delta(A)$$

where

$$\mathcal{H}^{h}_{\delta}(A) := \inf \left\{ \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{r_{i}}(x_{i}))}{r_{i}} : A \subseteq \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} B_{r_{i}}(x_{i}), \ r_{i} \leq \delta \right\}.$$

Notice that, for any $\delta > 0$,

$$\mathcal{H}^h_\delta(A) = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \mathcal{H}^h(A) = 0.$$

It is possible to prove (see [99, Lemma 3.2]) that for $f \in BV(X)$,

$$-\infty < f^{\vee}(x) \le f^{\wedge}(x) < +\infty \qquad \text{for } \mathcal{H}^h\text{-a.e. } x \in \mathsf{X}.$$
(2.3.5)

Moreover, the following relations can be easily proved with standard measure theoretic arguments (see e.g. [28, Proposition 5.2]):

$$\begin{array}{ll} \text{if } x \in S_f \text{ and } t \in (f^{\wedge}(x), f^{\vee}(x)) & \text{then } x \in \partial^* \{f > t\}, \\ \text{if } x \in \partial^* \{f > t\} & \text{then } t \in [f^{\wedge}(x), f^{\vee}(x)], \\ \text{in particular} & \text{if } x \notin S_f \text{ and } x \in \partial^* \{f > t\} & \text{then } \bar{f}(x) = t. \end{array}$$

$$(2.3.6)$$

We recall that [7, Lemma 5.2] and [51, Theorem 1.12], together with the coarea formula show that, in the framework of PI spaces (in particular, in the framework of RCD(K, N) spaces),

$$|\mathrm{D}f| \ll \mathcal{H}^h \ll \mathrm{Cap}$$
 for every $f \in \mathrm{BV}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathsf{X}).$ (2.3.7)

We also have the following more precise version of the first absolute continuity in (2.3.7), by [6, 7] and [28]: for any set of finite perimeter E, there exists a Borel function Θ_E , which is bounded uniformly from below and from above by strictly positive constants that depend only on the parameters in (2.2.1) and (2.2.2), such that

$$|\mathbf{D}\chi_E| = \Theta_E \mathcal{H}^h \, \sqcup \, \partial^* E. \tag{2.3.8}$$

However, we will prove in Theorem 2.3.7 that

$$|\mathbf{D}f| \ll Cap \tag{2.3.9}$$

holds for any m.m.s. (X, d, m) and $f \in BV(X)$.

Moreover, [28], it holds that the coarea formula implies that

$$\mathcal{H}^h(B) < \infty \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad |\mathrm{D}f|(B \setminus S_f) = 0.$$

The following proposition summarizes results about sets of finite perimeter that are now wellknown in the context of PI spaces and are proved in [7, 75], see also [6].

Proposition 2.3.3. Let (X, d, m) be a PI space and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of locally finite perimeter. Then, for $|DX_E|$ -a.e. $x \in X$ the following hold:

i) E is asymptotically minimal at x, i.e., there exist $r_x > 0$ and a function $\omega_x : (0, r_x) \to (0, \infty)$ with $\lim_{r \searrow 0} \omega_x(r) = 0$ satisfying

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(B_r(x)) \le (1+\omega_x(r))|\mathrm{D}\chi_{E'}|(B_r(x)) \qquad \text{if } r \in (0, r_x) \text{ and } E'\Delta E \Subset B_r(x),$$

ii) $|D\chi_E|$ is asymptotically doubling at x, i.e.

$$\limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(B_{2r}(x))}{|\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(B_r(x))} < \infty,$$

40

2.3. FUNCTIONS OF BOUNDED VARIATION

iii) we have the following estimates:

$$0 < \liminf_{r\searrow 0} \frac{r |\mathcal{D} \chi_E|(B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} \leq \limsup_{r\searrow 0} \frac{r |\mathcal{D} \chi_E|(B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} < \infty,$$

iv) the following holds:

$$\liminf_{r\searrow 0}\min\left\{\frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x)\cap E)}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))},\frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x)\setminus E)}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}\right\}>0.$$

As customary, we split the total variation of a function of bounded variation in absolutely continuous, jump, and Cantor part.

Definition 2.3.4 (Decomposition of the total variation). Let (X, d, m) be a PI space and let $f \in BV_{loc}(X)$. We split the total variation in *absolutely continuous part* and *singular part*,

$$|\mathbf{D}f| = |\mathbf{D}f|^a + |\mathbf{D}f|^s$$
 where $|\mathbf{D}f|^a = g_f \mathbf{m} \ll \mathbf{m}$ and $|\mathbf{D}f|^s \perp \mathbf{m}$,

and further split the singular part into jump part and Cantor part,

$$|\mathbf{D}f|^s = |\mathbf{D}f|^j + |\mathbf{D}f|^c$$
 where $|\mathbf{D}f|^j = |\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup S_f$,

so that we can write

$$|\mathbf{D}f|^c = |\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup C_f$$
 with $\mathbf{m}(C_f) = 0$ and $C_f \cap S_f = \emptyset$.

2.3.3 Integration by parts

The following representation formula for the total variation is based on a result proved in [72] and then modified in [53] (see [53, Remark 3.18]). In the particular setting of $\text{RCD}(K, \infty)$ spaces, it is possible to use an approximation argument to provide a direct proof (cf. Proposition 2.3.18). See [42] for the following formulation.

Proposition 2.3.5 (Representation formula). Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space and let $f \in BV(X)$. Then, for every A open subset of X, it holds that

$$|\mathbf{D}f|(A) = \sup\left\{\int_{A} f \operatorname{div} v \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}\right\},\tag{2.3.10}$$

where the supremum is taken among all $v \in W_A$, where

$$\mathcal{W}_A := \{ v \in D(\operatorname{div}^{\infty}) : |v| \le 1 \text{ m-}a.e. \operatorname{supp} v \Subset A \}.$$

Finally, the supremum can be equivalently taken among all $v \in \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_A$, where

$$\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_A := \{ v \in D(\operatorname{div}^{\infty}) : |v| \le 1 \text{ m-}a.e. \operatorname{supp} v \subseteq A \}.$$

Proof. Fix $A \subseteq X$ open. If $v \in \mathcal{W}_A$, as supp $v \in A$, we can find B open with $v \in \mathcal{W}_B$ and $\overline{B} \subseteq A$. Take now a sequence $\{f_n\}_n \subseteq \text{LIP}_{\text{bs}}(\mathsf{X})$ with $f_n \to f$ in $L^1(\mathsf{m})$ and $\int_{\mathsf{X}} \text{lip}(f_n) d\mathsf{m} \to |\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X})$ (hence $\text{lip}(f_n)\mathsf{m} \to |\mathrm{D}f|$ in duality with $C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{X})$). Then

$$\int f \operatorname{div} v \, \mathrm{dm} = \lim_{n} \int f_{n} \operatorname{div} v \, \mathrm{dm} = -\lim_{n} \int \mathrm{d}f_{n}(v) \, \mathrm{dm} \, .$$

We have that for every n (recall the bound $|df_n| \le lip(f_n)$ m-a.e.),

$$\left|\int \mathrm{d}f_n(v)\,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}\right| \leq \int_B \operatorname{lip}(f_n)\,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}$$

Exploiting the weak convergence of $\lim_{n \to \infty} (f_n) \mathbf{m}$ to $|\mathbf{D}f|$ we have

$$\limsup_{n} \int_{B} \lim(f_{n}) \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \le |\mathrm{D}f|(\bar{B}) \le |\mathrm{D}f|(A)$$

and this proves that the quantity defined by the supremum in (2.3.10) is bounded by |Df|(A).

Now, (with the notation of [72, 53]), let $\delta \in \text{Der}^{\infty,\infty}(X)$ be with $|\delta| \leq 1$ m-a.e. and $\text{supp } \delta \Subset A$. Then $\delta \in \text{Der}^{2,2}(X)$ so that, using [53, Lemma 3.12], we can find a vector field $v_{\delta} \in D(\text{div})$ such that $|v_{\delta}| \leq |\delta|$ m-a.e. and div $v_{\delta} = \text{div } \delta$ m-a.e. and then also the opposite inequality in (2.3.10) is proved, in virtue of [72, Theorem 3.4].

In order to conclude, we just have to show that if $A \subseteq X$ is open and $v \in \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_A$, then

$$\int f \operatorname{div} v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \le |\mathrm{D}f|(A)$$

By an immediate approximation argument, there is no loss of generality in assuming that v has bounded support. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. By regularity, let $K \subseteq X$ be a compact set with $K \subseteq X \setminus A$ and $|Df|((X \setminus A) \setminus K) < \varepsilon$. It is clear that supp $v \in X \setminus K$, so that

$$\int f \operatorname{div} v \operatorname{dm} \le |\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X} \setminus K) \le |\mathrm{D}f|(A) + \varepsilon,$$

so that the proof is concluded being $\varepsilon > 0$ arbitrary.

Remark 2.3.6. If $f \in BV(X)$, $v \in D(\operatorname{div}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$ and $\{n_k\}_k \subseteq (0,\infty)$, $\{m_k\}_k \subseteq (0,\infty)$ are two sequences with $\lim_k n_k = \lim_k m_k = +\infty$, then the limit

$$\lim_{k} \int (f \vee -m_k) \wedge n_k \operatorname{div} v \, \mathrm{dm}$$
(2.3.11)

exists finite and does not depend on the particular choice of the sequences $\{n_k\}_k$ and $\{m_k\}_k$. Indeed, a cut-off argument and an approximation argument as the one in the proof of Proposition 2.3.5 yields that, if $g \in BV(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$ and v is as above, then

$$\left|\int g \operatorname{div} v \operatorname{dm}\right| \le |\mathrm{D}g|(\mathsf{X})||v||_{L^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X})},$$

so that, using also coarea, we get the claim.

Therefore, if $f \in BV(X)$ and $v \in D(div) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$, we can write

$$\int f \operatorname{div} v \, \mathrm{dm} \,,$$

with the convention that it has to be interpreted as the limit in (2.3.11).

42

2.3.4 Total variation and capacity

We recall Definition 2.2.17. For a function of bounded variation f, on a PI space, it holds that $|Df| \ll Cap$, by (2.3.7). For general metric measure space, there is little hope to recover (2.3.7). However, the fact that $|Df| \ll Cap$ still holds, as the following theorem shows. Notice that this fact is of crucial importance, as it allows to exploit the results of Section 2.2.9.

Theorem 2.3.7. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space and let $f \in BV(X)$. Then

$$|\mathbf{D}f| \ll \operatorname{Cap}.$$

We prove Theorem 2.3.7 after Lemma 2.3.8, which states that we can compute the capacity of compact sets using Lipschitz functions, instead of Sobolev ones.

Lemma 2.3.8. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space and let $K \subseteq X$ be a compact set. Then

$$\operatorname{Cap}(K) = \inf \|f\|_{H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})}^2 = \inf \int f^2 + \operatorname{lip}(f)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}$$
(2.3.12)

where both the infima are taken among all functions $f \in LIP_{bs}(X)$ such that $f \ge 1$ on a neighbourhood of K.

Proof. Recalling that if $f \in LIP_{bs}(X)$, then $f \in H^{1,2}(X)$ and

$$||f||^2_{H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})} \le \int f^2 + \operatorname{lip}(f)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}\,,$$

we immediately obtain the two inequalities (\leq) in (2.3.12).

To conclude, we can assume with no loss of generality that $\operatorname{Cap}(K) < \infty$. If $\varepsilon > 0$, fix $g \in H^{1,2}(X)$ with $g \ge 1$ m-a.e. on a neighbourhood of K such that $||g||_{H^{1,2}(X)}^2 \le \operatorname{Cap}(K) + \varepsilon$. Up to replacing g with $0 \lor g \land 1$, there is no loss of generality in assuming that g takes values in [0, 1] and that g = 1 m-a.e. on a neighbourhood of K, call this neighbourhood A. Let also $\{g_n\} \subseteq \operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{bs}}(X)$ be such that $g_n \to g$ in $L^2(\mathsf{m})$ and $\int \operatorname{lip}(g_n)^2 \operatorname{dm} \to \operatorname{Ch}(g)$ (using an immediate cut-off argument we can replace $\operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{b}}(X) \cap L^2(\mathsf{m})$ with $\operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{bs}}(X)$ in (2.1.1)). Take $\eta \in \operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{bs}}(X)$ such that $\eta = 1$ on a neighbourhood of K, $\eta(x) \in [0, 1]$ for every $x \in X$ and $\operatorname{supp} \eta \subseteq A$ (here we use the compactness of K). Set now $f_n := (1 - \eta)g_n + \eta \in \operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{bs}}(X)$ and notice that $f_n \ge 1$ on a neighbourhood of K. Exploiting the fact that $g_n \to g$ in $L^2(\mathsf{m})$ and g = 1 m-a.e. on A,

$$\limsup_n \int f_n^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \int g^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \,.$$

Using the convexity inequality for the slope (e.g. [71, Lemma 1.3.2]) and arguing as above, we have that

$$\operatorname{lip}(f_n) \le (1-\eta)\operatorname{lip}(g_n) + \operatorname{lip}(\eta)|g_n - 1|$$

so that

$$\limsup_{n} \int \operatorname{lip}(f_n)^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \leq \limsup_{n} \int \operatorname{lip}(g_n)^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \, .$$

All in all, we conclude as $\varepsilon > 0$ was arbitrary and

$$\limsup_{n} \int f_n^2 + \lim(f_n)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \le \|g\|_{H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})}^2 \le \operatorname{Cap}(K) + \varepsilon.$$

Remark 2.3.9. It is worth pointing out that Lemma 2.3.8 holds also replacing lip with the bigger \lim_{a} in (2.3.12), which is defined by

$$\operatorname{lip}_a(f)(x) := \limsup_{y,z \to x} \frac{|f(y) - f(z)|}{\mathsf{d}(y,z)},$$

which has to be understood to be 0 if x is an isolated point, for any f locally Lipschitz. The proof is exactly the same, if one takes into account the main result of [20].

Proof of Theorem 2.3.7. First notice that thanks to coarea and the regularity of |Df|, we can reduce ourselves to prove that |Df|(K) = 0 whenever $K \subseteq X$ is a compact set with $\operatorname{Cap}(K) = 0$ and assuming also $f \in \operatorname{BV}(X) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$. Thanks to Lemma 2.3.8, we can take a sequence $\{\varphi_n\}_n \subseteq$ $\operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{bs}}(X)$ such that $\varphi_n(x) \in [0,1]$ for every $x \in X$, $\varphi_n(x) = 1$ on a neighbourhood of K (this neighbourhood depends on n) and $\|\varphi_n\|_{H^{1,2}(X)} \to 0$.

Take $v \in D(\operatorname{div}^{\infty})$ with $|v| \leq 1$ m-a.e. and supp v bounded. Consider now

$$\int f \operatorname{div} v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \int f \operatorname{div}(\varphi_n v) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} + \int f \operatorname{div}((1 - \varphi_n) v) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}$$

and notice that, by the calculus rules for the divergence in (2.1.4) (recall that we are assuming $f \in L^2(\mathsf{m})$),

$$\int f \operatorname{div}(\varphi_n v) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \to 0 \qquad \text{as } n \to \infty$$

and also that, by Proposition 2.3.5,

$$\left|\int f \operatorname{div}((1-\varphi_n)v) \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}\right| \le |\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X} \setminus K)$$

as supp $((1 - \varphi_n)v) \in X \setminus K$. If we let $n \to \infty$ and then take the supremum among all v as above, we have, by Proposition 2.3.5,

$$|\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) \le |\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X} \setminus K),$$

which proves our claim.

2.3.5 Cartesian surfaces

Here and after, when we deal with a Cartesian product of sets of the kind $X_1 \times \cdots \times X_k$, we denote by

$$\pi^j : \mathsf{X}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathsf{X}_k \to \mathsf{X}_j \qquad (x_1, \dots, x_k) \mapsto x_j$$

the projection onto the corresponding factor, for $j = 1, \ldots, k$.

Definition 2.3.10. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space and let $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be Borel. Then we define the *subgraph* of f as the Borel set $\mathcal{G}_f \subseteq X \times \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$\mathcal{G}_f := \{ (x, t) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : t < f(x) \}.$$

Lemma 2.3.11. Let (X, d, m) be a locally uniformly doubling metric measure space and let $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a Borel function. Then it holds that

$$(x,t) \in \partial^* \mathcal{G}_f \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad t \in [f^{\wedge}(x), f^{\vee}(x)],$$

$$t \in (f^{\wedge}(x), f^{\vee}(x)) \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad (x,t) \in \partial^* \mathcal{G}_f.$$

In particular, if $x \in X \setminus S_f$, then it holds that $\partial^* \mathcal{G}_f \cap (\{x\} \times \mathbb{R})$ is either empty or coincides with $\{(x, \overline{f}(x))\}$.

2.3. FUNCTIONS OF BOUNDED VARIATION

Proof. In the proof the constant C may change from line to line and it only depends on the doubling constant at scale R = 1. We can compute, for $r \in (0, \varepsilon)$, using Fubini's Theorem,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1})(B_{r}(x,t) \cap \mathcal{G}_{f})}{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1})(B_{r}(x,t))} &\leq \frac{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1})((B_{r}(x) \times B_{r}(t)) \cap \mathcal{G}_{f})}{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1})(B_{r/2}(x) \times B_{r/2}(t))} \\ &\leq C \frac{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1})(\{(y,t) \in B_{r}(x) \times B_{r}(t) : t < f(y)\})}{r\mathsf{m}(B_{r}(x))} \\ &\leq C \frac{\int_{t-r}^{t+r} \mathsf{m}(\{y \in B_{r}(x) : s < f(y)\}) \,\mathrm{d}s}{\mathsf{m}(B_{r}(x))} \\ &\leq C \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{r}(x) \cap \{f > t - \varepsilon\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_{r}(x))}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, if $(x,t) \in \partial^* \mathcal{G}_f$, then $t \leq f^{\vee}(x)$. Similarly, we can show that if $r \in (0,\varepsilon)$,

$$\frac{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)(B_r(x,t) \setminus \mathcal{G}_f)}{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)(B_r(x,t))} \le C \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap \{f < t + \varepsilon\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))},$$

which in turn shows that if $(x,t) \in \partial^* \mathcal{G}_f$, then $t \geq f^{\wedge}(x)$. Conversely, arguing as above, we can show that if $r \in (0, \varepsilon)$,

$$\frac{(\mathsf{m}\otimes\mathcal{L}^1)(B_{2r}(x,t)\cap\mathcal{G}_f)}{(\mathsf{m}\otimes\mathcal{L}^1)(B_{2r}(x,t))} \ge C\frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x)\cap\{f>t+\varepsilon\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}$$

and that

$$\frac{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)(B_r(x,t) \setminus \mathcal{G}_f)}{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)(B_r(x,t))} \ge C \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap \{f < t - \varepsilon\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}$$

which yield the second claim.

By [30, Theorem 5.1] and its proof, taking into account the elementary inequality

$$a \le \sqrt{1+a^2} \le 1+a$$
, for every $a > 0$,

(or see [28, Proposition 4.2]) we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 2.3.12. Let (X, d, m) be a PI space and $f \in BV(X)$. Then \mathcal{G}_f is a set of locally finite perimeter in $X \times \mathbb{R}$ and

$$|\mathbf{D}f| \le \pi^1_* |\mathbf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \le |\mathbf{D}f| + \mathsf{m}.$$

$$(2.3.13)$$

In particular, if C_f and S_f are the m-negligible sets as in Definition 2.3.4,

$$(\pi^1_* | \mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} |) \sqcup (C_f \cup J_f) = |\mathsf{D}f| \sqcup (C_f \cup J_f).$$

2.3.6 Vector valued functions of bounded variation

In what follows we fix $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $m \ge 1$. We treat now the case of vector valued BV functions, i.e. functions of bounded variation taking values in \mathbb{R}^m , or equivalently, collections of m real valued functions of bounded variation. As the case m = 1 has already been treated, we focus on $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $m \ge 2$.

Definition 2.3.13. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space and $f \in L^1(m)^m$. We define, for any A open subset of X,

$$|\mathrm{D}f|(A) := \inf\left\{\liminf_{k} \int_{A} \|(\ln(f_{i,k}))_{i=1,\dots,m}\|_{e} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}\right\}$$
(2.3.14)

where the infimum is taken among all sequences $\{f_{i,k}\}_k \subseteq \text{LIP}_{\text{loc}}(A)$ such that $f_{i,k} \to f_i$ in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(A, \mathsf{m})$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$.

Remark 2.3.14. Notice that we are taking the relaxation of the integral of the Euclidean norm of the vector whose components are the local Lipschitz constants of the various coordinates, not the local Lipschitz constant of a vector valued function. The former approach follows [18], while the latter (a slight variant of the one in) [108]. For open subsets of \mathbb{R}^n the former approach corresponds to the relaxation of the integral of the Hilbert-Schmidt norm of the Jacobian matrix of a sequence of approximating functions, while the latter employs the operator norm instead, and is seen to be equivalent to the one proposed in [4]. Also, it is straightforward to show that $f \in BV(X)^m$ if and only if the quantity defined in (2.3.14) for |Df|(X) is finite, and similarly for $BV_{loc}(X)$.

Proposition 2.3.15. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space and $f \in BV(X)^m$. Then $|Df|(\cdot)$ as defined in (2.3.14) is the restriction to open sets of a finite non-negative Borel measure that we call total variation of f and still denote with the same symbol.

Proof. The proof of [15, Lemma 5.2] can be easily adapted with no substantial changes. Indeed, one has only to notice that the convexity inequality for the slope used in [15, Lemma 5.4] and the properties of the Euclidean norm imply a suitable version of the convexity inequality for the slope in our situation. \Box

Definition 2.3.16. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space and $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_m) \in BV(X)^m$. We define the Borel set

$$S_f := \bigcup_{i=1}^m S_{f_i},$$

where S_{f_i} is defined in (2.3.4).

Also in this case we adopt the terminology (and notation) of Definition 2.3.4 for what concerns the splitting of the total variation of a vector valued function of bounded variation in *absolutely continuous*, *jump* and *Cantor* part.

2.3.7 Functions of bounded variation on RCD spaces

The proof of the following result can be found in [86, Remark 3.5], we briefly sketch it here for the sake of completeness. Notice that there is a slight abuse in the statements of (2.3.15) and (2.3.16), as we identified measures with their densities freely.

Proposition 2.3.17 (Bakry-Émery estimate in BV). Let (X, d, m) be an $RCD(K, \infty)$ space and $f \in BV(X)$. Then, if t > 0, $h_t f \in BV(X)$ and it holds

$$|\mathrm{Dh}_t f| \le e^{-Kt} \mathrm{h}_t |\mathrm{D}f|. \tag{2.3.15}$$

If moreover $f \in BV(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$, then $h_t f \in BV(X) \cap H^{1,2}(X)$ and

$$|\nabla \mathbf{h}_t f| \le e^{-Kt} \mathbf{h}_t |\mathbf{D}f| \qquad \mathsf{m}\text{-}a.e. \tag{2.3.16}$$

2.3. FUNCTIONS OF BOUNDED VARIATION

Proof. First notice that by the general theory of Sobolev spaces, we easily obtain that $|\text{Dh}_t f| \leq |\nabla h_t f| \mathsf{m}$ if $f \in BV(\mathsf{X}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$. Then, thanks to the lower semicontinuity of the total variation and a truncation argument, the first statement follows from the second.

In order to conclude the proof, take a sequence $\{f_k\}_k \subseteq \text{LIP}_{bs}(\mathsf{X})$ with $f_k \to f$ in $L^1(\mathsf{m})$ and $\int_{\mathsf{X}} \text{lip}(f_k) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} \to |\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X})$ (hence $\text{lip}(f_k)\mathsf{m} \to |\mathrm{D}f|$ in duality with $C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{X})$). Clearly, we can assume that $\|f_k\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})} \leq \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})}$, so that $h_t f_k \in H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) \cap \text{LIP}_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{X})$ for every k, with uniformly bounded Lipschitz constants, by the L^{∞} -LIP regularization property. Also, by [114, Corollary 4.3], we have that for every k,

$$|\nabla \mathbf{h}_t f_k| \le e^{-Kt} \mathbf{h}_t |\nabla f_k| \le e^{-Kt} \mathbf{h}_t \mathrm{lip}(f_k)$$
 m-a.e

Then, $\{|\nabla h_t f_k|\}_k \subseteq L^2(\mathsf{m})$ is bounded and, as $|\nabla h_t f|$ is bounded from above by any L^2 weak limit of $\{|\nabla h_t f_k|\}_k$, we can conclude easily, recalling that the heat flow on finite measures preserves the weak convergence in duality with $C_{\rm b}(\mathsf{X})$.

For the rest of this subsection, we fix $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $m \geq 1$. The following proposition provides us with a generalization of Proposition 2.3.5 (actually, also with a different proof, but only for the special context of RCD spaces) to the multi dimensional case, in the context of RCD (K, ∞) spaces.

In view of the following proposition, recall that the interpretation of the integral in (2.3.17) is given by Remark 2.3.6.

Proposition 2.3.18. Let (X, d, m) be an $RCD(K, \infty)$ space and let $f \in BV(X)^m$. Then, for every A open subset of X, it holds that

$$|\mathrm{D}f|(A) = \sup\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{A} f_{i} \mathrm{div} \, v_{i} \, \mathrm{dm}\right\},\tag{2.3.17}$$

where the supremum is taken among all $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m) \in \mathcal{W}_A^m$, where

$$\mathcal{W}_A^m := \Big\{ v = (v_1, \dots v_m) \in \text{TestV}(\mathsf{X})^m : |v| \le 1 \text{ m-}a.e. \text{ supp } |v| \Subset A \Big\}.$$
(2.3.18)

Finally, the supremum can be equivalently taken among all $v \in \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_A^m$, where

$$\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_A^m := \Big\{ v = (v_1, \dots v_m) \in \text{TestV}(\mathsf{X})^m : |v| \le 1 \text{ m-}a.e. \text{ supp } |v| \subseteq A \Big\}.$$

Proof. Call $|Df|^*$ the quantity defined by the right hand side of (2.3.17), we show now that $|Df|^*$ is the restriction to open sets of a finite Borel measure, that we still denote with $|Df|^*$ and that $|Df|^* = |Df|$ as measures.

Step 1. We show that $|Df|^*(A) \leq |Df|(A)$ for every open set A. Fix then $A \subseteq X$ open. Assume for the moment that also $f_i \in L^{\infty}(A, \mathfrak{m}) \cap \operatorname{LIP}_{\operatorname{loc}}(A)$ is such that $\int_A \operatorname{lip}(f_i) d\mathfrak{m} < \infty$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$ and take any $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m) \in \mathcal{W}_A^m$. Set now

$$C := \operatorname{supp} |v|$$

Notice $C \in A$ and take a cut-off function $\psi \in \text{LIP}_{bs}(X)$ with $\psi(x) \in [0, 1]$ for every $x \in X$, $\psi = 1$ on a neighbourhood of C and $\text{supp } \psi \in A$. Therefore, for every $i = 1, \ldots, m, \psi f_i \in L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m}) \cap \text{LIP}_{loc}(X)$ is such that $\int \operatorname{lip}(\psi f_i) \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} < \infty$. We can now estimate, for t > 0, using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and (2.3.16),

$$\begin{split} -\sum_{i=1}^m \int \mathbf{h}_t(\psi f_i) \mathrm{div} \, v_i \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} &= \sum_{i=1}^m \int \nabla \mathbf{h}_t(\psi f_i) \, \cdot \, v_i \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \leq \int_C \| (|\nabla \mathbf{h}_t(\psi f_i)|)_i\|_e \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \\ &\leq e^{-Kt} \int_C \| (\mathbf{h}_t |\mathbf{D}(\psi f_i)|)_i\|_e \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \leq e^{-Kt} \int_C \| (\mathbf{h}_t \mathrm{lip}(\psi f_i))_i\|_e \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \end{split}$$

so that, letting $t \searrow 0$,

$$-\sum_{i=1}^m \int f_i \operatorname{div} v_i \, \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} \le \int_C \|(\operatorname{lip}(\psi f_i))_i\|_e \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} \le \int_A \|\operatorname{lip}(f_i)\|_e \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}.$$

Back to the general case $f \in BV(X)^m$, we notice that we have to show the claim in the case $f_i \in L^{\infty}(A, \mathbf{m})$ for every i = 1, ..., m. Then, we can conclude by the very definition of |Df| and what said above, noticing that approximating sequences can be taken made of functions uniformly bounded in $L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})$ with no loss of generality.

Step 2. We show that $|Df|^*$ is the restriction to open sets of a finite Borel measure (that we still call $|Df|^*$). To this aim, we can use Carathéodory criterion ([18], cf. [15, Proof of Lemma 5.2]) and is then enough to verify (all the sets in consideration are assumed to be open):

- 1. $|\mathbf{D}f|^*(A) \le |\mathbf{D}f|^*(B)$ if $A \subseteq B$,
- 2. $|Df|^*(A \cup B) \ge |Df|^*(A) + |Df|^*(B)$ if d(A, B) > 0,
- 3. $|\mathrm{D}f|^*(A) = \lim_k |\mathrm{D}f|^*(A_k)$ if $A_k \nearrow A$,
- 4. $|Df|^*(A \cup B) \le |Df|^*(A) + |Df|^*(B).$

We notice that (1) and (2) follow trivially from the definition of $|Df|^*$ and that (2) does not even need the sets to be well separated. We prove now property (3). Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and take a compact subset K with $K \subseteq A$ and $|Df|(A \setminus K) \le \varepsilon$. Then there exists \bar{k} such that $K \subseteq A_{\bar{k}}$, in particular we can find $\psi \in \text{LIP}_{\text{bs}}(X)$ with $\psi(x) \in [0,1]$ for every $x \in X$, $\psi = 1$ on a neighbourhood of K and $\text{supp } \psi \Subset A_{\bar{k}}$. If we take $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m) \in \mathcal{W}_A^m$, we can write $v_i = \psi v_i + (1 - \psi)v_i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, m$, notice $(\psi v_i)_i \in \mathcal{W}_{A_{\bar{k}}}^m$ and $((1 - \psi)v)_i \in \mathcal{W}_{A \setminus K}^m$. Then we can compute, using that $|Df|^*(A \setminus K) \le |Df|(A \setminus K) \le \varepsilon$,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{A} f_{i} \operatorname{div} v_{i} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{A_{\bar{k}}} f_{i} \operatorname{div}(\psi v_{i}) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{A \setminus K} f_{i} \operatorname{div}((1-\psi)v_{i}) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \le |\mathbf{D}f|^{*}(A_{\bar{k}}) + \varepsilon$$

so that (3) follows as $v \in \mathcal{W}_A^m$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ are arbitrary. We prove now (4). Take a sequence of bounded open sets $\{A_k\}_k$ with $A_k \nearrow A$ and $A_k \subseteq \{x \in A : \mathsf{d}(x, \mathsf{X} \setminus A) > k^{-1}\}$; take similarly $\{B_k\}_k$. Fix k and take $\tilde{\psi}_A \in \mathrm{LIP}_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{X})$ with $\tilde{\psi}_A(x) \in [0, 1]$ for every $x \in \mathsf{X}, \ \tilde{\psi}_A = 1$ on a neighbourhood of A_k and $\mathrm{supp} \ \tilde{\psi}_A \Subset A$; define similarly $\tilde{\psi}_B$. Define also $\psi_A := \tilde{\psi}_A$ and $\psi_B := \tilde{\psi}_B(1 - \tilde{\psi}_A)$. Take then $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m) \in \mathcal{W}_{A_k \cup B_k}^m$. Writing $v_i = \psi_A v_i + \psi_B v_i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, m$ we can argue similarly as above to verify that

$$|Df|^*(A_k \cup B_k) \le |Df|^*(A) + |Df|^*(B)$$

so that (4) follows letting $k \to \infty$, taking into account (3).

Step 3. We conclude that $|Df|^* = |Df|$. By the previous steps, it is enough to show $|Df|^*(X) \ge |Df|(A)$ if $A \subseteq X$ is open and bounded. Assume for the moment that also $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})^m$. Let $t_k \searrow 0$ and consider $f_{i,k} := h_{t_k} f_i$. By lower semicontinuity of the total variation,

$$|\mathbf{D}f|(A) \le \liminf_{k} |\mathbf{D}(f_{1,k},\ldots,f_{n,k})|(A)$$

and then, taking into account that $m(A) < \infty$ and the general theory of Sobolev spaces,

$$|\mathrm{D}f|(A) \le \liminf_{k} \int_{A} \|(|\nabla f_{i,k}|)_{i=1,\dots,m}\|_{e} \,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} \le \liminf_{k} \int \|(|\nabla f_{i,k}|)_{i=1,\dots,m}\|_{e} \,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} \,.$$
(2.3.19)

By density, we take $f_{i,k,l} \subseteq \text{TestF}(X)$ such that $f_{i,k,l} \to f_{i,k}$ in $H^{1,2}(X)$ as $l \to \infty$ for every *i*. We can write the right hand side of (2.3.19) as

$$\liminf_{k} \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \lim_{l} \lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \sum_{i} \int \nabla f_{i,k} \cdot \frac{\nabla h_{\delta} f_{i,k,l}}{\sqrt{\sum_{j} h_{\delta}(|\nabla f_{j,k,l}|^2) + \varepsilon}} \, \mathrm{d} \mathbf{m} \, d\mathbf{m} \,$$

that is,

$$\liminf_{k} \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \lim_{l} \lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \sum_{i} \int f_{i,k} \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{\nabla h_{\delta} f_{i,k,l}}{\sqrt{\sum_{j} h_{\delta} (|\nabla f_{j,k,l}|^2) + \varepsilon}} \right) \operatorname{dm}.$$
(2.3.20)

Recalling the properties of the heat flow $h_{H,t}$, we can rewrite the quantity in (2.3.20) as

$$\liminf_{k} \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \lim_{l} \lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \sum_{i} \int f_{i} \operatorname{div} \left(\operatorname{h}_{\mathrm{H}, \mathrm{t}_{k}} \left(\frac{\nabla \mathrm{h}_{\delta} f_{i, k, l}}{\sqrt{\sum_{j} \mathrm{h}_{\delta} (|\nabla f_{j, k, l}|^{2}) + \varepsilon}} \right) \right) \operatorname{dm}$$

and see that it is bounded by $|Df|^*(X)$, by an approximation argument that relies on Lemma 2.2.1; here we used that an immediate approximation argument yields that if A = X the request that supp v_i is compact in (2.3.18) is irrelevant. We have therefore proved $|Df|^*(X) = |Df|(X)$ in the case f bounded.

We treat the general case. We write

$$f^{l} := ((f_{1} \vee -l) \wedge l, \dots, (f_{m} \vee -l) \wedge l).$$

$$(2.3.21)$$

Now we can conclude easily, as, by lower semicontinuity, what we just proved, and coarea

$$|\mathbf{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) \leq \liminf_{l} |\mathbf{D}f^{l}|(\mathsf{X}) = \liminf_{l} |\mathbf{D}f^{l}|^{*}(\mathsf{X}) \leq |\mathbf{D}f|^{*}(\mathsf{X}) + \liminf_{l} |\mathbf{D}(f^{l} - f)|^{*}(\mathsf{X})$$
$$\leq |\mathbf{D}f|^{*}(\mathsf{X}) + \sum_{i} \limsup_{l} |\mathbf{D}(f^{l}_{i} - f_{i})|(\mathsf{X}) = |\mathbf{D}f|^{*}(\mathsf{X}).$$

The last claim can be proved as for Proposition 2.3.5.

Remark 2.3.19. One may wonder whether Proposition 2.3.18 holds also in the more general setting of (infinitesimally Hilbertian) metric measure spaces, with the obvious modifications (i.e. whether we can extend Proposition 2.3.5 to functions taking values in \mathbb{R}^m instead of \mathbb{R}). It seems anything but straightforward to adapt the argument used in [71] (extracted from [72, 15]) as here we face a difficulty generalizing the approach via test plans. For this reason we had to provide a completely different proof, obtained via approximation arguments, at the price of working in more regular

spaces. We give here an example of this issue, using the notation of the articles just cited. We point out that the difference $|Df| \neq |Df|_w$ that we are going to see is what we expect, given the choice of the relaxation made to define the total variation, cf. Remark 2.3.14. Nevertheless, being all the norms on finite dimensional spaces equivalent, the two objects are equivalent, in the sense that one bounds the other, up to a multiplicative constant.

Consider $X := [0, 1]^2 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ endowed with the Euclidean distance and the Lebesgue measure. Let $f : X \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be the identity. It is clear that $f \in BV(X)^2$ and $|Df|(X) = \sqrt{2}$. However, computing the total variation defined via test plans, $|Df|_w = 1$. Indeed, if $B \subseteq X$ is a Borel set and π is a test plan, we obtain, using Fubini's theorem,

$$\int \gamma_{\#} |\mathbf{D}(f \circ \gamma)|(B) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\pi}(\gamma) \leq \int \mathcal{L}^{1}(\{t : \gamma_{t} \in B\}) \mathrm{Lip}(\gamma) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\pi}(\gamma)$$
$$\leq \|\mathrm{Lip}(\gamma)\|_{L^{\infty}(\boldsymbol{\pi})} (\mathcal{L}^{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{\pi})(\{(t, \gamma) : \gamma_{t} \in B\})$$
$$\leq \|\mathrm{Lip}(\gamma)\|_{L^{\infty}(\boldsymbol{\pi})} C(\boldsymbol{\pi}) \mathcal{L}^{2}(B),$$

so that $|\mathbf{D}f|_w \leq \mathcal{L}^2$.

Chapter 3

Sets of finite perimeter

This chapter is about the fine properties of sets of finite perimeter on finite dimensional RCD spaces. Namely, blow-ups of sets of finite perimeter are studied, along with the rectifiability of reduced boundaries and representation formulae for perimeter measures.

3.1 Regular behaviour

The main result of this section states that total variations of functions of bounded variation are concentrated on the regular set $\mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$. We state it for functions of bounded variation, nevertheless notice that by coarea the same result for characteristic function of sets of finite perimeter would imply the result as stated below.

Theorem 3.1.1. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) of essential dimension n. Then

$$|\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X} \setminus \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})) = 0$$
 for every $f \in \mathrm{BV}(\mathsf{X})$.

Proof. The statement can be achieved by repeating *verbatim* the proof of [50, Theorem 3.1], using $\mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})$ instead of $\mathcal{R}_n(\mathsf{X})$, and Lemma 3.1.2 below instead of [50, Proposition 2.14].

The proof of Theorem 3.1.1 builds upon the characterization of total variation along curves, as well as the following crucial result, which is based on [70] (which, in turn, is the generalization to RCD spaces of [62], obtained in the context of Ricci limits).

Lemma 3.1.2. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n. Suppose that $\gamma : [0,1] \to X$ is a geodesic satisfying $\gamma_t \in \mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$ for a dense family of $t \in (0,1)$. Then it holds that $\gamma_t \in \mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$ for every $t \in (0,1)$.

Proof. Let $\delta \in (0, 1/20)$ be fixed. The non-branching property of X, proved in [70, Theorem 1.3], ensures that the constant-speed reparametrisation of $\gamma|_{[\delta/2, 1-\delta/2]}$ on [0, 1] is the unique geodesic between its endpoints.

We first prove that $\gamma_t \in \mathcal{R}_n(\mathsf{X})$ for every $t \in [\delta, 1 - \delta]$. Now by [70, Theorem 1.1] (see also [70, Theorem 1.2]), we have \bar{r} and C such that

$$\mathsf{d}_{\text{pGH}}((B_r(\gamma_s), \gamma_s), (B_r(\gamma_{s'}), \gamma_{s'})) \le Cr|s - s'| \quad \text{for every } r \in (0, \bar{r}) \text{ and } s, s' \in [\delta, 1 - \delta].$$

Fix for the moment $s' \in [\delta, 1-\delta]$ and take $(X', d', m', x') \in \operatorname{Tan}_{\gamma_{s'}}(X, d, m)$. Notice that if $\gamma_s \in \mathcal{R}_n(X)$, then, by the equation above, for any R > 0,

$$\mathsf{d}_{\text{pGH}}((B_{R}^{\mathsf{X}'}(x'), x'), (B_{R}^{\mathbb{R}^{n}}(0), 0) < CR|s - s'|$$

. . .

and since $\gamma_s \in \mathcal{R}_n(\mathsf{X})$ for a dense set of s, we infer that $(B_R^{\mathsf{X}'}(x'), \mathsf{d}', x') = (B_R^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0), \mathsf{d}_e, 0)$ so that, being R arbitrary, $(\mathsf{X}', \mathsf{d}', x') = (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, 0)$. As $(\mathsf{X}', \mathsf{d}', \mathsf{m}', x')$ is $\operatorname{RCD}(0, N)$, an iterative application of the splitting Theorem ([81]) yields that $(\mathsf{X}', \mathsf{d}', \mathsf{m}', x') = (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0)$, whence $\gamma_{s'} \in \mathcal{R}_n(\mathsf{X})$.

Now we prove that $\gamma_t \in \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})$ for every $t \in [\delta, 1-\delta]$. Recall that [70, Eq. (166)] gives constants ε , \overline{r} and C such that

$$\left|\frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(\gamma_s))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(\gamma_{s'}))} - 1\right| \le C|s - s'|^{\frac{1}{2(1+2N)}} \quad \text{for every } r \in (0,\bar{r}) \text{ and } s, s' \in [\delta, 1-\delta] \text{ with } |s - s'| < \varepsilon.$$

In particular, for any $s, s' \in [\delta, 1 - \delta]$ with $|s - s'| < \varepsilon$ we have that

$$\left|\frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(\gamma_s))}{\omega_n r^n} \left(\frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(\gamma_{s'}))}{\omega_n r^n}\right)^{-1} - 1\right| \le C|s - s'|^{\frac{1}{2(1+2N)}} \qquad \text{for every } r \in (0,\bar{r}).$$
(3.1.1)

Now let $t \in [\delta, 1-\delta]$ be fixed and choose a sequence $\{t_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}} \subseteq \gamma^{-1}(\mathcal{R}^*_n(\mathsf{X})) \cap [\delta, 1-\delta] \cap (t-\varepsilon, t+\varepsilon)$ such that $t_i \to t$. Up to a not relabelled subsequence, we can assume that $\Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, \gamma_{t_i}) \to \lambda$ for some $\lambda \in [0, \infty]$. Pick sequences $\{r_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}, \{\tilde{r}_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} \subseteq (0, \bar{r})$ such that

$$\frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{r_j}(\gamma_t))}{\omega_n r_j^n} \to \overline{\Theta}_n(\mathsf{m},\gamma_t) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{\tilde{r}_j}(\gamma_t))}{\omega_n \tilde{r}_j^n} \to \underline{\Theta}_n(\mathsf{m},\gamma_t)$$

Plugging $(s, s', r) = (t, t_i, r_j)$ or $(s, s', r) = (t, t_i, \tilde{r}_j)$ in (3.1.1), and letting $j \to \infty$, we deduce that $\overline{\Theta}_n(\mathsf{m}, \gamma_t) < \infty$ and

$$\left|\frac{\overline{\Theta}_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t})}{\Theta_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t_{i}})} - 1\right|, \left|\frac{\underline{\Theta}_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t})}{\Theta_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t_{i}})} - 1\right| \le C|t - t_{i}|^{\frac{1}{2(1+2N)}} \quad \text{for every } i \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.1.2)

Similarly, plugging $(s, s', r) = (t_i, t, r_j)$ or $(s, s', r) = (t_i, t, \tilde{r}_j)$ in (3.1.1), and letting $j \to \infty$, we deduce that $\underline{\Theta}_n(\mathsf{m}, \gamma_t) > 0$ and

$$\left|\frac{\Theta_n(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t_i})}{\overline{\Theta}_n(\mathsf{m},\gamma_t)} - 1\right|, \left|\frac{\Theta_n(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t_i})}{\underline{\Theta}_n(\mathsf{m},\gamma_t)} - 1\right| \le C|t - t_i|^{\frac{1}{2(1+2N)}} \quad \text{for every } i \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.1.3)

Observe that (3.1.2) and (3.1.3) imply, respectively, that for every $i \in \mathbb{N}$ it holds that

$$\left|\overline{\Theta}_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t}) - \underline{\Theta}_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t})\right| \leq 2C|t - t_{i}|^{\frac{1}{2(1+2N)}}\Theta_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t_{i}}), \qquad (3.1.4)$$

$$\left|\overline{\Theta}_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t}) - \underline{\Theta}_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t})\right| \leq 2C|t - t_{i}|^{\frac{1}{2(1+2N)}} \frac{\Theta_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t})\underline{\Theta}_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t})}{\Theta_{n}(\mathsf{m},\gamma_{t_{i}})}.$$
(3.1.5)

Hence, we can conclude that $\overline{\Theta}_n(\mathsf{m}, \gamma_t) = \underline{\Theta}_n(\mathsf{m}, \gamma_t) \in (0, +\infty)$ by letting $i \to \infty$ in (3.1.4) if $\lambda < \infty$, or in (3.1.5) if $\lambda = +\infty$. This shows that $\gamma_t \in \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})$ for every $t \in [\delta, 1 - \delta]$.

Thanks to the arbitrariness of δ , we proved that $\gamma_t \in \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})$ for every $t \in (0, 1)$, as desired. \Box

3.2 Blow-ups

The goal of this section is to study how sets of finite perimeter behave after a blow-up of the space. We start introducing the definition of blow-up of a set of finite perimeter and a technical/compactness tool. Then we discuss splitting maps, good coordinates, and their interplay. Finally, we prove the main result of the section, i.e. the characterization of blow-ups of sets of finite perimeter.

3.2. BLOW-UPS

3.2.1 Tools

The following is one of the most important definitions of this manuscript.

Definition 3.2.1. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space, let $x \in X$ and let E be a measurable subset of X. We say that the quintuple $(X_{\infty}, d_{\infty}, m_{\infty}, x_{\infty}, E_{\infty})$ is tangent to (X, d, m, E) at x if there exists a sequence of radii $r_k \searrow 0$, such that

- i) $(X, r_k^{-1} d, m_{r_k}^x, x) \to (X_\infty, d_\infty, m_\infty, x_\infty)$ in the pointed measured Gromov-Hausdorff topology, say in a realization (proper metric space) (Z, d_Z) with respect to isometric embeddings $\iota_k : (X, r_k^{-1} d) \to (Z, d_Z)$ and $\iota_\infty : (X_\infty, d_\infty) \to (Z, d_Z)$.
- ii) E_{∞} is measurable subset of X_{∞} such that $\iota_k(E)$ converge in L^1_{loc} to $\iota_{\infty}(E_{\infty})$ with respect to the realization as above.
- iii) E_{∞} is a set of locally finite perimeter and weak convergence of rescaled perimeters holds, i.e.

$$(\iota_k)_* |\mathbf{D}^k \chi_E| \to (\iota_\infty)_* |\mathbf{D} \chi_{E_\infty}|$$
 in duality with $C_{\rm bs}(\mathsf{Z})$ (3.2.1)

with respect to the realization as above, where $|D^k \chi_E|$ is the perimeter measure relative to the rescaled space $(X, r_k^{-1} d, m_{r_k}^x)$.

We denote the collection of all tangent spaces to (X, d, m, E) at x as $Tan_x(X, d, m, E)$ and we will write a converging sequence as above by

$$(\mathsf{X}, r_k^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_{r_k}^x, x, E) \to (\mathsf{X}_{\infty}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}, \mathsf{m}_{\infty}, x_{\infty}, E_{\infty}).$$

We consider two elements $(X_{\infty}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}, \mathsf{m}_{\infty}, x_{\infty}, E_{\infty})$, $(X'_{\infty}, \mathsf{d}'_{\infty}, \mathsf{m}'_{\infty}, x'_{\infty}, E'_{\infty}) \in \operatorname{Tan}_{x}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}, E)$ to be isomorphic if there exists an isometry $\Psi : X_{\infty} \to X'_{\infty}$ such that $\Psi(x_{\infty}) = x'_{\infty}, \Psi_* \mathsf{m}_{\infty} = \mathsf{m}'_{\infty}$ (i.e. $(X_{\infty}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}, \mathsf{m}_{\infty}, x_{\infty})$ and $(X'_{\infty}, \mathsf{d}'_{\infty}, \mathsf{m}'_{\infty}, x'_{\infty})$ are isomorphic as pointed metric measure spaces through Ψ) and moreover $\mathsf{m}'_{\infty}(\Psi(E_{\infty})\Delta E'_{\infty}) = 0$.

Now we show a result which implies, in a sense, compactness of sets of (locally) finite perimeter during a blow-up procedure.

Theorem 3.2.2. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of locally finite perimeter. Let $x \in \text{supp } |D\chi_E|$ be satisfying the conclusions of Proposition 2.3.3.

Let $r_k \searrow 0$ be such that $(X, r_k^{-1}d, m_{r_k}^x, x) \to (X_{\infty}, d_{\infty}, m_{\infty}, x_{\infty})$ in the pmGH topology, for some realization. Then we can extract a not relabelled subsequence such that there exists a set of locally finite perimeter $E_{\infty} \subseteq X_{\infty}$ and, with respect to the same realization as above, $(X, r_k^{-1}d, m_{r_k}^x, x, E) \to (X_{\infty}, d_{\infty}, m_{\infty}, x_{\infty}, E_{\infty})$ according to Definition 3.2.1. In particular, we have that $\operatorname{Tan}_x(X, d, m, E)$ is not empty.

Proof. This is [10, Corollary 4.10] with its proof, we give some of the details, we use the notation of Definition 3.2.1. By item *iii*) of Proposition 2.3.3, it holds that, for any R > 0,

$$\limsup_{k} |\mathbf{D}^{k} \chi_{E}|(B_{R}^{k}(x)) = \limsup_{k} \frac{r_{k} |\mathbf{D} \chi_{E}|(B_{Rr_{k}}(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_{r_{k}}(x))}$$

$$\leq \limsup_{k} \frac{r_{k} |\mathbf{D} \chi_{E}|(B_{Rr_{k}}(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_{Rr_{k}}(x))} \mathsf{m}_{r_{k}}^{x}(B_{R}^{k}(x))$$

$$\leq \limsup_{k} \frac{Rr_{k} |\mathbf{D} \chi_{E}|(B_{Rr_{k}}(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_{Rr_{k}}(x))} \frac{\mathsf{m}_{\infty}(B_{R}(x_{\infty}))}{R} < \infty,$$
(3.2.2)

so that we can apply [10, Corollary 3.4] and extract a (not relabelled) subsequence such that also item ii) of Definition 3.2.1 holds, for some Borel set $E_{\infty} \subseteq X_{\infty}$ (notice that the realization (Z, d_Z) is fixed in [10, Section 3], so that such convergence happens in the realization (Z, d_Z) that we have in the statement). It remains to show that, up to passing to a subsequence, also item item iii) of Definition 3.2.1 is satisfied, as the last conclusion follows from Gromov compactness Theorem for RCD(K, N) spaces.

Item iii) of Definition 3.2.1 follows from [10, Proposition 3.9], we repeat the argument. We know that $\iota_k(E) \to \iota_{\infty}(E_{\infty})$ in L^1_{loc} and, up to passing to a (not relabelled) subsequence, that $(\iota_k)_*|D^k\chi_E| \to (\iota_{\infty})_*\nu$ in duality with $C_{\text{bs}}(\mathsf{Z})$, for some Radon measure ν on $(\mathsf{X}_{\infty},\mathsf{d}_{\infty})$. The second conclusion is due to weak compactness in the space of measures, taking into account (3.2.2) again and the fact that any weak limit of $(\iota_k)_*|D^k\chi_E|$ is supported on $\iota_{\infty}(\mathsf{X}_{\infty})$. In other words, we only have to prove that $\nu = |D\chi_{E_{\infty}}|$.

Now we argue as in the proof of [10, Corollary 3.4] (recall (3.2.2)), and we see that, up to extracting a not relabelled subsequence, for a sequence of radii $R_l \nearrow \infty$, for every l,

$$\sup_{k} |\mathbf{D}^{k} \chi_{B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x)}|(\mathsf{X}) < \infty \quad \text{and} \quad \sup_{k} |\mathbf{D}^{k} \chi_{E \cap B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x)}|(\mathsf{X}) < \infty.$$
(3.2.3)

Notice that, by the very definition of L^1_{loc} convergence, we have that $\iota_k(\chi_E \cap B^k_{R_l}(x)) = \iota_k(\chi_E) \cap B_{R_l}(\iota_k(x))$ converge in L^1 -strong to $\iota_{\infty}(\chi_{E_{\infty}} \cap B_{R_l}(x_{\infty})) = \iota_{\infty}(\chi_{E_{\infty}}) \cap B_{R_l}(\iota_{\infty}(x_{\infty}))$, for every l. This observation allows us to use [10, Proposition 3.6], in particular, [10, Equation (3.9)], to conclude that, for every $l, E_{\infty} \cap B_{R_l}(x_{\infty})$ has finite perimeter and

$$\int_{\mathsf{X}_{\infty}} g \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D} \chi_{E_{\infty} \cap B_{R_{l}}(x_{\infty})}| \leq \liminf_{k} \int_{\mathsf{X}} g \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}^{k} \chi_{E \cap B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x)}| \qquad \text{for every } g \in \mathrm{LIP}_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{Z},\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}}) \text{ non-negative.}$$

In particular, by locality, taking into account that $R_l \nearrow \infty$, we deduce that E_{∞} has locally finite perimeter and

$$|\mathcal{D}\chi_{E_{\infty}}| \le \nu. \tag{3.2.4}$$

Now, for every l we apply [10, Proposition 3.8] to obtain a sequence $\{E_k^l\}_k$ of sets of finite perimeter, where $E_k^l \subseteq X$ satisfy

$$E_k^l \to E_\infty \cap B_{R_l}(x_\infty)$$
 in L^1 -strong and $|\mathsf{D}^k\chi_{E_k^l}|(\mathsf{X}) \to |\mathsf{D}\chi_{E_\infty \cap B_{R_l}(x_\infty)}|(\mathsf{X}^\infty).$

In particular, using as before [10, Proposition 3.6] (but this time, we can exploit the second conclusion above), we deduce that

$$(\iota_k)_* | \mathbf{D}^k \chi_{E_k^l} | \to (\iota_\infty)_* | \mathbf{D} \chi_{E_\infty \cap B_{R_l}(x_\infty)} | \qquad \text{in duality with } C_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{Z}).$$
(3.2.5)

Again, we have taken a not relabelled subsequence of $\{r_k\}_k$ (with a diagonal argument).

Now fix l and let $s \in (R_l/2, R_l)$ be such that

$$\nu(\partial B_s(x_\infty)) = |\mathrm{D}\chi_{E_\infty}|(\partial B_s(x_\infty)) = |\mathrm{D}^k\chi_E(\partial B_s^k(x))| = 0 \quad \text{for every } k$$

(notice that a.e. $s \in (R_l/2, R_l)$ is suitable) and define

$$\tilde{E}_k^l := (E_k^l \cap B_s^k(x)) \cup (E \setminus B_s^k(x)) = (E_k^l \cap B_{sr_k}(x)) \cup (E \setminus B_{sr_k}(x)).$$

By item *ii*) of Proposition 2.3.3, we have that, for k big enough (namely, such that $R_l r_k < r_x$),

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{E}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x)) &= \frac{r_{k}|\mathbf{D}\chi_{E}|(B_{R_{l}r_{k}}(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_{r_{k}}(x))} \leq (1 + \omega_{x}(R_{l}r_{k}))\frac{r_{k}|\mathbf{D}\chi_{\tilde{E}_{k}^{l}}|(B_{R_{l}r_{k}}(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_{r_{k}}(x))} \\ &= (1 + \omega_{x}(R_{l}r_{k}))|\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{\tilde{E}_{k}^{l}}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x)) = \lambda_{k}|\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{\tilde{E}_{k}^{l}}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x)), \end{aligned}$$

where $\lambda_k := (1 + \omega_x(R_l r_k)) \to 1$ as $k \nearrow \infty$. We can then compute

$$\begin{split} |\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{E}|(\bar{B}_{s}^{k}(x)) &= |\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{E}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x)) - |\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{E}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x) \setminus \bar{B}_{s}^{k}(x)) \\ &\leq \lambda_{k}|\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{\tilde{E}_{k}^{l}}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x)) - |\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{E}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x) \setminus \bar{B}_{s}^{k}(x)) \\ &= \lambda_{k}|\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{\tilde{E}_{k}^{l}}|(B_{s}^{k}(x)) + \lambda_{k}|\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{\tilde{E}_{k}^{l}}|(\partial B_{s}^{k}(x)) \\ &+ \lambda_{k}|\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{\tilde{E}_{k}^{l}}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x) \setminus \bar{B}_{s}^{k}(x)) - |\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{E}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x) \setminus \bar{B}_{s}^{k}(x)) \\ &= \lambda_{k}|\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{E_{k}^{l}}|(B_{s}^{k}(x)) + \lambda_{k}|\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{\tilde{E}_{k}^{l}}|(\partial B_{s}^{k}(x)) \\ &+ (\lambda_{k}-1)|\mathbf{D}^{k}\chi_{E}|(B_{R_{l}}^{k}(x) \setminus \bar{B}_{s}^{k}(x)). \end{split}$$

Hence, using the second conclusion of (3.2.3) and the fact that $\lambda_k \to 1$, and then (3.2.5) for the second inequality,

$$\begin{split} \nu(B_s(x_{\infty})) &\leq \liminf_k |\mathbf{D}^k \chi_E| (\bar{B}_s^k(x)) \leq \limsup_k |\mathbf{D}^k \chi_{E_k^l}| (B_s^k(x)) + \liminf_k |\mathbf{D}^k \chi_{\tilde{E}_k^l}| (\partial B_s^k(x)) \\ &\leq |\mathbf{D} \chi_{E_{\infty} \cap B_{R_l}(x_{\infty})}| (\bar{B}_s(x_{\infty})) + \liminf_k |\mathbf{D}^k \chi_{\tilde{E}_k^l}| (\partial B_s^k(x)) \\ &= |\mathbf{D} \chi_{E_{\infty}}| (B_s(x_{\infty})) + \liminf_k |\mathbf{D}^k \chi_{\tilde{E}_k^l}| (\partial B_s^k(x)), \end{split}$$

where the last equality is due to the constraints on s.

Therefore, recalling (3.2.4), it remains to prove that

$$\liminf_{k} |\mathsf{D}^{k}\chi_{\tilde{E}^{l}_{k}}|(\partial B^{k}_{s}(x)) = 0 \quad \text{for a.e. } s \in (R_{l}/2, R_{l}).$$
(3.2.6)

We start by noticing that

$$\chi_{\tilde{E}_k^l} = \chi_{E_k^l} \chi_{B_{sr_k}(x)} + \chi_E \chi_{\mathbf{X} \setminus B_{sr_k}(x)} = (\chi_{E_k^l} - \chi_E) \chi_{B_{sr_k}}(x) + \chi_E,$$

so that

$$|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\tilde{E}_k^l}| \le \left|\mathsf{D}\left((\chi_{E_k^l} - \chi_E)\chi_{B_{sr_k}}(x)\right)\right| + |\mathsf{D}\chi_E|.$$
(3.2.7)

Now we apply (with an immediate localization argument) [10, Lemma 3.10] with $\chi_{E_k^l} - \chi_E$ in place of f to deduce that

$$\left| \mathbf{D} \left((\chi_{E_k^l} - \chi_E) \chi_{B_{sr_k}}(x) \right) \right| (\partial B_{sr_k(x)}) \le \int_{\mathsf{X}} |\chi_{E_k^l} - \chi_E| \mathbf{d} |\mathbf{D} \chi_{B_{sr_k}}(x)| \quad \text{for a.e. } s \in (R_l/2, R_l).$$
(3.2.8)

Hence, recalling the constraint on s, reading (3.2.7) and (3.2.8) in the rescaled spaces,

$$|\mathbf{D}^k \chi_{\tilde{E}^l_k}|(\partial B^k_s(x)) \le \int_{\mathsf{X}} |\chi_{E^l_k} - \chi_E| \mathbf{d} |\mathbf{D}^k \chi_{B^k_s}(x)| \quad \text{for a.e. } s \in (R_l/2, R_l)$$

Then, using also Fatou's Lemma and the coarea formula,

$$\int_{R_l/2}^{R_l} \liminf_k |\mathbf{D}^k \chi_{\tilde{E}_k^l}| (\partial B_s^k(x)) \mathrm{d}s \leq \liminf_k \int_{R_l/2}^{R_l} |\mathbf{D}^k \chi_{\tilde{E}_k^l}| (\partial B_s^k(x)) \mathrm{d}s \\
\leq \liminf_k \int_{R_l/2}^{R_l} \int_{\mathbf{X}} |\chi_{E_k^l} - \chi_E| \mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}^k \chi_{B_s^k}(x)| \mathrm{d}s \qquad (3.2.9) \\
\leq \liminf_k \int_{B_{R_l}^k(x)} |\chi_{E_k^l} - \chi_E| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}_{r_k}^x.$$

Now notice that

$$\int_{B_{R_l}^k(x)} |\chi_{E_k^l} - \chi_{E \cap B_{R_l}(x)}| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}_{r_k}^x = \int_{B_{R_l}^k(x)} \chi_{E_k^l} + \chi_{E \cap B_{R_l}(x)} - 2\chi_{E_k^l \cap (E \cap B_{R_l}(x))} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}_{r_k}^x \to 0,$$

where we used that $E_k^l \to E_\infty \cap B_{R_l}(x_\infty)$ and $E \cap B_{R_l}(x) \to E_\infty \cap B_{R_l}(x_\infty)$ in L^1 -strong and hence also $E_k^l \cap (E \cap B_{R_l}(x)) \to E_\infty \cap B_{R_l}(x_\infty)$ in L^1 -strong by [10, Lemma 3.5]. This implies that the last term of (3.2.9) is 0, so that (3.2.6) follows.

3.2.2 Splitting maps

We introduce splitting maps, after [58]. In the definition below, $\hat{C}_{K,N}$ is the constant appearing in the definition of δ splitting map in [51], which is linked to the (local) Lipschitz constant of harmonic functions [96].

A splitting map is an object that plays the role of some coordinate functions (u^1, \ldots, u^k) : $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^k$. Notice that these standard coordinate functions are Lipschitz, harmonic, have vanishing Hessian and have orthonormal gradients. Moreover, for any RCD(0, N) space, the presence of a map satisfying these properties implies that the space splits off a factor \mathbb{R}^k , isometrically (this follows from an iterated application of the splitting Theorem [81] as in [34, Lemma 1.21], see also [10, Section 2]).

Definition 3.2.3 (Splitting map). Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space. Let $x \in X$, let $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $r, \delta > 0$ be given. We say that a map

$$u = (u^1, \dots, u^k) : B_r(x) \to \mathbb{R}^k$$

is a δ -splitting map if the following three properties hold:

- i) for every $i = 1, ..., k, u^i$ is harmonic and $\hat{C}_{K,N}$ -Lipschitz,
- ii) for every $i = 1, \ldots, k$,

$$r^{2} \oint_{B_{r}(x)} |\operatorname{Hess} u^{i}|^{2} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} < \delta,$$

iii) for every $i, j = 1, \ldots, k$,

$$\int_{B_r(x)} |\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j - \delta_{i,j}| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} < \delta_{i,j}$$

Remark 3.2.4. Let $u, v : B_r(x) \to \mathbb{R}$ be harmonic maps on an RCD space (hence u and v are locally Lipschitz, [96]). Then $\nabla u \cdot \nabla v$ has Lebesgue points with respect to m everywhere in $B_r(x)$. This is [50, Remark 2.10] together with a polarization argument.

Remark 3.2.5. Let $u, v : B_r(x) \to \mathbb{R}$ be harmonic maps on an RCD space. Then ∇u admits a quasicontinuous representative on $B_r(x)$ as well as $\nabla u \cdot \nabla v$ admits a quasi-continuous representative on $B_r(x)$. In particular, for any Borel measure, finite on balls, $\mu \ll \text{Cap}$, ∇u admits a well defined trace on $L^0_{\mu}(TX)$ on $B_r(x)$ (see Theorem 2.2.22) as well as $\nabla u \cdot \nabla v$ admits a well defined trace on $L^0(\mu)$ on $B_r(x)$. We are going to exploit this traces throughout with no further notice.

Moreover, the Lebesgue representative (with respect to m) for $\nabla u \cdot \nabla v$, say f, is quasi-continuous on $B_r(x)$ (see [69] and the references therein for the relevant notions). In particular, f coincides with the trace of $\nabla u \cdot \nabla v$ on $L^0(\mu)$. We prove this fact. By a cut-off argument and the local nature of this claim, we can assume that f has compact support in $B_r(x)$, hence $f \in H^{1,2}(X)$. We denote

3.2. BLOW-UPS

with \bar{f} the quasi-continuous representative for f, our claim is then $\bar{f} = f$ in $L^0(\text{Cap})$. Take also $\{f_n\}_n \subseteq \text{LIP}_{bs}(\mathsf{X})$ with $f_n \to f$ in $H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$. Notice that (taking the continuous representative of f_n) $f_n \to \bar{f}$ in $L^0(\text{Cap})$ by the continuity of the quasi-continuous representative map $H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X}) \to L^0(\text{Cap})$. Now the conclusion comes from the argument in the first part of the proof of [39, Theorem 5.62], see in particular [39, Equation (5.15)], with \bar{f} in place of u and f_k in place of f.

Remark 3.2.6. The condition ii) of Definition 3.2.3 is easily seen to be unnecessary, in applications, but we preferred to keep it to follow the original definition. For example, inspecting the proof of Proposition 3.2.9 from [51, Proposition 3.7], we see that this condition does not enter into play, and the smallness of the Hessian is ultimately implied by condition iii), thanks to the local Bochner inequality (2.2.4), together with the doubling inequality (cf. Remark 3.2.13).

Now we state four key propositions [51] which show the interplay between the existence of splitting maps and the fact that a suitable rescaling of the space is close to a space that splits isometrically an Euclidean factor. The first shows existence of a splitting map, provided that the space is close enough to a product space.

Proposition 3.2.7. Let N > 1 and let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $k \leq N$. For every $\delta \in (0,1)$, there exists $\varepsilon = \varepsilon(N, \delta) \in (0,1)$ such that for every $\operatorname{RCD}(-\varepsilon, N)$ space (X, d, m) and $x \in X$, if there exists a pointed $\operatorname{RCD}(0, N - k)$ space (Z, d_Z, m_Z, z) satisfying

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}\big((\mathsf{X},\mathsf{d},\mathsf{m},x),(\mathbb{R}^k\times\mathsf{Z},\mathsf{d}_{\mathbb{R}^k\times\mathsf{Z}},\mathcal{L}^k\otimes\mathsf{m}_{\mathsf{Z}},(0,z))\big)<\varepsilon,$$

then there exists a δ -splitting map $u: B_5(x) \to \mathbb{R}^k$.

Then we have the scale-invariant version of Proposition 3.2.7.

Proposition 3.2.8. Let N > 1 and let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $k \leq N$. For every $\delta \in (0,1)$, there exists $\varepsilon = \varepsilon(N, \delta) \in (0,1)$ such that for every $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space (X, d, m) and $x \in X$, if $r \in (0,1)$ is such that $r^2 \max\{-K, 0\} < \varepsilon$ and there exists a pointed $\operatorname{RCD}(0, N - k)$ space (Z, d_Z, m_Z, z) satisfying

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}\big((\mathsf{X}, r^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_x^r, x), (\mathbb{R}^k \times \mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathbb{R}^k \times \mathsf{Z}}, \mathcal{L}^k \otimes \mathsf{m}_{\mathsf{Z}}, (0, z))\big) < \varepsilon,$$

then there exists a δ -splitting map $u: B_{5r}(x) \to \mathbb{R}^k$.

The third proposition is a sort of converse of the two above: if we have a map that is a splitting map at sufficiency many scales, then the space is close to a product space. Notice that while the assumption (the existence of a splitting map defined on $B_{\delta^{-1}}(x)$) is local, the conclusion $(\mathsf{d}_{pmGH}(\mathsf{X}, \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathsf{Z}) < \varepsilon)$ has more a "global taste". The possibility of having such a statement comes from the very definition of the pmGH distance, through the usual use of cut-off functions.

Proposition 3.2.9. Let N > 1 and let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $k \leq N$. For every $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ there exists $\delta = \delta(N, \varepsilon) \in (0,1)$ such that for any $\operatorname{RCD}(-\delta, N)$ space $(\mathsf{X}, \mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m})$ and $x \in \mathsf{X}$, if there exists a map $u : B_{\delta^{-1}}(x) \to \mathbb{R}^k$ such that for every $s \in (0, \delta^{-1})$, $u : B_s(x) \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is a δ -splitting map, then there exists a pointed $\operatorname{RCD}(0, N - k)$ metric measure space $(\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}}, \mathsf{m}_{\mathsf{Z}}, z)$ such that

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}\big((\mathsf{X},\mathsf{d},\mathsf{m},x),(\mathbb{R}^k\times\mathsf{Z},\mathsf{d}_{\mathbb{R}^k\times\mathsf{Z}},\mathcal{L}^k\otimes\mathsf{m}_{\mathsf{Z}},(0,z))\big)<\varepsilon.$$

Then we have the scale-invariant version of Proposition 3.2.9.

Proposition 3.2.10. Let N > 1 and let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $k \leq N$. For every $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ there exists $\delta = \delta(N, \varepsilon) \in (0,1)$ such that for every $r \in (0,1)$, for every RCD(K, N) space (X, d, m) with $x \in X$,

if there exists a map $u: B_r(x) \to \mathbb{R}^k$ such that for every $s \in (0, r)$, $u: B_s(x) \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is a δ -splitting map, then for every $(X_{\infty}, d_{\infty}, m_{\infty}, x_{\infty}) \in \operatorname{Tan}_x(X, d, m)$, there exists a pointed $\operatorname{RCD}(0, N-k)$ space $(\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}}, \mathsf{m}_{\mathsf{Z}}, z)$ such that

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}\big((\mathsf{X}_{\infty},\mathsf{d}_{\infty},\mathsf{m}_{\infty},x_{\infty}),(\mathbb{R}^{k}\times\mathsf{Z},\mathsf{d}_{\mathbb{R}^{k}\times\mathsf{Z}},\mathcal{L}^{k}\otimes\mathsf{m}_{\mathsf{Z}},(0,z))\big)<\varepsilon.$$

Finally, for any splitting map, there exists a "bad set" with small Hausdorff content outside which the map is still a splitting map at any smaller scale. We omit its proof ([50]), which is based on a maximal function argument.

Proposition 3.2.11. Let N > 1 and let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $k \leq N$. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space, let $x \in X$ and let $u : B_{4r}(x) \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a δ -splitting map for some $r \in (0, 1/2)$ such that $r^2 \max\{-K, 0\} \leq 4$. Then there exists a Borel set $G \subseteq B_{2r}(x)$ with

$$\mathcal{H}_5^h(B_{2r}(x) \setminus G) \le C_N \sqrt{\delta} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{2r}(x))}{2r},$$

where $C_N \in (0, \infty)$ is a constant that depends only on N, such that for every $y \in G$ and $s \in (0, r)$, $u: B_s(y) \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is a $C_N \delta^{1,4}$ -splitting map.

The proposition above motivates the following definition.

Definition 3.2.12 (Good splitting map). Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n. Let $x \in X$, let r > 0 and let $\eta \in (0, n^{-1})$. We say that a map

$$u = (u^1, \dots, u^n) : B_{2r}(x) \to \mathbb{R}^n$$

is a good η -splitting map on $D \subseteq B_r(x)$ if the following two properties hold:

- i) for every $i = 1, ..., n, u^i$ is harmonic and $\hat{C}_{K,N}$ -Lipschitz,
- ii) for every i, j = 1, ..., n, for every $y \in D$ and $s \in (0, r)$,

$$\int_{B_s(y)} |\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j - \delta_{i,j}| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} < \eta$$

(i.e. u satisfies items i) and satisfies ii) of Definition 3.2.3 for every centre $y \in D$ and scale $s \in (0, r)$). We simply write good splitting map if the value of $\eta \in (0, n^{-1})$ is not important.

Remark 3.2.13. It may seem strange that in the definition of good splitting map we have dropped the scale-invariant averaged control on the squared Hilbert–Schmidt norm of the Hessian, i.e. the bound on $r^2 f_{B_r(y)}$ |Hess u^i |²dm as in item iii) of Definition 3.2.3. This, however, is coherent with the motivation for good splitting maps, i.e. being able to operate at arbitrarily small scales. Indeed, $|\nabla u^i|^2$ has Lebesgue points everywhere in $B_r(x)$ (Remark 3.2.4) hence, by (2.2.4) and the doubling inequality, for every $y \in B_r(x)$,

$$r^{2} \oint_{B_{r}(y)} |\operatorname{Hess} u^{i}|^{2} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \to 0,$$

so that the bound mentioned above would have been redundant.

Given a good splitting map, we can rotate its components in order to have them asymptotically form an orthonormal basis.

3.2. BLOW-UPS

Lemma 3.2.14. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n. Let $\eta \in (0, n^{-1})$ and let $u : B_{2r}(x) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a good η -splitting map on $D \subseteq B_r(x)$. We define the matrix valued Borel map $M = \{M_{i,j}\}_{i,j} : B_{2r}(x) \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ as the Gram matrix

$$M_{i,j} := \nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j$$

Then there exists a matrix valued Borel map $A = \{A_{i,j}\}_{i,j} : D \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ satisfying

$$AMA^T = \text{Id and } |A| \le C_{\eta,n} \quad on D,$$

where $C_{\eta,n} \in (0,\infty)$ is a constant depending only on η and n.

In particular, if $y \in D$ and we set $v_y := A(y)u$, then

$$(\nabla v_y^i \cdot \nabla v_y^j)(y) = \delta_{i,j} \qquad for \ i, j = 1, \dots, n.$$

Proof. Notice first that being u a good η -splitting map (recall Remark 3.2.4), for every $i, j = 1, \ldots, n$,

$$|M_{i,j} - \delta_{ij}| \le \eta < n^{-1}$$
 on *D*. (3.2.10)

Now fix for the moment $y \in D$. Let $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ be an eigenvalue of M(y) and let $w = (w^1, \ldots, w^n)$ be a corresponding eigenvector, assume that |w| = 1. Then

$$\lambda = w^T M(x) w = w^T (M(y) - \mathrm{Id}) w + |w|^2$$

so that by (3.2.10) and Holder's inequality,

$$|\lambda - 1| = |w^T (M(y) - \mathrm{Id})w| = \left|\sum_{i,j} w^i (M(y)_{i,j} - \delta_{i,j})w^j\right| \le \eta \left|\sum_{i,j} w^i w^j\right| \le \eta |w|_{\ell^1}^2 \le \eta n < 1.$$

In particular, M(y) is invertible.

Fix for the moment $y \in D$. We perform a formal Gram–Schmidt orthogonalization algorithm. Namely, we set

$$\tilde{v}_y^1 \coloneqq u^1, \qquad v_y^1 \coloneqq \frac{\tilde{v}_y^1}{\sqrt{(\tilde{\nabla} v_y^1 \cdot \nabla \tilde{v}_y^1)(y)}}$$

and for i > 1,

$$\tilde{v}_y^i \coloneqq u^i - (\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla v_y^1)(y)v_y^1 - \dots - (\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla v_y^{i-1})(y)v_y^{i-1}, \qquad v_y^i \coloneqq \frac{\tilde{v}_y^i}{\sqrt{(\nabla \tilde{v}_y^i \cdot \nabla \tilde{v}_y^i)(y)}},$$

notice that the denominators are strictly positive by the invertibility of M(y). Then we set A(y) to be the natural matrix satisfying $v_y = (v_y^1, \ldots, v_y^n) = A(y)u$ according to the procedure above, namely

$$A(y)_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } i < j, \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{(\nabla \tilde{v}_y^i \cdot \nabla \tilde{v}_y^i)(y)}} & \text{if } i = j, \\ -\frac{(\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla v_y^j)(y)}{\sqrt{(\nabla \tilde{v}_y^i \cdot \nabla \tilde{v}_y^i)(y)}} & \text{if } i > j. \end{cases}$$

Now we compute

$$(A(y)M(y)A(y)^T)_{i,j} = \sum_{k,l} A(y)_{i,k} A(y)_{j,l} (\nabla u^k \cdot \nabla u^l)(y) = (\nabla v_y^i \cdot \nabla v_y^j)(y) = \delta_{i,j}$$

where the last equality is due to the Gram–Schmidt-type construction. Let now $w \in \mathbb{R}^n$. We compute

$$|A(y)^{T}w|^{2} = w^{T}A(y)A(y)^{T}w = w^{T}A(y)M(y)A(y)^{T}w + w^{T}A(y)(\mathrm{Id} - M(y))A(y)^{T}w$$
$$\leq |w|^{2} + (\eta n)|A(y)^{T}w|^{2}$$

where we used that the eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ of the symmetric matrix M(y) satisfy $|\lambda_i - 1| \le \eta n < 1$. 1. Therefore we can bound $|A(y)^T|$ by a constant that depends only on η and n.

Now we need to introduce a notion of unit normal, in the sense of calculus, to a set of finite perimeter. We need this object in order to keep track of the set of finite perimeter in a blow-up procedure. We only state the result, revealing in advance a particular version of Theorem 4.1.1 of Chapter 4 (actually, the bulk of the proof of Theorem 4.1.1 is the same as the one of Theorem 3.2.15).

Theorem 3.2.15 (Gauss–Green formula). Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of finite perimeter and finite measure. Then there exists a unique vector field $\nu_E \in L^{\infty}_{|D\chi_E|}(TX)$ such that it holds

$$\int_{E} \operatorname{div} v \operatorname{d} \mathbf{m} = -\int v \cdot \nu_{E} \operatorname{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_{E}| \qquad \text{for every } v \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{C}}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\operatorname{div}) \cap L^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}).$$

Moreover, $|\nu_E| = 1 |D\chi_E|$ -a.e.

Now we want to isolate a condition for which, given a harmonic Lipschitz vector valued map, this map is suitable to recognize the blow-up of a particular set of finite perimeter at a point.

Definition 3.2.16 (Good coordinates). Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n. Let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of finite perimeter and let $x \in \text{supp } |D\chi_E|$ be given. Then we say that an n-tuple of harmonic Lipschitz functions

$$u = (u^1, \dots, u^n) : B_r(x) \to \mathbb{R}^n$$

is a system of good coordinates for E at x provided the following properties are satisfied.

i) For any i, j = 1, ..., n, it holds that

$$\lim_{s \searrow 0} \oint_{B_s(x)} |\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j - \delta_{ij}| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \lim_{s \searrow 0} \oint_{B_s(x)} |\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j - \delta_{ij}| \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_E| = 0.$$
(3.2.11)

ii) For any i = 1, ..., n, there exists $\bar{\nu}_i^u(x) \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\lim_{s \searrow 0} \oint_{B_s(x)} |\nu_E \cdot \nabla u^i - \bar{\nu}_i^u(x)| \mathbf{d} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E| = 0.$$

iii) The resulting vector $\bar{\nu}^u(x) := (\bar{\nu}_1^u(x), \dots, \bar{\nu}_n^u(x)) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfies $|\bar{\nu}^u(x)| = 1$.

Remark 3.2.17. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space of essential dimension n, let $x \in X$ and let $u = (u^1, \ldots, u^n)$ be an n-tuple of harmonic Lipschitz functions satisfying for every $i, j = 1, \ldots, n$ (cf. (3.2.11))

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \int_{B_r(x)} |\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j - \delta_{ij}| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = 0.$$

3.2. BLOW-UPS

Given a sequence of radii $r_i \searrow 0$ such that

$$(\mathsf{X}, r_i^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_x^{r_i}, x) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0)$$

and fixed a realization of such convergence, it follows from the results of [24, 25] (recalled in [51, Section 1.2.3]) and (2.2.4) that, up to extracting a not relabelled subsequence, the functions in

$$\{u_i^j := r_i^{-1}(u^j - u^j(x))\}_i$$
 for $j = 1, \dots, n$

converge locally uniformly and locally in $H^{1,2}$ -strong on $B_R(0)$ (for every R > 0) to orthogonal coordinate functions of \mathbb{R}^n .

The fact that systems of good coordinates have components that are asymptotically orthonormal grants that, for sufficiently small scales, these maps are splitting maps.

Lemma 3.2.18. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n. Let $u : B_r(x) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ a n-tuple of harmonic Lipschitz functions satisfying for every i, j = 1, ..., n (cf. (3.2.11))

$$\lim_{s \searrow 0} \oint_{B_s(x)} |\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j - \delta_{i,j}| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = 0.$$

Then, for every $\delta \in (0,1)$, there exists $r_{\delta} \in (0,1)$ such that u is a $(1+\delta)$ -Lipschitz δ -splitting map on $B_s(x)$ for every $s \in (0, r_{\delta})$.

Proof. As in Remark 3.2.13, we have that for every i,

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} r^2 \oint_{B_r(x)} |\operatorname{Hess} u^i|^2 \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = 0.$$

Finally, considering the scale-invariant version of [48, Remark 3.3] we have that for every $\delta \in (0, 1)$, there exists $r_{\delta} \in (0, 1)$ such that u is $(1 + C_N \delta^{1/2})$ -Lipschitz on $B_{r_{\delta}}(x)$.

Now we decompose an RCD space as a countable union of Borel sets $\{D_k\}_k$, up to a set that is not seen by total variations, in such a way that every D_k is a "good set" of a good splitting map. It is worth noticing that this decomposition depends only on the RCD space and not on a particular function of bounded variation.

Lemma 3.2.19. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n and let $\eta \in (0, n^{-1})$. Then there exists a sequence of maps $\{u_k : B_{2r_k}(x_k) \to \mathbb{R}^n\}_k$ and a sequence of pairwise disjoint Borel sets $\{D_k \subseteq B_{r_k}(x_k)\}_k$ such that

i) for every $f \in BV(X)$,

$$|\mathbf{D}f|\left(\mathsf{X}\setminus\bigcup_{k}D_{k}\right)=0,\tag{3.2.12}$$

ii) for every k, u_k is a good η -splitting map on D_k .

To any such collection of η -splitting maps, we can therefore associate a natural map

$$\bigcup_k D_k \to \mathbb{N} \qquad x \mapsto k(x).$$

Proof. The proof follows the arguments given in the proof of [51, Theorem 3.2], but the outcome is stronger, thanks to a suitable improvement of the proof.

Fix a countable dense set $S \subseteq \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})$. Let $y \in S$ be given. If $\varepsilon > 0$ is small enough and $r \in (0, \sqrt{\varepsilon/|K|}) \cap \mathbb{Q}$ is such that

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}\big((\mathsf{X},r^{-1}\mathsf{d},\mathsf{m}_y^r,y),(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathsf{d}_e,\underline{\mathcal{L}}^n,0)\big)<\varepsilon,$$

then, by Proposition 3.2.8 we obtain a δ -splitting map $u_{y,r} : B_{5r}(y) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ for some δ (which can be made arbitrarily small, taking ε small enough). Let

$$D_{y,r} := \left\{ x \in B_{5/2r}(y) \middle| u_{y,r} \text{ is an } \eta \text{-splitting map on } B_s(x) \text{ for every } s \in (0, 5/4r) \right\}.$$

The claim of the lemma will be proved with the sequence of sets $\{D_{y,r}\}_{y,r}$ and maps $\{u_{y,r}\}_{y,r}$, after having made the sets $D_{y,r}$ disjoint.

Assume now, by contradiction, that the claim is false. Then, by coarea, we find a set of finite perimeter $E \subseteq X$ such that

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_E|\left(\mathsf{X}\setminus\bigcup_{y,r}D_{y,r}\right)>0.$$

In particular, by Proposition 2.3.3 and Theorem 3.1.1,

$$|\mathcal{D}\chi_E|\left(B\setminus\bigcup_{y,r}D_{y,r}\right)>0,\tag{3.2.13}$$

where (notice $B \subseteq \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X}) \cap \partial^* E$), for some j that will be assumed fixed,

$$B := \left\{ x \in \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X}) \cap \partial^* E : \frac{r |\mathsf{D}\chi_E|(B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} > j^{-1} \text{ for every } r \in (0, j^{-1}) \right\}.$$

Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ to be determined later. If $x \in B$, then there exists $r = r(x) \in \mathbb{Q} \cap (0, 1)$ such that $|K|r^2 < \varepsilon < 4$ and

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}\big((\mathsf{X}, r^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_x^r, x), (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0)\big) < \varepsilon \qquad \text{and} \qquad \frac{r|\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(B_{r/4}(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_{r/4}(x))} > 4j^{-1}.$$

By density of S and thanks to an easy continuity argument, we deduce that for some point $y = y(x) \in S \cap B_{r/2}(x)$,

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}\big((\mathsf{X}, r^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_y^r, y), (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0)\big) < \varepsilon, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \frac{r|\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(B_{r/4}(y))}{\mathsf{m}(B_{r/4}(y))} > 4j^{-1}. \tag{3.2.14}$$

By the discussion above, we obtain a δ -splitting map $u_{y,r}: B_{5r}(y) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ for some $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon)$ (which can be made arbitrarily small, taking ε small enough). By Proposition 3.2.11, $u_{y,r}$ is a $C_N \delta^{1/4}$ splitting map on $B_s(x)$ for any $x \in D_{y,r}^{\varepsilon} \subseteq B_{5/2r}(y)$ and $s \in (0, 5/4r)$, where

$$\mathcal{H}_5^h(B_{5/2r}(y) \setminus D_{y,r}^{\varepsilon}) \le C_N \delta^{1/2} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{5/2r}(x))}{5/2r}.$$

Therefore, $D_{y,r}^{\varepsilon} \subseteq D_{y,r}$ if $C_N \delta^{1/4} < \eta$.

3.2. BLOW-UPS

We apply Vitali covering lemma to the family $\{B_{r(x)/2}(y(x))\}_{x\in B}$ constructed arguing as above and we obtain a sequence of disjoint balls $\{B_{r(x_i)/2}(y(x_i))\}_i$ such that

$$B \subseteq \bigcup_{i} B_{5/2r(x_i)}(y(x_i))$$

Set

$$D^{\varepsilon} := \bigcup_{i} D^{\varepsilon}_{y(x_i), r(x_i)}$$

Then we can compute

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}_{5}^{h}(B \setminus D^{\varepsilon}) &\leq \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{H}_{5}^{h} \left(B_{5/2r(x_{i})}(y(x_{i})) \setminus D_{y(x_{i}),r(x_{i})}^{\varepsilon} \right) \leq C_{N} \delta^{1/2} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{5/2r(x_{i})}(y(x_{i})))}{5/2r(x_{i})} \\ &\leq C_{N} \delta^{1/2} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{r(x_{i})/4}(y(x_{i})))}{r(x_{i})/4} \leq C_{N} j \delta^{1/2} |\mathsf{D}\chi_{E}|(\mathsf{X}), \end{aligned}$$

where the constants C_N may change from line to line, in the third inequality we are using the doubling property together with the fact that $r(x_i)$ is sufficiently small, and in the last inequality we are using (3.2.14) together with the fact that $\{B_{r(x_i)/2}(y(x_i))\}$ are disjoint. Let now $\{\varepsilon_i\}_i$ with $\varepsilon_i \searrow 0$ be such that the corresponding $\{\delta_i\}_i$ satisfy both $\delta_i^{1/2} \leq 2^{-i}$ and $C_N j \delta_i^{1/4} < \eta$, and set

$$G := \bigcup_{i} D^{\varepsilon_i} \subseteq D_{y,r}$$

Then $\mathcal{H}_5^h(B \setminus G) = 0$, which contradicts (3.2.13).

In view of the following proposition, recall Definition 3.2.16, in particular the definition of $\bar{\nu}$. We are going to prove that, given a good splitting map, we can rotate it in order to have a system of good coordinates.

Proposition 3.2.20. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of finite perimeter. Let $\eta \in (0, n^{-1})$ and let $u : 2B \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a good η -splitting map on $D \subseteq B$. Let $A : D \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ be the matrix valued Borel map given by Lemma 3.2.14 and set, for $y \in D, v_y := A(y)u$. Then, for $|D\chi_E|$ -a.e. $y \in D$, the map v_y is a system of good coordinates for E at y and

$$\bar{\nu}_E^{\nu_y}(y) = A(y) \left((\nu_E \cdot \nabla u^i)(y) \right)_i \in \mathbb{R}^n \qquad \text{for } |\mathcal{D}\chi_E| \text{-a.e. } x \in D.$$
(3.2.15)

In particular, for $|D\chi_E|$ -a.e. y, there exists a system of good coordinates for E at y.

Proof. Up to removing a $|D\chi_E|$ -negligible set, we can assume that every point of D is a Lebesgue point of $\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j$, $\nu_E \cdot \nabla u^i$, with respect to $|D\chi_E|$ for every i, j = 1, ..., n. This is due to the asymptotically doubling property of $|D\chi_E|$. Also, up to removing another $|D\chi_E|$ -negligible set, we can assume that at every point of D, the Lebesgue value for $\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j$ with respect to m coincides with the Lebesgue value for (the trace of the quasi-continuous representative of) $\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j$ with respect to $|D\chi_E|$, for every i, j = 1, ..., n. This is due to Remark 3.2.5 together with the fact that $|D\chi_E|$ is asymptotically doubling. Notice that this last property implies, in particular, that (taking the traces on $L^2_{|D\chi_E|}(TX)$)

$$A\{\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j\}_{i,j} A^T = \text{Id} \qquad |\mathsf{D}\chi_E| \text{-a.e. on } D, \qquad (3.2.16)$$

where we also used Lemma 3.2.14.

By the paragraph above, for every $y \in D$, the map v_y satisfies (3.2.11). We compute, exploiting the fact that every $y \in D$ is a Lebesgue point for $\nu_E \cdot \nabla u^i$,

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{r \searrow 0} & \oint_{B_r(y)} \left| \sum_k A(y)_{i,k} (\nu_E \cdot \nabla u^k)(z) - \sum_k A(y)_{i,k} (\nu_E \cdot \nabla u^k)(y) \right| \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(z) \\ & \leq \limsup_{r \searrow 0} C_{\eta,n} \sum_k \oint_{B_r(y)} |(\nu_E \cdot \nabla u^k)(z) - (\nu_E \cdot \nabla u^k)(y)| \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(z) = 0, \end{split}$$

where the inequality is due to Lemma 3.2.14. Hence (3.2.15) is satisfied.

It remains to prove only that $|\nu_E^{v_y}(y)| = 1$ for $|D\chi_E|$ -a.e. $y \in D$, notice that $y \mapsto \nu_E^{v_y}(y) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is $|D\chi_E|$ -measurable thanks to (3.2.15). First, by (3.2.16),

$$\left(\sum_{k} A_{i,k} \nabla u^{k}\right) \cdot \left(\sum_{k} A_{j,k} \nabla u^{k}\right) = \delta_{i,j} \qquad |\mathsf{D}\chi_{E}| \text{-a.e. on } D.$$
(3.2.17)

Now, as $L^2_{|D\chi_E|}(T\mathsf{X})$ has dimension at most n (Theorem 2.2.21) we deduce that the n vector fields $\{\sum_k A(y)_{i,k} \nabla u^k\}_{i=1,\dots,n}$ form an orthonormal basis for $L^2_{|D\chi_E|}(T\mathsf{X})$ on D. Therefore,

$$\nu_E = \sum_{i} \left(\left(\sum_k \nu_E \cdot A_{i,k} \nabla u^k \right) \left(\sum_k A_{i,k} \nabla u^k \right) \right) \quad \text{on } D,$$

as element of $L^2_{|D\chi_E|}(T\mathsf{X})$. Now, as $|\nu_E| = 1 |D\chi_E|$ -a.e. and by (3.2.17),

$$1 = \sum_{i,j} \left(\left(\sum_{k} \nu_E \cdot A_{i,k} \nabla u^k \right) \left(\sum_{k} \nu_E \cdot A_{j,k} \nabla u^k \right) \left(\sum_{k} A_{i,k} \nabla u^k \right) \cdot \left(\sum_{k} A_{j,k} \nabla u^k \right) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{i} \left(\sum_{k} \nu_E \cdot A_{i,k} \nabla u^k \right)^2$$

 $|D\chi_E|$ -a.e. on D, whence the claim follows from (3.2.15).

The last conclusion is due to Lemma 3.2.19.

3.2.3 Main result

The following important theorem completely characterizes blow-ups of sets of finite perimeter, and how we can recognize the blow-up, in the limit space, using a system of good coordinates.

Theorem 3.2.21. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space of essential dimension n and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of locally finite perimeter. Let $x \in \operatorname{supp} |D\chi_E|$ such that the conclusions of Proposition 2.3.3 hold at x. Assume that there exists a system of good coordinates for E at $x, u : B_r(x) \to \mathbb{R}^n$. Then

$$\operatorname{Tan}_{x}(\mathsf{X},\mathsf{d},\mathsf{m},E) = \left\{ (\mathbb{R}^{n},\mathsf{d}_{e},\underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n},0,\{x_{n}>0\}) \right\}.$$
(3.2.18)

More precisely, if $H \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is a half-space such that

$$(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0, H) \in \operatorname{Tan}_x(\mathsf{X}, \mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}, E),$$

where the coordinates in \mathbb{R}^n are chosen as limits of rescalings of u as in Remark 3.2.17, then

$$H = \left\{ y : y \cdot \bar{\nu}^u_E(x) \ge 0 \right\}.$$

In particular, (3.2.18) holds for $|D\chi_E|$ -a.e. $x \in X$.

3.2. BLOW-UPS

Proof. By a standard reduction argument, we can assume that E has finite perimeter and finite measure. Fix $x \in \text{supp } |D\chi_E|$ and fix $u : B_{r_x}(x) \to \mathbb{R}^n$, system of good coordinates for E at x. Notice that if O is a rotation matrix, then $v := Ou : B_{r_x}(x) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is still a system of good coordinates for E at x with $\bar{\nu}_E^v(x) = O\bar{\nu}_E^u(x)$ (here we are making the dependence on the system of good coordinates explicit). Hence, for **Step 2**, up to changing also the coordinates on \mathbb{R}^n , we see that there is no loss of generality in assuming that $\bar{\nu}_E^u(x) = (0, \ldots, 0, 1)$. This has the only effect to simplify some computations.

Step 1. By Lemma 3.2.18, for every $\delta \in (0, 1)$, there exists $r_{\delta} \in (0, 1)$ such that u is a δ -splitting map on $B_s(x)$ for every $s \in (0, r_{\delta})$. Now, take $(X', d', m', x') \in \operatorname{Tan}_x(X, d, m)$ (which is not empty, by Gromov compactness Theorem). Now we can apply Proposition 3.2.10 for any $\delta \in (0, 1)$. Take indeed $\varepsilon = j^{-1}$ and $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon)$ given by Proposition 3.2.10, then, by the map u, we know that there exists a pointed RCD(0, N - n) space (Z^j, d^j, m^j, z^j) such that

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}((\mathsf{X}',\mathsf{d}',\mathsf{m}',x'),(\mathbb{R}^n\times\mathsf{Z}^j,\mathsf{d}_e\otimes\mathsf{d}^j,\mathcal{L}^n\otimes\mathsf{m}^j,(0,z^j)))< j^{-1}.$$

Applying Gromov compactness Theorem, we have that for some pointed RCD(0, N - n) space $(\mathsf{Z}^{\infty}, \mathsf{d}^{\infty}, \mathsf{m}^{\infty}, z^{\infty})$ we have that

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}((\mathsf{Z}^{\infty},\mathsf{d}^{\infty},\mathsf{m}^{\infty},z^{\infty}),(\mathsf{Z}^{j},\mathsf{d}^{j},\mathsf{m}^{j},z^{j})) \to 0$$

so that we infer

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{pmGH}}((\mathsf{X}',\mathsf{d}',\mathsf{m}',x'),(\mathbb{R}^n\times\mathsf{Z}^\infty,\mathsf{d}_e\otimes\mathsf{d}^\infty,\mathcal{L}^n\otimes\mathsf{m}^\infty,(0,z^\infty)))=0.$$

The lower semicontinuity and additivity of the essential dimension forces Z^{∞} to be a point, so that (X', d', m', x') must be \mathbb{R}^n . This shows that

$$\operatorname{Tan}_{x}(\mathsf{X},\mathsf{d},\mathsf{m}) = \big\{ (\mathbb{R}^{n},\mathsf{d}_{e},\underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n},0) \big\}.$$

Step 2. Now take a sequence $r_j \searrow 0$ such that $(X, r_j^{-1}d, \mathsf{m}_{r_j}^x, x) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0)$ in the pmGH topology and let $(\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_\mathsf{Z})$ be a realization of such convergence, with isometric embeddings $\iota_j : (X, r_j^{-1}\mathsf{d}) \to (\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_\mathsf{Z})$ and $\iota_j : (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e) \to (\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_\mathsf{Z})$. We can assume (possibly taking a not relabelled subsequence, see Remark 3.2.17) that the maps $\{u_j^i := r_j^{-1}(u^i - u^i(x))\}_j$ converge locally uniformly and in $H^{1,2}$ -strong on $B_R(0)$ (for every R > 0) to coordinate functions on \mathbb{R}^n , say e^1, \ldots, e^n . We will use these coordinates on \mathbb{R}^n . We can assume (possibly taking a not relabelled subsequence, see Theorem 3.2.2) that $(\mathsf{X}, r_j^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_{r_j}^x, x, E) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0, E')$, i.e. $\iota_j(E)$ converge in L^1_{loc} to $\iota_\infty(E')$ and we have weak convergence of rescaled perimeters, see (3.2.1), for some set of locally finite perimeter $E' \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. We have to show that $E' = \{y : y \cdot \bar{\nu}_E^u(x) \ge 0\}$, recall that we are assuming

$$\bar{\nu}_E^u(x) = (0, \dots, 0, 1).$$

We prove this by a limiting procedure involving the Gauss–Green formula.

For this part of the proof we are going to follow the arguments of the proofs of [51, Proposition 4.7] and [50, Proposition 4.8], building heavily on the convergence results of [24, 25], recalled also in [51, Section 1.2.3]. As these convergence results are by now standard, we are going to use them freely, referring the reader to the references above for details. Let $\varphi_{\infty} \in \text{LIP}_{\text{bs}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We take $\varphi_j \in \text{LIP}_{\text{bs}}(\mathsf{X}, r_j^{-1}\mathsf{d})$, uniformly Lipschitz, with uniformly bounded support and strongly

converging to φ_{∞} in $H^{1,2}$ and locally uniformly converging to φ_{∞} . By Theorem 3.2.15, we have that for $i = 1, \ldots, n$, if $\varphi \in \text{LIP}_{\text{bs}}(\mathsf{X})$ has support contained in $B_{r_x}(x)$,

$$\int_E \nabla \varphi \cdot \nabla u^i \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = -\int \varphi \nabla u^i \cdot \nu_E \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E|,$$

where we used that as u^i is harmonic on $B_{r_x}(x)$, then $\varphi \nabla u^i \in H^{1,2}_{\mathbb{C}}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\operatorname{div})$ and $\operatorname{div}(\varphi \nabla u^i) = \varphi \nabla u^i$. We can multiply both sides by $\frac{r_j}{C_x^{r_j}}$ and use the scaling properties of the gradients and the measures to infer that

$$\int_{E_j} \nabla^j \varphi_j \cdot \nabla^j u_j^i \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}_{r_j}^x = -\frac{r_j}{C_x^{r_j}} \int \varphi_j \nabla u^i \cdot \nu_E \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_E|, \qquad (3.2.19)$$

where this equality makes sense for j large enough as for j large enough, with a little abuse, $\operatorname{supp} \varphi_j \subseteq B_{r_x}(x)$. Concerning the left hand side of (3.2.19), we have the convergence

$$\int_{E_j} \nabla^j \varphi_j \cdot \nabla^j u_j^i \mathrm{dm}_{r_j}^x \to \int_{E'} \nabla \varphi_\infty \cdot \nabla e^i \mathrm{d}\underline{\mathcal{L}}^n.$$
(3.2.20)

Using twice the rescaling property $|D^{j}\chi_{E}| = \frac{r_{j}}{C_{r^{j}}^{r^{j}}}|D\chi_{E}|$, if R is big enough,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{r_j}{C_x^{r_j}} \int \varphi_j \nabla u^i \cdot \nu_E \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E| - \delta_{i,n} \int \varphi_j \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}^j \chi_E| \right| \\ &\leq \|\varphi_j\|_{\infty} \frac{r_j}{C_x^{r_j}} \int_{B_{Rr_j}(x)} |\nabla u^i \cdot \nu_E - \delta_{i,n}| \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E| \\ &= \|\varphi_j\|_{\infty} |\mathrm{D}\chi_{E_j}| (B_R(x)) \oint_{B_{Rr_j}(x)} |\nabla u^i \cdot \nu_E - \delta_{i,n}| \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E| \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, concerning the right hand side of (3.2.19), we have the convergence

$$\frac{r_j}{C_x^{r_j}} \int \varphi_j \nabla u^i \cdot \nu_E \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E| \to \delta_{i,n} \int \varphi_\infty \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_{E'}|, \qquad (3.2.21)$$

where we used again the weak convergence of rescaled perimeters together with the local uniform convergence $\varphi_j \to \varphi_{\infty}$. All in all by (3.2.19), (3.2.20) and (3.2.21), we obtain that in the space $(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \mathcal{L}^n)$ (we are not rescaling the measure now), we have that for every $\varphi \in \mathrm{LIP}_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\int_{E'} \partial_i \varphi d\mathcal{L}^n = -\delta_{i,n} \int \varphi d\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \partial^* E'.$$
(3.2.22)

Now, for any i = 1, ..., n - 1, by (3.2.22),

$$\int_{E'} \partial_i \varphi \mathrm{d} \mathcal{L}^n = 0,$$

which easily implies that $\chi_{E'}(y) = \chi_{H'}(y_n)$ for some $H' \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. Taking product test functions, one verifies that (3.2.22) with i = n implies that H' is a set of locally finite perimeter and that for every $\psi \in \text{LIP}_{\text{bs}}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$\int_{H'} \psi' \mathrm{d}t = -\int \psi \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^0 \, \sqcup \, \partial^* H'.$$

3.3. REDUCED BOUNDARY

This shows that

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_{H'}| = \mathrm{D}\chi_{H'}$$

so that we have that $H' = \chi_{[a,\infty)}$ for some $a \in \mathbb{R}$. Now we can use the weak convergence of rescaled perimeters together with item *iii*) of Proposition 2.3.3 to infer that a = 0, whence the claim.

Step 3. The last conclusion is due to Proposition 3.2.20 and Proposition 2.3.3.

We briefly comment on **Step 1** of the proof of Theorem 3.2.21. Notice that the conclusion entails a "constancy of the dimension" statement (which is not obtained for free but hidden in the proof of Lemma 3.2.19, which exploits Theorem 3.1.1). Also, if one is only interested on the conclusion of Theorem 3.2.21 at almost every point with respect to the perimeter measure, the argument of **Step 1** is unnecessary and can be replaced directly by Theorem 3.1.1.

3.3 Reduced boundary

In view of the following definition, recall the definition of tangent to a set given in Definition 3.2.1. We want to have a subset of the essential boundary that is big enough to carry all the perimeter measure, but made of points that are regular enough to have nice properties.

Definition 3.3.1 (Reduced boundary). Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n. Let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of locally finite perimeter. Then we define the *reduced boundary* $\mathcal{F}E \subseteq \partial^*E$ of E as the set of all those points $x \in \mathcal{R}^*_n(X)$ satisfying all the four conclusions of Proposition 2.3.3 and such that

$$\operatorname{Tan}_{x}(\mathsf{X},\mathsf{d},\mathsf{m},E) = \left\{ (\mathbb{R}^{n},\mathsf{d}_{e},\underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n},0,\{x_{n}>0\}) \right\}.$$

By Theorem 3.2.21, Theorem 3.1.1 and Proposition 2.3.3 we obtain the following corollary, which confirms that Definition 3.3.1 is meaningful.

Corollary 3.3.2. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of locally finite perimeter. Then

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(\mathsf{X}\setminus\mathcal{F}E)=0.$$

Remark 3.3.3. For any $x \in \mathcal{F}E$ the following hold (recall the definition of C_x^r in (2.2.10)).

i) If $r_i \searrow 0$ is such that

$$(\mathsf{X}, r_i^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_x^{r_i}, x) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0)$$
(3.3.1)

in a realization $(\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}})$, then, up to not relabelled subsequences and a change of coordinates in \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$(\mathsf{X}, r_i^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_x^{r_i}, x, E) \to (\mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0, \{x_n > 0\}),$$

in the same realization (Z, d_Z). Notice that, given a sequence $r_i \searrow 0$, it is always possible to find a subsequence satisfying (3.3.1) by Gromov compactness Theorem.

ii) We have

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}{r^n} = \omega_n \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \in (0, \infty),$$
$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{C_x^r}{r^n} = \frac{\omega_n}{n+1} \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x),$$
$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathsf{D}\chi_E|(B_r(x))}{r^{n-1}} = \omega_{n-1} \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x).$$

 \square

iii) x is a point of density 1/2 for E, i.e.

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap E)}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = 1/2.$$

This follows indeed by Theorem 3.2.2 and by the membership to $\mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})$.

3.4 Rectifiability

In view of the following theorem, recall that $|D\chi_E|$ is concentrated on $\mathcal{F}E$, by Corollary 3.3.2, for any set of locally finite perimeter E. We are then going to prove the rectifiability of reduced boundaries of sets of finite perimeter, and give an explicit description of the maps that we can use to have rectifiability: indeed, we are going to use good splitting maps.

Theorem 3.4.1. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of locally finite perimeter. Then $\mathcal{F}E$ is countably (n-1)-rectifiable. More precisely, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, we can write

$$\mathcal{F}E = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} B_i \cup N,$$

where, for every *i*, B_i is $(1 + \varepsilon)$ -bilipschitz to a Borel subset of \mathbb{R}^{n-1} and $|D\chi_E|(N) = 0$.

Theorem 3.4.1 is an easy consequence of the following lemma, and we postpone its proof after the proof of Lemma 3.4.2. Lemma 3.4.2 is proved by blow-up.

Lemma 3.4.2. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space of essential dimension n and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of locally finite perimeter. Let u be a good splitting map on D and let $A : D \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ be the matrix valued Borel map given by Lemma 3.2.14. Let ε small enough so that $\varepsilon^2(\hat{C}_{K,N} + 1) < \varepsilon$, where $\hat{C}_{K,N}$ is the constant appearing in Definition 3.2.12.

Let $G \subseteq \mathcal{F}E \cap D$ be a set of points with the following properties:

i) for some $l \in \mathbb{N}, l \geq 1$,

$$\frac{r|\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(B_r(y))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(y))} > l^{-1} \qquad \text{for every } y \in G \text{ and } r \in (0, l^{-1}),$$

ii) for every $y \in G$, the map $v_y := A(y)u$ is a system of good coordinates for E at y,

iii) there exist a matrix $\overline{A} \in \mathbb{Q}^{n \times n}$ and a a vector $\overline{\nu} \in \mathbb{Q}^n$ such that

 $|A(y) - \bar{A}| < \varepsilon^2$ and $|\bar{\nu}_E^{v_y}(y) - \bar{\nu}| < \varepsilon^2$ for every $y \in G$.

Then there exists a projection map $\bar{\pi} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ onto a hyperplane and a sequence of sets $\{G_k\}_k$ with $G_k \subseteq G$ and

$$|\mathbf{D}\chi_E|\left(G\setminus\bigcup_k G_k\right)=0,$$

such that, for every k,

$$\bar{\pi}\bar{A}u:G_k\to\mathbb{R}^n$$

is $(1+2\varepsilon)$ -bilipschitz onto its (n-1)-dimensional image.

3.4. RECTIFIABILITY

Proof. Define $\bar{\pi} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ to be the projection onto the subspace orthogonal to $\bar{\nu}$, i.e. $\bar{\pi}(z) = z - (z \cdot \bar{\nu})\bar{\nu}$ and set $\bar{u} := \bar{A}u$.

Take any $y \in G$. We claim that there exists $r_y \in (0, 1]$ satisfying

$$\left|\left|\bar{\pi}\bar{u}(y) - \bar{\pi}\bar{u}(z)\right| - \mathsf{d}(y,z)\right| \le 2\varepsilon \mathsf{d}(y,z) \qquad \text{for every } z \in G \text{ such that } \mathsf{d}(y,z) < r_y. \tag{3.4.1}$$

Assume the contrary and take a sequence $\{z_k\}_k \subseteq G$ with $r_k := \mathsf{d}(y, z_k) \to 0$ satisfying

$$\left|\left|\bar{\pi}\bar{u}(y) - \bar{\pi}\bar{u}(z_k)\right| - \mathsf{d}(y, z_k)\right| > 2\varepsilon \mathsf{d}(y, z_k).$$

Now we consider the rescaled spaces $(X, r_k^{-1} d, m_y^{r_k}, y)$. Recall that v_y is a system of good coordinates for E at y, hence, up to taking not relabelled subsequences we can exploit the membership $y \in \mathcal{F}E$ (in particular, Theorem 3.2.21) and Remark 3.2.17 to have that $\{v_{y,k}^j := r_k^{-1}(v_y^j - v_y^j(y))\}_k$ converge locally uniformly to orthogonal coordinates on \mathbb{R}^n , say $v_{y,\infty}^j$, for $j = 1, \ldots, n$, where $(X, r_k^{-1} d, m_y^{r_k}, y, E) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, d_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0, H)$ in the pmGH topology, for the half-space

$$H = \{z : v_{y,\infty}(z) \cdot \bar{\nu}_E^{v_y}(y) \ge 0\}.$$

Also, up taking again subsequences, we can assume that $z_k \to z_\infty$ for some $z_\infty \in \mathbb{R}^n$, notice that $\mathsf{d}_e(0, z_\infty) = 1 = |v_{y,\infty}(0) - v_{y,\infty}(z_\infty)|$. Now we claim that $z_\infty \in \partial H$. Assume not, say $z_\infty \notin \partial H$, then for some $\sigma \in (0, 1)$, taking into account weak convergence of measures involved, and that $\{z_k\}_k \subseteq G$,

$$0 < \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n}(B_{\sigma}^{\mathbb{R}^{n}}(z_{\infty})) = \lim_{k} \mathsf{m}_{y}^{r_{k}}(B_{\sigma}^{k}(z_{k})) = \lim_{k} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{\sigma r_{k}}(z_{k}))}{C_{y}^{r_{k}}} \le \limsup_{k} l \frac{r_{k}|\mathsf{D}\chi_{E}|(B_{\sigma r_{k}}(z_{k}))}{C_{y}^{r_{k}}} = l \limsup_{k} |\mathsf{D}\chi_{E_{k}}|(B_{\sigma}^{k}(z_{k})) = l|\mathsf{D}\chi_{H}|(B_{\sigma}^{\mathbb{R}^{n}}(z_{\infty})) = 0$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore $z_{\infty} \in \partial H$ so that, by the description of H,

$$(v_{y,\infty}(0) - v_{y,\infty}(z_{\infty})) \perp \bar{\nu}_E^{v_y}(y),$$

and hence

$$\left| \left| \bar{\pi} v_{y,\infty}(0) - \bar{\pi} v_{y,\infty}(z_{\infty}) \right| - \left| v_{y,\infty}(0) - v_{y,\infty}(z_{\infty}) \right| \right| \le \left| \bar{\nu} - \bar{\nu}_{E}^{v_{y}}(y) \right| \left| v_{y,\infty}(0) - v_{y,\infty}(z_{\infty}) \right| < \varepsilon^{2}.$$

Therefore, by local uniform convergence,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{k} r_{k}^{-1} \big| |\bar{\pi}v_{y}(y) - \bar{\pi}v_{y}(z_{k})| - \mathsf{d}(y, z_{k}) \big| &= \lim_{k} \big| |\bar{\pi}v_{y,k}(y) - \bar{\pi}v_{y,k}(z_{k})| - r_{k}^{-1}\mathsf{d}(y, z_{k}) \big| \\ &= \big| |\bar{\pi}v_{y,\infty}(0) - \bar{\pi}v_{y,\infty}(z_{\infty})| - \mathsf{d}_{e}(0, z_{\infty}) \big| < \varepsilon^{2}. \end{split}$$

Hence, if k is big enough,

$$\left|\left|\bar{\pi}v_y(y) - \bar{\pi}v_y(z_k)\right| - \mathsf{d}(y, z_k)\right| < (\varepsilon + \varepsilon^2)r_k.$$

Now we compute, if k is big enough, as ε is small enough,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \left| \bar{\pi}\bar{u}(y) - \bar{\pi}\bar{u}(z_k) \right| - \mathsf{d}(y, z_k) \right| &\leq \left| \bar{A} - A(y) \right| \left| u(y) - u(z_k) \right| + \left| \left| \bar{\pi}v_y(y) - \bar{\pi}v_y(z_k) \right| - \mathsf{d}(y, z_k) \right| \\ &\leq \varepsilon^2 \hat{C}_{K,N} \mathsf{d}(y, z_k) + (\varepsilon + \varepsilon^2) \mathsf{d}(y, z_k) < 2\varepsilon \mathsf{d}(y, z_k), \end{aligned}$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore (3.4.1) is proved.

By an exhaustion argument, we can assume that for every $y \in G_k$, $r_y > m^{-1}$, for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$, where we are taking the maximal $r_y \in [0, 1]$, which is not zero by (3.4.1). Notice indeed that, taking the maximal $r_y, y \mapsto r_y$ is upper semicontinuous. By a partitioning argument we assume moreover that the diameter of G_k is smaller than m^{-1} : if $y, z \in G_k$, then

$$\left|\left|\bar{\pi}\bar{u}(y) - \bar{\pi}\bar{u}(z)\right| - \mathsf{d}(y,z)\right| \le 2\varepsilon\mathsf{d}(y,z),$$

as $d(y, z) \leq m^{-1} < r_y$. Hence the map $\bar{\pi}\bar{u}$ provides the suitable bilipschitz map.

Proof of Theorem 3.4.1. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough (this smallness depending on $\hat{C}_{K,N}$, which appears in Lemma 3.4.2).

Now we use Lemma 3.2.19 for some $\eta \in (0, n^{-1})$ and, keeping the same notation, we concentrate on one fixed k. Dropping the subscript k, we have to prove rectifiability of $|D\chi_E| \sqcup D$, where there exists a good splitting map $u : 2B \to \mathbb{R}^n$ on $D \subseteq B$, for some ball $B \subseteq X$. Now we apply Proposition 3.2.20 (the matrix valued Borel map $D \ni y \mapsto A(y) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ given by Lemma 3.2.14) and, up to discarding a $|D\chi_E|$ -negligible subset from $D, v_y := A(y)u$ is a system of good coordinates for E at y, for any $y \in D$. Up to a partitioning and exhaustion argument we see that we can assume that assumptions of Lemma 3.4.2 are in place (recall Remark 3.3.3). Hence we can use a further partitioning argument and exploit the maps given by Lemma 3.4.2 (as their image lies in a hyperplane, we can choose coordinates of such hyperplane and assume that these maps take values in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}).

We add now a technical result which will be useful later on. Namely, fixed a BV function f we can cover an RCD space, up to a |Df|-null set, by a countable union of sets that are bi-Borel to Borel subsets of the Euclidean space.

Proposition 3.4.3. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space of essential dimension n and let $f \in \operatorname{BV}(X)^m$. Then there exists a countable collection $\{(G_i, \Psi_i, B_i)\}_i$ such that

i) $\{G_i\}_i$ is a collection of pairwise disjoint Borel subset of X satisfying

$$|\mathbf{D}f| \left(\mathsf{X} \setminus \bigcup_{i} G_{i} \right) = 0,$$

- ii) $\{B_i\}_i$ is a collection of Borel subsets of \mathbb{R}^n ,
- *iii)* for every *i*,

$$\Psi_i: G_i \to B_i$$

is an invertible Borel map with Borel inverse

$$\Psi_i^{-1}: B_i \to G_i,$$

iv) for every *i*, Ψ_i is the restriction of some $\tilde{\Psi}_i \in BV(\mathsf{X})^n$ to G_i with $J_{\tilde{\Psi}_i} \cap G_i = \emptyset$.

Proof. As $|Df| \leq |Df_1| + \cdots + |Df_m|$, there is no loss of generality in assuming m = 1, so write $f = f_1$.

Split X in the disjoint union $A_f \cup C_f \cup S_f$, according to the decomposition

$$|\mathbf{D}f| = |\mathbf{D}f|^a + |\mathbf{D}f|^c + |\mathbf{D}f|^j$$

in absolutely continuous, Cantor and jump part (Definition 2.3.4). Then the claim on the portion S_f follows from the rectifiability result of Theorem 3.4.1. The claim on the portion A_f follows from the rectifiability of (X, d, m), e.g. [111] or [49]. As the maps providing rectifiability are bilipschitz, an application of McShane extension Theorem shows that item iv) can be satisfied.

We treat now the part C_f . First, we define the subgraph of f as in Section 2.3.5, i.e.

$$\mathcal{G}_f := \{ (x, t) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : t < f(x) \}.$$

By Proposition 2.3.12, \mathcal{G}_f is a set of locally finite perimeter and that, if $\pi : X \times \mathbb{R} \to X$ denotes the projection onto the first factor, it holds that

$$|\mathrm{D}f| \leq \pi_* |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|.$$

By the rectifiability result of Theorem 3.4.1 again, there exists a countable collection $\{\hat{C}_i\}_i$ of pairwise disjoint Borel subsets of $\partial^* \mathcal{G}_f \subseteq X \times \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|\Big((\mathsf{X}\times\mathbb{R})\setminus\bigcup_i\hat{C}_i\Big)=0$$

and for every i there exists a map

$$\Phi_i: \hat{C}_i \to \hat{B}_i \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$$

which is bilipschitz onto its image. To our aim, there is no loss of generality in assuming that for every $i, \hat{C}_i \subseteq (C_f \cap \{f \in \mathbb{R}\}) \times \mathbb{R}$ (we use also (2.3.5)). We set for every $i, C_i := \pi(\hat{C}_i)$ and $\Psi_i := \Phi_i \circ (\mathrm{Id}, f)_{|C_i}$, and it is easy to show that this assignment satisfies the request in item *iii*), recalling (2.3.6).

We now show item iv), up to removing from C_i the |Df|-negligible subset $J_{\tilde{\Psi}_i} \cap C_i$ (the fact that $J_{\tilde{\Psi}_i} \cap C_i$ is |Df|-negligible follows from (3.4.2) below and the fact that $|Df| \sqcup (X \setminus S_f)$ does not charge jump sets of functions of bounded variation). We first use McShane extension Theorem for Φ_i to obtain a *L*-Lipschitz function $\tilde{\Phi}_i$ and set $\tilde{\Psi}_i := \tilde{\Phi}_i \circ (\mathrm{Id}, f)$. Notice that if $g \in \mathrm{LIP}_{\mathrm{loc}}(X)$ it holds that $\mathrm{lip}(\tilde{\Phi}_i \circ (\mathrm{Id}, g)) \leq L(\mathrm{lip}(g) + 1)$, therefore an approximation argument yields that $D\tilde{\Psi}_i \in \mathrm{BV}_{\mathrm{loc}}(X)^n$ with

$$|\mathrm{D}\tilde{\Psi}_i| \le L(|\mathrm{D}f| + \mathsf{m}),\tag{3.4.2}$$

and then the conclusion follows.

3.5 Representation formula

Now we want to state formulae which give the representation of the perimeter measure. The first one, (3.5.1), is in terms of the 1-codimensional Hausdorff measure, whereas the second one, (3.5.2), is a purely metric formula (and answers in the affirmative to [115, Conjecture 5.32]). It is worth comparing (3.5.1) to (2.3.8), which holds on any PI space.

Theorem 3.5.1 (Representation formula for the perimeter). Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n. Let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of locally finite perimeter. Then,

$$|\mathbf{D}\chi_E| = \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \mathcal{H}^h \, \sqcup \, \mathcal{F}E \tag{3.5.1}$$

and

$$|\mathsf{D}\chi_E| = \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, \cdot)\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E.$$
(3.5.2)

In particular, it holds that $\Theta_{n-1}(|D\chi_E|, x) = \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x)$ for \mathcal{H}^{n-1} -a.e. $x \in \mathcal{F}E$.

Proof. Formula (3.5.1) is proved in [51, Corollary 3.15], taking into account Corollary 3.3.2.

Now we prove (3.5.2). For any $x \in \mathcal{F}E$ we compute, by Remark 3.3.3,

$$\exists \Theta_{n-1}(|\mathsf{D}\chi_E|, x) = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathsf{D}\chi_E|(B_r(x))}{\omega_{n-1}r^{n-1}} = \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \in (0, \infty).$$
(3.5.3)

Notice that $|D\chi_E|$ is concentrated on $\mathcal{F}E$ (Corollary 3.3.2) and that we are heavily exploiting the fact that, by definition, $\mathcal{F}E \subseteq \mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$, which is meaningful thanks to Theorem 3.1.1. we deduce that $\mu_E := \mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E$ is a σ -finite. Now, by [31, Theorem 2.4.3] we have that $\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E$ is a σ -finite measure and moreover that

$$\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E \ll |\mathrm{D}\chi_E| \sqcup \mathcal{F}E \ll \mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E.$$

Also, from Theorem 3.4.1 (and Remark 3.5.2), we see that we can apply [27, Theorem 5.4] (which is based on [100]) and the computation in (3.5.3) and deduce that

$$|\mathcal{D}\chi_E| = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathcal{D}\chi_E|(B_r(x))}{\omega_{n-1}r^{n-1}} \mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E = \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E,$$

whence the conclusion.

Remark 3.5.2. Consider an RCD(K, N) space (X, d, m) of essential dimension n and a set of locally finite perimeter $E \subseteq X$. Notice that

$$\mathcal{H}^{h}(B) = 0$$
 if and only if $|D\chi_{E}|(B) = 0$ for every $B \subseteq \partial^{*}E$ Borel (3.5.4)

and that

$$\mathcal{H}^{h}(B) = 0$$
 if and only if $\mathcal{H}^{n-1}(B) = 0$ for every $B \subseteq \mathcal{R}^{*}_{n}(\mathsf{X})$ Borel. (3.5.5)

Indeed, (3.5.4) follows from [7, Theorem 5.3], whereas (3.5.5) is proved via standard arguments, starting from the claim on

$$B_j := \left\{ x \in B : \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}{r^n} \in (j^{-1}, j) \text{ for every } r \in (0, j^{-1}) \right\}$$

and using σ -sub additivity as $j \to \infty$.

In particular, we have

$$\mathcal{H}^{h} \sqcup \partial^{*} E \ll |\mathsf{D}\chi_{E}| \ll \mathcal{H}^{h} \sqcup \mathcal{F} E, \tag{3.5.6}$$

where we also used Corollary 3.3.2.

3.6 Bibliographical notes

The theory of sets of finite perimeter in Euclidean spaces is nowadays well understood. The results stated in this chapter, in the smooth framework, are by now classical, see for example the references already recalled in this manuscript, e.g. [18, 77, 76, 79, 91] as well as [64, 65].

The systematic study of fine properties of sets of finite perimeter in RCD spaces was initiated in [10] (for what concerns blow-ups), and then continued in [51, 50] (for what concerns rectifiability and finer results). These papers are the main references for this chapter. However, at the time when [10, 51] were written, the powerful result of [70] was not available. Later on, [70] was used in [50] to sharpen the result of [51]. We are then in a position to leverage the findings from [70] already from
3.6. BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTES

the beginning of this note. This not only significantly shortens the proofs but also makes some of them simpler and better suited for the subsequent development of the theory. In particular, this allows us to bypass the technique of splitting via rigidity in the Bakry–Émery inequality of [10] and prove directly that the blow-up of an RCD space, at almost every point with respect to the perimeter measure, is Euclidean. Also, the part of the technique of [51] borrowed from [111] is now unnecessary. The main ideas and techniques used in this section, even after the modifications described above, are the ones contained in [10, 51, 50].

The statement of Theorem 3.1.1 is taken from [32], however, its proof is from [50] (and relies on [112, 70]), and uses Proposition 3.1.2 (proved in [32]), which is a sharpening of [50, Proposition 2.14].

Definition 3.2.1 is taken from [10], up to the fact that here we add the requirement of item iii). i.e. the weak convergence of (3.2.1), however, this will make basically no difference, by Theorem 3.2.2. Theorem 3.2.2 is proved in [10], here we give a statement that, under some aspects, is slightly sharper. See also [10] for what concerns references for the argument used.

Definition 3.2.3 is [51, Definition 3.4], which, in turn, recalls [58]. Proposition 3.2.7, Proposition 3.2.8, Proposition 3.2.9, Proposition 3.2.10, and Proposition 3.2.11 are taken from [51]. Definition 3.2.12 is clearly inspired by the ideas just mentioned and is motivated by [32, Definition 2.28]. Notice that, with respect to the literature, we do not include any Hessian bound (cf. item ii) of Definition 3.2.3) in the definition of good splitting map, see Remark 3.2.13. Notice also that good η -splitting maps for $\eta = 1/(2n)$ are enough for the material of this manuscript. Lemma 3.2.14 is standard and takes its roots from [32, Lemma 2.27 and Definition 2.28].

Theorem 3.2.15 is [51, Theorem 2.4]. We are going to slightly improve this result in Chapter 4, however, such result is needed also in this chapter and hence we have decided to move up its statement.

Definition 3.2.16 is [50, Definition 4.6]. We have added item iii), with an immaterial difference with respect to the reference, thanks to [50, Proposition 3.6].

Lemma 3.2.19 is extracted from [32, Lemma 2.27], which, in turn, builds upon the argument of [51, Theorem 3.2] and uses, as main ingredients, [51, Corollary 3.10 and Corollary 3.12]. One of the contributions of Lemma 3.2.19 is to "throw away" the bad set of small Hausdorff content of Proposition 3.2.11 inside its proof, avoiding the necessity to treat this set afterwards. The main part of Proposition 3.2.20 is that $\nu_E^{v_y}(y)$ has norm 1. This is done in [50, Proposition 3.6].

Theorem 3.2.21 sums up achievements of [10, 51, 50]. Its proof, however, is slightly modified, as we prove that the blow-up of the set of finite perimeter is a half-space without relying on [10]. This, as explained in the introduction, is due to the fact that we can exploit the result of [70] right from the beginning of this manuscript. The major drawback is that, in this note, we take [70] as a black box, and, without doing so, it would have been possible to prove a slightly weaker (in the sense that at $|D\chi_E|$ -a.e. point the tangent is Euclidean, but possibly of not constant dimension) version of Theorem 3.2.21, in a self-contained way. Nevertheless, to obtain the constancy of dimension of the tangents as in Theorem 3.2.21, [70] seems necessary ([50]), and this is the reason why we decided to follow this approach. It is worth spending some lines about the technique of [10]. The authors proved that, for an RCD(0, N) space (X, d, m), if there exists a Lipschitz and bounded function f satisfying equality in (2.3.16) for some s > 0, i.e.

$$|\nabla \mathbf{h}_s f| = \mathbf{h}_s |\nabla f| \qquad \text{m-a.e.} \tag{3.6.1}$$

then the space splits a line, isometrically, and f, read in the split space, depends only on the real variable, in a monotone way. It was indeed shown that the flow trajectories of the vector field $\frac{\nabla h_s f}{|\nabla h_s f|}$ are lines and provide a splitting of the space, [81]. It was then shown that, if $E \subseteq X$ is a set of finite

perimeter, then, for $|D\chi_E|$ -a.e. $x \in X$, for any $(X_{\infty}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}, \mathsf{m}_{\infty}, x_{\infty}, E_{\infty}) \in \operatorname{Tan}_x(\mathsf{X}, \mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}, E)$, for any $t > 0, f := \mathsf{h}_t^{\mathsf{X}_{\infty}}(\chi_{E_{\infty}})$ satisfies (3.6.1). Hence, tangents at such points split a line, and an iterated application of Preiss' iterated tangents principle provides us the with existence, almost everywhere with respect to the perimeter measure, of Euclidean tangents. Later on, in [51], this conclusion has been sharpened, but still taking the above discussion as starting point, using techniques of geometric analysis: almost everywhere with respect to the perimeter measure, the tangent to a set of finite perimeter is unique and Euclidean of a certain (possibly not constant) dimension.

Definition 3.3.1 is taken from [10], here we introduce also the requirement of the conclusions of Proposition 2.3.3 (which is equivalent, up to a set which is negligible with respect to the perimeter, by Proposition 2.3.3).

Theorem 3.4.1 was first proved in [51]. We remark (see [32, Appendix A]) that Theorem 3.2.21 is already enough to establish rectifiability, by [37]. However, we give a more direct proof, following [51], as we will also need more information about the maps providing rectifiability. Compared to [51], we give a slightly different proof of the rectifiability statement, as we use Lemma 3.4.2 instead of [51, Proposition 4.7]. The argument used is the same, i.e. blow-up, but here we manage to avoid the introduction of "bad sets" with small Hausdorff content. The precise statement of Lemma 3.4.2 appears here for the first time and simplifies the proof of Theorem 6.1.2, with respect to [32]. Proposition 3.4.3 is taken from [43] and will be used in the proof of Theorem 4.3.6.

For what concerns Theorem 3.5.1, equation (3.5.1) is proved in [10], whereas (3.5.2) is proved in [32] (in [10], for what concerns non-collapsed RCD spaces).

Chapter 4

Distributional differential of BV functions

In this chapter we give a definition of "distributional differential" for vector valued functions of bounded variation on RCD spaces, and we study the properties that this newly defined object satisfies.

4.1 Existence and basic notions

Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space and let $f \in \operatorname{BV}(X)^m$. Recall that (2.3.9) states that $|\mathrm{D}f| \ll$ Cap, so that we have, by Theorem 2.2.22, the module $L^p_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(TX)$. In view of the following theorem, recall also that the interpretation of the integral in (4.1.1) is given by Remark 2.3.6. The proof of Theorem 4.1.1 relies on the strategy developed in [51] in the case in which f is a simple function, and on suitable arguments to extend the result to the general case.

Theorem 4.1.1. Let (X, d, m) be an $\text{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space and let $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_m) \in \text{BV}(X)^m$. Then there exists a unique vector field $\nu_f \in L^{\infty}_{|\text{D}f|}(T^mX)$ such that it holds

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int f_i \operatorname{div} v_i = -\int v \cdot \nu_f \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \qquad \text{for every } v = (v_1, \dots, v_m) \in (\mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\operatorname{div}))^m.$$
(4.1.1)

Moreover, $|\nu_f| = 1 |Df|$ -a.e.

Proof. We divide the proof in several steps.

Step 1. We show that if $f \in BV(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$, then there exists a unique $\nu_f \in L^{\infty}_{|Df|}(TX)$ such that

$$\int f \operatorname{div} v = -\int v \cdot \nu_f \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \qquad \text{for every } v \in H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{C}}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\operatorname{div}) \cap L^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}), \tag{4.1.2}$$

and moreover $|\nu_f| = 1 |Df|$ -a.e. This can be proved following *verbatim* the proof of [51, Theorem 2.2]. Notice that in [51] the assumption that the dimension was finite could have been dropped taking into account Theorem 2.3.7 and Proposition 2.3.17.

Step 2. Under the same assumptions of **Step 1**, we show that (4.1.2) holds for every $v \in \mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\operatorname{div})$. Fix then $v \in \mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\operatorname{div})$. By an easy cut-off argument, there is no loss of generality in assuming that v has bounded support. We take a sequence $t_k \searrow 0$, then

we define $v_k := \psi e^{Kt_k} h_{\mathrm{H},t_k} v$, where $\psi \in \mathrm{LIP}_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{X})$ (say $\mathrm{supp} \, \psi \in B$ for some ball B) is a cut-off function that is identically 1 on a neighbourhood of $\mathrm{supp} \, v$. Now notice that the equality in (4.1.2) holds for v_k and that, as $\mathrm{div} \, v_k \to \mathrm{div} \, v$ in $L^2(\mathsf{m})$, it suffices to check that $v_k \to v$ in $L^0_{\mathrm{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$, then dominated convergence together with the theory developed in [69] implies the conclusion.

We thus have to show that $v_k \to v$ in in $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$. We can assume with no loss of generality that $|v| \leq 1$ m-a.e. so that also $|v_k| \leq 1$ m-a.e. for every k. As $v \in \mathcal{QC}(T\mathsf{X})$, we can take a sequence $\{w_l\}_l \subseteq \text{TestV}(\mathsf{X})$ such that $w_l \to v$ in $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$, supp $w_l \in B$ and $|w_l| \leq 1$ m-a.e.

We claim that

$$w_{l,k} := \psi e^{Kt_k} \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{H},t_k} w_l \to \psi e^{Kt_k} \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{H},t_k} v = v_k \text{ uniformly in } k \quad \text{in } L^0_{\mathrm{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X}) \text{ as } l \to \infty.$$
(4.1.3)

Fix for the moment $\varepsilon > 0$. As $w_l \to v$ in $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ and the fact that all these vector fields have uniformly bounded support, we can take functions $\{g_l\}_l \subseteq H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ such that $\|g_l\|_{H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})} \to 0$, $g_l(x) \in [0,1]$ for m-a.e. x and $\{|w_l - v| > \varepsilon\}$ is contained in the interior of $\{g_l \ge 1\}$. Therefore, taking into account that

$$\begin{aligned} |w_{l,k} - v_k| &\leq \chi_B \left(e^{Kt_k} |\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{H},t_k} \left((w_l - v) \chi_{\{|w_l - v| > \varepsilon\}} \right) | + e^{Kt_k} |\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{H},t_k} \left((w_l - v) \chi_{\{|w_l - v| \le \varepsilon\}} \right) | \right) \\ &\leq \chi_B \left(\mathbf{h}_{t_k} (|(w_l - v) \chi_{\{|w_l - v| > \varepsilon\}} |) + \mathbf{h}_{t_k} (|(w_l - v) \chi_{\{|w_l - v| \le \varepsilon\}} |) \right) \leq 2\chi_B \mathbf{h}_{t_k} g_l + 2\varepsilon \end{aligned}$$

and that

 $\|\mathbf{h}_{t_k}g_l\|_{H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})} \le \|g_l\|_{H^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})} \to 0 \text{ uniformly in } k \qquad \text{as } l \to \infty,$

it follows that, uniformly in k,

$$\limsup_{l} \operatorname{Cap}\left\{ |w_{l,k} - v^k| > 4\varepsilon \right\} \le \limsup_{l} \operatorname{Cap}\left(B \cap \{|\mathbf{h}_{t_k}g_l| > \varepsilon\}\right) = 0$$

and hence (4.1.3) follows.

Now we can conclude easily, noticing that

$$\mathsf{d}_{L^{0}_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})}(v_{k},v) \le \mathsf{d}_{L^{0}_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})}(v_{k},w_{l,k}) + \mathsf{d}_{L^{0}_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})}(w_{l,k},w_{l}) + \mathsf{d}_{L^{0}_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})}(w_{l},v)$$

as we can first take l large enough to estimate the first and last summand (uniformly in k) and then let $k \to \infty$, recalling that as $w_{l,k} \to w_l$ in $H^{1,2}_{\mathrm{H}}(T\mathsf{X})$, $w_{l,k} \to w_l$ in $L^0_{\mathrm{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$.

Step 3. We drop the $L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$ bound assumption on f made in **Step 1**. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, define

$$f_k := (f \lor k) \land (k+1) - (k + \chi_{\{k < 0\}}(k)).$$

Notice that for every $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, $|Df_k| \leq |Df|$ and, by **Step 1**, there exists $\nu_{f_k} \in L^2_{|Df_k|}(TX)$ with $|\nu_{f_k}| = 1 |Df_k|$ -a.e. and such that

$$\int f_k \operatorname{div} v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = -\int v \cdot \nu_{f_k} \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f_k| \qquad \text{for every } v \in \mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\operatorname{div}). \tag{4.1.4}$$

If we consider ν_{f_k} as an element of $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$, we have that $\bar{\pi}_f(\nu_{f_k})\frac{d|Df_k|}{d|Df|}$ is well defined. Now notice that by coarea it holds $|Df| = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |Df_k|$. Then, as

$$\left\| \bar{\pi}_f(\nu_{f_k}) \frac{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f_k|}{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f|} \right\|_{L^2_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(T\mathsf{X})} \le |\mathrm{D}f_k|(\mathsf{X}),$$

4.1. EXISTENCE AND BASIC NOTIONS

and by the completeness of $L^2_{|Df|}(TX)$, we see that

$$\nu_f := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \bar{\pi}_f(\nu_{f_k}) \frac{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f_k|}{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f|}$$

is a well defined element of $L^2_{|Df|}(TX)$ that satisfies $|\nu_f| \leq 1 |Df|$ -a.e.

Let now $v \in \mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(TX) \cap D(\operatorname{div})$. We prove the integration by parts formula (4.1.2) for f and v. Using (4.1.4) we have,

$$\lim_{l} \int \sum_{k=-l}^{l-1} f_k \operatorname{div} v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = -\lim_{l} \int v \cdot \sum_{k=-l}^{l-1} \bar{\pi}_f(\nu_{f_k}) \frac{\mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f_k|}{\mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f|} \, \mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f| = -\int v \cdot \nu_f \, \mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f| \, .$$

Now we can show that $|\nu_f| \ge 1$ |Df|-a.e. arguing as in the proof of [51, Theorem 2.2]. Finally, uniqueness of ν_f follows from Lemma 2.2.23. All in all, we have proved the theorem in the case m = 1.

Step 4. We treat the case m > 1. Notice that |Df| is a finite measure such that

 $|\mathbf{D}f| \le |\mathbf{D}f_1| + \dots + |\mathbf{D}f_m| \ll \operatorname{Cap}.$

Also, taking into account that $|Df_i| \leq |Df|$, we can write, thanks to Radon–Nikodym Theorem,

$$|\mathbf{D}f_i| = g_i |\mathbf{D}f|$$
 for every $i = 1, \dots, m$,

where $g_i \in L^{\infty}(|\mathbf{D}f|)$. Then for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$ we can set

$$\nu_i := g_i \bar{\pi}_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(\nu_{f_i}) \in L^2_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(T\mathsf{X})$$

where we are considering ν_{f_i} as a element of $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$. Notice that as ν_{f_i} is well defined $|\mathsf{D}f_i|$ -a.e. ν_i is well defined and that $|\nu_i| = |g_i| |\mathsf{D}f|$ -a.e. We set $\nu_f := (\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_m) \in \mathrm{L}^2_{|\mathsf{D}f|}(T^m\mathsf{X})$ and clearly (4.1.1) is satisfied.

As uniqueness of such ν_f follows from uniqueness in the unidimensional case, to conclude it remains only to show that

$$|\nu_f| = 1$$
 |Df|-a.e.

By Lemma 2.2.23, take a sequence $\{w^k = (w_1^k, \dots, w_m^k)\} \subseteq \text{TestV}(\mathsf{X})^m$ such that $w_k \to \chi_{\{|\nu_f|>0\}} \frac{\nu_f}{|\nu_f|}$ in $\mathrm{L}^2_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(T^m\mathsf{X})$. Then define $\{v^k\}_k \subseteq \mathrm{TestV}(\mathsf{X})^m$ as

$$v^k := \frac{1}{1 \vee |w^k|} w^k.$$

Notice that still $v^k \to \chi_{\{|\nu_f|>0\}} \frac{\nu_f}{|\nu_f|}$ and moreover $|v^k| \leq 1$ m-a.e. Let $A \subseteq \mathsf{X}$ open and take a sequence $\{\psi_k\}_k \subseteq \mathrm{LIP}_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{X})$ such that $\psi_k(x) \in [0,1]$ for every $x \in \mathsf{X}$, $\mathrm{supp} \, \psi_k \subseteq A$ and $\psi_k(x) \nearrow 1$ for every $x \in A$. By Proposition 2.3.18 and (4.1.1) we can compute

$$|\mathrm{D}F|(A) \ge -\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int f_i \mathrm{div}(\psi_k v_i^k) \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \int \psi_k v^k \cdot \nu_f \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \to \int_A |\nu_F| \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \,,$$

and this shows that $|\nu_f| \leq 1 |Df|$ -a.e. Now notice that Proposition 2.3.18 and (4.1.1) imply that

$$\int |\nu_f| \, \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}f| \ge 1$$

so that we conclude.

77

It is clear that the map $\mathrm{BV}(\mathsf{X})^m \ni f \mapsto \nu_f$ is local, in the sense that if A is an open set and $f, g \in \mathrm{BV}(\mathsf{X})^m$ are such that f = g m-a.e. on A, then $|\mathrm{D}f| = |\mathrm{D}g|$ on A and moreover $\nu_f = \nu_g |\mathrm{D}f|$ -a.e. on A. We can therefore extend the definition of ν . to $\mathrm{BV}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathsf{X})^m$ and it easily follows that (4.1.1) holds even for $f \in \mathrm{BV}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathsf{X})^m$ as soon as we consider vector fields v with compact support. In particular, we can associate to every set of locally finite perimeter E the vector field $\nu_E := \nu_{\chi_E}$. Notice that $\nu_{-f} = -\nu_f$ and that $\nu_{\mathsf{X}\setminus E} = -\nu_E$, again by (4.1.1),

Of course, the *i*-th element of the polar vector of (f_1, \ldots, f_m) is linked to the polar vector of f_i . This is the content of the following trivial remark.

Remark 4.1.2. Let $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_m) \in BV_{loc}(\mathsf{X})^m$. Then,

$$(\nu_f)_i = \frac{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f_i|}{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f|} \nu_{f_i} \qquad |\mathrm{D}f|\text{-a.e. for every } i = 1, \dots, m,$$
(4.1.5)

which is an immediate consequence of (4.1.1) (or of the construction of ν_f).

We are not going to use the following remark in the sequel, but we believe that it is interesting as it provides us with an optimal density result.

Remark 4.1.3. We show that if $F \in BV(X)^m$, then there exists a sequence

$$\{v^k = (v_1^k, \dots, v_m^k)\}_k \subseteq \mathcal{W}^m$$

where

$$\mathcal{W}^{m} := \left\{ v = (v_{1}, \dots, v_{m}) \in H_{\mathrm{H}}^{1,2}(T\mathsf{X})^{m} : |v| \le 1 \text{ m-a.e. div } v_{i} \in L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m}) \text{ for every } i = 1, \dots, m \right\}$$

such that $v^k \to \nu_f$ in $L^2_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(T^m\mathsf{X})$.

Indeed, we can modify the proof of Proposition 2.3.18 (see in particular its **Step 3**), replacing TestV(X)^m with \mathcal{W}^m in (2.3.18) and then it is enough to take a sequence $\{v^k = (v_1^k, \ldots, v_m^k)\}_k \subseteq \mathcal{W}^m$ such that (with the usual interpretation for the integral)

$$\sum_{i=1}^m \int f_i \operatorname{div} v_i^k \operatorname{dm} \to -|\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X})$$

and compute

$$\begin{split} \int |v^k - \nu_f|^2 \,\mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f| &= \int |v^k|^2 \,\mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f| + \int |\nu_f|^2 \,\mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f| - 2\int v^k \cdot \nu_F \,\mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f| \\ &\leq 2|\mathbf{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^m \int f_i \mathrm{div} \, v_i^k \,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} \to 0, \end{split}$$

where in the last inequality we used (4.1.1). Notice that this argument works only to approximate ν_f , and the difficulty in approximating other elements of $L^2_{|Df|}(T^m X)$ lies in the request of essentially bounded divergence coupled with the request $|v| \leq 1$ m-a.e.

4.1.1 Formal interpretation

In this manuscript, we will need to do some algebraic manipulation of the abstract object $\nu_f |Df|$, especially when dealing with fine properties and calculus rules for functions of bounded variation. We introduce now a formal framework to denote the distributional differential of functions of bounded variation that will allow us to proceed.

4.1. EXISTENCE AND BASIC NOTIONS

Definition 4.1.4. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space. Let $\nu \in L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T^m X)$ and let μ be a finite measure with $\mu \ll \operatorname{Cap}$. We write $\nu \mu$ to denote the linear operator that acts on $L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T^m X)$ as follows:

$$\nu\mu(B)(v) := \int_{B} v \cdot \nu \,\mathrm{d}\mu \quad \text{for every } v \in L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T^{m}\mathsf{X}) \text{ and } B \subseteq \mathsf{X} \text{ Borel}$$

We also consider the restriction operator: if $C \subseteq X$ is Borel,

$$((\nu\mu) \sqcup C)(B)(v) := \int_{B \cap C} v \cdot \nu \, \mathrm{d}\mu \qquad \text{for every } v \in L^{\infty}_{\mathrm{Cap}}(T^m \mathsf{X}) \text{ and } B \subseteq \mathsf{X} \text{ Borel},$$

in other words, $(\nu\mu) \sqcup C = \nu(\mu \sqcup C)$, so that we will not write the unnecessary brackets.

Given $\nu_1\mu_1$ and $\nu_2\mu_2$, we write $\nu_1\mu_1 = \nu_2\mu_2$ if and only if

$$\nu_1 \mu_2(\mathsf{X})(v) = \nu_1 \mu_2(\mathsf{X})(v) \quad \text{for every } v \in L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T^m \mathsf{X}).$$
(4.1.6)

Remark 4.1.5. Notice that the expression $\nu\mu$ makes sense even if the vector field ν is defined only μ -a.e. as well as $\mu\nu \sqcup C$ makes sense even if C is only μ -measurable. We will exploit this fact throughout.

Also, we have that (4.1.6) holds if and only if

$$\nu_1\mu_1(\mathsf{X})(v) = \nu_2\mu_2(\mathsf{X})(v)$$
 for every $v \in \mathrm{TestV}(\mathsf{X})^m$.

This is a standard consequence of Lemma 2.2.23. If this is the case, then $\mu := |\nu_1|\mu_1 = |\nu_2|\mu_2$ and $\frac{\nu_1}{|\mu_1|} = \frac{\nu_2}{|\mu_2|} \mu$ -a.e.

We define now some formal algebraic operations for objects of the kind $\nu\mu$.

Definition 4.1.6. Let (X, d, m) be an $RCD(K, \infty)$ space.

i) Let $\nu \in L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T^m \mathsf{X})$ and let μ be a finite measure with $\mu \ll \operatorname{Cap}$. Let moreover $\varphi : \mathsf{X} \to \mathbb{R}^{l \times m}$ be a μ -measurable function. We define $\varphi(\nu \mu) := (\varphi \nu) \mu$, where

$$(\varphi\nu)_j := \sum_{i=1}^m \varphi_{j,i}\nu_i \qquad j = 1,\dots,l.$$

Notice that

$$(\varphi \nu \mu)(\mathsf{X})(v) = \int \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_j \cdot \varphi_{j,i} \nu_i \,\mathrm{d}\mu$$

for every $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m) \in L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T^m \mathsf{X}).$

ii) Let $\nu_1, \nu_2 \in L^{\infty}_{\text{Cap}}(T^m \mathsf{X})$ and let μ_1, μ_2 be two finite measures with $\mu_1 \ll \text{Cap}, \mu_2 \ll \text{Cap}$. We define $\nu_1 \mu_1 + \nu_2 \mu_2$ as sum of linear operators, in the sense that

$$(\nu_1\mu_1 + \nu_2\mu_2)(\mathsf{X})(v) = \int v \cdot \nu_1 \,\mathrm{d}\mu_1 + \int v \cdot \nu_2 \,\mathrm{d}\mu_2 \,.$$

Notice that, if we define $\mu := \mu_1 + \mu_2$, then

$$\nu_1\mu_1 + \nu_2\mu_2 = \left(\nu_1\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu_1}{\mathrm{d}\mu} + \nu_2\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu_2}{\mathrm{d}\mu}\right)\mu_2$$

We then specialize this language to distributional differentials of functions of bounded variation, and read the characterization of the distributional differential in these terms.

Definition 4.1.7. Let (X, d, m) be an $RCD(K, \infty)$ space and $f \in BV(X)^m$. We define

$$\mathrm{D}f := \nu_f |\mathrm{D}f|,$$

according to Definition 4.1.4 and we call this object the distributional differential of f.

Remark 4.1.8. Let $f \in BV(X)^m$. Then (4.1.1) reads

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int f_i \operatorname{div} v_i = -\mathrm{D}f(\mathsf{X})(v) \quad \text{for every } v = (v_1, \dots, v_m) \in (\mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\operatorname{div}))^m.$$

Also, if $\mu\nu$ is as in Definition 4.1.4 and satisfies

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int f_i \operatorname{div} v_i = -\mu \nu(\mathsf{X})(v) \quad \text{for every } v = (v_1, \dots, v_f) \in \operatorname{TestV}(\mathsf{X})^m,$$

then $DF = \nu \mu$.

Finally, it is clear that the map $BV(X)^m \ni f \mapsto Df$ is linear.

4.2 Fine properties

Having at our disposal an object that represents the distributional differential of a function of bounded variation as well as a language to deal with such objects, we start investigating some properties. The following lemma, despite being simple, is of crucial importance for the development of the theory and will be used several times. It relates the normal of the superlevel sets of a BV function with the polar vector of the function, according to the principle that for smooth maps reads as "the gradient of the function is normal to the level sets".

Lemma 4.2.1. Let (X, d, m) be an $RCD(K, \infty)$ space and let $f \in BV(X)$. Then

$$\nu_{\{f>t\}} = \bar{\pi}_{|D\chi_{\{f>t\}}|}(\nu_f) \in L^2_{|D\chi_{\{f>t\}}|}(T\mathsf{X}) \qquad for \ \mathcal{L}^1\text{-}a.e. \ t \in \mathbb{R},$$

where we took a Cap-representative of ν_f .

Proof. Notice first that the coarea formula implies that the claim of this lemma is well posed and that $|\bar{\pi}_{|D\chi_{\{f>t\}}|}(\nu_f)| = 1 |D\chi_{\{f>t\}}|$ -a.e. for \mathcal{L}^1 -a.e. $t \in \mathbb{R}$. By Cavalieri's integration formula and using twice (4.1.1),

$$\int v \cdot \nu_{f} \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \int v \cdot \nu_{\{f>t\}} \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}}| \, \mathrm{d}t - \int_{-\infty}^{0} \int v \cdot \nu_{\{f

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int v \cdot \nu_{\{f>t\}} \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}}| \, \mathrm{d}t$$
(4.2.1)$$

for every $v \in \text{TestV}(X)$ with bounded support.

4.2. FINE PROPERTIES

By Lemma 2.2.23 and a cut-off argument, we have a sequence $\{v_k\}_k \subseteq \text{TestV}(X)$ with bounded support such that $v_k \to \nu_f$ in $L^2_{|Df|}(TX)$, so that, using the coarea formula in (2.3.3),

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int \nu_{f} \cdot \nu_{\{f>t\}} \, \mathrm{d} \big| \mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}} \big| \, \mathrm{d}t - \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int v_{k} \cdot \nu_{\{f>t\}} \, \mathrm{d} \big| \mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}} \big| \, \mathrm{d}t \\ & \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int |\nu_{f} - v_{k}| \, \mathrm{d} \big| \mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}} \big| \, \mathrm{d}t = \int |\nu_{f} - v_{k}| \, \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}f| \to 0, \end{split}$$

where we implicitly took the projection of ν_f on $L^2_{|DX_{\{f>t\}}|}(TX)$. We can then compute, using the coarea formula and (4.2.1),

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int |\nu_{\{f>t\}} - \nu_{f}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d} \big| \mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}} \big| \, \mathrm{d}t &= 2|\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) - 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int \nu_{f} \cdot \nu_{\{f>t\}} \, \mathrm{d} \big| \mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}} \big| \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= 2|\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) - 2\lim_{k} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int v_{k} \cdot \nu_{\{f>t\}} \, \mathrm{d} \big| \mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}} \big| \, \mathrm{d}t = 2|\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) - 2\lim_{k} \int v_{k} \cdot \nu_{f} \, \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}f| = 0, \end{split}$$

which yields the conclusion, by the coarea formula again.

The next lemma is a rigidity property of the triangle inequality for total variations.

Lemma 4.2.2. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space and $f, f_1, f_2 \in \operatorname{BV}(X)$ such that $f = f_1 + f_2$ and $|\mathrm{D}f| = |\mathrm{D}f_1| + |\mathrm{D}f_2|$. Then

$$\begin{split} \nu_f &= \nu_{f_i} \qquad |\mathrm{D}f_i|\text{-}a.e. \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \\ \nu_{f_1} &= \nu_{f_2} \qquad |\mathrm{D}f_1| \wedge |\mathrm{D}f_2|\text{-}a.e. \end{split}$$

Proof. By Lemma 2.2.23, we have a sequence $\{v_k\}_k \subseteq \text{TestV}(\mathsf{X})$ such that $v_k \to \nu_f$ in $L^2_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(T\mathsf{X})$. In particular,

$$|\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) = \lim_{k} \int v_k \cdot \nu_f \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f|$$

Thanks to the hypothesis $|\mathbf{D}f| = |\mathbf{D}f_1| + |\mathbf{D}f_2|$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_{k} - \nu_{f_{1}}\|_{L^{2}_{|\mathrm{D}f_{1}|}(T\mathsf{X})}^{2} + \|v_{k} - \nu_{f_{2}}\|_{L^{2}_{|\mathrm{D}f_{2}|}(T\mathsf{X})}^{2} \\ &= \|\nu_{f_{1}}\|_{L^{2}_{|\mathrm{D}f_{1}|}(T\mathsf{X})}^{2} + \|\nu_{f_{2}}\|_{L^{2}_{|\mathrm{D}f_{2}|}(T\mathsf{X})}^{2} + \|v_{k}\|_{L^{2}_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(T\mathsf{X})}^{2} \\ &- 2\int v_{k} \cdot \nu_{f_{1}} \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f_{1}| - 2\int v_{k} \cdot \nu_{f_{2}} \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f_{2}| \\ &= |\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) + \|v_{k}\|_{L^{2}_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(T\mathsf{X})}^{2} - 2\int v_{k} \cdot \nu_{f} \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \end{aligned}$$

where in the last equality we used also the linearity of the map $f \mapsto Df$. It follows

$$\lim_{k} \left(\|v_{k} - \nu_{f_{1}}\|_{L^{2}_{|\mathrm{D}f_{1}|}(T\mathsf{X})}^{2} + \|v_{k} - \nu_{f_{2}}\|_{L^{2}_{|\mathrm{D}f_{2}|}(T\mathsf{X})}^{2} \right) = 0.$$

We conclude as we have proved $v_k \to \nu_f$ in $L^2_{|Df|}(T\mathsf{X})$ and $v_k \to \nu_{f_i}$ in $L^2_{|Df_i|}(T\mathsf{X})$ for i = 1, 2. \Box

Now, we begin by investigating the fine properties (and calculus rules for) BV functions. We have our results only in the setting of *finite dimensional* RCD spaces. The reason is that we need the interplay between total variations and 1-codimensional spherical Hausdorff measure \mathcal{H}^h given by (2.3.7), which is available only in the finite dimensional setting.

Now we state a transversality lemma, which is a consequence of Lemma 4.2.2 in the case of χ_E, χ_F , for $E \subseteq F$. The adjective "transversality" is due to the following reason: it states that it two hypersurfaces meet at many points, then they have the same normal vector at the intersection.

Lemma 4.2.3. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $E, F \subseteq X$ be two sets of locally finite perimeter. Then

$$\nu_E = \pm \nu_F \qquad \mathcal{H}^h \text{-}a.e. \text{ in } \partial^* E \cap \partial^* F. \tag{4.2.2}$$

More precisely, there exist two sets $N^+, N^- \subseteq \partial^* E \cap \partial^* F$ with $\mathcal{H}^h((\partial^* E \cap \partial^* F) \setminus (N^+ \cup N^-)) = 0$ such that the following holds: for every $x \in N^+$ (resp. N^-) the set $E\Delta F$ has density 0 (resp. 1) at x and (4.2.2) holds \mathcal{H}^h -a.e. in N^+ (resp. N^-) with the + (resp. -) sign.

Notice that (3.5.1) implies that (4.2.2) is well defined.

Proof. By a standard reduction, we can treat only the case in which E and F have finite perimeter and finite measure.

First assume $E \subseteq F$. Notice that coarea shows that $f_1 = \chi_E$ and $f_2 = \chi_F$ satisfy the assumptions of Lemma 4.2.2. Indeed,

$$|\mathbf{D}(\chi_E + \chi_F)|(\mathbf{X}) = \int |\mathbf{D}\chi_{\{\chi_E + \chi_F > t\}}|(\mathbf{X})dt = \int_0^1 |\mathbf{D}\chi_F|(\mathbf{X})dt + \int_1^2 |\mathbf{D}\chi_E|(\mathbf{X})dt$$
$$= |\mathbf{D}\chi_E|(\mathbf{X}) + |\mathbf{D}\chi_F)|(\mathbf{X}),$$

where we used that $E \subseteq F$. Therefore, by Lemma 4.2.2, recalling also (3.5.1),

$$\nu_E = \nu_F$$
 \mathcal{H}^h -a.e. in $\partial^* E \cap \partial^* F$.

Assume now $E \cap F = \emptyset$. Using the same arguments as above (with $f_1 = \chi_E$ and $f_2 = -\chi_F$, notice that $\nu_{-\chi_F} = -\nu_F$),

$$\nu_E = -\nu_F \qquad \mathcal{H}^h$$
-a.e. in $\partial^* E \cap \partial^* F$.

Thanks to Remark 3.3.3 (recall (3.5.6)), we may consider only the set of points at which the sets E and F have density 1/2 and the sets $E \setminus F$, $F \setminus E$ and $E\Delta F$ have density in $\{0, 1/2, 1\}$. We easily show that $E\Delta F$ cannot have density 1/2 at such points. If $E\Delta F$ has density 0 at x, then $E \cap F$ has density 1/2 at x. We can use the first case treated above to compare first ν_E with $\nu_{E\cap F}$ and then ν_F with with $\nu_{E\cap F}$. If instead $E\Delta F$ has density 1 at x, both $E \setminus F$ and $F \setminus E$ have density 1/2 at x. We can use the first case treated above to compare first ν_E with $\nu_{E\cap F}$, then ν_F with $\nu_{F\setminus E}$ and conclude comparing $\nu_{E\setminus F}$ with $\nu_{F\setminus E}$, using the second case treated above.

In the following proposition, given a set of locally finite perimeter E, we denote by E^1 (resp. E^0) the set of interior (resp. exterior) points in the sense of geometric measure theory, namely the set of density 1 (resp. 0) points of E with respect to \mathbf{m} . Notice that $E^1 = \{\chi_E^{\wedge} = 1\}$ and $E^0 = \{\chi_E^{\vee} = 0\}$. Also, if F is another set of locally finite perimeter, we denote by

$$\{\nu_E = \pm \nu_F\} := \{x \in \partial^* E \cap \partial^* F : |\nu_E \mp \nu_F|(x) = 0\}$$

Notice that (3.5.1) implies that the sets above are well defined. The next result is a consequence of Lemma 4.2.3 and gives a finer description of the behaviour of the unit normals to two sets of locally finite perimeter.

4.2. FINE PROPERTIES

Proposition 4.2.4. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $E, F \subseteq X$ be two sets of locally finite perimeter. Then, up to \mathcal{H}^h -negligible sets,

$$\{\nu_E = \nu_F\} \cup \{\nu_E = -\nu_F\} = \partial^* E \cap \partial^* F,$$
$$\{\nu_E = \nu_F\} = \partial^* E \cap \partial^* F \cap (E\Delta F)^0,$$
$$\{\nu_E = -\nu_F\} = \partial^* E \cap \partial^* F \cap (E\Delta F)^1.$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{D}\chi_{E\cap F} &= \mathbf{D}\chi_E \,\sqcup \, (F^1 \cup (\{\nu_E = \nu_F\})) + \mathbf{D}\chi_F \,\sqcup \, E^1 = \mathbf{D}\chi_E \,\sqcup \, F^1 + \mathbf{D}\chi_F \,\sqcup \, (E^1 \cup \{\nu_E = \nu_F\}), \\ \mathbf{D}\chi_{E\cup F} &= \mathbf{D}\chi_E \,\sqcup \, (F^0 \cup \{\nu_E = \nu_F\}) + \mathbf{D}\chi_F \,\sqcup \, E^0 = \mathbf{D}\chi_E \,\sqcup \, F^0 + \mathbf{D}\chi_F \,\sqcup \, (E^0 \cup \{\nu_E = \nu_F\}), \\ \mathbf{D}\chi_{E\setminus F} &= \mathbf{D}\chi_E \,\sqcup \, (F^0 \cup \{\nu_E = -\nu_F\}) - \mathbf{D}\chi_F \,\sqcup \, E^1 = -\mathbf{D}\chi_E \,\sqcup \, F^1 + \mathbf{D}\chi_F \,\sqcup \, (E^0 \cup \{\nu_E = -\nu_F\}), \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} |\mathcal{D}\chi_{E\cap F}| &= |\mathcal{D}\chi_{E}| \, \sqcup \, (F^{1} \cup \{\nu_{E} = \nu_{F}\}) + |\mathcal{D}\chi_{F}| \, \sqcup E^{1} = |\mathcal{D}\chi_{E}| \, \sqcup F^{1} + |\mathcal{D}\chi_{F}| \, \sqcup \, (E^{1} \cup \{\nu_{E} = \nu_{F}\}), \\ |\mathcal{D}\chi_{E\cup F}| &= |\mathcal{D}\chi_{E}| \, \sqcup \, (F^{0} \cup \{\nu_{E} = \nu_{F}\}) + |\mathcal{D}\chi_{F}| \, \sqcup E^{0} = |\mathcal{D}\chi_{E}| \, \sqcup F^{0} + |\mathcal{D}\chi_{F}| \, \sqcup \, (E^{0} \cup \{\nu_{E} = \nu_{F}\}), \\ |\mathcal{D}\chi_{E\setminus F}| &= |\mathcal{D}\chi_{E}| \, \sqcup \, (F^{0} \cup \{\nu_{E} = -\nu_{F}\}) - |\mathcal{D}\chi_{F}| \, \sqcup E^{1} \\ &= -|\mathcal{D}\chi_{E}| \, \sqcup F^{1} + |\mathcal{D}\chi_{F}| \, \sqcup \, (E^{0} \cup \{\nu_{E} = -\nu_{F}\}). \end{split}$$

Proof. The first three equalities are a restatement of Lemma 4.2.3.

Thanks to Remark 3.3.3, we can prove the other equalities on the set of points at which the densities of the sets of locally finite perimeter $E, F, E \cap F, E \cup F, E \setminus F$ are in $\{0, 1/2, 1\}$. Also, recall that (3.5.6) holds for all the sets involved.

We first prove

$$D\chi_{E\cap F} = D\chi_E \, \sqcup \, (F^1 \cup \{\nu_E = \nu_F\}) + D\chi_F \, \sqcup \, E^1.$$

$$(4.2.3)$$

Notice that $(E \cap F)^1 \subseteq E^1 \cap F^1$, hence both sides of (4.2.3) vanish on $(E \cap F)^1$. Also, up to \mathcal{H}^h -negligible sets, $(E \cap F)^0 \subseteq E^0 \cup F^0 \cup \{\nu_E = -\nu_F\}$, by Lemma 4.2.3, hence both sides of (4.2.3) vanish on $(E \cap F)^0$. Now,

$$\partial^*(E \cap F) = (\partial^*E \cap F^1) \cup (\partial^*F \cap E^1) \cap (\partial^*E \cap \partial^*F \cap \partial^*(E \cap F)),$$

up to \mathcal{H}^{h} -negligible sets. We can conclude that (4.2.3) is satisfied on $\partial^{*}(E \cap F)$, as by Lemma 4.2.3, $\nu_{E \cap F} = \nu_{E} \mathcal{H}^{h}$ -a.e. on $\partial^{*}(E \cap F) \cap \partial^{*}E$, $\nu_{E \cap F} = \nu_{F} \mathcal{H}^{h}$ -a.e. on $\partial^{*}(E \cap F) \cap \partial^{*}F$ and finally $(\partial^{*}E \cap \partial^{*}F) \cap \partial^{*}(E \cap F) = \{\nu_{E} = \nu_{F}\}$, up to \mathcal{H}^{h} -negligible sets.

Now, through algebraic manipulations, using (4.2.3),

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{D}\chi_{E\cup F} &= \mathbf{D}\chi_{\mathbf{X}\setminus((\mathbf{X}\setminus E)\cap(\mathbf{X}\setminus F))} = -\mathbf{D}\chi_{(\mathbf{X}\setminus E)\cap(\mathbf{X}\setminus F)} \\ &= -\mathbf{D}\chi_{\mathbf{X}\setminus E} \sqcup ((\mathbf{X}\setminus F)^1 \cup \{\nu_{\mathbf{X}\setminus E} = \nu_{\mathbf{X}\setminus F}\}) - \mathbf{D}\chi_{\mathbf{X}\setminus F} \sqcup (\mathbf{X}\setminus E)^1 \\ &= \mathbf{D}\chi_E \sqcup (F^0 \cup \{\nu_E = \nu_F\}) + \mathbf{D}\chi_F \sqcup E^0. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly,

$$D\chi_{E\setminus F} = D\chi_{E\cap(\mathsf{X}\setminus F)} = D\chi_E \sqcup ((\mathsf{X}\setminus F)^1 \cup \{\nu_E = \nu_{\mathsf{X}\setminus F}\}) + D\chi_{\mathsf{X}\setminus F} \sqcup E^1$$
$$= D\chi_E \sqcup (F^0 \cup \{\nu_E = -\nu_F\}) - D\chi_F \sqcup E^1.$$

Finally, the remaining equalities in the second set of equalities are obtained by symmetry. Then, the equalities in the third set of equalities follow from Remark 4.1.5, as all the summands considered have pairwise disjoint support. $\hfill \Box$

We state a technical result which will be extremely useful in approximation arguments. Its proof is based on the Gaussian estimates of the heat kernel and a blow-up argument at jump points.

Lemma 4.2.5. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f \in BV(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$. Then

$$\lim_{s \searrow 0} h_s f(x) = \bar{f}(x) \qquad \mathcal{H}^h \text{-}a.e$$

Proof. In the sequel, let C denote a numerical constant depending only on the parameters entering into play (it may vary during the proof). We let n denote the essential dimension of the space. Thanks to (2.3.5), we can restrict ourselves to prove the claim for $x \in X$ such that $-\infty < f^{\wedge}(x) \le f^{\vee}(x) < +\infty$.

Step 1: case $x \in X \setminus S_f$. We can compute

$$\limsup_{s\searrow 0} \left| \mathbf{h}_{s^2} f(x) - \bar{f}(x) \right| \le \limsup_{s\searrow 0} \int p_{s^2}(x,y) \left| f(y) - \bar{f}(x) \right| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(y) \,.$$

Fix now a > 1. Using the Gaussian estimate for the heat kernel in (2.2.7)

$$\int_{B_{as}(x)} p_{s^2}(x,y) \left| f(y) - \bar{f}(x) \right| \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y) \le \frac{C}{\mathsf{m}(B_s(x))} \int_{B_{as}(x)} \left| f(y) - \bar{f}(x) \right| \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y)$$

and the right hand side converges to 0, because of the doubling inequality and the fact that points in $X \setminus S_f$ are Lebesgue points for f. Also, as $f \in L^{\infty}(m)$,

$$\int_{\mathsf{X}\setminus B_{as}(x)} p_{s^2}(x,y) \left| f(y) - \bar{f}(x) \right| \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y) \le C \int_{\mathsf{X}\setminus B_{as}(x)} p_{s^2}(x,y) \, \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y)$$

Using again the Gaussian estimates for the heat kernel in (2.2.7),

$$\begin{split} p_{s^2}(x,y) &\leq \frac{C}{\mathsf{m}(B_s(x))} \exp\left\{-\frac{\mathsf{d}(x,y)^2}{6s^2}\right\} \\ &\leq CH(x,y) \frac{1}{\mathsf{m}(B_{2s}(x))} \exp\left\{-\frac{\mathsf{d}(x,y)^2}{8s^2}\right\} \leq CH(x,y) p_{4s^2}(x,y), \end{split}$$

where, using the doubling inequality,

$$H(x,y) := \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{2s}(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_s(x))} \exp\left\{-\frac{\mathsf{d}(x,y)^2}{6s^2} + \frac{\mathsf{d}(x,y)^2}{8s^2}\right\} \le Ce^{-a^2/24} \qquad \text{if } \mathsf{d}(x,y) \ge as.$$

Therefore

$$\int_{\mathsf{X}\setminus B_{as}(x)} p_{s^2}(x,y) \,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y) \le C e^{-a^2/24} \int p_{4s^2}(x,y) \,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y) \le C e^{-a^2/24}. \tag{4.2.4}$$

Being a arbitrary, we conclude $\lim_{s \searrow 0} h_{s^2} f(x) = \overline{f}(x)$ if $x \notin S_f$.

Step 2: case $x \in S_f$. Let $D \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ a countable dense set such that if $t \in D$, then $E_t := \{f > t\}$ is a set of finite perimeter. This is possible thanks to coarea. Set, for every $t \in D$, N_t as the set of points of $\partial^* E_t$ where (3.2.18) fails. We know that $|D\chi_{E_t}|(N_t) = 0$, hence $\mathcal{H}^h(N_t) = 0$, by Remark 3.5.2. We set

$$N := \bigcup_{t \in D} N_t,$$

4.2. FINE PROPERTIES

notice $\mathcal{H}^h(N) = 0$. We show now $\lim_{s \searrow 0} h_{s^2} f(x) = \overline{f}(x)$ for every $x \in S_f \setminus N$. Fix $x \in S_f \setminus N$ and $t \in (f^{\wedge}(x), f^{\vee}(x)) \cap D$ so that $x \in \partial^* E_t$ be (2.3.6), so that, as $x \notin N_t$, x satisfies (3.2.18). Hence by Theorem 2.2.5 together with a sort of Fatou's Lemma and the convergence in L^1_{loc} of sets of finite perimeter, see e.g. the proof of [10, (4.13)],

$$\lim_{s \searrow 0} \mathbf{h}_{s^2}(\chi_{E_t})(x) = \mathbf{h}_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(\chi_{\{x_n > 0\}})(0) = 1/2,$$

so that

$$\lim_{s \searrow 0} \mathbf{h}_{s^2}(\chi_{\mathsf{X} \backslash E_t})(x) = 1/2.$$

We can then write

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{s\searrow 0} \left| \mathbf{h}_{s^2} f(x) - \bar{f}(x) \right| \\ &\leq \limsup_{s\searrow 0} \left| \mathbf{h}_{s^2} (\chi_{\mathbf{X}\setminus E_t} (f - f^{\wedge}(x))) \right| (x) + \limsup_{s\searrow 0} \left| \mathbf{h}_{s^2} (\chi_{E_t} (f - f^{\vee}(x))) \right| (x). \end{split}$$

It is enough then to show $\limsup_{s \searrow 0} |h_{s^2}(\chi_{E_t}(f - f^{\vee}(x)))|(x) = 0$ (the other term can be dealt similarly). We fix a > 1. We can compute

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathbf{h}_{s^{2}}(\chi_{E_{t}}(f - f^{\vee}(x))) \right|(x) &\leq \int_{E_{t}} p_{s^{2}}(x, y) \left| f(y) - f^{\vee}(x) \right| \mathrm{dm}(y) \\ &= \int_{E_{t} \cap B_{as}(x)} p_{s^{2}}(x, y) \left| f(y) - f^{\vee}(x) \right| \mathrm{dm}(y) \\ &+ \int_{\mathsf{X} \setminus B_{as}(x)} p_{s^{2}}(x, y) \left| f(y) - f^{\vee}(x) \right| \mathrm{dm}(y) \end{aligned}$$

The second term on the right hand side is bounded by $Ce^{-a^2/24}$, thanks to $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})$ and (4.2.4). As a is arbitrary, we conclude if we show that the first term converges to 0 as $s \searrow 0$. Using the Gaussian estimates for the heat kernel in (2.2.7) and the doubling inequality we estimate the first term by

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{s \searrow 0} & \int_{E_t \cap B_{as}(x)} p_{s^2}(x, y) \big| f(y) - f^{\vee}(x) \big| \operatorname{dm}(y) \\ & \leq \limsup_{s \searrow 0} \frac{C}{\mathsf{m}(B_{as}(x))} \int_{E_t \cap B_{as}(x)} \big| f(y) - f^{\vee}(x) \big| \operatorname{dm}(y) \,. \end{split}$$

Take now any $t_1 \in (t, f^{\vee}(x)) \cap D$ and $t_2 \in (f^{\vee}(x), \infty) \cap D$. We can split

$$B_{as}(x) \cap E_t = (B_{as}(x) \cap (E_t \setminus E_{t_1})) \cup (B_{as}(x) \cap (E_{t_1} \setminus E_{t_2})) \cup (B_{as}(x) \cap E_{t_2}).$$

Now by the very definition of $f^{\vee}(x)$, E_{t_2} has density 0 at x. Also, $E_t \setminus E_{t_1}$ has density 0 at x, as $E_{t_1} \subseteq E_t$ and both E_t and E_{t_1} have density 1/2 at x, as a consequence of $x \in \partial^* E_{t_1} \cap \partial^* E_t$ and $x \notin N$. Therefore, taking into account $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathsf{m})$, we are left with

$$\limsup_{s \searrow 0} \frac{C}{\mathsf{m}(B_{as}(x))} \int_{E_t \cap B_{as}(x)} |f(y) - f^{\vee}(x)| \, \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y)$$

=
$$\limsup_{s \searrow 0} \frac{C}{\mathsf{m}(B_{as}(x))} \int_{(E_{t_1} \setminus E_{t_2}) \cap B_{as}(x)} |f(y) - f^{\vee}(x)| \, \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y) \le C(t_2 - t_1).$$

We conclude as we can take $t_2, t_1 \to t$ by density of D in \mathbb{R} .

85

4.2.1 The jump set

The aim of this section is to investigate in detail the behaviour of a function of bounded variation on the jump set.

For the following definition, notice that the intersection with $\mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$ plays essentially no role, by Theorem 3.1.1.

Definition 4.2.6. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space of essential dimension n and let $f \in \operatorname{BV}(X)^m$. We set $J_f := S_f \cap \mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$, the *jump set*.

The following proposition goes towards the study of jump sets for vector valued functions of bounded variation (recall Definition 2.3.16). In particular, total variation and Hausdorff measures are mutually absolutely continuous on jump sets. Moreover, for a vector valued function of bounded variation, at almost every point in the jump set, every component of f contributing to the jump has the same polar vector, up to the sign. Notice that item *iii*) can be seen as a blow-up result for vector valued functions of bounded variation on the jump set. The main tool to prove Proposition 4.2.7 is the transversality Lemma 4.2.3.

Proposition 4.2.7. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n and let $f \in BV(X)^m$. Then

$$|\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup J_{f_i} \ll \mathcal{H}^h \sqcup J_{f_i} \ll \mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup J_{f_i} \ll |\mathbf{D}f_i| \sqcup J_{f_i} \qquad for \ every \ i = 1, \dots, m.$$
(4.2.5)

Moreover, there exist a pair of |Df|-measurable functions f^l , $f^r : X \to \mathbb{R}^m$ and a vector field $\nu_f^J \in L^{\infty}_{|Df|}(TX)$ such that

i) *it* holds

$$|\nu_f^J| = 1 \text{ and } f^r \neq f^l \qquad |\mathrm{D}f|\text{-a.e. on } J_f,$$

ii) for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$(f_i^r - f_i^l)\nu_f^J = (f_i^{\vee} - f_i^{\wedge})\nu_{f_i} \qquad |\mathbf{D}f| \text{-a.e.}$$
(4.2.6)

where we considered ν_f^J and ν_{f_i} as elements of $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$, set $\bar{f}(x) := \frac{f^r(x) + f^l(x)}{2}$,

iii) for |Df|-a.e. $x \in J_f$ there exists a set of finite perimeter E such that $x \in \mathcal{F}E$ and

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \oint_{B_r(x) \cap E} |f - f^r(x)| \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \oint_{B_r(x) \cap (\mathsf{X} \setminus E)} |f - f^l(x)| \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = 0, \tag{4.2.7}$$

iv) for |Df|-a.e. $x \in X \setminus J_f$, $\overline{f}(x) := f^l(x) = f^r(x)$ and

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \oint_{B_r(x)} \left| f - \bar{f}(x) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = 0.$$
(4.2.8)

Finally, if $\tilde{f}^l, \tilde{f}^r, \tilde{\nu}^J_f$ is another triplet as above, then $J_f = \tilde{J}^+_f \cup \tilde{J}^-_f$, with

$$(\tilde{f}^l, \tilde{f}^r) = \sigma_{\pm}(f^l, f^r) \text{ and } \tilde{\nu}_f^J = \pm \nu_f^J \qquad |\mathrm{D}f|\text{-a.e. on } \tilde{J}_f^{\pm}$$

(where $\sigma_+(a,b) = (a,b)$ and $\sigma_-(a,b) = (b,a)$) and

$$\tilde{f}^l = \tilde{f}^r = f^l = f^r \qquad |\mathrm{D}f|\text{-}a.e. \text{ on } \mathsf{X} \setminus J_f.$$

Proof. First notice that part of (4.2.5) follows from the coarea formula in (2.3.3) (see e.g. [28, Theorem 5.3]), recalling also that $|Df| \ll \mathcal{H}^h$. The remaining part of (4.2.5) is due to Remark 3.5.2 (as $J_{f_i} \subseteq \mathcal{R}^*_N(X)$ by definition). This shows also that (4.2.6) is well posed.

We recall that thanks to (2.3.5), f_i^{\vee} , f_i^{\wedge} , $\overline{f_i} \in \mathbb{R}$ for \mathcal{H}^h -a.e. $x \in \mathsf{X}$ and for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$. We set $f_i^l = f_i^r := \overline{f_i}$ if $x \notin J_{f_i}$. We define ν_f^J as an element of $L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$, then it is enough to take the projection $\overline{\pi}_{|\mathrm{D}f|}$ to obtain a vector field of $L^\infty_{|\mathrm{D}f|}(T\mathsf{X})$ as in the statement. We define f_i^l , f_i^r and ν_f^J iteratively. More precisely, we define $(f_1^r, f_1^l) = (f_1^{\vee}, f_1^{\wedge})$ on J_{f_1} and $\nu_f^J = \nu_{f_1}\chi_{J_{f_1}}$. At step k, let $G_k := \bigcup_{i=1}^{k-1} J_{f_i}$. We define $(f_k^r, f_k^l) = (f_k^{\vee}, f_k^{\wedge})$ on $J_{f_k} \setminus G_k$ and we add to ν_f^J the Cap vector field $\nu_{f_k}\chi_{J_{f_k}\setminus G_k}$. Now, Lemma 4.2.3 and the construction above imply that at \mathcal{H}^h -a.e. $x \in J_{f_k} \cap G_k$ it holds $\nu_{f_k} = \pm \nu_f^J$, whence (f_k^r, f_k^l) is uniquely defined on $J_{f_k} \cap G_k$ by the request ii).

Using Lemma 4.2.1 and standard considerations, we can find a countable dense subset of \mathbb{R} , $\{t_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$, such that for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$, we have

i) for every j, for

$$E_{i,j} := \{f_i > t_j\},\$$

 $E_{i,j}$ is a set of locally finite perimeter,

- ii) $J_{f_i} = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \partial^* E_{i,j},$
- iii) for every j

$$\nu_{E_{i,j}} = \bar{\pi}_{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{E_{i,j}}|}(\nu_{f_i})$$

We prove now (4.2.7). First, arguing as in the proof of [99, Theorem 3.5] and taking into account (2.3.5), we see that we can assume with no loss of generality that $f_i \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$. Up to discarding a \mathcal{H}^h -negligible set, we may restrict ourselves to the set of points of J_f at which the density of every set $E_{i,j}$ is in $\{0, 1/2, 1\}$, see e.g. Remark 3.3.3, Remark 3.5.2 and Corollary 3.3.2. Notice that if m = 1 and $x \in \partial^* E_{i,j}$, then (4.2.7) holds with either $E_{i,j}$ or $X \setminus E_{i,j}$ in place of E. This follows from a standard argument as the one used at the end of **Step 2** of the proof of Lemma 4.2.5. But then the same conclusion holds also if m > 1, up to \mathcal{H}^h -negligible subsets, by Lemma 4.2.3 (thanks to our choice of f^l and f^r). Finally, we can assume that $x \in \mathcal{F}E$ as $\mathcal{H}^h(\partial^* E_{i,j} \setminus \mathcal{F}E_{i,j}) = 0$. Also, [99, Theorem 3.5] proves (4.2.8).

We prove now uniqueness, in the sense explained at the end of the statement. On $X \setminus J_f$, this is clear, so let us focus on J_f . We just have to prove that at |DF|-a.e. $x \in J_f$, $(\tilde{f}^l(x), \tilde{f}^r(x))$ coincides, up to the order, with $(f^l(x), f^r(x))$, then we can use (4.2.6) to conclude. We can assume that at x there exist two sets of finite perimeter E, \tilde{E} with $x \in \mathcal{F}E \cap \mathcal{F}\tilde{E}$ and such that (4.2.7) holds and also the variant of (4.2.7) for $\tilde{f}^l(x), \tilde{f}^r(x), \tilde{E}$ holds. Now, notice that it holds that

$$0 < \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(E \cap B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} \le \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(E \cap \tilde{E} \cap B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} + \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(E \setminus \tilde{E} \cap B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}.$$

Therefore, either $0 < \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(E \cap \tilde{E} \cap B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}$ or $0 < \limsup_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(E \setminus \tilde{E} \cap B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}$. In the first case, we infer that $\tilde{f}^r(x) = f^r(x)$, in the second case that $\tilde{f}^l(x) = f^r(x)$. We can deal similarly with $f^l(x)$.

Remark 4.2.8. A careful inspection of the proof of Proposition 4.2.7 shows that in item *iii*) we can replace the integral $\int_{B_r(x)\cap E} |f - f^r(x)| \,\mathrm{dm}$ with $\int_{B_r(x)\cap E} |f - f^r(x)|^{Q/(Q-1)} \,\mathrm{dm}$ for any Q = Q(R) given as in (2.2.3) and similarly for the integral involving f^l . A similar consideration holds for item *iv*).

Proposition 4.2.7 gives us a "canonical" unit normal to the jump set. In the following lemma, we clarify that such normal depends on the jump set rather than on the vector valued function of bounded variation.

Lemma 4.2.9. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f \in BV(X)^m$ and let $g \in BV(X)^l$. Then we can choose $\nu_f^J = \nu_g^J$ on $J_f \cap J_g$ and for $(|Df| \wedge |Dg|)$ -a.e. $x \in J_f \cap J_g$, there exists a set of finite perimeter E such that $x \in \mathcal{F}E$ and

$$\lim_{r\searrow 0} \oint_{B_r(x)\cap E} \left| (f,g) - (f^r(x),g^r(x)) \right| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \lim_{r\searrow 0} \oint_{B_r(x)\cap (\mathsf{X}\backslash E)} \left| (f,g) - (f^l(x),g^l(x)) \right| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = 0.$$

In particular, if $g = \varphi \circ f$ for some $\varphi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^l) \cap \operatorname{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^l)$ such that $\varphi(0) = 0$, then we can choose $\nu_{\varphi \circ f}^J = \nu_f^J$ on $J_{\varphi \circ f}$ as $J_{\varphi \circ f} \subseteq J_f$ and we have

$$(\varphi \circ f)^r = \varphi(f^r)$$
 and $(\varphi \circ f)^l = \varphi(f^l)$

Proof. The proof is an application of Proposition 4.2.7 to $(f,g) \in BV(X)^{m+l}$.

The results obtained so far allow us to obtain a well-defined fine representative of a vector valued function of bounded variation with meaningful properties.

Definition 4.2.10. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f \in BV(X)^m$. Define the functions left representative, right representative and precise representative $f^l, f^r, \overline{f} : X \to \mathbb{R}^m$, respectively, and the vector field normal to the singular set ν_f^J as then ones given by Proposition 4.2.7.

There may be more than one possible choice for the triplet (f^l, f^r, ν_f^J) , however, notice that the quantity $(f^l - f^r)\nu_f^J$ is well defined |Df|-a.e. on J_f .

It is classical that whenever reduced boundaries of sets of finite perimeter are rectifiable, the same conclusion holds for jump sets of functions of bonded variation. We record this fact in the following proposition.

Proposition 4.2.11. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n and let $f \in BV_{loc}(X)^m$. Then $\mathcal{H}^h \sqcup J_f$ and $\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup J_f$ are σ -finite and mutually absolutely continuous. Moreover, J_f is countably (n-1)-rectifiable. More precisely, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, we can write

$$J_f = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} B_i \cup N,$$

where for every *i*, B_i is $(1 + \varepsilon)$ -bilipschitz to a Borel subset of \mathbb{R}^{n-1} and |Df|(N) = 0.

Proof. We can clearly assume that $f \in BV(X)$. By a classical argument, J_f can be obtained as a countable union of reduced boundaries of sets of finite perimeter. For example, by coarea there exists $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ countable and dense such that $E_s := \{f > s\}$ has locally finite perimeter for any $s \in S$, then, by (2.3.4) and (2.3.6) it holds $J_f = \bigcup_{s \in S} \partial^* E_s$. Then it is enough to recall the representation formulae of Theorem 3.5.1 together with Remark 3.5.2. The same argument also yields rectifiability, using Theorem 3.4.1 and taking into account Remark 3.5.2 and (4.2.5).

In view of the following result, recall that as an immediate consequence of Proposition 4.2.11, $\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup J_f \ll \text{Cap}$, so that, if ν is a Cap-vector field, $\nu \mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup J_f$ is well defined. We are going to give a precise description of the behaviour of the distributional differential (and of its total variation) of a function of bounded variation on the jump set. The proof is by coarea and a sort of integration by Cavalieri's formula.

Proposition 4.2.12. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n and let $f \in BV(X)^m$. Then

$$Df \sqcup J_f = (f^r - f^l)\nu_f^J \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \mathcal{H}^h \sqcup J_f$$
(4.2.9)

and

$$Df \sqcup J_f = (f^r - f^l)\nu_f^J \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, \cdot) \mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup J_f.$$
(4.2.10)

In particular,

$$|\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup J_f = |f^r - f^l| \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \mathcal{H}^h \sqcup J_f$$
(4.2.11)

and

$$|\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup J_f = |f^r - f^l| \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, \cdot) \mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup J_f.$$
(4.2.12)

Proof. First notice that the statement makes sense thanks to (4.2.5). We start from the case m = 1. By coarea and (3.5.1) we have that for $v \in \text{TestV}(X)$

$$\int v \cdot \nu_f \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \sqcup J_f = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{J_f} v \cdot \nu_f \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}}| \,\mathrm{d}t = \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{J_f} \chi_{\partial^*\{f>t\}} v \cdot \nu_f \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^h \,\mathrm{d}t \,.$$

Now notice that the map $(t, x) \mapsto \chi_{\partial^* \{f > t\}}(x)$ is measurable, thanks to standard arguments: just notice that for any r the maps

$$(x,t) \mapsto \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \cap \{f > t\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} \quad \text{and} \quad (x,t) \mapsto \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x) \setminus \{f > t\})}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}$$

are continuous everywhere up to a set of null $(\mathcal{H}^h \sqcup J_f) \otimes \mathcal{L}^1$ measure. We can therefore apply Fubini's Theorem (integrability is given by coarea and σ -finiteness of \mathcal{H}^h by Proposition 4.2.11) and infer that

$$\int v \cdot \nu_f \,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \sqcup J_f = \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_{J_f} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{\partial^* \{f > t\}} v \cdot \nu_f \,\mathrm{d}t \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^h = \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_{J_f} (f^{\vee} - f^{\wedge}) v \cdot \nu_f \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^h,$$

where we used (2.3.6) for the last equality. Now (4.2.9) follows from the equation above and (4.2.6). Now we prove (4.2.10), the proof follows from the same argument as above, relying on (3.5.2) (in particular, Theorem 3.1.1) instead of (3.5.1), hence writing

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}}| = |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}}| \sqcup \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X}) = \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, \cdot)\chi_{\partial^*\{f>t\}}\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X}).$$

Now we turn to case m > 1. Take $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m) \in \text{TestF}(X)^m$. Then, using (4.1.5), Proposition 4.2.7 and what proved in the case m = 1,

$$\mathbf{D}f \sqcup J_f(\mathsf{X})(v) = \int_{J_f} v \cdot \nu_f \mathbf{d} |\mathbf{D}f| = \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{J_f} v_i \cdot \nu_{f_i} \mathbf{d} |\mathbf{D}f_i| = \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{J_f} (f_i^r - f_i^l) v_i \cdot \nu_f^J \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \mathcal{H}^h$$

which proves (4.2.9) in the general case. Similarly we obtain (4.2.10) in the general case.

Finally, (4.2.11) (resp. (4.2.12)) follows from (4.2.9) (resp. (4.2.9)) and Remark 4.1.5.

4.3 Calculus rules

We turn now to study the calculus rules for (vector valued) functions of bounded variation. Again, the study is performed only on finite dimensional RCD spaces, as we need to use the fine properties of the previous section.

4.3.1 Chain rule

The first result that we state is the chain rule, and studies the distributional differential of a BV function after taking the composition with a Lipschitz function. It is proved exploiting the fine properties that we have just studied combined with the coarea formula.

Proposition 4.3.1 (Chain rule). Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space, $f \in BV(X)$ and $\varphi \in \operatorname{LIP}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\varphi(0) = 0$. Then $\varphi \circ f \in BV(X)$ and

$$\mathcal{D}(\varphi \circ f) = \left(\int_0^1 \varphi'(tf^{\vee} + (1-t)f^{\wedge}) \,\mathrm{d}t\right) \mathcal{D}f.$$
(4.3.1)

We comment briefly on the well-posedness of (4.3.1). Recalling (2.3.5), we see that it suffices to check that

$$|\mathrm{D}f|(A) = 0,$$

where

$$A := \left\{ x \in \mathsf{X} \setminus J_f : \varphi \text{ is not differentiable at } \bar{f}(x) \right\}.$$

We can then use coarea, the relations in (2.3.6), (3.5.1) and finally Rademacher's Theorem to compute

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathrm{D}f|(A) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f > t\}} \right| (A) \, \mathrm{d}t = \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{H}^h(A \cap \partial^* \{f > t\}) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{H}^h(\{x \in \mathsf{X} \setminus J_f : \varphi \text{ is not differentiable at } t \text{ and } \bar{f}(x) = t\}) \, \mathrm{d}t = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The proof is done by coarea, taking inspiration from [5]. Using linearity, we can assume that φ is also bilipschitz and strictly increasing with no loss of generality. For what concerns the jump part, the claim on $J_{\varphi \circ f}$ follows from Proposition 4.2.12 and Lemma 4.2.9.

It remains to show the claim on $X \setminus J_f$, as $|D(\varphi \circ f)|(J_f \setminus J_{\varphi \circ f}) = 0$. Take any $v \in \text{TestF}(X)$. We compute, using the coarea formula in (2.3.3), Lemma 4.2.1, the change of variables $t = \varphi(s)$ and (2.3.6),

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{D}(\varphi \circ f) \, & \sqcup (\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f)(v) = \int_{\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f} v \cdot \nu_{\varphi \circ f} \mathrm{d} |\mathbf{D}(\varphi \circ f)| = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f} v \cdot \nu_{\varphi \circ f} \mathrm{d} |\mathbf{D}\chi_{\{\varphi \circ f > t\}} |\mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f} v \cdot \nu_{\{\varphi \circ f > t\}} \mathrm{d} |\mathbf{D}\chi_{\{\varphi \circ f > t\}} |\mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi'(s) \int_{\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f} v \cdot \nu_{\{f > s\}} \mathrm{d} |\mathbf{D}\chi_{\{f > s\}} |\mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f} \varphi'(\bar{f}) v \cdot \nu_{\{f > s\}} \mathrm{d} |\mathbf{D}\chi_{\{f > s\}} |\mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

With the same argument as above, we "reverse"

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f} \varphi'(\bar{f}) v \cdot \nu_{\{f > s\}} \mathrm{d} | \mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f > s\}} | \mathrm{d}s &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f} \varphi'(\bar{f}) v \cdot \nu_f \mathrm{d} | \mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f > s\}} | \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f} \varphi'(\bar{f}) v \cdot \nu_f \mathrm{d} | \mathrm{D}f | = \varphi(\bar{f}) \mathrm{D}f \, \sqcup \, (\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f)(v), \end{split}$$

so that the claim is proved.

н		
L		
н		

4.3.2 Leibniz rule

Now we polarize the chain rule to obtain the Leibniz rule, which describes the distributional differential of the product of two functions of bounded variation. We restrict ourselves to the case f, g bounded functions of bounded variation although the boundedness hypothesis can be slightly weakened using approximation arguments as done in the proof of Proposition 4.3.4 below.

Proposition 4.3.2 (Leibniz rule). Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f, g \in BV(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$. Then $fg \in BV(X)$ and

$$D(fg) = \bar{f}Dg + \bar{g}Df.$$
(4.3.2)

In particular, $|\mathbf{D}(fg)| \leq |\bar{f}| |\mathbf{D}g| + |\bar{g}| |\mathbf{D}f|$.

Proof. Using the chain rule of Proposition 4.3.1 with $\varphi \in \text{LIP}(\mathbb{R})$ that coincides with $t \mapsto t^2$ on a sufficiently large neighbourhood of 0, we see that

$$D(f+g)^2 = 2(\overline{f+g})D(f+g) = 2(\overline{f}+\overline{g})D(f+g), \qquad (4.3.3)$$

$$\mathbf{D}f^2 = 2\overline{f}\mathbf{D}f,\tag{4.3.4}$$

$$\mathbf{D}g^2 = 2\overline{g}\mathbf{D}g. \tag{4.3.5}$$

Here we used that $\overline{f+g} = \overline{f} + \overline{g} \mathcal{H}^h$ -a.e. which follows e.g. from Lemma 4.2.5. Using the linearity of the map $f \mapsto Df$, subtracting (4.3.4) and (4.3.5) from (4.3.3), we obtain (4.3.2).

As a consequence, we record the following result. Even though we are not going to need it elsewhere, we state it because we believe that it is interesting: it shows that $\nabla h_t f m$ weakly converge to Df in duality with objects of the kind gv, where $g \in BV(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$ and $v \in \mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(TX) \cap D(\text{div})$.

Proposition 4.3.3. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and $f, g \in BV(X) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$. Then

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} \int gv \cdot \nabla \mathbf{h}_t f \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \int \bar{g}v \cdot \nu_f \, \mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f| \qquad \text{for every } v \in \mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\mathrm{div}).$$

Proof. We can write, thanks to the calculus rules,

$$\int \mathbf{h}_t f \mathbf{h}_s g \operatorname{div} v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = -\int \mathbf{h}_s g \nabla \mathbf{h}_t f \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} - \int \mathbf{h}_t f \nabla \mathbf{h}_s g \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \, .$$

We let now first $s \searrow 0$ then $t \searrow 0$, use Lemma 4.2.5 and compare the outcome with the result given by (4.3.2).

4.3.3 Vol'pert chain rule

The Leibniz rule can be iteratively used to study the distributional differential of the product of several BV functions, hence, by linearity, we know how to compute $D(\varphi \circ f)$ when φ is a polynomial and f is a vector valued function of bounded variation. By approximation, we can treat the case in which φ is any C^1 function. The result is the following chain rule, also called Vol'pert chain rule.

Theorem 4.3.4 (Vol'pert chain rule). Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space and let $f \in \operatorname{BV}(X)^m$. Let $\varphi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^l) \cap \operatorname{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^l)$ such that $\varphi(0) = 0$. Then

$$D(\varphi \circ f) = \left(\int_0^1 \nabla \varphi(tf^r + (1-t)f^l) dt\right) Df.$$
(4.3.6)

Proof. By Remark 4.1.2, we see that we can assume l = 1 with no loss of generality (see e.g. the second part of the proof of Proposition 4.2.12). The jump part is dealt as in the proof of Proposition 4.3.1, building upon Proposition 4.2.12 and Lemma 4.2.9. Indeed, we know that

$$\int_{J_f} v \cdot \nu_{\varphi \circ f} \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}(\varphi \circ f)| = \int_{J_f} (\varphi(f^r) - \varphi(f^l)) v \cdot \nu_f^J \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}f|.$$
(4.3.7)

Now we turn to the proof of (4.3.6) on $X \setminus J_f$. Assume for the moment also $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})^m$, say $|f_i| \leq L$ m-a.e. for $i = 1, \ldots, m$. Fix $v \in \text{TestF}(X)$, recalling (4.1.5) we have to show that

$$\int_{\mathbf{X}\setminus J_f} v \cdot \nu_{\varphi \circ f} \mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}(\varphi \circ f)| = \int_{\mathbf{X}\setminus J_f} \sum_{i=1}^m \partial_i \varphi(\bar{f}) v \cdot \nu_{f_i} \mathrm{d}|\mathbf{D}f_i|.$$
(4.3.8)

Notice that the differential is a closed linear operator, in the sense that if $\{\varphi_k\}_k$ are uniformly Lipschitz functions satisfying the same hypotheses of φ such that $\varphi_k \to \varphi$ pointwise, then $\int \varphi_k \circ f \operatorname{div} v \to \int \varphi \circ f \operatorname{div} v$, so that

$$D(\varphi_k \circ f)(\mathsf{X})(v) \to D(\varphi \circ f)(\mathsf{X})(v).$$
(4.3.9)

By (4.3.7) and (4.3.9) we infer that if φ_k is as above, then

$$\int_{\mathsf{X}\backslash J_f} v \cdot \nu_{\varphi_k \circ f} \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}(\varphi_k \circ f)| \to \int_{\mathsf{X}\backslash J_f} v \cdot \nu_{\varphi \circ f} \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}(\varphi \circ f)|.$$

As a consequence of this discussion, we see that if $\{\varphi_k\}_k$ are uniformly Lipschitz functions satisfying the same hypotheses of φ such that (4.3.8) holds for any φ_k and $(\varphi_k, \nabla \varphi_k) \to (\varphi, \nabla \varphi)$ uniformly on $[-L, L]^m$, then (4.3.8) holds also for φ . Also, the left hand side of (4.3.8) is linear in φ .

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. By a mollification and cut-off argument, we find $\tilde{\varphi} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ such that $\operatorname{supp} \tilde{\varphi} \subseteq [-2L, 2L]^m$, $\tilde{\varphi}(0) = 0$, and

$$\sup_{x \in [-L,L]^m} |\varphi(x) - \tilde{\varphi}(x)| + |\nabla \varphi(x) - \nabla \tilde{\varphi}(x)| < \varepsilon.$$

Now, by the Stone–Weierstrass Theorem, we find a polynomial $g: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sup_{x\in [-2L,2L]^m} |\partial_1\cdots \partial_m \tilde{\varphi}(x) - g(x)| < \varepsilon.$$

Set now

$$\hat{\varphi}((x_1,\ldots,x_m)) := \int_{-2L}^{x_1} \mathrm{d}s_1 \cdots \int_{-2L}^{x_m} \mathrm{d}s_m \, g((s_1,\ldots,s_m)),$$

it is not hard to verify that still

$$\sup_{x \in [-L,L]^m} |\tilde{\varphi}(x) - \hat{\varphi}(x)| + |\nabla \tilde{\varphi}(x) - \nabla \hat{\varphi}(x)| < C\varepsilon_{\varepsilon_1}$$

where C depends only on L and m. Eventually adding to $\hat{\varphi}$ a (small) constant, we can assume that $\hat{\varphi}(0) = 0$. Notice that $\hat{\varphi}$ is a polynomial.

Then, by discussion above, we see that it is enough to prove (4.3.8) for a polynomial, say φ (notice that the fact that polynomials are not Lipschitz plays no role here, as f is assumed to be

4.3. CALCULUS RULES

bounded). Therefore, using also linearity, we see that we can assume with no loss of generality that φ is a monomial. Also, up to changing m and repeating some function f_i , we can assume that

$$\varphi(x_1,\ldots,x_m)=x_1\cdots x_m$$

All in all, we have reduced the claim to

$$\int_{\mathbf{X}\setminus J_f} v \cdot \nu_{f_1\cdots f_m} \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}(f_1\cdots f_m)| = \int_{\mathbf{X}\setminus J_f} \sum_{i=1}^m \left(\prod_{j\neq i} \bar{f}_j\right) v \cdot \nu_{f_i} \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f_i|.$$

The claim is now proved by iteration of the Leibniz rule of Proposition 4.3.2 taking into account that if $x \notin J_f$, then $\overline{\prod_{j\in J} f_j}(x) = \prod_{j\in J} \overline{f_j}(x)$ for $J \subseteq \{1, \ldots, m\}$, by (4.2.8) together with the assumption $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})$. Indeed, restricting all equalities to $X \setminus J_f$,

$$\begin{split} \nu_{f_1 \cdots f_m} \mathbf{d} | \mathbf{D}(f_1 \cdots f_m) | &= \overline{f_2 \cdots f_m} \nu_{f_1} | \mathbf{D} f_1 | + \bar{f}_1 \nu_{f_2 \cdots f_m} \mathbf{d} | \mathbf{D}(f_2 \cdots f_m) | \\ &= \bar{f}_2 \cdots \bar{f}_m \nu_{f_1} | \mathbf{D} f_1 | + \bar{f}_1 \nu_{f_2 \cdots f_m} \mathbf{d} | \mathbf{D}(f_2 \cdots f_m) | \\ &= \bar{f}_2 \cdots \bar{f}_m \nu_{f_1} | \mathbf{D} f_1 | + \bar{f}_1 (\overline{f_3 \cdots f_m} \nu_{f_2} | \mathbf{D} f_2 | + \bar{f}_2 \nu_{f_3 \cdots f_m} \mathbf{d} | \mathbf{D}(f_3 \cdots f_m) |) \\ &= \cdots = \sum_{i=1}^m \prod_{j \neq i} \bar{f}_j \nu_{f_i} \mathbf{d} | \mathbf{D} f_i | \end{split}$$

so that the proof is concluded under the additional assumption $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})^m$.

Now we get rid of the assumption $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{m})^m$ using an approximation argument. In this procedure, we consider the approximating sequence $\{f^l\}_l$ as in (2.3.21). Now we can let $l \to \infty$ in (4.3.6) for f^l , recalling Lemma 4.2.2, (2.3.5) and coarea together with the closure property of the differential for what concerns the convergence of the let hand side.

4.3.4 General chain rule

This section contains the last calculus rule of the chapter. It is the general chain rule, Theorem 4.3.6, which concerns the distributional differential of the composition of a vector valued function of bounded variation and a Lipschitz function. We remark that it is the strongest of our results concerning the calculus rules, in the sense that it immediately implies all the previous results. However, the previous results are needed for its proof.

With start with some preparatory material to state Theorem 4.3.6. For what concerns the notation, if $\nu = (\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_m) \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T^m \mathsf{X})$ and $v \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$, we write

$$\nu \cdot v := (\nu_1 \cdot v), \dots, (\nu_m \cdot v) \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

The following lemma gives a concept of image of a matrix field in the non-smooth framework, where we do not have pointwise defined objects. $\operatorname{Gr}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ denotes the collection of all the vector subspaces of \mathbb{R}^m .

Lemma 4.3.5. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space, let $\mu \ll \operatorname{Cap}$ be a finite Borel measure and let $\nu \in L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T^m X)$. Then there exists unique (up to μ -a.e. equality) μ -measurable map

$$G: \mathsf{X} \to \mathrm{Gr}(\mathbb{R}^m)$$

satisfying

i) for every $v \in L^0_{Cap}(TX)$,

$$\nu \cdot v \in G \qquad \mu\text{-}a.e$$

ii) if $G': \mathsf{X} \to \operatorname{Gr}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ is another map satisfying the requirement i), then

$$G \subseteq G' \qquad \mu\text{-}a.e$$

We call the map G given by the lemma above $\mu - \operatorname{ess} \operatorname{span} \nu$.

Proof. First notice that uniqueness of G trivially follows from item ii).

Fix for the moment a set A as in the decomposition given by Theorem 2.2.21 and an orthonormal basis of $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ on A, say $\{v_1, \ldots, v_k\}$. The map

$$A \ni x \mapsto \operatorname{span}(\{\nu \cdot v_i(x)\}_{i=1,\dots,k}) \in \operatorname{Gr}(\mathbb{R}^m)$$

is μ -measurable. We then define G equals this map on A and then define G μ -a.e. on X with a gluing argument.

We show now that G satisfies the desired properties. It is sufficient to fix a set A and vector fields $\{v_1, \ldots, v_k\}$ as above and prove the claims on A. Item i) follows from the fact that $\{v_1, \ldots, v_k\}$ is a basis of $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ on A. For what concerns item ii), take G' satisfying item i). In particular, μ -a.e. $\nu \cdot v_i \in G$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, k$ so that μ -a.e. $G \subseteq G'$.

Now we state the main result of this section. We defer the proof after the statement and the proof of Lemma 4.3.7 below. First, we recall a definition about the differentiability of Lipschitz functions, as in Section 8.1, Given $\varphi \in \text{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^l)$, we say that φ is differentiable at x with respect to $V \in \text{Gr}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ if there exists a linear map $\nabla_V \varphi(x) : V \to \mathbb{R}^l$ such that

$$\varphi(x+v) = \varphi(x) + \nabla_V \varphi(x) \cdot v + o(|v|) \quad \text{for } v \in V.$$

If $v \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we say that φ is differentiable at x in direction v if φ is differentiable at x with respect span(v). Notice that every φ is differentiable with respect to $\{0\}$ at any point of \mathbb{R}^m .

If we want to generalize the calculus rule of Theorem 4.3.4 to the case in which φ is not C^1 , but only Lipschitz, we certainly have to be coherent with (4.3.6). Notice that, outside the jump set, (4.3.6) reads as

$$D(\varphi \circ f) \sqcup (X \setminus J_f) = \nabla \varphi(f) Df \sqcup (X \setminus J_f).$$
(4.3.10)

While Rademacher Theorem states that Lipschitz functions are differentiable almost everywhere with respect to the Lebesgue measure, it is in general false that a Lipschitz function φ is differentiable for |Df|-a.e. $x \in X \setminus J_f$ at $\bar{f}(x)$, in the case in which f is a vector valued function of bounded variation (this, however holds if f is scalar valued, see the discussion after the statement of Proposition 4.3.1). Take, for example, $\varphi(u, v) := u \vee v$ and f(x, y) := (x, x). For this reason, Theorem 4.3.6 below can *not* be proved with soft techniques as we did for Theorem 4.3.4 and (4.3.10) has to be suitably interpreted, and this obstacle is not due to the fact that we are working in the RCD realm. The key remark to overcome this difficulty ([12]) is that we do not really need the full differentiability of φ at $\bar{f}(x)$, but only the differentiability in directions given by the image of the "polar matrix" $\frac{dDf}{d|Df|}$, as is only against these directions that the differential of φ is tested. It turns out that indeed φ is differentiable a.e. with respect to these directions and Theorem 4.3.4 has a suitable generalization. **Theorem 4.3.6.** Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space, let $f \in \operatorname{BV}(X)^m$ and let $\varphi \in \operatorname{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^l)$ such that $\varphi(0) = 0$. Then

$$\mathbf{D}(\varphi \circ f) \sqcup J_f = \left(\varphi(f^r) - \varphi(f^l)\right) \mathbf{D} f \sqcup J_f.$$

Set now $V := |Df| - \text{ess span } \nu_f$. Then for |Df|-a.e. $x \notin J_f$, φ is differentiable at $\overline{f}(x)$ with respect to V and it holds

$$D(\varphi \circ f) \sqcup (X \setminus J_f) = \nabla_V \varphi(f) \nu_f |Df| \sqcup (X \setminus J_f).$$
(4.3.11)

In the theorem above, by $\nabla_V \varphi(\bar{f}) \nu_f$ we mean the unique, up to |Df|-a.e. equality, vector field in $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})^l$ such that for every $v \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ it holds

$$(\nabla_V \varphi(\bar{f})\nu_f) \cdot v = \nabla_V \varphi(\bar{f})(\nu_f \cdot v)$$
 |Df|-a.e.

Here we show the main lemma towards the proof of Theorem 4.3.6, whose purpose is to gain directions along which φ is differentiable. Its proof is based on the link between "closability of certain differentiation operators" and "differentiability of Lipschitz functions in related directions" recalled in Section 8.1, coupled with the information that "the map that takes φ and returns the distributional differential of $\varphi \circ f$ is closable".

Lemma 4.3.7. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space, let $f \in BV(X)^m$, let $\varphi \in LIP(\mathbb{R}^m)$ such that $\varphi(0) = 0$, and let $v \in TestV(X)$. Then for |Df|-a.e. $x \notin J_f$, φ is differentiable at $\overline{f}(x)$ in direction $(\nu_f \cdot v)(x) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and it holds

$$\nu_{\varphi \circ f} \cdot v |\mathcal{D}(\varphi \circ f)| \sqcup (\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f) = \nabla_{\nu_f \cdot v} \varphi(\bar{f})(\nu_f \cdot v) |\mathcal{D}f| \sqcup (\mathsf{X} \setminus J_f).$$

$$(4.3.12)$$

Proof. Denote by n the essential dimension of X. By Proposition 3.4.3 and the fact that $|D(\varphi \circ f)| \leq L|Df|$, where L denotes the Lipschitz constant of φ , it is enough to prove the claim on G, where $G \subseteq X \setminus J_f$ is a bounded Borel set for which there exists a Borel map $\Psi : G \to B$, where B is a Borel subset of \mathbb{R}^n and Ψ has Borel inverse $\Psi^{-1} : B \to G$ and moreover Ψ is the restriction to G of some $\tilde{\Psi} \in BV(X)^n$. Also, $J_{\tilde{\Psi}} \cap G = \emptyset$ and we can assume that v has compact support. We avoid writing $\bar{\cdot}$ for the precise representative, to simplify the notation.

We set then $f' := (f, \tilde{\Psi})$ and $\varphi' := \varphi \circ \pi^1$, where $\pi^1 : \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is the projection onto the first factor. In particular, $|\mathbf{D}f| \leq |\mathbf{D}f'|$. Notice that f' and φ' still satisfy the assumptions of the lemma and that still $J_{f'} \cap G = \emptyset$. Notice also that $\varphi' \circ f' = \varphi \circ f$, that $(|\mathbf{D}f|$ -a.e.) φ' is differentiable in direction $\nu_{f'} \cdot v$ if and only if φ is differentiable in direction $\nu_f \cdot v$ and finally that

$$(\nu_{f'} \cdot v)_i = (\nu_f \cdot v)_i \frac{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f|}{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f'|} \qquad |\mathrm{D}f'| \text{-a.e. for } i = 1, \dots, m,$$

so that it remains to show (4.3.12) on G with φ' in place of φ and f' in place of f.

To simplify the notation, we return to the notation f and φ , keeping in mind that f is injective on G and its inverse is Borel. We set

$$w := (\nu_f \cdot v) \circ f^{-1}$$
 and $\mu := f_*(|\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup G).$

Assume for the moment also that $\varphi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^m)$. Then we know that (4.3.12) holds with this choice of φ by Proposition 4.3.4. We compute now

$$f_*(\nabla\varphi(f)(\nu_f \cdot v)|\mathrm{D}f| \sqcup G) = \sum_{i=1}^m \partial_i \varphi f_*((\nu_f \cdot v)_i|\mathrm{D}f| \sqcup G) = \nabla\varphi \cdot w\mu.$$

We check that the differentiation operator depending on φ defined above is closable in the sense of item *i*) of Theorem 8.1.1 in the Appendix. We have to check that if $\{\varphi_k\}_k$ is a sequence as in item *i*) of Theorem 8.1.1 then there exists $\ell \in L^{\infty}(\mu)$ such that for every $h \in L^1(\mu)$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^m} h \nabla \varphi_k \, \cdot \, w \, \mathrm{d}\mu \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} h \ell \, \mathrm{d}\mu$$

Clearly, we can assume that $\varphi_k(0) = 0$ for every k. Equivalently, we have to prove that

$$\int_{\mathsf{X}} h \circ f \nabla \varphi_k(f)(\nu_f \cdot v) \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \sqcup G \to \int_{\mathsf{X}} h \circ f\ell \circ f|\nu_f \cdot v| \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \sqcup G$$

where $h \circ f \in L^1(|Df| \sqcup G)$. As also $\varphi_k \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^m)$, by Proposition 4.3.4 we have that

$$\int_{\mathsf{X}} h \circ f \nabla \varphi_k(f)(\nu_f \cdot v) \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \, \sqsubseteq \, G = \int_{\mathsf{X}} h \circ f \nu_{\varphi_k \circ f} \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}(\varphi_k \circ f)| \, \sqsubseteq \, G,$$

which is well posed, since $|D(\varphi_k \circ f)| \leq L|Df|$ for every k, where $L \in (0, \infty)$ denotes the Lipschitz constant of the functions in $\{\varphi_k\}_k$. Also, $|D(\varphi \circ f)| \leq L|Df|$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, take $h_{\varepsilon} \in LIP_{bs}(X)$ such that

$$\|h \circ f - h_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1(|\mathrm{D}f|)} < \varepsilon,$$

where we understand $h \circ f = 0 |Df|$ -a.e. on X \ G. By Theorem 4.1.1 (with the usual interpretation of the integrals involving div $(h_{\varepsilon}v)$ given by Remark 2.3.6),

$$\begin{split} -\int_{\mathsf{X}} h_{\varepsilon} \nu_{\varphi_{k} \circ f} \cdot v \, \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}(\varphi_{k} \circ f)| &= \int_{\mathsf{X}} \varphi_{k} \circ f \mathrm{div}(h_{\varepsilon} v) \, \mathrm{dm} \\ & \to \int_{\mathsf{X}} \varphi \circ f \mathrm{div}(h_{\varepsilon} v) \, \mathrm{dm} = -\int_{\mathsf{X}} h_{\varepsilon} \nu_{\varphi \circ f} \cdot v \, \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}(\varphi \circ f)| \end{split}$$

Now, we have that

$$\left| \int_{\mathsf{X}} (h \circ f - h_{\varepsilon}) \nu_{\varphi_k \circ f} \cdot v \, \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}(\varphi_k \circ f)| \right| \le L \|v\|_{L^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X})} \|h \circ f - h_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1(|\mathrm{D}f|)} \le L \|v\|_{L^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X})} \varepsilon,$$

and a similar estimate holds for φ in place of φ_k . Then we see that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathsf{X}} h \circ f \nabla \varphi_k(f)(\nu_f \cdot v) \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f| \, \sqcup \, G \to \int_{\mathsf{X}} h \circ f \nu_{\varphi \circ f} \cdot v \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}(\varphi \circ f)| \, \sqcup \, G \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} h(\nu_{\varphi \circ f} \cdot v) \circ f^{-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}(\varphi \circ f)|}{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f|} \circ f^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\mu \, . \end{split}$$

This provides the existence of the sought $\ell \in L^{\infty}(\mu)$.

Therefore we can apply Theorem 8.1.1. It follows that if φ is as in the statement, then φ is differentiable in direction $w \mu$ -a.e. In other words, at $|\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup G$ -a.e. x, φ is differentiable at f(x) in direction $(\nu_f \cdot v)(x)$.

Take now $g \in L^1(|\mathbf{D}f| \sqcup G)$. We approximate φ with a sequence $\{\varphi_k\}_k$ as in Lemma 8.1.2. Using Proposition 4.3.4, we see that for every k

$$\int_{\mathsf{X}} g\nu_{\varphi_k \circ f} \cdot v \, \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}(\varphi_k \circ f)| \, \sqsubseteq \, G = \int_{\mathsf{X}} g \nabla \varphi_k(f) (\nu_f \cdot v) \, \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}f| \, \llcorner \, G$$

Using dominated convergence to deal with the right hand side and by the very same computations as above to deal with the left hand side, we prove that (4.3.12) holds for φ , as g was arbitrary. \Box

4.4. BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTES

Having Lemma 4.3.7 at our disposal, the proof of Theorem 4.3.6 is rather classical.

Proof of Theorem 4.3.6. Denote by n the essential dimension of X. We start from a couple of reductions, as in the proof of Proposition 4.3.4. By Remark 4.1.2, we see that we can assume l = 1 with no loss of generality (see e.g. the second part of the proof of Proposition 4.2.12). The jump part is dealt as in the proof of Proposition 4.3.1, building upon Proposition 4.2.12 and Lemma 4.2.9.

We prove now (4.3.11) and the differentiability statement. We first show that for |Df|-a.e. $x \notin J_f$, φ is differentiable at $\bar{f}(x)$ with respect to V. Recalling the construction of V in Lemma 4.3.5 (in particular, Theorem 2.2.21), it is enough to show this claim on a Borel subset A on which we have an orthonormal basis of $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(TX)$, say $\{v_1, \ldots, v_k\} \subseteq \text{TestV}(X)$: namely, we have to show differentiability at $\bar{f}(x)$ with respect to span $(\{\nu_f \cdot v_i\}_{i=1,\ldots,k})$.

By Lemma 4.3.7, if $v \in \text{TestV}(X)$, for |Df|-a.e. $x \in A \setminus J_f$ it holds that φ is differentiable at $\overline{f}(x)$ in direction $\nu_f \cdot v$. Therefore, for |Df|-a.e. $x \in A \setminus J_f \varphi$ is differentiable at $\overline{f}(x)$ in every direction contained in $\text{span}_{\mathbb{Q}}(\{\nu_f \cdot v_i\}_{i=1,\dots,k})$. Lemma 4.3.7 again shows that the differential on $\text{span}_{\mathbb{Q}}(\{\nu_f \cdot v_i\}_{i=1,\dots,k})$ is linear, up to discarding a set of null $|Df| \sqcup (A \setminus J_f)$ measure. It is then classical to infer from this the conclusion.

4.4 Bibliographical notes

We recall that, as already mentioned in Section 3.6, the topic of this manuscript is to generalize the classical results about functions of bounded variation to the framework of (finite dimensional) RCD spaces. We refer to Section 3.6 for a list of general references on the topic, in the framework of Euclidean spaces. For what concerns the calculus rules, there are two more advanced results: the Vol'pert (who gives the name to the Vol'pert averaged superposition, that is the form in which we state (4.3.1) and (4.3.6)) chain rule formula, proved in the smooth setting in [125] (see also [126]) and the general chain rule formula, proved in the smooth setting in [12].

Most of the material is taken from [42, 43]. Some of the proofs have been revised and became shorter and more transparent, for example, the proof of Theorem 4.3.4 benefits from the separate treatment on the jump part (thanks to Proposition 4.2.12).

As stated during its proof, the bulk of Theorem 4.1.1 is already present in [51]. There, the authors treated only characteristic functions of sets of finite perimeter and finite measure on a finite dimensional RCD space. Our improvement is in the direction of treating more general functions (i.e. vector valued functions of bounded variation) and also by considering possibly infinite dimensional RCD spaces. The first improvement is obtained by a rather soft argument, noticing that in [51] the fact that the function is a characteristic function is not really used. For what concerns the possibility of treating the infinite dimensional case, there were only two ingredients missing in [51]. The first one is the fact that one needs total variations to be absolute continuous with respect to the 2-Sobolev capacity. In [51, Lemma 1.10 and Theorem 1.12], the authors showed that, on finite dimensional spaces,

 $|\mathrm{D}f| \ll \mathcal{H}^h \ll \mathrm{Cap}$ for every $f \in \mathrm{BV}(\mathsf{X})$

(actually, they showed the result for characteristic functions, but, thanks to coarea, there is no difference). This chain of relations is crucial in the subsequent development of the theory (and is one of the major reasons why we need to work on finite dimensional spaces to obtain the most refined results), but really needed the fact that the space is finite dimensional, to use its property of being PI. Hence, to state Theorem 4.1.1 in the infinite dimensional case, we had to give a different

proof of the fact that

 $|\mathrm{D}f| \ll \mathrm{Cap}$ for every $f \in \mathrm{BV}(\mathsf{X})$,

see Theorem 2.3.7. The second ingredient is the validity of the Bakry–Émery estimate in BV in the infinite dimensional setting, Proposition 2.3.17. Such result was already stated in [86, Remark 3.5], but only for *proper* RCD(K, ∞) spaces. The properness assumption can be immediately removed thanks to the approximation result of [71].

It is worth remarking that Theorem 4.1.1 can be proved also with a completely different technique, relying on the language of local vector measures and an abstract Riesz's Theorem, see [44]. A local vector measure is the non-Euclidean analogue of a vector valued measure and is defined as a map from the Borel subsets of a Polish space to the dual of a suitable normed module. This theory experiences an improvement in the setting of RCD spaces (rather than Polish spaces) and allows the abstract construction of a local vector measure Df satisfying

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int f_i \operatorname{div} v_i = -v \cdot \mathrm{D} f(\mathsf{X}) \quad \text{for every } v = (v_1, \dots, v_m) \in (\mathcal{QC}^{\infty}(T\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\operatorname{div}))^m.$$

Also, as soon as one has at disposal the language of local vector measures, Section 4.1.1 becomes unnecessary: the operations described there can be seen as operations among local vector measures. In particular (with the language of [44]) Definition 4.1.4 trivially identifies $\nu\mu$ with the local vector measure whose polar decomposition is $\nu\mu$. We have decided not to include the material of [44] as local vector measures are not strictly necessary for the development of this theory.

Proposition 4.2.4 is not present in [42, 43], but its statement is in [50], with a different proof. Here we exploit our tools to give a more direct proof, that avoids the blow-up argument of [50]. In relation to Proposition 4.2.5, we remark that in [16, 17] the opposite procedure has been used: in these papers, the essential boundary is recognized through the short-time behaviour of heat semigroup. Half of Proposition 4.2.12 is taken from [42] (namely (4.2.9) and (4.2.11)), whereas the other half (namely (4.2.10) and (4.2.12)), follow from the same techniques, taking into account (3.5.2), proved in [32].

Chapter 5

Cartesian Surfaces

In this chapter we extend classical results for subgraphs of functions of bounded variation in $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ to the setting of $X \times \mathbb{R}$, where X is a finite dimensional RCD space. We recall here Definition 2.3.10,

$$\mathcal{G}_f := \big\{ (x, t) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : t < f(x) \big\},\$$

and that

$$\pi^1 : \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathsf{X}, \qquad \pi^2 : \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$$

denote the projections onto the corresponding factors.

In particular, we give the precise expression of the push-forward onto X of the perimeter measure of the subgraph in $X \times \mathbb{R}$ of a BV function on X. Moreover, in properly chosen good coordinates, we write the precise expression of the normal to the boundary of the subgraph of a BV function fwith respect to the polar vector of f, and we prove change-of-variable formulae.

5.1 Main results

First, recall the notation of Section 2.3.5 and the decomposition of the total variation as in Definition 2.3.4. The first result of this chapter establishes the equivalence between local finiteness of the total variation of a function and finiteness of the perimeter of the subgraph on cylinders. Notice that it is part of the claim that local integrability is a consequence of finiteness of the perimeter of the subgraph on cylinders. Finally, we have a characterization of the total variation of the function in terms of the push-forward of the perimeter of the subgraph.

Theorem 5.1.1. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f \in L^0(m)$. Then the following are equivalent:

- i) $f \in BV_{loc}(X)$,
- ii) for every bounded set $B \subseteq X$, $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B \times \mathbb{R}) < \infty$.

If this is the case, then

$$\pi^1_* |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| = \sqrt{g_f^2 + 1} \,\mathsf{m} + |\mathcal{D}f| \, \sqcup \, (C_f \cup J_f).$$

We defer the proof of Theorem 5.1.1 to Section 5.1.2 below.

To state the next results we need to read the "components" of polar vector fields, e.g. ν_f or $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}$. Even though the following definition is not intrinsic, the quantities introduced will play a key role in the proof of the Rank one Theorem 6.1.2. By tensorization of the energy, the following definition is well posed.

Definition 5.1.2. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n and let u be a good splitting map on D. Let $f \in BV_{loc}(X)$. Then we define

i) the \mathbb{R}^n -valued |Df|-measurable map ν_f^u defined for |Df|-a.e. $x \in D$ by

$$\nu_f^u(x) := ((\nu_f \cdot \nabla u^1)(x), \dots, (\nu_f \cdot \nabla u^n)(x)),$$

ii) the \mathbb{R}^{n+1} -valued $|\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -measurable map $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$ defined for $|\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $p := (x, t) \in D \times \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p) := ((\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f} \cdot \nabla u^1)(p), \dots, (\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f} \cdot \nabla u^n)(p), (\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f} \cdot \nabla \pi^2)(p)).$$

If E is set of locally finite perimeter, we write $\nu_E := \nu_{\chi_E}$ for simplicity.

Recalling again Lemma 3.2.19, we see that domains of a countable family of good splitting maps cover X up to sets that are negligible with respect to relevant measures. Hence, in practice, there is no loss of generality in working on the domain of a fixed good splitting map. Namely, in Theorem 5.1.3 and Theorem 5.1.4 below, we are going to compare $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$ and ν_f^u only for a single good splitting map u, on its domain D. This, however, still allows us to have a complete picture (i.e. the comparison for $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. (x, t)), thanks to Lemma 3.2.19 and the remark that, using the notation of Lemma 3.2.19, we have,

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|\left(\left(\mathsf{X}\setminus\bigcup_k D_k\right)\times\mathbb{R}\right)=0$$
 for every $f\in\mathrm{BV}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathsf{X}),$

which is a consequence of (3.2.12) and Proposition 2.3.12. Finally, notice that $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$ is well-defined at $(x, \bar{f}(x))$ for |Df|-a.e. $x \in D \setminus J_f$ and for m-a.e. $x \in D \setminus J_f$. This is due to (2.3.13) and (5.1.1) below, taking into account Lemma 2.3.11.

Now we state the results that link ν_f^u and $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$, as in Definition 5.1.2. For what concerns Theorem 5.1.3, we have that, on the regular part (i.e. outside $J_f \cup C_f$) the expression is the same as for smooth maps in Euclidean spaces. Then, on the singular part (i.e. on $J_f \cup C_f$), the last component if $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$ vanishes. As a by-product, we obtain that the singular part is identified by the vanishing of the last component of $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$.

Theorem 5.1.3. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space and let $f \in \operatorname{BV}_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)$. Let u be a good splitting map on D. Then, for $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $(x, t) \in D \times \mathbb{R}$, it holds that

$$\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,t) = \begin{cases} \left(\sqrt{\frac{1}{1+g_f^2}}g_f\nu_f^u, -\sqrt{\frac{1}{1+g_f^2}}\right)(x) & \text{if } x \in D \setminus (J_f \cup C_f), \\ (\nu_f^u, 0)(x) & \text{if } x \in D \cap (J_f \cup C_f). \end{cases}$$

With the results above it is not hard to deduce the following "integral version".

Theorem 5.1.4. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space of essential dimension n and let $f \in \operatorname{BV}_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)$. Let u be a good splitting map on D. Let also $\varphi : D \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded Borel function. Then

5.1. MAIN RESULTS

i) for every $i = 1, \ldots, n$,

$$\int_{(D\setminus J_f)\times\mathbb{R}}\varphi(x,t)\big(\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x,t)\big)_i\,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(x,t)=\int_{D\setminus J_f}\varphi(x,\bar{f}(x))\big(\nu^u_f(x)\big)_i\,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f|(x)\,,$$

ii) it holds

$$\int_{(D\setminus J_f)\times\mathbb{R}}\varphi(x,t)\big(\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x,t)\big)_{n+1}\,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(x,t)=-\int_{D\setminus J_f}\varphi(x,\bar{f}(x))\,\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(x)\,,$$

iii) for every $i = 1, \ldots, n$,

$$\int_{(D\cap J_f)\times\mathbb{R}} \varphi(x,t) \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,t)\right)_i \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(x,t)$$
$$= \int_{D\cap J_f} \left(\nu_f^u(x)\right)_i \Theta_n(\mathsf{m},x) \int_{f^\wedge(x)}^{f^\vee(x)} \varphi(x,t) \mathrm{d}t \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{n-1}(x) \,,$$

iv) it holds

$$\int_{(D\cap J_f)\times\mathbb{R}}\varphi(x,t)\big(\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x,t)\big)_{n+1}\,\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(x,t)=0.$$

We defer the proof of Theorem 5.1.3 and Theorem 5.1.4 to Section 5.1.2 below.

5.1.1 Auxiliary results

This section contains the auxiliary results that will be needed to prove Theorem 5.1.1, Theorem 5.1.3 and Theorem 5.1.4. The first technical result establishes the absolute continuity $\mathcal{H}^n \sqcup \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X}) \ll \pi_*^1 |\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$. In an imprecise way, this means that every point of X is the projection of some point contained in the reduced boundary of the subgraph.

Lemma 5.1.5. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n and let $f \in BV(X)$. Then

$$\mathbf{m} \ll \mathcal{H}^n \, \sqcup \, \mathcal{R}^*_n(\mathsf{X}) \ll \pi^1_* | \mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} |.$$
(5.1.1)

Proof. The first absolute continuity of (5.1.1) is due to the structure theory of RCD spaces, see (2.2.14). By Proposition 2.3.12, $\mathcal{G}_f \subseteq X \times \mathbb{R}$ is a set of locally finite perimeter. By (3.5.2) (see also Remark 3.5.2), we have that

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| = \Theta_{n+1}(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1, \cdot)\mathcal{H}^n \sqcup (\partial^* \mathcal{G}_f \cap \mathcal{R}^*_{n+1}(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R})).$$

Now, notice the elementary fact $\mathcal{R}_{n+1}^*(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}) = \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X}) \times \mathbb{R}$. Take $B \subseteq \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})$, assume that $\pi_*^1|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B) = 0$, then $\mathcal{H}^n(\partial^*\mathcal{G}_f \cap (\pi^1)^{-1}(B)) = 0$. Therefore, as the projection is Lipschitz, $\mathcal{H}^n(\pi_1(\partial^*\mathcal{G}_f \cap (\pi^1)^{-1}(B))) = 0$ so that by Lemma 2.3.11 and the fact that $-\infty < f^{\wedge} \leq f^{\vee} < +\infty$ for \mathcal{H}^n -a.e. $x \in \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})$, we infer that $\mathcal{H}^n(\pi_1((\pi^1)^{-1}(B))) = 0$, so that $\mathcal{H}^n(B) = 0$. \Box

Recall that Definition 5.1.2 involves both an object defined on X (ν_f^u) and an object defined on X × \mathbb{R} $(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u)$, where the first one is defined in terms of a good splitting map u, and the second one in terms of $(u \circ \pi_1, \pi_2)$. We show that also the second map is a good splitting map, and also record that the relation among the matrices given by Lemma 3.2.14 for u and for $(u \circ \pi_1, \pi_2)$ is the trivial one. Namely, the rotation that we have to apply to u to obtain a system of good coordinates induces naturally a rotation of $(u \circ \pi_1, \pi_2)$ to obtain a system of good coordinates (see also Proposition 3.2.20).

Remark 5.1.6. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD space of essential dimension n and recall Definition 3.2.12. Let $u: B_{2r}(x) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a good η -splitting map on $D \subseteq B_r(x)$. Notice that, by tensorization of the energy, $(u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2) : B_{2r}(x, t) \subseteq X \times \mathbb{R}$ is a good η -splitting map on $\tilde{D} := (D \times \mathbb{R}) \cap B_r(x, t)$, for any $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Also, if A is the matrix valued Borel map given by Lemma 3.2.14 for u and \tilde{A} is the matrix valued Borel map given by Lemma 3.2.14 for $(u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2)$, then

$$\tilde{A}_{i,j}(y,s) = \begin{cases} A_{i,j}(y) & \text{for } i, j \in 1, \dots, n, \\ 0 & \text{for } i = 1, \dots, n \text{ and } j = n+1, \\ 0 & \text{for } i = n+1 \text{ and } j = 1, \dots, n, \\ 1 & \text{for } i = j = n \end{cases}$$
(5.1.2)

for every $(y,s) \in \tilde{D}$. Hence the map $(y,s) \mapsto \tilde{A}(y,s)$ is independent of s so that we will assume it to be defined on $D \times \mathbb{R}$.

Given a good splitting map on D, the following proposition selects a "nice" subset of D, D_f , that is big enough to describe f, in the sense that the remaining part is seen only by $|Df|^j$, but satisfies additional convenient properties. We will denote by A the matrix valued Borel map given by Lemma 3.2.14 for a good splitting map u. In item v), we are going to exploit the matrix valued Borel map A and \tilde{A} as in Remark 5.1.6.

Proposition 5.1.7. Let $f \in BV_{loc}(X)$ and let u be a good splitting map on D. Then there exists a Borel set $D_f \subseteq D$ satisfying the following properties:

- i) $|\mathbf{D}f|^c(D \setminus D_f) = 0$ and $\mathbf{m}(D \setminus D_f) = 0$.
- *ii*) $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|((D \setminus (D_f \cup J_f)) \times \mathbb{R}) = 0.$
- iii) $D_f \subseteq \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X}) \setminus J_f$ and $\mathcal{FG}_f \cap (D_f \times \mathbb{R}) = (\mathrm{Id}_\mathsf{X}, \bar{f})(D_f)$. Hence, for every $x \in D_f$, $(x, \bar{f}(x)) \in \mathcal{FG}_f$, in particular, $\bar{f}(x) \in \mathbb{R}$.
- iv) For every $x \in D_f$, $(x, \bar{f}(x))$ is a Lebesgue point for $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$ with respect to $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$.
- v) Given any $x \in D_f$,

$$v_{(x,\bar{f}(x))} := (A(x)u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2) = \tilde{A}(x,\bar{f}(x))(u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2)$$

is a system of good coordinates for \mathcal{G}_f at $(x, \overline{f}(x))$ and moreover,

$$\bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{\nu_{(x,\bar{f}(x))}}(x,\bar{f}(x)) = \tilde{A}(x,\bar{f}(x))\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,\bar{f}(x)),$$
(5.1.3)

where we took the Lebesgue value for $\nu_{G_x}^u$.

5.1. MAIN RESULTS

Proof. We will build sets $D \supseteq D_1 \supseteq D_2 \supseteq D_3 \supseteq D_4 =: D_f$. First, we set $D_1 := D \setminus J_f$. Clearly, D_1 still satisfies items i) and ii).

Take now $N \subseteq \partial^* \mathcal{G}_f \cap ((X \setminus J_f) \times \mathbb{R})$. Notice that if N is $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -negligible, then $\pi^1(N)$ is both $|Df|^c$ -negligible and m-negligible, by Proposition 2.3.12 and Lemma 5.1.5, taking into account also Lemma 2.3.11 that implies $(\pi^1)^{-1}(\pi^1(N)) = N$. Hence removing $\pi^1(N)$ still leaves items i) and ii) unaffected. We set then $D_2 := D_1 \cap \pi^1(\mathcal{FG}_f)$. Corollary 3.3.2 ensures that items i) and ii) are still satisfied whereas Lemma 2.3.11 ensures that item iii) holds. We set now

$$D_3 := \{x \in D_2 : (x, \bar{f}(x)) \text{ is a Lebesgue point for } \nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f} \text{ with respect to } |D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|\}$$

The asymptotic doubling property of $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ ensures that items *i*) and *ii*) are still satisfied whereas *iv*) is satisfied thanks to this choice. We set now

 $D_4 := \{x \in D_3 : \text{the conclusions of Proposition 3.2.20 (for <math>(u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2) \text{ and } \mathcal{G}_f) \text{ hold at } (x, \overline{f}(x))\},\$

by Proposition 3.2.20 (and a covering argument, as a priori good splitting maps are defined on balls) items i) and ii) are still satisfied whereas item v) is satisfied thanks to this choice.

The following is a simple consequence of the definition of the set D_f .

Remark 5.1.8. Let D_f be as in Proposition 5.1.7, we keep the same notation. Let $x \in D_f$. By item *iii*) (and the definition of \mathcal{FG}_f), \mathcal{G}_f satisfies the conclusions of Proposition 2.3.3 at $(x, \overline{f}(x))$. Therefore, also the conclusion of Theorem 3.2.21 is in place, in particular, if

$$(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}, 0, H) \in \operatorname{Tan}_{(x, \bar{f}(x))}(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}}, \mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1, \mathcal{G}_f),$$

then

$$H = \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : z \cdot \bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_{(x,\bar{f}(x))}}(x,\bar{f}(x)) \ge 0 \} = \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : z \cdot \tilde{A}(x,\bar{f}(x))\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,\bar{f}(x)) \ge 0 \},$$
(5.1.4)

provided that the coordinates in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} are chosen as limits of appropriate rescalings of the maps $v_{(x,\bar{f}(x))}$ (Remark 3.2.17) (in a suitable realization). Also, notice that (5.1.3) implies that

$$\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,\bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1} = \left(\bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_{(x,\bar{f}(x))}}(x,\bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1} \in [-1,1].$$
(5.1.5)

We are going to use these properties throughout.

The next proposition is the main technical tool of this section. It shows that on D_f the last component of $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$ identifies the Radon–Nikodym derivative of the push forward of the perimeter of the subgraph with respect to the reference measure. This is our first bridge between quantities defined in terms of the subgraph (in $X \times \mathbb{R}$) and quantities defined in terms of the BV_{loc} function (in X). Notice that the claim on the Cantor part is that the normal to the subgraph is horizontal. The proof is a careful blow-up analysis, that uses new techniques as well as very classical techniques of geometric measure theory.

Proposition 5.1.9. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space of essential dimension n and let $f \in \operatorname{BV}_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)$. Let also u be a good splitting map on D and let $D_f \subseteq D \setminus J_f$ be given by Proposition 5.1.7. Then,

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\pi_*^{1} | \mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} | (B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = -\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1}^{-1} \quad for \; |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \text{-a.e.} \; (x, \bar{f}(x)) \in D_f \times \mathbb{R}, \tag{5.1.6}$$

where the right hand side has to be understood as $+\infty$ where $\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,\bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1} = 0$.

In particular, we can compute the Radon–Nikodym derivative as follows:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\pi_*^{\mathrm{I}}|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|}{\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}} = -\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,\bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1}^{-1} \quad \text{for } \mathsf{m}\text{-}a.e. \ x \in D_f.$$
(5.1.7)

Proof. First, if $x \in \mathcal{R}_n^*(\mathsf{X})$, we have,

$$\Theta_{n}(\mathsf{m},x) = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{r}(x))}{\omega_{n}r^{n}} = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1})(B_{r}(x,\bar{f}(x)))}{\omega_{n+1}r^{n+1}} = \Theta_{n+1}(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1},(x,\bar{f}(x))),$$

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_{r}(x))}{C_{x}^{r}} = \omega_{n}\frac{(n+1)}{\omega_{n}},$$

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{r\mathsf{m}(B_{r}(x))}{C_{(x,\bar{f}(x))}^{r}} = \omega_{n}\frac{(n+2)}{\omega_{n+1}}.$$
(5.1.8)

Indeed, this can be proved easily taking into account weak convergence of measures and using Fubini's Theorem.

Fix $p := (x, \bar{f}(x))$ with $x \in D_f$. Let $\{r_i\}_i \subseteq (0, \infty)$ with $r_i \searrow 0$. As $x \in D_f \subseteq \mathcal{R}^*_n(X)$, up to passing to a subsequence that we are still going to call $\{r_i\}_i$, we have the convergence

$$\left(\mathsf{X}, r_i^{-1}\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}}, \mathsf{m}_x^{r_i}, x\right) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0),$$

in a realization (Z, d_Z) , where (Z, d_Z) is a proper metric space. Hence also

$$\left(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}, r_i^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}}, (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)_p^{r_i}, p\right) \to (\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}, 0)$$

in the realization $(Z \times \mathbb{R}, d_{Z \times \mathbb{R}})$. We use Remark 3.3.3 together with Proposition 5.1.7 to obtain that, up to passing to a further subsequence that we are still going to call $\{r_i\}_i$,

$$\left(\mathsf{X}\times\mathbb{R},r_i^{-1}\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X}\times\mathbb{R}},(\mathsf{m}\otimes\mathcal{L}^1)_p^{r_i},p,\mathcal{G}_f\right)\to(\mathbb{R}^{n+1},\mathsf{d}_e,\underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1},0,H),$$

in the realization $(\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}})$. Passing to a further subsequence that we are still going to call $\{r_i\}_i$, we choose coordinates in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} as limits of rescalings of $v_{(x,\bar{f}(x))}$ (Remark 3.2.17), hence *H* is as in (5.1.4).

Then we compute, for any $M \in (0,\infty)$ (notice that $|D\chi_H| (\partial (B_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0) \times B_M^{\mathbb{R}}(0))) = 0)$

$$\lim_{i} \frac{r_i |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \left(B_{r_i}(x) \times B_{r_iM}(\bar{f}(x)) \right)}{C_p^{r_i}} = \lim_{i} |\mathcal{D}\chi_{(\mathcal{G}_f)_i}| \left(B_1^i(x) \times B_M^i(\bar{f}(x)) \right)$$
$$= |\mathcal{D}\chi_H| \left(B_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0) \times B_M^{\mathbb{R}}(0) \right),$$

so that, by (5.1.8) and (2.2.11),

$$\lim_{i} \frac{|\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_{f}}| \left(B_{r_{i}}(x) \times B_{r_{i}M}(f(x)) \right)}{r_{i}^{n}} = \Theta_{n}(\mathsf{m}, x) \omega_{n}^{-1} \mathcal{H}^{n} \left(\partial H \cap \left(B_{1}^{\mathbb{R}^{n}}(0) \times B_{M}^{\mathbb{R}}(0) \right) \right).$$

In what follows, we are going to use the Lebesgue value for $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p)$.

Step 1: the case $\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p)\right)_{n+1} = 0$. Then $H = H' \times \mathbb{R}$ for some half-space $H' \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, so that

$$\liminf_{i} \frac{\pi_*^1 | \mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} | (B_{r_i}(x))}{r_i^n} \ge \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \omega_n^{-1} \mathcal{H}^n \big(\partial (H' \times \mathbb{R}) \cap (B_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0) \times B_M^{\mathbb{R}}(0) \big) = \omega_n^{-1} 2M \omega_{n-1}.$$

Being M arbitrary,

$$\liminf_{i} \frac{\pi_*^1 | \mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B_{r_i}(x))}{r_i^n} = +\infty$$

5.1. MAIN RESULTS

and, being the sequence $\{r_i\}_i$ chosen before arbitrary,

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\pi^1_* | \mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} | (B_r(x))}{r^n} = +\infty.$$

Step 2: non-positivity of $(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p))_{n+1}$. Take $x \in D_f$ such that

$$\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_{f}}^{u}(x,\bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1} \neq 0$$
 (5.1.9)

and set, as before, $p := (x, \overline{f}(x))$. Let

$$\pm B_{\varepsilon} := B_{\varepsilon}^{\mathsf{Z}}(0^{\mathbb{R}^n}) \times B_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{R}}(\pm 1^{\mathbb{R}}) \subseteq \mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}$$

for $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ small enough so that $(\pm B_{\varepsilon}) \cap \partial H \neq \emptyset$, that exists by (5.1.9). Now, by convergence in L^1_{loc} and Fubini's Theorem

$$\underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}(H \cap (\pm B_{\varepsilon})) = \lim_{i} (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1})_{p}^{r_{i}}((\mathcal{G}_{f})_{i} \cap \pm B_{\varepsilon})$$

$$= \lim_{i} (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1})_{p}^{r_{i}}((\mathcal{G}_{f})_{i} \cap (B_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x) \times B_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\pm r_{i})))$$

$$= \lim_{i} \frac{(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{1})(\mathcal{G}_{f} \cap (B_{\varepsilon r_{i}}(x) \times B_{\varepsilon r_{i}}(\pm r_{i})))}{C_{p}^{r_{i}}}$$

$$= \lim_{i} \frac{1}{C_{p}^{r_{i}}} \int_{B_{\varepsilon r_{i}}(x)} \mathcal{H}^{1}((\{z\} \times B_{\varepsilon r_{i}}(\pm r_{i})) \cap \mathcal{G}_{f}) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}^{i}(z).$$

Therefore, recalling the definition of \mathcal{G}_f we obtain

$$\underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}(H \cap (-B_{\varepsilon})) - \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}(H \cap B_{\varepsilon}) \ge 0,$$

whence the claim follows.

Step 3: the case $\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p)\right)_{n+1} \neq 0$. We set (by (5.1.5))

$$\alpha := \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p)\right)_{n+1} \in [-1,1] \setminus \{0\}.$$

Set also

$$\beta := \sqrt{1 - \alpha^2} \vee 1/2 \in (0, 1).$$

An immediate computation yields that $\partial H \cap B_1^{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}}(0) \subseteq B_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0) \times B_{\beta}^{\mathbb{R}}(0)$ whence

$$\lim_{i} \frac{r_i |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \left(B_{r_i}(p) \setminus (\mathsf{X} \times B_{\beta r_i}(\bar{f}(x))) \right)}{C_p^{r_i}} = \lim_{i} |\mathrm{D}\chi_{(\mathcal{G}_f)_i}| \left(B_1^i(p) \setminus (\mathsf{X} \times B_\beta^i(\bar{f}(x))) \right) = 0,$$

hence, by arbitrariness of the sequence $\{r_i\}_i$ chosen before and by (5.1.8),

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \left(B_r(p) \setminus (\mathsf{X} \times B_{\beta r}(\bar{f}(x))) \right)}{r^n} = 0.$$
(5.1.10)

Now, for $\gamma \in (0, \infty)$ and $(x, t) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}$, we denote the cone

$$C_{\gamma}(x,t) := \{(y,s) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : \gamma \mathsf{d}(y,x) \ge |s-t|\}.$$

 Set

$$\gamma := \sqrt{\frac{1+\beta}{1-\beta}} \in (1,\infty).$$

Now we claim that

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B_r(p) \setminus C_{\gamma}(p))}{r^n} = 0.$$
(5.1.11)

This will follow from a "cube-density implies cone-density" argument exploiting (5.1.10). In order to prove the claim, fix $\delta \in (0, 1)$. By (5.1.10), we can take $\tilde{r}_0 > 0$ small enough so that

$$\sup_{r \in (0,\tilde{r}_0)} \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \left(B_r(p) \setminus (\mathsf{X} \times B_{\beta r}(\bar{f}(x))) \right)}{r^n} < \delta.$$
(5.1.12)

Notice that

$$B_{\tilde{r}_0}(p) \setminus C_{\gamma}(p) \subseteq \bigcup_i B_{\tilde{r}_i}(p) \setminus (\mathsf{X} \times B_{\beta \tilde{r}_i}(\bar{f}(x))),$$
(5.1.13)

where for any $i \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i \ge 1$ we defined

$$\tilde{r}_i := \beta \sqrt{\frac{\gamma^2 + 1}{\gamma^2}} \tilde{r}_{i-1} = \left(\beta \sqrt{\frac{\gamma^2 + 1}{\gamma^2}}\right)^i \tilde{r}_0.$$

Given that by (5.1.12)

$$|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \left(B_{\tilde{r}_i}(p) \setminus (\mathsf{X} \times B_{\beta \tilde{r}_i}(p)) \right) \le \delta \tilde{r}_i^n = \delta \left(\beta \sqrt{\frac{\gamma^2 + 1}{\gamma^2}} \right)^{ni} \tilde{r}_0^n,$$

it follows from the inclusion in (5.1.13) that

$$\frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B_{\tilde{r}_0}(p)\setminus C_{\gamma}(p))}{\tilde{r}_0^n} \leq \delta \sum_i \left(\beta \sqrt{\frac{\gamma^2+1}{\gamma^2}}\right)^{ni}.$$

Then, (5.1.11) is proved, thanks to the arbitrariness of $\delta > 0$ and the finiteness of the sum at the right hand side (by the definition of γ).

Step 4: making the estimate (5.1.11) of Step 4 "set theoretic". Let $\varepsilon > 0$. We show that there exists a set $\Sigma = \Sigma_{\varepsilon} \subseteq (D_f \times \mathbb{R}) \cap \mathcal{FG}_f$ with

$$|\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|\big(\big\{(x,\bar{f}(x))\in\mathcal{F}\mathcal{G}_f:x\in D_f,\big(\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x,\bar{f}(x))\big)_{n+1}\neq 0\big\}\setminus\Sigma\big)<\varepsilon\tag{5.1.14}$$

and such that there exist $\gamma \in (1, \infty)$ and $r_0 \in (0, 1)$ satisfying

$$(\Sigma \cap B_{r_0}(p)) \setminus C_{2\gamma}(p) = \emptyset \quad \text{for every } p \in \Sigma.$$
(5.1.15)

We do it using a standard argument, see e.g. the proof of [117, Theorem 1.6]. Take indeed $\Sigma \subseteq (D_f \times \mathbb{R}) \cap \mathcal{FG}_f$ satisfying (5.1.14) and

• \bar{f} is continuous on $\pi^1(\Sigma)$

106

5.1. MAIN RESULTS

• there exists $\gamma \in (1, \infty)$ such that for any $\delta \in (0, 1)$ there exists $\hat{r}_0 = \hat{r}_0(\delta) \in (0, 1)$ such that, for every $r \in (0, 2\hat{r}_0)$ and $p \in \Sigma$,

$$\frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(\Sigma \cap B_r(p))}{\Theta_{n+1}(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1, p)\omega_n r^n} \ge 1 - \delta \qquad \text{and} \qquad \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|((\Sigma \cap B_r(p)) \setminus C_{\gamma}(p))}{\Theta_{n+1}(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1, p)\omega_n r^n} \le \delta. \tag{5.1.16}$$

This is possible thanks to Lusin's and Egorov's Theorems, taking into account (5.1.8), Remark 3.3.3, (5.1.11) of **Step 3** and an exhaustion argument, keeping in mind the fact that in (5.1.14) we are estimating the perimeter of a set of points $(x, \bar{f}(x))$ satisfying $\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_{f}}^{u}(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1} \neq 0$.

We aim to show that if $\delta \in (0, 1)$ is small enough (to be determined later), then this choice of Σ and \hat{r}_0 satisfies also (5.1.15). Assume now that there exist $p \in \Sigma$ and $q \in (\Sigma \cap B_{\hat{r}_0}(p)) \setminus C_{2\gamma}(p)$. Then denoting $\tilde{d} := d_{X \times \mathbb{R}}$ for brevity,

$$B_{\rho}(q) \subseteq B_{\tilde{\mathsf{d}}(p,q)+\rho}(p) \setminus C_{\gamma}(p), \quad \text{where } \rho := \tilde{\mathsf{d}}(p,q)\sin(\arctan(2\gamma) - \arctan(\gamma)) > 0. \quad (5.1.17)$$

Therefore, we can estimate, by (5.1.16) for what concerns the first and last inequalities (notice that $\tilde{d}(p,q) + \rho \leq 2\tilde{d}(p,q) < 2\hat{r}_0$), by (5.1.17) for the central inequality

$$\delta \geq \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \left((\Sigma \cap B_{\tilde{\mathsf{d}}(p,q)+\rho}(p)) \setminus C_{\gamma}(p) \right)}{\Theta_{n+1}(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1, p) \omega_n(\tilde{\mathsf{d}}(p,q)+\rho)^n} \geq \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| (\Sigma \cap B_{\rho}(q))}{\Theta_{n+1}(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1, p) \omega_n(\tilde{\mathsf{d}}(p,q)+\rho)^n} \\ \geq (1-\delta) \frac{\rho^n}{(\tilde{\mathsf{d}}(p,q)+\rho)^n} = (1-\delta) \frac{\left(\sin(\arctan(2\gamma)-\arctan(\gamma))\right)^n}{\left(1+\sin(\arctan(2\gamma)-\arctan(\gamma))\right)^n},$$

which leads to a contradiction provided $\delta > 0$ was chosen small enough (depending on γ), proving thus (5.1.15).

Step 5: improved blow-up argument. Let Σ, γ and \hat{r}_0 be given by **Step 4**. We prove that if $x \in \pi^1(\Sigma)$, then

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\pi_*^1(|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \, \lfloor \, \Sigma)(B_r(x))}{r^n} = -\Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \big(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p)\big)_{n+1}^{-1}.$$
(5.1.18)

Fix $x \in \pi^1(\Sigma)$ and set $p := (x, \bar{f}(x)) \in \Sigma$. Up to removing from Σ a $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -negligible subset, we can moreover assume that

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{r |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| (B_r(p) \setminus \Sigma)}{C_p^r} = 0.$$
(5.1.19)

Indeed, this follows from the asymptotically doubling property of $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$, recalling (5.1.8).

Since \bar{f} is continuous on $\pi^1(\Sigma)$, there exists $\hat{r}_1 \in (0, \hat{r}_0/\sqrt{2})$ such that $|\bar{f}(y) - \bar{f}(x)| < \hat{r}_0/\sqrt{2}$ for all $y \in B_{\hat{r}_1}(x) \cap \pi^1(\Sigma)$. By $\Sigma \subseteq (D_f \times \mathbb{R}) \cap \mathcal{FG}_f, \Sigma \subseteq \{(x,t) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : t = \bar{f}(x)\}$, so that

$$\Sigma \cap (B_{\hat{r}_1}(x) \times \mathbb{R}) \subseteq \Sigma \cap B_{\hat{r}_0}(p) \subseteq C_{2\gamma}(x, f(x))$$
(5.1.20)

by (5.1.15) of **Step 4**. Now we compute, by (5.1.20),

$$\limsup_{i} \frac{r_i |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \sqcup \Sigma(B_{r_i}(x) \times \mathbb{R})}{C_p^{r_i}} = \limsup_{i} \frac{r_i |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \sqcup \Sigma(B_{r_i}(x) \times B_{2\gamma r_i}(\bar{f}(x)))}{C_p^{r_i}}$$
$$\leq \lim_{i} |\mathrm{D}\chi_{(\mathcal{G}_f)_i}| (B_1^i(x) \times B_{2\gamma}^i(\bar{f}(x)))$$
$$= |\mathrm{D}\chi_H| (B_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0) \times B_{2\gamma}^{\mathbb{R}}(0)) \leq |\mathrm{D}\chi_H| (B_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0) \times \mathbb{R}).$$

On the other hand, recalling (5.1.19) and the computation right before **Step 1**, for any $M \in (0, \infty)$,

$$\liminf_{i} \frac{r_i | \mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} | \sqcup \Sigma(B_{r_i}(x) \times \mathbb{R})}{C_p^{r_i}} \ge \liminf_{i} \frac{r_i | \mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} | \sqcup \Sigma(B_{r_i}(x) \times B_{Mr_i}(\bar{f}(x)))}{C_p^{r_i}}$$
$$= \liminf_{i} \frac{r_i | \mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} | (B_{r_i}(x) \times B_{Mr_i}(\bar{f}(x)))}{C_p^{r_i}}$$
$$= \lim_{i} | \mathcal{D}\chi_{(\mathcal{G}_f)_i} | (B_1^i(x) \times B_M^i(\bar{f}(x)))$$
$$= | \mathcal{D}\chi_H | (B_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0) \times B_M^{\mathbb{R}}(0)).$$

Hence, by the arbitrariness of M,

$$\lim_{i} \frac{r_i |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \, {\sqcup} \, \Sigma(B_{r_i}(x) \times \mathbb{R})}{C_p^{r_i}} = |\mathcal{D}\chi_H| (B_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0) \times B_1^{\mathbb{R}}(0)),$$

and, being the sequence $\{r_i\}_i$ chosen before arbitrary, recalling also (5.1.8) and Step 2,

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\pi_*^1(|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \sqsubseteq \Sigma)(B_r(x))}{r^n} = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \sqsubseteq \Sigma(B_r(x) \times \mathbb{R})}{r^n}$$
$$= \Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \left(\omega_n \frac{n+2}{\omega_{n+1}}\right)^{-1} |\mathrm{D}\chi_H| (B_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(0) \times \mathbb{R})$$
$$= -\Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \left(\omega_n \frac{n+2}{\omega_{n+1}}\right)^{-1} \frac{n+2}{\omega_{n+1}} \omega_n \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p)\right)_{n+1}^{-1}$$
$$= -\Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p)\right)_{n+1}^{-1},$$
(5.1.21)

that is (5.1.18).

Step 6: proof of (5.1.6). For $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, denote by Σ_{ε} the set given by Step 4 for this value of ε . We first prove (5.1.6) for $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $(x, \overline{f}(x)) \in (D_f \cap C_f) \times \mathbb{R}$. Namely, we prove that for $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $(x, \overline{f}(x)) \in (D_f \cap C_f) \times \mathbb{R}$, then

$$\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_{f}}^{u}(x,\bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1} = 0$$
 and $\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\pi_{*}^{1} |D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_{f}}|(B_{r}(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_{r}(x))} = \infty.$ (5.1.22)

Now, by (5.1.18) of **Step 5** and [31, Theorem 2.4.3] together with an exhaustion argument, we have that

 $\pi^1_*(|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \, {{\textstyle \, \sqsubseteq}} \, \Sigma_\varepsilon) \ll \mathcal{H}^n \, {{\textstyle \, \sqsubseteq}} \, \mathcal{R}^*_n(\mathsf{X}) \ll \mathsf{m},$

hence, letting $\varepsilon \searrow 0$ along a vanishing sequence we obtain by (5.1.14) that (as $\mathsf{m}(C_f) = 0$)

$$|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|\big(\big\{(x,\bar{f}(x))\in\mathcal{F}\mathcal{G}_f:x\in D_f\cap C_f,\big(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,\bar{f}(x))\big)_{n+1}\neq 0\big\}\big)=0,$$

which is the first claim in (5.1.22). Now we show that

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}f|(B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = \infty \quad \text{for } |\mathrm{D}f|\text{-a.e. } x \in D_f \cap C_f.$$
(5.1.23)

This can be easily proved with a classical exhaustion and covering argument. Indeed, assume by contradiction that there exists a compact set $K \subseteq D_f \cap C_f$ with |Df|(K) > 0 and

$$\liminf_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}f|(B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} < M$$
5.1. MAIN RESULTS

for some $M \in (0,\infty)$. Let also $\delta \in (0,1)$. For every $x \in K$, choose r_x such that $r_x/5 \in (0,\delta)$ and $|\mathrm{D}f|(B_{r_x}(x)) < M\mathfrak{m}(B_{r_x}(x))$. Now the conclusion comes applying Vitali's covering Theorem together with the fact that $\mathfrak{m}(B_{\delta}(K)) \to 0$ as $\delta \searrow 0$ and the local doubling property of \mathfrak{m} . Then the second claim in (5.1.22) follows, using (2.3.13) twice.

Now we prove (5.1.6) for $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $(x, \overline{f}(x)) \in (D_f \setminus C_f) \times \mathbb{R}$. First notice that combining (5.1.1), Proposition 2.3.12 and the fact that $D_f \cap J_f = \emptyset$, we have

$$\mathsf{m} \, \sqcup \, D_f \ll (\pi^1_* | \mathsf{D} \chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} |) \, \sqcup \, (D_f \setminus C_f) \ll \mathsf{m}.$$
(5.1.24)

By (5.1.21) of **Step 5** and differentiation of measures (e.g. combining [95, (3.4.24) and (3.4.32)] with the doubling property of m),

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\pi_*^1 |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\pi_*^1 |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(\pi^1(\Sigma_{\varepsilon}) \cap B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\pi_*^1(|\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \sqsubseteq \Sigma_{\varepsilon})(B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))}$$
$$= -\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1}^{-1},$$

for m-a.e. $x \in \pi^1(\Sigma_{\varepsilon})$, being m locally doubling. By (5.1.14) and (5.1.24), if we let $\varepsilon \searrow 0$ along a sequence, we see that

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\pi_*^1 | \mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} | (B_r(x))}{\mathsf{m}(B_r(x))} = - \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1}^{-1}$$

for m-a.e. $x \in D_f \setminus C_f$ such that $\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1}^{-1} \neq 0$. Recalling (5.1.24) again, we have proved (5.1.6) for $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $(x, \bar{f}(x)) \in (D_f \setminus C_f) \times \mathbb{R}$ such that $\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1} \neq 0$. To conclude, it is enough to notice that by **Step 1**, (5.1.6) is satisfied for $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $(x, \bar{f}(x)) \in D_f \times \mathbb{R}$ such that $\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1} = 0$.

Step 7: proof of (5.1.7). First recall that by (2.3.13) it holds

$$(\pi^1_*|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|) \sqcup (\mathsf{X} \setminus (C_f \cup J_f)) \ll \mathsf{m} \quad \text{and} \quad (\pi^1_*|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|) \sqcup (C_f \cup J_f) \perp \mathsf{m},$$

as $|Df| \sqcup (X \setminus (C_f \cup J_f)) \ll m$ and $m(C_f) = m(J_f) = 0$. Then (5.1.7) follow from the Radon–Nikodym Theorem, see e.g. [95, Remark 3.4.29] and (5.1.6), taking into account (2.3.13) again.

The following lemma completes the analysis of Proposition 5.1.9 on D_f : it studies the first n components of ν_f^u and $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$ on D_f , which are the ones left out from the previous proposition (notice that the relation is the one satisfied by smooth maps on Euclidean spaces, even though our statement holds also for the Cantor part). In view of it, notice that (5.1.25) below is well defined thanks to (2.3.13).

Lemma 5.1.10. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space of essential dimension n and let $f \in \operatorname{BV}_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)$. Let also u be a good splitting map on D and let $D_f \subseteq D \setminus J_f$ be given by Proposition 5.1.7. Then,

$$\sqrt{1 - \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1}^2} \nu_f^u(x) = \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{1,\dots,n} \quad \text{for } |\mathrm{D}f| \text{-a.e. } x \in D_f.$$
(5.1.25)

Proof. By coarea and the representation formula (3.5.2), it is enough to show that for a.e. $t \in \mathbb{R}$ it holds

$$\sqrt{1 - \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1}^2} \nu_f^u(x) = \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{1,\dots,n} \quad \text{for } \mathcal{H}^{n-1}\text{-a.e. } x \in D_f \cap \mathcal{F}E_t,$$

where, as usual, $E_t := \{f > t\}$. By Lemma 4.2.1, the equality above reads, for a.e. $t \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\sqrt{1 - \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1}^2} \nu_{\chi_{E_t}}^u(x) = \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{1,\dots,n} \quad \text{for } \mathcal{H}^{n-1}\text{-a.e. } x \in D_f \cap \mathcal{F}E_t. \quad (5.1.26)$$

Fix t such that E_t is a set of finite perimeter, it is enough prove (5.1.26) for this value of t at $x \in D_f \cap \mathcal{F}E_t$ satisfying the conclusions of Proposition 3.2.20 (for u and E_t). Set for brevity $p := (x, \bar{f}(x))$. We are going to use the notation of Proposition 5.1.7 with $v_x := A(x)u$.

By Remark 3.3.3, the assumptions on x and the membership $x \in D_f$, we can find a sequence $r_i \searrow 0$, two half-spaces $H \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ and $H' \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and a proper metric space $(\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}})$ such that

$$(\mathsf{X}, r_i^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_x^{r_i}, x, E_t) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0, H'), (\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}, r_i^{-1}\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}}, (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)_p^{r_i}, p, \mathcal{G}_f) \to (\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}, 0, H),$$

in the realizations Z and $Z \times \mathbb{R}$, respectively. Also,

$$H' = \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^n : y \cdot \bar{\nu}_{E_t}^{v_x} \ge 0 \} \quad \text{and} \quad H = \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : z \cdot \bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p} \ge 0 \},$$
(5.1.27)

where we chose the coordinates on \mathbb{R}^{n+1} as limits of appropriate rescalings of v_p (Remark 3.2.17).

Notice also that

$$\{(y,s) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : s < t\} \to \{(y,s) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} : s < 0\} \qquad \text{in } L^1_{\mathrm{loc}},$$

in the realization $\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, by stability (e.g. [10, Lemma 3.5]) we deduce that

$$\{(y,s) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : s < f(y), s < t\} = \mathcal{G}_f \cap (\mathsf{X} \times (-\infty, t)) \to H \cap \{(y,s) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} : s < 0\} \qquad \text{in } L^1_{\text{loc.}}$$

$$(5.1.28)$$

Also, using Fubini's Theorem and dominated convergence, we see that

$$E_t \times (-\infty, t) \to H' \times (-\infty, 0) \quad \text{in } L^1_{\text{loc}}.$$
 (5.1.29)

Given that $E_t \times (-\infty, t) = \{(y, s) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : t < f(y), s < t\} \subseteq \{(y, s) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : s < f(y), s < t\}$ we obtain from (5.1.28) and (5.1.29) that

$$H' \times (-\infty, 0) \subseteq H \cap \{(y, s) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} : s < 0\},\$$

so that, recalling (5.1.27),

$$\bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p} = \left(\alpha \bar{\nu}_{E_t}^{v_x}, \left(\bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p}\right)_{n+1}\right) \quad \text{for some } \alpha \in [0, 1].$$

Now, as

$$1 = \left| \bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p} \right|^2 = \alpha^2 \left| \bar{\nu}_{E_t}^{v_x} \right|^2 + \left(\bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p} \right)_{n+1}^2 = \alpha^2 + \left(\bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p} \right)_{n+1}$$

recalling (3.2.15) (for u and χ_{E_t}), (5.1.3) and the fact that A(x) is invertible, (5.1.26) follows.

The following result is a type of area formula: on the regular part (i.e. outside Cantor and jump part), the area factor (that, for smooth maps, reads $\sqrt{1+|\nabla f|^2}$) corresponds to the Radon–Nikodym derivative of the perimeter with respect to the reference measure (such object is related to the last component of the normal of the subgraph by Proposition 5.1.9). Our proof is via blow-up, exploiting the results of [57] for what concerns Lipschitz functions, and then by approximation for the general case.

5.1. MAIN RESULTS

Lemma 5.1.11 (Area formula). Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f \in BV_{loc}(X)$. Then we have the following expression for the Radon–Nikodym derivative:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\pi^1_*|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|}{\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}}(x) = \sqrt{g_f(x)^2 + 1} \qquad for \ \mathsf{m}\text{-}a.e. \ x \in \mathsf{X} \setminus (C_f \cup J_f).$$

Proof. By Lemma 3.2.19 and Proposition 5.1.7 we can fix u, a good splitting map on D and prove the claim for m-a.e. $x \in D_f$, where the set D_f is the one obtained in Proposition 5.1.7. Also, m-a.e. $x \in D_f$ it holds that $\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x, \bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1} < 0$, by Proposition 5.1.9. Clearly, there is no loss of generality in assuming $f \in BV(X)$.

Case $f \in BV(X) \cap LIP(X)$. First, recall [24, Proposition 6.3] and [57], which imply that $|Df| = (\lim f)m$. Take $p := (x, \overline{f}(x))$ with $x \in D_f$. We take $\{x_i\}_i \subseteq X$ with $x_i \to x$ and

$$\lim_{i} \frac{f(x_i) - f(x)}{\mathsf{d}(x_i, x)} = \pm \mathrm{lip} f(x),$$

where the choice of the sign is any possible choice. Set $r_i := \mathsf{d}(x, x_i)$, and notice that we can, and will, assume that $r_i \searrow 0$. Therefore (Remark 3.3.3), up to not relabelled subsequences, we have that

$$\left(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}, r_i^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}}, (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)_p^{r_i}, p, \mathcal{G}_f\right) \to (\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}, 0, H),$$

where H is the half-space

$$H := \left\{ y \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : y \cdot \bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p}(p) \ge 0 \right\},\$$

(see Proposition 5.1.7 for the notation) and this convergence is realized in a proper metric space $(\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}})$ with respect to isometric embeddings $\iota_i : (\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}, r_i^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}}) \to (\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}})$ and $\iota_{\infty} : (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_e) \to (\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}})$. Therefore, up to a not relabelled subsequence, $\iota_i(x_i, f(x_i)) \to \iota_{\infty}(\bar{z}, \pm \mathrm{lip}f(x))$ in $\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}$, where $|\bar{z}| = 1$.

Now we recall the first equality in (5.1.5), and we set for ease of notation

$$\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \ni \bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p}(p) = (\hat{\nu}, \nu_{n+1}) = \left(\hat{\nu}, \nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p)_{n+1}\right),$$

for some $\hat{\nu} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $|\hat{\nu}|^2 + \nu_{n+1}^2 = 1$. Hence, $\partial H = \{(z,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} : z \cdot \hat{\nu} + t\nu_{n+1} = 0\}$. In particular, if $\nu_{n+1} \neq -1$, for every $(z,t) \in \partial H$,

$$z \cdot \frac{\hat{\nu}}{|\hat{\nu}|} \sqrt{(-\nu_{n+1})^{-2} - 1} = t,$$

so that

$$(-\nu_{n+1})^{-1} = \sup_{(z,t)\in\partial H:|z|=1}\sqrt{t^2+1}.$$
(5.1.30)

Notice that (5.1.30) holds even if $\nu_{n+1} = -1$. Now we claim that

$$\left(-\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(p)\right)_{n+1}^{-1} = \sqrt{\operatorname{lip}f(x)^2 + 1}.$$
 (5.1.31)

Set $\bar{q} := (\bar{z}, \pm \text{lip}f(x))$. Therefore, if we show that $\bar{q} \in \partial H$, it will follow by (5.1.30) the inequality (\geq) in (5.1.31). Take $\bar{q}' = (\bar{z}, t)$ such that $\bar{q}' \in \partial H$, we want to show that $\bar{q} = \bar{q}'$. By weak convergence rescaled perimeters and Lemma 2.3.11, we find a sequence of points $\{(x'_i, f(x'_i))\}_i \subseteq$

 $\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}$ with $\iota_i(x'_i, f(x'_i)) \to \iota_{\infty}(\bar{q}')$ in $\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}$. Now we compute, if L denotes the global Lipschitz constant of f,

$$|\pm \operatorname{lip} f(x) - t| = \lim_{i} \frac{|f(x_i) - f(x'_i)|}{r_i} \leq \limsup_{i} L \frac{\mathsf{d}(x_i, x'_i)}{r_i} = \limsup_{i} L \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}}(\iota_i(x_i), \iota_i(x'_i))$$
$$\leq \limsup_{i} L(\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}}(\iota_i(x_i), \iota_{\infty}(\bar{z})) + \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}}(\iota_i(x'_i), \iota_{\infty}(\bar{z}))) = 0.$$

This shows that $t = \pm \operatorname{lip} f(x)$ and hence that $\partial H \ni \overline{q}' = \overline{q}$.

Now we show the inequality (\leq) in (5.1.31), again using (5.1.30). Take any $\bar{q} := (\bar{z}, t) \in \partial H$ with $|\bar{z}| = 1$. As before, we find $\{(x_i, f(x_i))\}_i \subseteq X \times \mathbb{R}$ with $\iota_i(x_i, f(x_i)) \to \iota_{\infty}(\bar{q})$ in $Z \times \mathbb{R}$. But then

$$\begin{split} |t| &= \lim_{i} \frac{|f(x_{i}) - f(x)|}{r_{i}} = \lim_{i} \frac{|f(x_{i}) - f(x)|}{\mathsf{d}(x_{i}, x)} \frac{\mathsf{d}(x_{i}, x)}{r_{i}} \\ &\leq \limsup_{i} \frac{|f(x_{i}) - f(x)|}{\mathsf{d}(x_{i}, x)} \limsup_{i} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}}(\iota_{i}(x_{i}), \iota_{i}(x)) \leq \operatorname{lip} f(x) |(\bar{z}, 0)| = \operatorname{lip} f(x). \end{split}$$

Case $f \in BV(X)$. Let $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ and, by [99, Proposition 4.3], take $h \in BV(X) \cap LIP(X)$ with $m(\{h \neq f\}) < \varepsilon$. Recall Proposition 5.1.7 and call

$$\hat{D}_{\varepsilon} := (D_f \cap D_h \cap \{h = \bar{f}\}) \setminus C_f.$$

It will be enough to prove the claim for m-a.e. $x \in \hat{D}_{\varepsilon}$, by the arbitrariness of ε . Notice that by [99, Proposition 3.7], $|D(f - h)|(\hat{D}_{\varepsilon}) = 0$, in particular,

$$g_f = \operatorname{lip} h$$
 m-a.e. on \tilde{D}_{ε} . (5.1.32)

Now notice that m-a.e. $x \in \hat{D}_{\varepsilon}$ satisfies

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{(|\mathbf{D}h| + \mathbf{m})(B_r(x) \cap \{h \neq f\})}{r^n} = 0.$$
(5.1.33)

This follows since $|Dh| \leq Lm$, where L is the Lipschitz constant of h, as m is locally doubling and concentrated on $\mathcal{R}_n^*(X)$. Take $x \in \hat{D}_{\varepsilon}$ satisfying (5.1.33). We prove that at $p := (x, h(x)), |D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_h}|$ and $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_h}| \wedge |D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$, properly rescaled and in suitable realizations, have the same weak limit. Indeed, we compute, by (3.5.1) together with Remark 3.5.2 for the first inequality, Lemma 2.3.11 for the second inequality and (2.3.13) for the last inequality,

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{r\searrow 0} \frac{\left(|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_h}| - |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_h}| \wedge |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|\right)(B_r(p))}{r^n} &\leq \limsup_{r\searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_h}|(B_r(p)\setminus\partial^*\mathcal{G}_f)}{r^n} \\ &\leq \limsup_{r\searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_h}|(\{(y,t)\in B_r(p):h(y)\neq\bar{f}(y)\})}{r^n} \\ &\leq \limsup_{r\searrow 0} \frac{\pi_*^1|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_h}|(B_r(x)\cap\{h\neq\bar{f}\})}{r^n} \\ &\leq \limsup_{r\searrow 0} \frac{(|\mathrm{D}h|+\mathsf{m})(B_r(x)\cap\{h\neq f\})}{r^n}, \end{split}$$

5.1. MAIN RESULTS

whence, taking into account Remark 3.3.3 and the fact that x satisfies (5.1.33),

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{r\left(|\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_h}| - |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_h}| \wedge |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|\right)(B_r(p))}{C_{p_x}^r} = 0.$$
(5.1.34)

Now, as $x \in D_f \cap D_h$, we can find a sequence $r_i \searrow 0$, two half-spaces $H_1, H_2 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ such that

$$(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}, r_i^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}}, (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)_p^{r_i}, p, \mathcal{G}_h) \to (\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}, 0, H_f), (\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}, r_i^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}}, (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)_p^{r_i}, p, \mathcal{G}_f) \to (\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}, 0, H_g).$$

Here (see Proposition 5.1.7 for the notation),

$$H_f = \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}, y \cdot \bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_h}^{v_p} \ge 0 \}, \quad \text{and} \quad H_g = \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}, y \cdot \bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p} \ge 0 \},$$

where we chose the coordinates on \mathbb{R}^{n+1} as limits of rescalings of v_p (Remark 3.2.17). Now, (5.1.34) implies that $\bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_h}^{v_p} = \pm \bar{\nu}_{\mathcal{G}_f}^{v_p}$. With this in mind, Proposition 5.1.9 (together with (5.1.1) and the first equality in (5.1.5) both for \mathcal{G}_h and \mathcal{G}_f) implies that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\pi_*^1|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}} = -\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,\bar{f}(x))\right)_{n+1}^{-1} = -\left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_h}^u(x,h(x))\right)_{n+1}^{-1} \qquad \text{for \mathbf{m}-a.e. $x \in D_{\varepsilon}$,}$$

so that the claim follows from what proved in the first **Case** of the proof and (5.1.32).

With by now standard tools of geometric measure theory, exploiting the rectifiability Theorem 3.4.1 together with the representation formula (3.5.2) of Theorem 3.5.1 (in particular, Theorem 3.1.1), we obtain the following result.

Lemma 5.1.12. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of finite perimeter. Then

$$(\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \, \sqcup \, \mathcal{F}E) \otimes \mathcal{H}^1 = \mathcal{H}^n \, \sqcup \, (\mathcal{F}E \times \mathbb{R})$$

as measures on $X \times \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. Using Theorem 3.4.1 and Corollary 3.3.2 together with Remark 3.5.2, we can use [27, Theorem 5.4] (actually, the result of [100] is enough for this purpose) and see that

$$\Theta_{n-1}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E, x) = \lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E(B_r(x))}{\omega_{n-1}r^{n-1}} = 1 \quad \text{for } \mathcal{H}^{n-1}\text{-a.e. } x \in \mathcal{F}E.$$

By Fubini's Theorem and what remarked above,

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{(\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \otimes \mathcal{H}^1) \sqcup (\mathcal{F}E \times \mathbb{R})(B_r(x,t))}{\omega_n r^n} = 1 \quad \text{for } \mathcal{H}^{n-1}\text{-a.e. } x \in \mathcal{F}E, \text{ for every } t \in \mathbb{R}. \quad (5.1.35)$$

In particular, (5.1.35) holds for $(\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \otimes \mathcal{H}^1)$ -a.e. $(x,t) \in (\mathcal{F}E \times \mathbb{R})$, so that [31, Theorem 2.4.3] yields that

$$(\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F}E) \otimes \mathcal{H}^1 \ll \mathcal{H}^n \sqcup (\mathcal{F}E \times \mathbb{R}).$$

Moreover, a simple covering argument shows that if $N \subseteq \mathcal{F}E$ is \mathcal{H}^{n-1} -negligible, then $N \times \mathbb{R} \subseteq \mathcal{F}E \times \mathbb{R}$ is \mathcal{H}^n -negligible, hence (5.1.35) holds for $\mathcal{H}^n \sqcup (\mathcal{F}E \times \mathbb{R})$ -a.e. $(x,t) \in \mathcal{F}E \times \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, with the same arguments as before we can use [27, Theorem 5.4] (which is based on [100]) to conclude.

Notice that, by (2.3.13), $(\pi^1_*|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|) \sqcup J_f = |Df| \sqcup J_f$, hence (5.1.36) below is well posed. The following lemma concludes the section by studying the relation between $\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}$ and ν^u_f on J_f : the normal to the subgraph is perfectly horizontal and is in the same direction of the polar vector of the function. The proof is done reducing to the case in which f is characteristic function (and in such case, the conclusion is trivial), by comparing the normal of the subgraph to the normal of suitable simple functions.

Lemma 5.1.13. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f \in BV_{loc}(X)$. Let also u be a good splitting map on D, then

$$\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,t) = (\nu_f^u(x),0) \qquad \text{for } |\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \text{-a.e. } (x,t) \in (D \cap J_f) \times \mathbb{R}.$$
(5.1.36)

Proof. We can clearly assume $f \in BV(X)$. As stated right before this lemma,

$$(\pi^1_* | \mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f} |) \sqcup J_f = |\mathcal{D}f| \sqcup J_f$$

and we are going to exploit throughout this equality. Now, let $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be countable and dense and such that for every $s \in S$, $E_s := \{f > s\}$ has locally finite perimeter and satisfies the conclusion of Lemma 4.2.1 (this is possible by coarea). As $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ is dense, we can use a partitioning argument to see that it is enough to show the claim on $B \times \mathbb{R}$, where $B \subseteq D \cap J_f$ is a |Df|-measurable set satisfying $s \in (f^{\vee}(x), f^{\wedge}(x))$, for some $s \in S$. By (2.3.6), $B \subseteq \partial^* E_s$. Then (Remark 3.5.2 and (4.2.11)), if $N \subseteq B$ is with $|D\chi_{E_s}|(N) = 0$, then $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(N \times \mathbb{R}) = 0$. In particular, by Corollary 3.3.2, we see that we can assume that $B \subseteq \mathcal{F}E_s$ and, by the assumptions on S, that for every $x \in B$,

$$\nu_f^u(x) = \nu_{E_*}^u(x), \tag{5.1.37}$$

where we fixed Borel representative.

Now, Lemma 5.1.12 together with the fact that graphs have zero (product) measure, implies that

$$\mathcal{H}^{n}(\{(x,t): x \in B, t = f^{\vee}(x)\}) = 0,$$

(here we used also (3.5.1) to deduce that $\mathcal{H}^{n-1} \sqcup \mathcal{F} E_s$ is σ -finite). Then, by (3.5.1),

$$|\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(\{(x,t): x \in B, t = f^{\vee}(x)\}) = 0,$$

and the same equality holds with f^{\wedge} in place of f^{\vee} . Therefore, we can use a partitioning argument to reduce ourselves to prove the claim on $B \times I$, where $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ is an open interval with $s \in I$ and such that for every $x \in B$, $\overline{I} \subseteq (f^{\wedge}(x), f^{\vee}(x))$. Now recall that for every $(x,t) \in B \times I$, then $x \in \mathcal{F}E_s$, so that $(x,t) \in \mathcal{F}(E_s \times \mathbb{R})$ and that using twice (3.5.1) and Lemma 5.1.12, we have that

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \sqcup (B \times I) \le \frac{\omega_n}{\omega_{n+1}} \mathcal{H}^h \sqcup (B \times I) = |\mathrm{D}\chi_{E_s \times \mathbb{R}}| \sqcup (B \times I) = (|\mathrm{D}\chi_{E_s}| \sqcup B) \otimes (\mathcal{L}^1 \sqcup I).$$

Now take $(x,t) \in B \times I$. Then

$$E_t \times (-\infty, t) = \{(y, u) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : t < f(y), u < t\} \subseteq \{(y, u) :\in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : u < f(y), u < t\} = \mathcal{G}_f \cap (\mathsf{X} \times (-\infty, t))$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathsf{X} \setminus E_t) \times [t, \infty) &= \{ (y, u) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : t \ge f(y), u \ge t \} \subseteq \{ (y, u) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} : u \ge f(y), u \ge t \} \\ &= ((\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}) \setminus \mathcal{G}_f) \cap (\mathsf{X} \times [t, \infty)). \end{aligned}$$

Now, if $t \leq s$, then $E_s \subseteq E_t$ so that

 $E_s \times (-\infty, t) \subseteq \mathcal{G}_f$ and $E_s \times (-\infty, t) \subseteq E_s \times \mathbb{R}$

whereas if $t \geq s$, then $E_t \subseteq E_s$ so that

$$(\mathsf{X} \setminus E_s) \times [t, \infty) \subseteq (\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}) \setminus \mathcal{G}_f$$
 and $(\mathsf{X} \setminus E_s) \times [t, \infty) \subseteq (\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}) \setminus (E_s \times \mathbb{R}).$

As, for every $x \in B$, E_s has density 1/2 at x, the inclusions above together with Fubini's Theorem show that $(E_s \times \mathbb{R})\Delta \mathcal{G}_f$ cannot have density 1 at $(x, t) \in B \times I$. Notice also that for $|D\chi_{E_s \times \mathbb{R}}|$ -a.e. $(x, t) \in B \times I$,

$$\nu_{E_s \times \mathbb{R}}^u(x,t) = (\nu_{E_s}^u(x),0).$$

The conclusion then comes from Lemma 4.2.3 and (5.1.37).

5.1.2 Proof of the main results

The main contribution towards the proof of Theorem 5.1.1 is the simple remark that the relative isoperimetric inequality allows us to gain some integrability starting from the finiteness of the total variation.

Proof of Theorem 5.1.1. If $f \in BV_{loc}(X)$, then \mathcal{G}_f has perimeter that is finite on cylinders, thanks to the proof of item (a) in [30, Theorem 5.1]. Conversely, assume that \mathcal{G}_f has finite perimeter on cylinders. Then, the argument in the proof of item (b) of [30, Theorem 5.1] yields that for any $x \in X$ and r > 0,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}}| (B_r(x)) \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

Now we take $t_0 \in (0, \infty)$ big enough so that $\mathsf{m}(\{f > t_0\} \cap B_r(x)) \leq \min\{1, \mathsf{m}(\{f \leq t_0\} \cap B_r(x))\}$ and $\mathsf{m}(\{f < -t_0\} \cap B_r(x)) \leq \min\{1, \mathsf{m}(\{f \geq -t_0\} \cap B_r(x))\}$. This is possible as $f \in L^0(\mathsf{m})$. Thus, taking into account that for \mathcal{L}^1 -a.e. t, $|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\{f>t\}}| = |\mathsf{D}\chi_{\{f<t\}}|$, we obtain from the relative isoperimetric inequality (2.3.2) (that holds with $\lambda = 1$ on finite dimensional RCD spaces, see [93, Section 9] - but this is not important) that

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \mathsf{m}(\{f > t\} \cap B_r(x)) \mathrm{d}t < +\infty \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{-\infty}^{-t_0} \mathsf{m}(\{f < t\} \cap B_r(x)) \mathrm{d}t < +\infty.$$

This implies $f \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ by Fubini's theorem. By coarea, it also follows that $f \in BV_{loc}(X)$.

The last conclusion is an immediate consequence of Lemma 5.1.11 for what concerns the absolutely continuous part and (2.3.13) for what concerns the singular part.

The proofs of Theorem 5.1.3 and Theorem 5.1.4 follow rather easily from the series of preparatory results of Section 5.1.1.

Proof of Theorem 5.1.3. We first show that

$$\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,t) = \left(\sqrt{\frac{1}{1+g_f^2}}g_f\nu_f^u, -\sqrt{\frac{1}{1+g_f^2}}\right)(x) \quad \text{for } |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|\text{-a.e. } (x,t) \in (D \setminus (J_f \cup C_f)) \times \mathbb{R}.$$

Recall that Proposition 5.1.7 imply that we can reduce ourselves to show this claim for $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $(x,t) \in (D_f \setminus C_f) \times \mathbb{R}$ (recall that $D_f \cap J_f = \emptyset$).

For $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $(x,t) \in (\{g_f = 0\} \cap D_f \setminus C_f) \times \mathbb{R}$, by Lemma 5.1.11, Proposition 5.1.9 and (2.3.13) it holds that $(\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x, \bar{f}(x)))_{n+1} = -1$, hence the claim follows by (5.1.3), as $|\bar{\nu}^{(A(x)u\circ\pi^1,\pi^2)}_{\mathcal{G}_f}| = 1$ (and A(x) is invertible).

Now we show the claim at $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. (x,t) with $x \in (\{g_f > 0\} \cap D_f \setminus C_f) \times \mathbb{R}$. Notice that on $\{g_f > 0\} \cap D_f \setminus C_f$ it holds that $\mathfrak{m} \ll |Df| \ll \mathfrak{m}$. Therefore, by Lemma 5.1.10, taking into account Lemma 5.1.11, Proposition 5.1.9 and (2.3.13), we have the claim.

Now we prove that

$$\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,t) = \left(\nu_f^u(x), 0\right) \quad \text{for } |\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \text{-a.e. } (x,t) \in (D \cap C_f) \times \mathbb{R}.$$

By Proposition 5.1.7, we can show the claim for $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -a.e. $(x,t) \in (D_f \cap C_f) \times \mathbb{R}$. Then this follows from Proposition 5.1.9 (see also (5.1.23)) together with Lemma 5.1.10 and (2.3.13).

Finally,

$$\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,t) = \left(\nu_f^u(x),0\right) \quad \text{for } |\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|\text{-a.e. } (x,t) \in (D \cap J_f) \times \mathbb{R}$$

by Lemma 5.1.13.

Proof of Theorem 5.1.4. Items i) and ii) can be proved using Theorem 5.1.3, Theorem 5.1.1, and Lemma 2.3.11. Item iv) follows from Lemma 5.1.13.

We show now item iii). By (3.5.2), we write

$$\int_{(D\cap J_f)\times\mathbb{R}} \varphi(x,t) \left(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u(x,t) \right)_i \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(x,t)$$
$$= \int_{(D\cap J_f)\times\mathbb{R}} \varphi(x,t) \left(\nu_f^u(x) \right)_i \chi_{\partial^*\mathcal{G}_f}(x,t) \Theta_n(\mathsf{m},x) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^n(x,t),$$

where we used the first equality in (5.1.8) and Lemma 5.1.13. Now notice that if $N \subseteq J_f$ is such that $\mathcal{H}^{n-1}(N) = 0$, then $\mathcal{H}^n(N \times \mathbb{R}) = 0$. This can be proved with an easy covering argument.

Therefore, taking into account also Lemma 2.3.11 and coarea, we reduce ourselves to prove that for every $\psi: D \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$ Borel, we have that for \mathcal{H}^1 -a.e. $s \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\int_{(D\cap\mathcal{F}E_s\cap J_f)\times\mathbb{R}}\psi(x,t)\mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^n(x,t) = \int_{D\cap\mathcal{F}E_s\cap J_f}\int_{\mathbb{R}}\psi(x,t)\mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{n-1}(x)$$

where $E_s := \{f > s\}$, which follows from Lemma 5.1.12.

5.2 Bibliographical notes

In the Euclidean setting, the topic exposed in this chapter can be dated back at least to [107, 77]. There, the author was concerned with the study of *Cartesian surfaces*, i.e. subsets of $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ that can be written as $\{(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} : x \in \Omega, t = f(x)\}$, where $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is open, and $f \in BV_{loc}(\Omega)$. A systematic study of Cartesian surfaces and subgraphs of functions of locally bounded variation in Euclidean spaces can be found in [79, Section 4.1.5]. In fact, our results are the generalization of the results contained in [79, Section 4.1.5] to the setting of finite dimensional RCD spaces.

The classical strategy of [79] seems not suitable for our context, as we do not have a canonical way to decompose the distributional derivatives Df and $D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}$ along different directions. This also causes the need to define the "components" $(\nu_f^u)_i (\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u)_i$ exploiting maps that look like charts. The drawback is that these charts are defined only on Borel subsets, hence it is not clear the distributional nature of the objects $(\nu_f^u)_i$ and $(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u)_i$. Nevertheless, in our main result we compare

 $(\nu_f^u)_i$ with $(\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u)_i$. In order to do so, a new strategy has to be exploited, and we therefore employ a blow-up procedure, which is more compatible with the use of geometric measure theory results and does not need the distributional meaning of such objects.

The results of [79, Section 4.1.5] have already been used in the short proof of the Rank one Theorem in the Euclidean setting of [106], and (after having been generalized to Carnot groups, see e.g. [73, Theorem 4.3]) have been exploited to prove the Rank one Theorem for a subclass of Carnot groups in [73] (see Section 6.2). The generalization of these results to finite dimensional RCD spaces that is contained in this chapter will be used to prove the Rank one Theorem in Chapter 6.

The material of this chapter is taken from [32, 33], after some rewriting. The rewriting is done in such a way to merge smoothly the results contained in [32, 33], but takes also into account some slight differences, for example, the definition of good splitting map that we adopt here is slightly modified with respect to the one used in [32, 33], but this plays no difference, see Remark 3.2.13. Proposition 5.1.7 has to be compared with [32, Proposition 3.6] and [33, Proposition 32]. Notice that what here and in [33, Proposition 32] is called D_f is the analogue of what is called C_f in [32, Proposition 3.6] (the notation of [32] creates a bit of confusion as C_f , here, is any m-negligible set on which $|Df|^c$ is concentrated). We remark that the first part of Lemma 5.1.11 can be proved also exploiting [30, Theorem 5.1], but the proof given here is tailored to this setting and more in the spirit of this chapter. Also, the claim of Lemma 5.1.12 is contained in [33, Lemma 38], but here we adopt a different proof, which is shorter but less elementary. Part of the proof of Lemma 5.1.13 has been changed with respect to the proof of [33, Lemma 38] and is now simpler.

CHAPTER 5. CARTESIAN SURFACES

Chapter 6

Rank one Theorem

The aim of this chapter is to state and prove the Rank one Theorem for vector valued functions of bounded variation on (finite dimensional) RCD spaces. In the Euclidean context such theorem establishes that for a vector valued function of bounded variation f, the polar matrix $\frac{\mathrm{d}Df}{\mathrm{d}|Df|}$ has rank one almost everywhere with respect to the singular part of |Df| (it is clear that this does not hold, in general, with respect to the absolutely continuous part of |Df|). The conclusion on the jump part is not so hard and follows from the material of the previous chapters (i.e. it follows from a sort of transversality condition for rectifiable sets), the bulk of the proof is then the conclusion on the Cantor part.

6.1 Main result

Before stating the main result of this chapter, we define what it means for m-tuple of vector fields to have rank one.

Definition 6.1.1. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, \infty)$ space. Let $\nu \in L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T^m X)$ and let μ be a Radon measure such that $\mu \ll \operatorname{Cap}$. We say that

$$\operatorname{Rk}(\nu) = 1$$
 μ -a.e.

(or that ν has rank one μ -a.e.) if there exist $\omega \in L^0_{\text{Cap}}(T\mathsf{X})$ and $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_m \in L^0(\text{Cap})$ such that for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$\nu_i = \lambda_i \omega$$
 μ -a.e.

We remark that this is one of the possible definitions we could have given of having rank one. For example, one can give an alternative and equivalent definition exploiting the existence of a local basis (with respect to a decomposition of the space in Borel sets) of $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(TX)$, to recover the language of rank of a matrix, see e.g. Theorem 2.2.21. It is however clear that in Euclidean spaces, the definition given above coincides with the usual one.

We are now ready to state the main theorem of this chapter, which is the generalization of the Rank one Theorem to the setting of RCD(K, N) spaces.

Theorem 6.1.2 (Rank one Theorem). Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space and let $f \in \operatorname{BV}_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)^m$. Then

$$\operatorname{Rk}(\nu_f) = 1 \qquad |\mathrm{D}f|^s \text{-a.e.}$$
 (6.1.1)

In (6.1.1), we chose a Cap-representative of ν_f . It is clear that its validity does not depend on the choice of this representative.

Now we start proving Theorem 6.1.2. The bulk of the proof is contained in Lemma 6.1.3, whose proof is deferred to Section 6.1.3 below. First notice that if $N \subseteq \mathcal{FG}_f \cap (D_f \times \mathbb{R})$ is $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ -negligible, then $\pi^1(N)$ is |Df| negligible, by (2.3.13), as $N \subseteq D_f \times \mathbb{R}$. Hence (6.1.2) below is well posed.

Before stating the lemma, let us shortly explain which is its moral in the Euclidean context ([106]). What one wants to show is that, if Σ_1, Σ_2 are two C^1 hypersurfaces in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} with unit normals $\nu_{\Sigma_1}, \nu_{\Sigma_2}$, the set

$$\{p \in \Sigma_1 : \exists q \in \Sigma_2 : \pi(p) = \pi(q), (\nu_{\Sigma_1}(p))_{n+1} = (\nu_{\Sigma_2}(q))_{n+1} = 0, \text{ and } \nu_{\Sigma_1}(p) \neq \pm \nu_{\Sigma_2}(p)\}$$

is \mathcal{H}^n -negligible, where $\pi : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} = \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^n$ denotes the projection onto the first factor. From this property the Rank one theorem can be easily deduced. It is then clear that the set in (6.1.2) is defined in this spirit, adding one dummy variable to reduce the problem to the study of the intersection of two C^1 hypersurfaces with different normals at the points of intersection.

Lemma 6.1.3. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ and let $f, g \in \operatorname{BV}_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)$. Let also u be a good splitting map on D and let $D_f, D_g \subseteq D$ be given by Proposition 5.1.7 for f and g respectively. We define $\tilde{R} \subseteq X \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ as

$$\hat{R} := \left\{ (x,t,s) \in (D_f \cap D_g) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} : (x,t) \in \mathcal{FG}_f, (x,s) \in \mathcal{FG}_g, \nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x,t) \neq \pm \nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_g}(x,s), \\ (\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x,t))_{n+1} = (\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_g}(x,s))_{n+1} = 0 \right\}.$$
(6.1.2)

Then, setting $R := \pi^1(\tilde{R})$, it holds that

$$(|\mathbf{D}f| \wedge |\mathbf{D}g|)(R) = 0.$$

The following lemma is basically the Rank one Theorem 6.1.2 in the case m = 2 and on the Cantor part. Its proof is based on the study of Cartesian surfaces of the previous chapter and the previous lemma (in which an additional coordinate is added).

Lemma 6.1.4. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f, g \in BV_{loc}(X)$. Choose two Capvector fields representatives for ν_f and ν_g . Then

$$\nu_f = \pm \nu_g \qquad (|\mathrm{D}f|^c \wedge |\mathrm{D}g|^c) \text{-}a.e.$$

Proof. We denote by n the essential dimension of the space. We use a partitioning argument based on Lemma 3.2.19 together with Proposition 5.1.7 to reduce the claim on $D_f \cap D_g$, where there exists u, a good splitting map on D. Then, from Theorem 5.1.3 and Lemma 6.1.3, taking into account (2.3.13), we deduce that

$$\nu_f^u(x) = \pm \nu_q^u(x) \qquad (|\mathbf{D}f|^c \wedge |\mathbf{D}g|^c) \text{-a.e. on } D_f \cap D_g.$$
(6.1.3)

Now, we show that $\{\nabla u^i\}_{i=1,...,n}$ generates $L^0_{\text{Cap}}(TX)$ on D. This follows from Remark 3.2.5 together with Theorem 2.2.21. Indeed, set $M_{i,j}$ equal to the Cap-representative of $\nabla u^i \cdot \nabla u^j$. By the fact that u is a good splitting map on D, together with Remark 3.2.5, it holds that $M_{i,j}$ is invertible Cap-a.e. on D. Now, Theorem 2.2.21 shows there can be at most n linearly independent Cap-vector fields. This improves (6.1.3) to

$$u_f(x) = \pm \nu_g(x) \qquad (|\mathbf{D}f|^c \wedge |\mathbf{D}g|^c) \text{-a.e. on } D_f \cap D_g,$$

whence the conclusion.

Proof of Theorem 6.1.2. By Remark 4.1.2, for every $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$(\nu_f)_i = \frac{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f_i|}{\mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}f|} \nu_{f_i} \qquad |\mathrm{D}f|\text{-a.e.}$$

Hence, by classical arguments based on the properties of variation measures, it is enough to consider the case m = 2.

Then from Lemma 6.1.4, we have that

$$\nu_{f_1} = \pm \nu_{f_2}$$
 (|Df_1| \wedge |Df_2|)-a.e. on $C_{f_1} \cap C_{f_2}$,

whereas, by Lemma 4.2.9 we have that

$$\nu_{f_1} = \pm \nu_{f_2} \qquad (|\mathbf{D}f_1| \wedge |\mathbf{D}f_2|)\text{-a.e. on } J_{f_1} \cap J_{f_2},$$

and thus the conclusion, again by classical properties of variation measures.

6.1.1 Proof of Lemma 6.1.3

Now we prove Lemma 6.1.3, which is the bulk of the proof of the Rank one Theorem 6.1.2. We remark that one of the difficulties faced in proving Lemma 6.1.3 is the fact that its statement involves a "codimension 2" analysis. Indeed, the set \tilde{R} of (6.1.2) is the intersection of two 1-codimensional objects. There are no known techniques to deal directly with such high codimensional objects on RCD spaces, and for this reason we have to resort to the analysis in the Euclidean space, translating our problem and relying on a well-know transversality result for C^1 hypersurfaces. It is then evident that the problem becomes understanding the structure of "charts" for RCD spaces.

Proof of Lemma 6.1.3. To fix the notation, assume that u is defined on $B_{2\bar{r}}(\bar{x})$, hence $D \subseteq B_{\bar{r}}(x)$, notice that $R \subseteq D_f \cap D_g \subseteq D \subseteq B_{\bar{r}}(\bar{x})$. We let n denote the essential dimension of the space. We start with some exhaustion and partitioning argument that will allow us to gain additional properties on the set R (i.e. for \tilde{R} , as $\tilde{R} \subseteq R \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$). This is possible by the nature of the claim, taking advantage of the fact that if we write $R = \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} R_k \cup N_f \cup N_g$ where $|Df|(N_f) = |Dg|(N_g) = 0$, then it is enough to show that $(|Df| \wedge |Dg|)(R_k) = 0$ for every k.

By an exhaustion argument building upon Remark 3.3.3, we can assume that for some $l \in \mathbb{N}$, $l \geq 1$, we have that

$$\frac{r|\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B_r(x,f(x)))}{(\mathfrak{m}\otimes\mathcal{L}^1)(B_r(x,\bar{f}(x)))} > l^{-1} \qquad \text{for every } x \in R \text{ and } r \in (0,l^{-1})$$
(6.1.4)

and moreover

$$\Theta_n(\mathsf{m}, x) \in (l^{-1}, l) \quad \text{for every } x \in R.$$
 (6.1.5)

We assume also that we have the same bounds with g in place of f.

Step 1: rectifiability and surfaces. Up to a partitioning argument, we can assume that $\mathcal{FG}_f \cap (R \times \mathbb{R})$ is contained in $B_{\bar{r}}(\bar{x}, \bar{t})$, for some $\bar{t} \in \mathbb{R}$. Recall (Remark 5.1.6) that $(u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2) : B_{2\bar{r}}(\bar{x}, \bar{t}) \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ is a good splitting map on $(R \times \mathbb{R}) \cap B_{\bar{r}}(\bar{x}, \bar{t})$. Recall also the definitions of the matrix valued Borel maps A and \tilde{A} , e.g. Remark 5.1.6 again. Now we are going to use Lemma 3.4.2 as in the proof of Theorem 3.4.1, we give the details. By the definition of D_f , for every $x \in R$, the map

$$v_{(x,\bar{f}(x))} = A(x,\bar{f}(x))(u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2) = (A(x)u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2)$$

is a systems of good coordinates for \mathcal{FG}_f at $(x, \bar{f}(x))$. Moreover (we state it for future reference) $(x, \bar{f}(x))$ is a Lebesgue point for $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$ with respect to $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ and (5.1.3) is satisfied. Now, take $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ small enough so that $\varepsilon^2(\hat{C}_{K,N+1}+1) < \varepsilon$, where $\hat{C}_{K,N+1}$, the constant appearing in Definition 3.2.12. Then, up to a further partitioning argument, we assume that there exists an invertible (as A(x) is invertible for every $x \in R$) matrix $\bar{A} \in \mathbb{Q}^{n \times n}$ and a vector $\bar{\nu}_f \in \mathbb{Q}^{n+1}$ such that for every $x \in R$,

$$|A(x) - \bar{A}| < \varepsilon^2$$
 and $|\bar{\nu}^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x, \bar{f}(x)) - \bar{\nu}_f| < \varepsilon^2$ for every $x \in R$.

In particular, if \overline{A} denotes the matrix obtained starting from \overline{A} as in (5.1.2),

$$|\tilde{A}(x, \bar{f}(x)) - \bar{A}| < \varepsilon^2$$
 for every $x \in R$.

Therefore, recalling also (6.1.4), the assumptions of Lemma 3.4.2 are in place for \mathcal{G}_f in place of E (with the obvious change of notation). Then we apply Lemma 3.4.2 and a further partitioning argument to assume that the map

$$\bar{\pi}(\bar{A}u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2) : (R \times \mathbb{R}) \cap \mathcal{FG}_f \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$$

is bilipschitz onto its *n*-dimensional image, where $\bar{\pi}$ is a projection onto a hyperplane of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Hence, also

$$(u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2) : \Gamma_f \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \tag{6.1.6}$$

is bilipschitz onto its *n*-dimensional image, being \overline{A} invertible and *u* Lipschitz, where we set, for simplicity of notation,

$$\Gamma_f := (R \times \mathbb{R}) \cap \mathcal{FG}_f.$$

Take now $N \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ with $\mathcal{H}^n(N) = 0$ and set $M := (u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2)_{|\Gamma_f}^{-1}(N) \subseteq \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}$. Being $(u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2)$ bilipschitz, $\mathcal{H}^n(M) = 0$, so that, by the representation formula of Theorem 3.5.1 (in particular, Theorem 3.1.1 and Remark 3.5.2), $|\mathsf{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(M) = 0$, whence $|\mathsf{D}f|(\pi^1(M)) = 0$, by (2.3.13), as $M \subseteq D_f \times \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, by standard results of geometric measure theory in Euclidean spaces and a partitioning argument, we can assume that

$$\Gamma'_f := (u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2)(\Gamma_f) \tag{6.1.7}$$

is contained in a C^1 hypersurface Σ_f . As $\mathcal{H}^n \sqcup \Sigma_f$ is asymptotically doubling, by the discussion above we see that we can assume

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathcal{H}^n \, \lfloor \, \Sigma_f(B_r(q) \cap \Gamma'_f)}{\omega_n r^n} = 1 \qquad \text{for every } q \in \Gamma'_f.$$
(6.1.8)

Finally, taking into account also that $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|$ is asymptotically doubling, we can assume that

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B_r(p) \cap \Gamma_f)}{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B_r(p))} = 1 \qquad \text{for every } p \in \Gamma_f.$$
(6.1.9)

To sum up, we have reduced ourselves to prove the claim where R is such that the map in (6.1.6) is bilipschitz onto its *n*-dimensional image which is contained in a C^1 hypersurface Σ_f , and such that (6.1.4), (6.1.5), (6.1.8), (6.1.9) and (5.1.3) hold (taking the Lebesgue representative for $\nu_{\mathcal{G}_f}^u$). Moreover, the similar assertions hold for g in place of f (this is proved exactly with the same argument and a further partitioning and exhaustion).

Step 2: almost one-sided Kuratowski convergence. Let $p \in \Gamma_f$ and let $\rho_k \searrow 0$ such that

$$(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}, \rho_k^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}}, (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)_p^{\rho_k}, p, \mathcal{G}_f) \to (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}, 0, H),$$

in a realization $(\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}})$, where $(\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}})$ is a proper metric space, with respect to isometric embeddings $\{\iota_k\}_k$ and ι_{∞} , where $\iota_k : (\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}, \rho_k^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R}}) \to (\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}})$ and $\iota_{\infty} : (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_e) \to (\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}})$. We claim that for every $\rho, \varepsilon > 0$, there exists $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$B_{\rho}^{\mathsf{Z}\times\mathbb{R}}(\iota_k(p))\cap\iota_k(\Gamma_f)\subseteq B_{\varepsilon}^{\mathsf{Z}\times\mathbb{R}}(\iota_{\infty}(\partial H)) \quad \text{if } k\geq k_0.$$

We argue by contradiction. Up to taking a not relabelled subsequence, by the contradiction assumption, there exists a sequence $\{q_k\}_k \subseteq \Gamma_f$ such that for every k,

$$\iota_k(q_k) \in B_{\rho}^{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}}(\iota_k(p)) \setminus B_{\varepsilon}^{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}}(\iota_{\infty}(\partial H)).$$

Up to a not relabelled subsequence, $\iota_k(q_k) \to \iota_{\infty}(q) \in \mathsf{Z}$, with $\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R}}(\iota_{\infty}(q), \iota_{\infty}(\partial H)) \ge \varepsilon/2$, for some $q \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ (the fact that the limit point of $\{\iota_k(q_k)\}_k$ belongs to $\iota_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R})$ is an easy consequence of the doubling property of the measure). By weak convergence of rescaled perimeters,

$$\lim_{k} \frac{\rho_k |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| (B_{\varepsilon \rho_k/2}(q_k))}{C_p^{\rho_k}} = 0.$$

On the other hand, recalling (6.1.4) and using again the weak convergence of measures,

$$\liminf_{k} \frac{\rho_{k} |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_{f}}|(B_{\varepsilon\rho_{k}/2}(q_{k}))}{C_{p}^{\rho_{k}}} = \liminf_{k} \frac{\rho_{k} |\mathcal{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_{f}}|(B_{\varepsilon\rho_{k}/2}(q_{k}))}{(\mathsf{m}\otimes\mathcal{L}^{1})(B_{\varepsilon\rho_{k}/2}(q_{k}))} \frac{(\mathsf{m}\otimes\mathcal{L}^{1})(B_{\varepsilon\rho_{k}/2}(q_{k}))}{C_{p}^{\rho_{k}}} \ge l^{-1} \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+1}(B_{\varepsilon/2}(q)) > 0,$$

which is a contradiction.

Clearly, the analogue statement holds with g in place of f.

Step 3: tensorization of inequalities. We start from a couple of useful equalities. First, by (6.1.9), if $p' \in \Gamma_f$,

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B_r(p') \setminus \Gamma_f)}{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|(B_r(p'))} = 0,$$

so that, for every $p = (p', t) \in \Gamma_f \times \mathbb{R}$, as $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f \times \mathbb{R}}| = |D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}| \otimes \mathcal{L}^1$,

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f \times \mathbb{R}}|(B_r(p) \setminus (\Gamma_f \times \mathbb{R}))}{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f \times \mathbb{R}}|(B_r(p))} = 0.$$
(6.1.10)

Also, by (6.1.5) together with Fubini's Theorem (see e.g. the first equality in (5.1.8)),

$$\Theta_{n+2}(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathcal{L}^1, q) \in (l^{-1}, l) \qquad \text{for every } q \in R \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}.$$
(6.1.11)

Step 4: blow-up argument. Here and below we denote with $\tau : \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ the involution given by $(x, t, s) \mapsto (x, s, t)$, for \mathbf{Y} any set. Now we set $V := (u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2, \pi^3)$. Clearly,

$$V: \Gamma_f \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$$
 and $V: \tau(\Gamma_g \times \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ (6.1.12)

are bilipschitz onto their (n + 1)-dimensional image, by **Step 1**. Set also $V_p := (A(\pi_1(p))u \circ \pi^1, \pi^2, \pi^3)$. Fix $p \in \tilde{R}$, we aim at preparing the setting for the proof of **Step 5** below, i.e. the proof of (6.1.16) and (6.1.17).

By our assumptions and by Remark 3.3.3, we know that there exists a sequence $\rho_k \searrow 0$ and a proper metric space $(\mathsf{Z}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}})$ that realizes the convergence

$$(\mathsf{X}, \rho_k^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_p^{\rho_k}, p) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0).$$

Hence, $(\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}})$ realizes the convergence

$$(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \rho_k^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}}, (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)_p^{\rho_k}, p) \to (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+2}, 0),$$

for suitable isometric embeddings $\iota_k : (X \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \rho_k^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{X \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}}) \to (Z \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{Z \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}})$ and $\iota_{\infty} : (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_e) \to (Z \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_{Z \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}})$. Then, up to taking not relabelled subsequences (Remark 3.3.3) we can assume that, in the same realization, we have

$$(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \rho_k^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}}, (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)_p^{\rho_k}, p, \mathcal{G}_f \times \mathbb{R}) \to (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+2}, 0, H_f') \quad (6.1.13)$$

$$(\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \rho_k^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}}, (\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathcal{L}^1)_p^{\rho_k}, p, \tau(\mathcal{G}_g \times \mathbb{R})) \to (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^{n+2}, 0, H'_g), \ (6.1.14)$$

where H'_f and H'_g are half-spaces in $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$. Further, up to passing again to a not relabelled subsequence and changing coordinates in \mathbb{R}^n , we will assume that the maps V_p , properly rescaled (i.e. $\{\rho_k^{-1}V_p\}_k$), locally uniformly converge to the coordinate functions of $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ with respect to the convergences above, see Remark 3.2.17 (here and after we assume, to simplify the notation, that $V_p(p) = 0$).

By (5.1.3) and a tensorization argument, it follows that

$$H'_f = \{(z, u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} : (z, u) \cdot (\tilde{A}(x, u)\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_f}(x, u)) \ge 0\},\$$

and

$$H'_g = \{(z, u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} : (z, v) \cdot (A(x, v)\nu^u_{\mathcal{G}_g}(x, v)) \ge 0\},\$$

so that, by $p \in \tilde{R}$,

$$H'_f = H_f \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \ \tilde{H}'_q = H_g \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \text{ and } H_f \neq \pm H_g$$

for H_f and H_q half-spaces of \mathbb{R}^n (here we also used that A(x) is invertible).

Fix $C \ge 5$ greater than the bilipschitz constants of the maps in (6.1.12) and such that

$$|(A(x), \pi^1, \pi^2)c| \le (C-2)|c|$$
 for every $c \in \mathbb{R}^{n+2}$ (6.1.15)

and let $\delta \in (0, C^{-1})$ be sufficiently small so that we find $a \in (\partial H_f \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}) \cap B_{1/2}(0) \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n+2}$ such that

$$B_{2C\delta}(a) \cap (\partial H_g \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}) = \emptyset$$

As a consequence of (6.1.10), we can find a sequence $\{a_k\}_k \subseteq \mathsf{X} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ with

$$a_k \in (\Gamma_f \times \mathbb{R}) \cap B_{\rho_k/2}(p)$$
 for k large enough,

and $\iota_k(a_k) \to \iota_{\infty}(a)$ in $\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$. Up to decreasing δ , we assume that

$$B_{C\delta\rho_k}(a_k) \subseteq B_{\rho_k}(p)$$
 for k large enough.

6.1. MAIN RESULT

Step 5: transversality. We claim that, with the notation introduced in **Step 4**, (recall the definition in (6.1.7))

$$\liminf_{k} \rho_k^{-n-1} \mathcal{H}^{n+1} \big(B_{\delta \rho_k}(V(a_k)) \cap (\Gamma'_f \times \mathbb{R}) \big) > 0, \tag{6.1.16}$$

$$\liminf_{k} \rho_k^{-n-1} \mathcal{H}^{n+1} \left(B_{\delta \rho_k}(V(a_k)) \cap \tau(\Gamma'_g \times \mathbb{R}) \right) = 0.$$
(6.1.17)

By weak convergence of rescaled perimeters,

$$\liminf_{k} \frac{\rho_k |\mathrm{D}\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f \times \mathbb{R}}| (B_{C^{-1}\delta\rho_k}(a_k))}{C_p^{\rho_k}} > 0.$$

Taking into account (6.1.10) and (6.1.11) together Remark 3.3.3 to deal with the denominators, using (3.5.2), we see that the equation above reads

$$\liminf_{k} \rho_k^{-n-1} \mathcal{H}^{n+1} \big(B_{C^{-1}\delta\rho_k}(a_k) \cap (\Gamma_f \times \mathbb{R}) \big) > 0.$$

Therefore, it is easy to verify by contradiction that (6.1.16) follows, by our choice of C.

Now we concentrate on (6.1.17). We claim that there exists $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$V(B_{2C^2\rho_k}(p) \cap \tau(\Gamma_g \times \mathbb{R})) \cap B_{\delta\rho_k}(V(a_k)) = \emptyset. \quad \text{if } k \ge k_0.$$
(6.1.18)

Notice that (6.1.17) would follow from (6.1.18). Indeed, as $\delta < C$ and $a_k \in B_{\rho_k}(p)$,

$$B_{\delta\rho_k}(V(a_k)) \cap \tau(\Gamma'_g \times \mathbb{R}) \subseteq B_{2C\rho_k}(V(p)) \cap B_{\delta\rho_k}(V(a_k)) \cap \tau(\Gamma'_g \times \mathbb{R})$$
$$\subseteq V(B_{2C^2\rho_k}(p) \cap \tau(\Gamma_g \times \mathbb{R})) \cap B_{\delta\rho_k}(V(a_k)),$$

so that (6.1.18) implies that the sets considered in (6.1.17) are empty for $k \ge k_0$.

Therefore, we have reduced ourselves to prove (6.1.18). Recall that $\rho_k^{-1}V_p$ locally uniformly converge to the coordinate functions of $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$. Hence, there exist $\varepsilon \in (0, \delta)$ and $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for every $\xi \in B_{3C^2\rho_k}(p)$ and $\xi' \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ with $\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}}(\iota_k(\xi), \iota_\infty(\xi')) < \varepsilon$, then $|\rho_k^{-1}V_p(\xi) - \xi'| < \delta$ for every $k \ge k_0$. Up to increasing k_0 , we may assume that for every $k \ge k_0$,

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}\times\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}}(\iota_k(a_k),\iota_\infty(a))<\varepsilon$$

By (a tensorization of) Step 2, we get that, up to increasing k_0 , if $k \ge k_0$, then

$$\iota_k(B_{2C^2\rho_k}(p)\cap\tau(\Gamma_g\times\mathbb{R}))\subseteq B_{\varepsilon}^{\mathsf{Z}\times\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}}(\iota_{\infty}(\partial H_g\times\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R})).$$
(6.1.19)

Hence, take $k \geq k_0$ and $b \in B_{2C^2\rho_k}(p) \cap \tau(\Gamma_g \times \mathbb{R})$, to show (6.1.18) we have to prove that

$$|V(b) - V(a_k)| \ge \delta \rho_k. \tag{6.1.20}$$

Notice that (6.1.20) does *not* follow from the fact that the maps in (6.1.12) are C-bilipschitz. By (6.1.19), the exists $b' \in \partial H_g \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{Z}\times\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}}(\iota_k(b),\iota_\infty(b'))<\varepsilon.$$

Notice that if b' is as above, then, by our choice of δ and a,

$$|b'-a| \ge C\delta.$$

By local uniform convergence,

$$\rho_k^{-1} V_p(b) - \rho_k^{-1} V_p(a_k) \ge |b' - a| - 2\delta \quad \text{if } k \ge k_0$$

so that

$$|V_p(b) - V_p(a_k)| \ge (C - 2)\delta\rho_k,$$

which implies, recalling (6.1.15), (6.1.20).

Step 6: proof of σ -finiteness of $\mathcal{H}^n \sqcup \tilde{R}$. We prove that $\mathcal{H}^n \sqcup \tilde{R}$ is σ -finite. Notice that $\tilde{R} \subseteq (\Gamma_f \times \mathbb{R}) \cap \tau(\Gamma_g \times \mathbb{R})$, hence it is enough to show that $V(\tilde{R})$ is σ -finite with respect to \mathcal{H}^n . By Step 1, $V(\tilde{R}) \subseteq (\Sigma_f \times \mathbb{R}) \cap \tau(\Sigma_g \times \mathbb{R})$, so that, by a standard result of in Geometric Measure Theory on Euclidean spaces, we can simply show that at every $p = (x, t, s) \in \tilde{R}$ it holds that $\Sigma_f \times \mathbb{R} \supseteq \Gamma'_f \times \mathbb{R}$ and $\tau(\Sigma_g \times \mathbb{R}) \supseteq \tau(\Gamma'_g \times \mathbb{R})$ intersect transversally at V(p), or, equivalently, that $\Sigma_f \times \mathbb{R}$ and $\tau(\Sigma_g \times \mathbb{R})$ have different tangent spaces at V(p). Now, by (6.1.16) and (6.1.17) together with (the tensorized version of (6.1.8)) it follows easily that $\Gamma'_f \times \mathbb{R}$ and $\tau(\Gamma'_g \times \mathbb{R})$ have different tangent spaces at 0, whence the conclusion (by the tensorized version of (6.1.8) again). Hence we write

$$\tilde{R} = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \tilde{R}_i,$$

where, for every i, \tilde{R}_i has finite \mathcal{H}^n measure.

Step 7: a technical estimate. Fix $p \in \tilde{R}$. We claim that

$$\lim_{r \searrow 0} \frac{\mathcal{H}_5^n((\pi^1, \pi^2)(\hat{R} \cap B_r(p)))}{r^n} = 0.$$

Let us prove the claim. Take a sequence $\rho_k \searrow 0$. We recall, that, with the same notation as in **Step 4**, up to a not relabelled subsequence, we can assume that (6.1.13) and (6.1.14) hold. Let

$$I := I(\iota_{\infty}((\partial H_f \cap \partial H_g) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}))$$

be a neighbourhood (in $\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$) of $\iota_{\infty}(\partial H_f \cap \partial H_q) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ that satisfies, for $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$,

$$\mathcal{H}_5^n((\pi^1, \pi^2)(I)) < \varepsilon.$$

This is possible since $\partial H_f \neq \partial H_g$. As a consequence of (a tensorized version of) **Step 2**, there exists $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$B_1^{\mathsf{Z} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}}(\iota_k(p)) \cap \iota_k(\tilde{R}) \subseteq I$$
 for every $k \ge k_0$,

from which, taking the projection (π^1, π^2) , the claim follows as $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ was arbitrary.

Step 8: conclusion. By Step 6, it is enough to show that

$$(|\mathbf{D}f| \wedge |\mathbf{D}g|)(\pi^1(\hat{R}_i)) = 0,$$

for every $i \in \mathbb{N}$. We concentrate on a fixed *i* and, for simplicity, we drop the subscript *i* from \tilde{R}_i . Therefore, $\mathcal{H}^n(\tilde{R}) < \infty$. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$. For every $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $j \ge 1$ we consider the sets

$$\tilde{R}_j := \left\{ p \in \tilde{R} : r^{-n} \mathcal{H}_5^n((\pi^1, \pi^2)(\tilde{R} \cap B_r(p))) < \varepsilon \text{ for every } r \in (0, j^{-1}) \right\}$$

6.2. BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTES

Notice that, by **Step 7**,

and

$$\tilde{R}'_{j} := \tilde{R}_{j} \setminus \bigcup_{i < j} \tilde{R}_{i}.$$

$$\tilde{R} = \bigcup_{i \ge 1} \tilde{R}'_{j}, \qquad (6.1.21)$$

and that, by construction, this union is disjoint.

For every $j \ge 1$, we take a countable family of balls $\{B_{r_i^j}(p_i^j)\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ such that, for every $i\in\mathbb{N}$ it holds that $r_i^j < j^{-1}$ and $p_i^j\in\tilde{R}'_j$, as well as

$$\tilde{R}'_j \subseteq \bigcup_i B_{r_i^j}(p_i^j) \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_i (r_i^j)^n \le 2^n \mathcal{H}^n(\tilde{R}'_j) + 2^{-j}.$$
(6.1.22)

We can compute, recalling the definition of \tilde{R}_j and (6.1.22),

$$\mathcal{H}_{5}^{n}((\pi^{1},\pi^{2})(\tilde{R}'_{j})) \leq \mathcal{H}_{5}^{n}\left((\pi^{1},\pi^{2})\left(\tilde{R}\cap\bigcup_{i}B_{r_{i}^{j}}(p_{i}^{j})\right)\right) \leq \sum_{i}\varepsilon(r_{i}^{j})^{n} \leq \varepsilon(2^{n}\mathcal{H}^{n}(\tilde{R}'_{j})+2^{-j}).$$

Therefore, recalling (6.1.21), we see that

$$\mathcal{H}_{5}^{n}((\pi^{1},\pi^{2})(\tilde{R})) \leq \varepsilon(2^{n}\mathcal{H}^{n}(\tilde{R})+1),$$

and, being $\varepsilon > 0$ arbitrary, $|D\chi_{\mathcal{G}_f}|((\pi^1, \pi^2)(\tilde{R})) = 0$, whence the conclusion follows thanks to Proposition 2.3.12 and the fact that $R \subseteq D_f$.

6.2 Bibliographical notes

In 1988 Ambrosio and De Giorgi [14], motivated by the study of some functionals coming from the Mathematical Physics, conjectured that for every $f \in BV^m$ the matrix $\frac{dDf}{d|Df|}$ has rank one $|Df|^s$ -almost everywhere. In 1993 Alberti [1] solved in the affirmative the previous conjecture, see also the account in [66].

As an added value to the theoretical interest of the Rank one Theorem, in 2016 De Philippis and Rindler [68] showed a general structure theorem for \mathcal{A} -free vector valued Radon measures on Euclidean spaces, where \mathcal{A} is a linear constant-coefficient differential operator, from which the Rank one Theorem can be derived as a consequence. As a side note, we mention that the main result of [68] is used to prove (2.2.12), namely that the reference measure of an RCD space is absolutely continuous with respect to the Hausdorff measure, see [67, 98, 90]. We also remark that Massaccesi and Vittone recently gave a very short proof of the Rank one Theorem based on the theory of sets of finite perimeter [106], and with Don they used this simplified strategy to prove the analogue of the Rank one Theorem in some Carnot groups [73].

The latter strategy is the starting point of our investigation and it is precisely the strategy of [106, 73] that we have adapted to the non-smooth framework in [32], from which this chapter is taken. Exactly as in the references, the bulk of the proof is the transversality lemma, Lemma 6.1.3. However, the lack of a linear structure forces us to perform a delicate fine analysis, and to resort ultimately to a well-known transversality lemma for C^1 surfaces in the Euclidean space.

In this manuscript, the proof of Lemma 6.1.3 has undergone heavy rewriting (starting from [32]), mostly for what concerns the presentation. Besides some minor improvements, a consistent

simplification is obtained by employing Lemma 3.4.2 instead of [51, Proposition 4.7]. There are no deep changes in the techniques, but the possibility of "throwing away" only a set of small perimeter instead of a set of small perimeter together with a set of small content allow us to make the proof less intricate. The possibility of doing so comes from the fact that in this manuscript we have moved up "throwing away" a set of small content to the proof of Lemma 3.2.19, making also the rectifiability lemma, Lemma 3.4.2, more transparent. Moreover, still concerning Lemma 6.1.3, we state and prove the result with respect to a single good splitting map, and not with respect a countable family of good splitting maps, as done in [32]. This improvement is possible thanks to the discussion that we have just made, still thanks to the fact that we use Lemma 3.4.2 instead of [51, Proposition 4.7]. To be more precise, here we also modify the definition of good splitting map, but, taking into account Remark 3.2.13 and Lemma 3.2.14, this does not make a big difference.

Chapter 7

Nonlocal characterization

The aim of this chapter is to show that, even on (finite dimensional) RCD spaces, the total variation of a BV function (as well as the membership to the space BV) can be recognized via a limit of certain nonlocal functionals depending on a parameter, namely, exploiting the short-time behaviour of the heat flow. In particular, we are going to study the limit, as $t \searrow 0$, of the functionals

$$L^1 \ni f \mapsto \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int \int p_t(x,y) |f(x) - f(y)| \mathrm{dm}(x) \mathrm{dm}(y)$$

7.1 Main results

Now we state the main results of this chapter. As discussed above, the first result allows us to compute the total variation of a BV functions in terms of quantities that are nonlocal.

Theorem 7.1.1. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f \in L^1(m)$. Then

$$\lim_{t\searrow 0}\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}\int\int p_t(x,y)|f(x)-f(y)|\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(x)\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y)=\frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}}|\mathrm{D}f|(\mathsf{X}),$$

where the existence of the limit is part of the statement and $|Df|(X) = +\infty$ has to be interpreted as $f \notin BV(X)$.

The second result studies the first term in the Taylor expansion (with respect to \sqrt{t}) of the quantity

$$\int fg\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m} - \int \mathrm{h}_t fg\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}.$$

Theorem 7.1.2. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f, g \in BV(X)$ with $g \in L^{\infty}(m)$. Then

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int (f - h_t f) g \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_{J_f \cap J_g} (f^{\vee} - f^{\wedge}) (g^{\vee} - g^{\wedge}) (\nu_f \cdot \nu_g) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^h.$$
(7.1.1)

We defer the proof of Theorem 7.1.1 and Theorem 7.1.2 to Section 7.1.2 below.

7.1.1 Auxiliary results

The following lemma is concerned with the part of "recognizing membership in BV" stated in Theorem 7.1.1. It is a straightforward application of a result of [105].

Lemma 7.1.3. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $f \in L^1(m)$. Assume that

$$\liminf_{t \searrow 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int \int p_t(x,y) |f(x) - f(y)| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(x) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(y) < +\infty$$

Then $f \in BV(X)$.

Proof. Given any radius $t \in (0, \infty)$, we define the near-diagonal set $\Delta_t \subseteq \mathsf{X} \times \mathsf{X}$ as

$$\Delta_t := \{ (x, y) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathsf{X} : \mathsf{d}(x, y) < t \}.$$

Since (X, d, m) is a PI space, we know from [105, Theorem 3.1] that for any $f \in L^1(m)$ if

$$\liminf_{t \searrow 0} \frac{1}{t} \int_{\Delta_t} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{\sqrt{\mathsf{m}(B_t(x))} \sqrt{\mathsf{m}(B_t(y))}} \,\mathrm{d}(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathsf{m}) \,(x, y) < +\infty,$$

then $f \in BV(X)$. Now we conclude as the lower bound in (2.2.7) implies that for some constant $C = C(K, N) \in (0, \infty)$,

$$\frac{\chi_{\Delta_t}(x,y)}{\sqrt{\mathsf{m}(B_t(x))}\sqrt{\mathsf{m}(B_t(y))}} \le Cp_{t^2}(x,y), \quad \text{for every } t \in (0,1) \text{ and } x, y \in \mathsf{X}.$$

Now we state a result which is the main tool to compute total variations starting from the nonlocal quantities as in Theorem 7.1.1 and Theorem 7.1.2. Its proof is based on a delicate blow-up argument, which relies heavily on the fine structure theory of RCD spaces of the previous chapters as well as the special properties of the heat flow on RCD spaces.

Lemma 7.1.4. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of finite perimeter. Then

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} t h_{t^2} |\nabla h_{t^2} \chi_E|(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}} \qquad \text{for every } x \in \mathcal{F}E.$$
(7.1.2)

In particular, it holds that

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} t \int \mathbf{h}_{t^2} |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E| \mathbf{d} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E|(\mathsf{X}).$$
(7.1.3)

Proof. Fix x as in the statement and take a sequence $t_i \searrow 0$. Up to taking a subsequence, we have that

$$(\mathsf{X}, t_i^{-1}\mathsf{d}, \mathsf{m}_{t_i}^x, x, E) \to (\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0, H),$$

in a realization (Z, d_Z) , where (Z, d_Z) is a proper metric space, see Remark 3.3.3. Here $H = \{x_n > 0\}$, in a suitable system of coordinates.

We use the superscript *i* to denote objects relative to the *i*-th rescaled space, e.g. ∇^i and p^i , and we denote with $\tilde{\cdot}$ the objects relative to the limit space $(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathsf{d}_e, \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n, 0)$. Then we compute for m-a.e. $y \in \mathsf{X}$,

$$t_i |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t_i^2} \chi_E|(y) = t_i \left| \nabla \int p_{t_i^2}(\cdot, z) \chi_E(z) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(z) \right|(y) = \left| \nabla^i \int p_1^i(\cdot, z) \chi_E(z) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}_{t_i}^x(z) \right|(y)$$

$$= |\nabla^i \mathbf{h}_1^i \chi_E|(y).$$
(7.1.4)

Now observe that for any $R \in (0, \infty)$ we can use (2.2.5) to estimate

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathsf{X}\setminus B_R^i(x)} p_1^i(x,y) |\nabla^i \mathbf{h}_1^i \chi_E|(y) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}_{t_i}^x(y) &\leq C \int_{\mathsf{X}\setminus B_R^i(x)} p_1^i(x,y) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}_{t_i}^x(y) \\ &= C \int_{\mathsf{X}\setminus B_{t_iR}(x)} p_{t_i^2}(x,y) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y) \\ &\leq C e^{-\frac{R^2}{24}}, \end{split}$$
(7.1.5)

where the last equality is due to (4.2.4) and $C \in (0, \infty)$ denotes a constant that depends only on K and N.

Now we prove that

$$\mathbf{h}_{1}^{i}(\chi_{B_{R}^{i}(x)}|\nabla^{i}\mathbf{h}_{1}^{i}\chi_{E}|)(x) \to \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{1}(\chi_{\tilde{B}_{R}(0)}|\tilde{\nabla}\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{1}\chi_{H}|)(0).$$

We know from [10, Proposition 4.12] that $|\nabla^i \mathbf{h}_1^i \chi_E| \mathbf{m}_{t_i}^x \to |\tilde{\nabla} \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_1 \chi_H| \tilde{\mathcal{L}}^n$ in duality with $C_{\rm bs}(\mathsf{Z})$, so that, for any $R \in (0, \infty)$, we have that

$$\chi_{B_R^i(x)} |\nabla^i \mathbf{h}_1^i \chi_E| \mathbf{m}_{t_i}^x \to \chi_{\tilde{B}_R(0)} |\tilde{\nabla} \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_1 \chi_H| \tilde{\mathcal{L}}^n \qquad \text{in duality with } C_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{Z}).$$

Now, by [10, Lemma 4.11] we have that

$$\liminf_{i} h_1^i \left(\chi_{B_R^i(x)} | \nabla^i h_1^i \chi_E | \right)(x) \ge \tilde{h}_1 \left(\chi_{\tilde{B}_R(0)} | \tilde{\nabla} \tilde{h}_1 \chi_H | \right)(0).$$
(7.1.6)

Also, as $\mathbf{m}_x^{r_i} \to \underline{\mathcal{L}}^n$ in duality with $C_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{Z})$, we have that

$$\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}e^{K}} - \chi_{B_{R}^{i}(x)} |\nabla^{i}\mathbf{h}_{1}^{i}\chi_{E}|\right) \mathsf{m}_{t_{i}}^{x} \to \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}e^{K}} - \chi_{\tilde{B}_{R}(0)} |\tilde{\nabla}\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{1}\chi_{H}|\right) \tilde{\mathcal{L}}^{n} \qquad \text{in duality with } C_{\mathrm{bs}}(\mathsf{Z}).$$

As by (2.2.5) the measures involved in the convergence above are non-negative, we can use [10, Lemma 4.11] again to deduce that

$$\liminf_{i} h_{1}^{i} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}e^{K}} - \chi_{B_{R}^{i}(x)} |\nabla^{i}h_{1}^{i}\chi_{E}| \right)(x) \ge \tilde{h}_{1} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}e^{K}} - \chi_{\tilde{B}_{R}(0)} |\tilde{\nabla}\tilde{h}_{1}\chi_{H}| \right)(0),$$

$$\lim_{i} \sup_{i} h_{1}^{i} \left(\chi_{-i} - |\nabla^{i}h_{1}^{i}\chi_{-i}| \right)(x) \le \tilde{h}_{1} \left(\chi_{-i} - |\tilde{\nabla}\tilde{h}_{1}\chi_{-i}| \right)(0), \quad (7.17)$$

i.e.

$$\limsup_{i} \operatorname{h}_{1}^{i} \left(\chi_{B_{R}^{i}(x)} | \nabla^{i} \operatorname{h}_{1}^{i} \chi_{E} | \right)(x) \leq \tilde{\operatorname{h}}_{1} \left(\chi_{\tilde{B}_{R}(0)} | \tilde{\nabla} \tilde{\operatorname{h}}_{1} \chi_{H} | \right)(0).$$

$$(7.1.7)$$

Therefore (7.1.3) follows from (7.1.6) and (7.1.7).

Notice that, as $R \nearrow \infty$,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_1\big(\chi_{\tilde{B}_R(0)}|\tilde{\nabla}\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_1\chi_H|\big)(0) \to \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_1\big(|\tilde{\nabla}\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_1\chi_H|\big)(0) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}},\tag{7.1.8}$$

where the limit is due to monotone convergence and the last equality follows from the direct computation

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla^{\mathbb{R}^n} \mathbf{h}_1^{\mathbb{R}^n} \chi_H| &= \left| \nabla^{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\{z_n > 0\}} p_1^{\mathbb{R}^n}(x, z) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^n(z) \right| = \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} \int_{\{z > 0\}} p_1^{\mathbb{R}}(x, z) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^1(z) \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\{z > 0\}} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} p_1^{\mathbb{R}}(x, z) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^1(z) \right| = \left| \int_{\{z > 0\}} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z} p_1^{\mathbb{R}}(x, z) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^1(z) \right| = p_1^{\mathbb{R}}(x, 0), \end{aligned}$$

which yields

$$\mathbf{h}_{1}^{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \big(|\nabla^{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mathbf{h}_{1}^{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \chi_{H}| \big)(0) = (\mathbf{h}_{1}^{\mathbb{R}} p_{1}^{\mathbb{R}}(\,\cdot\,,0))(0) = p_{2}^{\mathbb{R}}(0,0) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}}.$$

Next, we can estimate, exploiting (7.1.5),

$$\begin{split} \left| \int p_1^i(x,y) |\nabla^i \mathbf{h}_1^i \chi_E|(y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}_{t_i}^x(y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}} \right| &\leq \left| \int_{B_R^i(x)} p_1^i(x,y) |\nabla^i \mathbf{h}_1^i \chi_E|(y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}_{t_i}^x(y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}} \right| + Ce^{-\frac{R^2}{24}} \\ &= \left| \mathbf{h}_1^i \big(\chi_{B_R^i(x)} |\nabla^i \mathbf{h}_1^i \chi_E| \big)(x) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}} \right| + Ce^{-\frac{R^2}{24}}, \end{split}$$

whence if we let first $i \nearrow \infty$ and then $R \nearrow \infty$, keeping in mind (7.1.8), we deduce that

$$\int p_1^i(x,y) |\nabla^i \mathbf{h}_1^i \boldsymbol{\chi}_E|(y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}_{t_i}^x(y) \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}}$$

that reads, recalling (7.1.4),

$$t_i \mathbf{h}_{t_i^2} |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t_i^2} \chi_E|(x) \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}}$$

Since the sequence $t_i \searrow 0$ from which we started was arbitrary, (7.1.2) follows.

Now we show (7.1.3). First notice that by Corollary 3.3.2, (7.1.2) holds for $|D\chi_E|$ -a.e. $x \in X$. Hence (7.1.3) follows by dominated convergence, where the application of dominated convergence is justified by (2.2.5) and the maximum principle.

The following lemma is a consequence of Lemma 7.1.4 that we are going to use in the proof of the main results. In the case in which E = F, the conclusion comes directly from L'Hôpital's rule and the blow-up computation of Lemma 7.1.4. In the case in which $E \neq F$, we also need a polarization argument.

Lemma 7.1.5. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space of essential dimension n. Let $E, F \subseteq X$ be two sets of finite perimeter and finite measure. Then

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int (\chi_E - h_t \chi_E) \chi_F d\mathsf{m} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_{\mathcal{F}E \cap \mathcal{F}F} \nu_E \cdot \nu_F d\mathcal{H}^h.$$
(7.1.9)

In particular, it holds that

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int (\chi_E - h_t \chi_E) \chi_E d\mathbf{m} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} |D\chi_E|(\mathsf{X}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}E).$$
(7.1.10)

Proof. We have to compute

$$\lim_{t\searrow 0}\frac{\int (\chi_E - \mathbf{h}_{t^2}\chi_E)\chi_F \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}}{t}$$

for E and F sets of finite perimeter and finite measure. Notice that as E and F have finite measure, $\int (\chi_E - h_{t^2}\chi_E)\chi_F d\mathbf{m} \to 0$ as $t \searrow 0$, so that by L'Hôpital's rule we reduce ourselves to compute

$$\lim_{t\searrow 0} -2t \int \chi_F \Delta \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \lim_{t\searrow 0} 2t \int \nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2/2} \chi_F \cdot \nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2/2} \chi_E \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}.$$

Therefore, we conclude that the left-hand side of (7.1.9) is equal to

$$\lim_{t\searrow 0}\sqrt{8}t\int\nabla\mathbf{h}_{t^{2}}\chi_{F}\cdot\nabla\mathbf{h}_{t^{2}}\chi_{E}\mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}.$$

For $E, F \subseteq X$ sets of finite perimeter and finite measure, we write

$$g_t(E,F) := \sqrt{8} t \int \nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E \cdot \nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_F \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \quad \text{for } t \in (0,\infty).$$

If E = F, we simply write $g_t(E)$ instead of $g_t(E, E)$. Our aim is then to study $\lim_{t \searrow 0} g_t(E, F)$, where E and F are sets of finite perimeter and finite measure. We start by studying two particularly simple cases and then we combine the information obtained to treat the general case.

Case E = F. First, we compute, using (2.2.5) and Proposition 2.3.16 for the last inequality,

$$\begin{split} \left| t \int |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E|^2 \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} - t e^{-Kt^2} \int |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E| \, \mathbf{h}_{t^2} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{t}{e^{Kt^2}} \int |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E| \left| e^{Kt^2} \frac{|\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E|}{\mathbf{h}_{t^2} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E|} - 1 \right| \mathbf{h}_{t^2} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2} e^{2K}} \int \left(1 - e^{Kt^2} \frac{|\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E|}{\mathbf{h}_{t^2} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E|} \right) \mathbf{h}_{t^2} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2} e^{2K}} \left(|\mathbf{D} \chi_E| - e^{Kt^2} \int |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \right). \end{split}$$

Hence, by lower semicontinuity of the total variation, as $t \searrow 0$,

$$\left| t \int |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E|^2 \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} - t e^{-Kt^2} \int |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E| \, \mathbf{h}_{t^2} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \right| \to 0.$$
(7.1.11)

Now, Lemma 7.1.4 yields

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} t \int |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E| \, \mathbf{h}_{t^2} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = \lim_{t \searrow 0} t \int \mathbf{h}_{t^2} |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{t^2} \chi_E| \mathrm{d} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E|(\mathsf{X}).$$
(7.1.12)

Then, by combining (7.1.11), (7.1.12) and finally (3.5.1), we obtain that

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} g_t(E) = \sqrt{8} \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\pi}} |\mathcal{D}\chi_E|(\mathsf{X}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}E).$$

Case $E \cap F = \emptyset$. We start noticing that $\chi_{E \cup F} = \chi_E + \chi_F$, so that the linearity of the heat flow and of the gradient yields

$$g_t(E \cup F) = g_t(E) + g_t(F) + 2g_t(E, F).$$

Therefore, by the **Case** E = F above,

$$\lim_{t\searrow 0}g_t(E,F)=\frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}}\frac{|\mathrm{D}\chi_{E\cup F}|(\mathsf{X})-|\mathrm{D}\chi_{E}|(\mathsf{X})-|\mathrm{D}\chi_{F}|(\mathsf{X})}{2}$$

Being E and F disjoint, $\partial^* E \cap F^1 = \partial^* F \cap E^1 = \{\nu_E = \nu_F\} = \emptyset$, so that, by Proposition 4.2.4,

$$|\mathrm{D}\chi_{E\cup F}| = |\mathrm{D}\chi_E| \, \sqcup F^0 + |\mathrm{D}\chi_F| \, \sqcup E^0 = |\mathrm{D}\chi_E| \, \sqcup \, (\mathsf{X} \setminus \partial^* F) + |\mathrm{D}\chi_F| \, \sqcup \, (\mathsf{X} \setminus \partial^* E),$$

that implies, by (3.5.1) (see also Remark 3.5.2),

$$|D\chi_{E\cup F}|(\mathsf{X}) = \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \left(\mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}E \setminus \mathcal{F}F) + \mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}F \setminus \mathcal{F}E) \right) \\ = \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \left(\mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}E) + \mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}F) - 2\mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}E \cap \mathcal{F}F) \right).$$

Hence, by (3.5.1) again,

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} g_t(E, F) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}E \cap \mathcal{F}F).$$

General case. Write $E = (E \cap F) \cup (E \setminus F)$ and $F = (F \cap E) \cup (F \setminus E)$, notice that $E \cap F$, $E \setminus F$ and $F \setminus E$ are pairwise disjoint. Exploiting linearity as before, we write

$$g_t(E,F) = g_t(E \cap F) + g_t(E \cap F, F \setminus E) + g_t(E \setminus F, F \cap E) + g_t(E \setminus F, F \setminus E).$$

Using the two cases treated above, we have that

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} g_t(E,F) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \left(\mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}(E \cap F)) - \mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}(E \cap F) \cap \mathcal{F}(F \setminus E)) - \mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}(E \setminus F) \cap \mathcal{F}(F \setminus E)) - \mathcal{H}^h(\mathcal{F}(E \setminus F) \cap \mathcal{F}(F \setminus E)) \right).$$
(7.1.13)

By a density argument based on Lemma 4.2.3 (see also Proposition 4.2.4), up to \mathcal{H}^{h} -negligible sets, it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}(E \cap F) &= \left(\mathcal{F}E \cap F^{1}\right) \cup \left(\mathcal{F}F \cap E^{1}\right) \cup \left(\mathcal{F}E \cap \mathcal{F}F \cap (E\Delta F)^{0}\right), \\ \mathcal{F}(F \setminus E) &= \left(\mathcal{F}F \cap E^{0}\right) \cup \left(\mathcal{F}E \cap F^{1}\right) \cup \left(\mathcal{F}E \cap \mathcal{F}F \cap (E\Delta F)^{1}\right), \\ \mathcal{F}(E \setminus F) &= \left(\mathcal{F}E \cap F^{0}\right) \cup \left(\mathcal{F}F \cap E^{1}\right) \cup \left(\mathcal{F}E \cap \mathcal{F}F \cap (E\Delta F)^{1}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where all unions are disjoint. We use these identities to compute, up to \mathcal{H}^h -negligible sets,

$$\mathcal{F}(E \cap F) \cap \mathcal{F}(F \setminus E) = \mathcal{F}E \cap F^{1},$$

$$\mathcal{F}(E \setminus F) \cap \mathcal{F}(F \cap E) = \mathcal{F}F \cap E^{1},$$

$$\mathcal{F}(E \setminus F) \cap \mathcal{F}(F \setminus E) = \mathcal{F}E \cap \mathcal{F}F \cap (E\Delta F)^{1}.$$

We compute then

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{H}^{h}(\mathcal{F}(E\cap F)) &- \mathcal{H}^{h}(\mathcal{F}(E\cap F)\cap \mathcal{F}(F\setminus E)) - \mathcal{H}^{h}(\mathcal{F}(E\setminus F)\cap \mathcal{F}(F\cap E)) \\ &- \mathcal{H}^{h}(\mathcal{F}(E\setminus F)\cap \mathcal{F}(F\setminus E)) \\ &= \mathcal{H}^{h}\big(\mathcal{F}E\cap F^{1}\big) + \mathcal{H}^{h}\big(\mathcal{F}F\cap E^{1}\big) + \mathcal{H}^{h}\big(\mathcal{F}E\cap \mathcal{F}F\cap (E\Delta F)^{0}\big) \\ &- \mathcal{H}^{h}\big(\mathcal{F}E\cap F^{1}\big) - \mathcal{H}^{h}\big(\mathcal{F}F\cap E^{1}\big) - \mathcal{H}^{h}\big(\mathcal{F}E\cap \mathcal{F}F\cap (E\Delta F)^{1}\big) \\ &= \mathcal{H}^{h}\big(\mathcal{F}E\cap \mathcal{F}F\cap (E\Delta F)^{0}\big) - \mathcal{H}^{h}\big(\mathcal{F}E\cap \mathcal{F}F\cap (E\Delta F)^{1}\big) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{F}E\cap \mathcal{F}F} \nu_{E} \cdot \nu_{F} \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{h}, \end{split}$$

where in the last equality we used Lemma 4.2.3 (or Proposition 4.2.4). Therefore, by recalling (7.1.13) we conclude that the statement holds for any $E, F \subseteq X$ of finite perimeter and finite measure.

Having Lemma 7.1.5 at our disposal, there is no effort in obtaining Theorem 7.1.6 below.

Theorem 7.1.6. Let (X, d, m) be an $\operatorname{RCD}(K, N)$ space. Let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of finite perimeter such that either $m(E) < \infty$ or $m(X \setminus E) < \infty$. Then

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int \int p_t(x,y) |\chi_E(x) - \chi_E(y)| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(x) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(y) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(\mathsf{X}).$$
(7.1.14)

7.1. MAIN RESULTS

Proof. We can assume with no loss of generality that $m(E) < \infty$. We compute (all the integrands are positive)

$$\int \int p_t(x,y) |\chi_E(y) - \chi_E(x)| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(x)$$

= $\int (1 - \chi_E(x)) \int_E p_t(x,y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(x) + \int \chi_E(x) \int_{\mathbf{X} \setminus E} p_t(x,y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(x)$
= $\int \chi_{\mathbf{X} \setminus E} h_t \chi_E \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} + \int \chi_E h_t \chi_{\mathbf{X} \setminus E} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = 2 \int_{\mathbf{X} \setminus E} h_t \chi_E \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} = 2 \int (1 - \chi_E) h_t \chi_E \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}$
= $2 \left(\mathbf{m}(E) - \int \chi_E h_t \chi_E \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \right) = 2 \int (\chi_E - h_t \chi_E) \chi_E \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}.$ (7.1.15)

We obtain (7.1.14) by dividing (7.1.15) by \sqrt{t} , letting $t \searrow 0$, and using (7.1.10).

As a technical tool, we need the following easy computation, obtained via classical techniques. Notice the role played by the regularizing properties of the heat flow on RCD spaces.

Lemma 7.1.7. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space and let $E, F \subseteq X$ two sets of finite perimeter and finite measure. Then

$$\left|\int (\mathbf{h}_t \chi_E - \chi_E) \chi_F \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}\right| \le 2e^{K(t/2-1)} |\mathbf{D}\chi_E|(\mathsf{X})\sqrt{t}.$$

Proof. We can compute, using (2.2.5) and (2.3.16) for the second inequality,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int (\mathbf{h}_t \chi_E - \chi_E) \chi_F \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \right| &= \left| \int_0^t \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s} \int (\mathbf{h}_s \chi_E - \chi_E) \chi_F \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \mathrm{d}s \right| = \left| \int_0^t \int \chi_F \Delta \mathbf{h}_s \chi_E \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \mathrm{d}s \right| \\ &\leq \int_0^t \int |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{s/2} \chi_F| |\nabla \mathbf{h}_{s/2} \chi_E| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \mathrm{d}s \leq \frac{1}{e^K} \int_0^t \frac{e^{-Ks/2}}{\sqrt{s}} \int \mathbf{h}_{s/2} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq 2e^{K(t/2-1)} |\mathbf{D} \chi_E| (\mathbf{X}) \sqrt{t}, \end{split}$$

which is the claim.

7.1.2 Proof of the main results

Proof of Theorem 7.1.1. By Lemma 7.1.3, if $f \notin BV(X)$, then the statement holds. Therefore, in what follows we assume $f \in BV(X)$. We argue via coarea and integration via Cavalieri's formula, as done in the references [41, Theorem 2.14] and [110, Theorem 4.1], building upon Theorem 7.1.6. Recall that (7.1.15) and Lemma 7.1.7 imply that for every $t \in (0, \infty)$,

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int \int p_t(x,y) |\chi_E(x) - \chi_E(y)| \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(x) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(y) \le 4e^{K(\frac{t}{2}-1)} |\mathrm{D}\chi_E|(\mathsf{X})$$
(7.1.16)

for every set of finite perimeter and finite measure $E \subseteq X$. Notice that (7.1.16) continues to hold as soon at least one between E and $X \setminus E$ has finite measure.

Take any sequence $t_i \searrow 0$. We denote $E_s := \{f > s\}$ and then we compute, by coarea, (7.1.14), dominated convergence (thanks to (7.1.16)) and Fubini's Theorem,

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathbf{D}\chi_{E_s}|(\mathsf{X}) \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lim_{i} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{t_i}} \int \int p_{t_i}(x, y) |\chi_{E_s}(x) - \chi_{E_s}(y)| \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(x) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y) \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \lim_{i} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{t_i}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int \int p_{t_i}(x, y) |\chi_{E_s}(x) - \chi_{E_s}(y)| \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(x) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y) \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \lim_{i} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{t_i}} \int \int p_{t_i}(x, y) \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\chi_{E_s}(x) - \chi_{E_s}(y)| \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(x) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y). \end{aligned}$$
(7.1.17)

Now we fix a Borel representative of f and $x, y \in X$. If $f(y) \leq f(x)$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\chi_{E_s}(x) - \chi_{E_s}(y)| \mathrm{d}s = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \chi_{E_s}(x) - \chi_{E_s}(y) \mathrm{d}s = f(x) - f(y) = |f(x) - f(y)|$$

and a similar conclusion holds if $f(y) \ge f(x)$. Therefore, we can continue (7.1.17) to obtain

$$|\mathbf{D}f|(\mathsf{X}) = \lim_{i} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{t_i}} \int \int p_{t_i}(x, y) |f(x) - f(y)| \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(x) \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y).$$

As the sequence $\{t_i\}_i$ was arbitrary, this concludes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 7.1.2. The proof of Theorem 7.1.2 is via coarea and integration via Cavalieri's formula, as done in the reference [110, Theorem 4.3], building upon Lemma 7.1.5. First, we write $f = f^+ - f^-$, where $f^+ := f \vee 0$ and $f^- := (-f) \vee 0$. Thanks to the coarea formula, we can apply Lemma 4.2.2 and infer that $\nu_{f^{\pm}} = \nu_{\pm f} |Df^{\pm}|$ -a.e. Also, a direct computation yields that $f^{\wedge} = (f^+)^{\wedge} - (f^-)^{\vee}$ and $f^{\vee} = (f^+)^{\vee} - (f^-)^{\wedge}$. Therefore, by linearity, we can assume that $f \geq 0$ m-a.e. We repeat the same argument for g to see that we can assume that also $g \geq 0$ m-a.e. Up to scaling, we assume that $0 \leq g \leq 1$ m-a.e.

Let now $E_s := \{f > s\}$ and $F_s := \{g > s\}$ and notice that for \mathcal{L}^1 -a.e. $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, by (7.1.16),

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int \int |p_t(x,y)\chi_{F_{\tau}}(x)(\chi_{E_{\sigma}}(x) - \chi_{E_{\sigma}}(y))| \mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(x)\mathrm{d}\mathsf{m}(y) \le 4e^{K(t/2-1)} |\mathsf{D}\chi_{E_{\sigma}}|(\mathsf{X}).$$
(7.1.18)

Notice that we can write for $(\mathsf{m} \otimes \mathsf{m})$ -a.e. $(x, y) \in \mathsf{X} \times \mathsf{X}$, as we are assuming $0 \leq f$ m-a.e. and $0 \leq g \leq 1$ m-a.e.

$$p_t(x,y)g(x)(f(x) - f(y)) = \int_0^\infty \int_0^1 p_t(x,y)\chi_{F_\tau}(x)(\chi_{E_\sigma}(x) - \chi_{E_\sigma}(y))\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}\sigma,$$

so that, by Fubini's Theorem (whose application is justified by (7.1.18) and coarea), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int (f - \mathbf{h}_t f) g \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int \int p_t(x, y) g(x) (f(x) - f(y)) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(x) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int_0^\infty \int_0^1 \int \int p_t(x, y) \chi_{F_\tau}(x) (\chi_{E_\sigma}(x) - \chi_{E_\sigma}(y)) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(y) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m}(x) \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int_0^\infty \int_0^1 \int \chi_{F_\tau}(\chi_{E_\sigma} - \mathbf{h}_t \chi_{E_\sigma}) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}\sigma. \end{split}$$

7.2. BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTES

Lemma 7.1.7 together with coarea again justify an application of the dominated convergence theorem in the limit as $t \searrow 0$ in the equation above, so that, by (7.1.9),

$$\begin{split} \lim_{t \searrow 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \int (f - \mathbf{h}_t f) g \mathrm{d}\mathbf{m} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_0^\infty \int_0^1 \int_{\mathcal{F} E_\sigma \cap \mathcal{F} F_\tau} \nu_{E_\sigma} \cdot \nu_{F_\tau} \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^h \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_0^\infty \int_0^1 \int_{\mathcal{F} E_\sigma \cap \mathcal{F} F_\tau} \nu_f \cdot \nu_g \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^h \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_0^\infty \int_0^1 \int \chi_{\partial^* F_\tau} (\nu_f \cdot \nu_g) \, \mathrm{d}(\mathcal{H}^h \sqcup (\mathcal{F} E_\sigma)) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}\sigma, \end{split}$$

where the second equality is due to Lemma 4.2.1.

Now recall that the map $(\tau, x) \mapsto \chi_{\partial^* F_{\tau}}(x)$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{L}^1 \otimes (\mathcal{H}^h \sqcup (\mathcal{F}E_{\sigma}))$ (cf. the proof of Proposition 4.2.12), so that by Fubini's theorem we can write

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_0^\infty \int_0^1 \int \chi_{\partial^* F_\tau} (\nu_f \cdot \nu_g) \, \mathrm{d}(\mathcal{H}^h \, \sqcup \, (\mathcal{F}E_\sigma)) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_0^\infty \int (g^{\vee} - g^{\wedge}) (\nu_f \cdot \nu_g) \, \mathrm{d}(\mathcal{H}^h \, \llcorner \, (\mathcal{F}E_\sigma)) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^\infty \int (g^{\vee} - g^{\wedge}) (\nu_f \cdot \nu_g) \, \mathrm{d}|\mathrm{D}\chi_{E_\sigma}| \mathrm{d}\sigma,$$

where we took into account (2.3.6) and finally (3.5.1) for the last equality. Notice that the integration over X is only on J_g , which is a σ -finite set with respect to \mathcal{H}^h (Proposition 4.2.11), so that $|Df| \sqcup J_g = |Df| \sqcup (J_f \cap J_g)$. Hence, by coarea we can continue the computation as

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^\infty \int (g^{\vee} - g^{\wedge})(\nu_f \cdot \nu_g) \mathrm{d} |\mathrm{D}\chi_{E_{\sigma}}| \mathrm{d}\sigma &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{J_g} (g^{\vee} - g^{\wedge})(\nu_f \cdot \nu_g) \,\mathrm{d} (|\mathrm{D}f| \sqcup J_f) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\omega_{n-1}}{\omega_n} \int_{J_g} (g^{\vee} - g^{\wedge})(f^{\vee} - f^{\wedge})(\nu_f \cdot \nu_g) \,\mathrm{d}(\mathcal{H}^h \sqcup J_f) \,, \end{aligned}$$

where we used (4.2.11). All in all, we have proved (7.1.1).

7.2 Bibliographical notes

We briefly motivate the investigation contained in this chapter along with some bibliographical notes. In their seminal work [40], Bourgain-Brezis-Mironescu showed that if $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is a smooth bounded domain and $p \in (1, \infty)$, then the *p*-Sobolev seminorm of a function $f \in L^p(\Omega)$ coincides (up to a multiplicative factor, depending only on *p* and *n*) with the limit

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \left(\int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho_i(|x - y|) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y \right)^{1/p},$$

where $\{\rho_i\}_i$ are suitably chosen kernels of mollification. The result was then generalized to BV functions by Dávila [63] and Ambrosio independently. In the BV case, it holds that if $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary, then the total variation $|Df|(\Omega)$ of any function $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ coincides (up to a multiplicative factor, depending only on n) with

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x - y|} \rho_i(|x - y|) \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y.$$

Brezis suggested in [47, Remark 6] that it might be interesting to generalize the theory to more general metric measure spaces (X, d, m). Recently, in [103] the authors studied a characterization of the BV space in metric measure spaces supporting a doubling measure and a Poincaré inequality for a large class of mollifiers. In the same paper, the authors also provided a counterexample in the case p = 1, demonstrating that (unlike in Euclidean spaces) in metric measure spaces the limit of suitable nonlocal functionals is only comparable, but not necessarily equal, to the total variation measure of the function f. Hence, it is clear that, in order to obtain results like Theorem 7.1.1 and Theorem 7.1.2, additional assumptions on the space are in order.

In many cases of interest, a good choice of mollifiers is given by the (suitably rescaled) heat kernels. In the case of functions of bounded variation, this has been done by several authors: on Euclidean spaces or Riemannian manifolds in [110, 109] and [56], on Carnot groups in [41], and on PI spaces in [105].

Chapter 7 is entirely taken from [46], with no significant modifications, where parts of the arguments are borrowed from from [41, 110]. In particular, for what concerns the proofs of Theorem 7.1.1 and Theorem 7.1.2, we follow the argument as in the proofs of [110, Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 4.3], respectively, (however, to deduce the membership $f \in BV(X)$ of Theorem 7.1.1, we exploit directly [105]). Our main contributions are then in the proofs of the intermediate results that are combined to prove Theorem 7.1.1 and Theorem 7.1.2. In particular, Lemma 7.1.4 is inspired by the proof of [41, Theorem 2.13], obtained with a blow-up argument, but we have to face the additional difficulty of the lack of the linear structure of Carnot groups. Also, the computations with L'Hôpital's rule used to prove Lemma 7.1.5 have already been used to prove [41, Theorem 2.13], but in our case, again, we cannot exploit the linear structure, so that we have to rely on the regularizing properties of the heat flow on RCD spaces. The case of possibly different E and F is obtained with a polarization argument and a careful computation: due to the lack of a linear structure, the strategy used in the references seems not suitable to our case.

Chapter 8

Appendix

8.1 Differentiability of Lipschitz functions

The aim of this section is to introduce a powerful result that relates "closability of certain differentiation operators" and "differentiability of Lipschitz functions in related directions", and which is an indispensable tool to prove Theorem 4.3.6. We decided to move Theorem 8.1.1 to the appendix, as it is not related with the main framework of this manuscript, which is the one of non-smooth spaces.

Before stating the main result of this section, we start recalling some terminology. Given $\varphi \in \operatorname{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^l)$, we say that φ is differentiable at x with respect to $V \in \operatorname{Gr}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ if there exists a linear map $\nabla_V \varphi(x) : V \to \mathbb{R}^l$ such that

$$\varphi(x+v) = \varphi(x) + \nabla_V \varphi(x) \cdot v + o(|v|) \quad \text{for } v \in V.$$

If $v \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we say that φ is differentiable at x in direction v if φ is differentiable at x with respect to span(v).

We are going to exploit in a crucial way the following result, which is a restatement of results contained in [3, 2] (see in particular, [3, Theorem 1.1] and [2, Theorem 1.1]). We refer the reader to these references for the definition of $V(\mu, \cdot)$, the *decomposability bundle* associated to the Radon measure μ , as we are not going to use this notion elsewhere (indeed, we are going to exploit the equivalence between items ii) and iii) below, which can be understood without knowing the definition of the decomposability bundle).

Theorem 8.1.1. Let $v\mu$ be a m-vector valued measure on \mathbb{R}^m , where $v \in L^{\infty}(\mu)^m$ and μ is finite. Then the following assertions are equivalent.

- i) $v(x) \in V(\mu, x)$ for μ -a.e. x.
- ii) Every Lipschitz function is differentiable in direction v(x) for μ -a.e. x.
- iii) The operator

 $D: C^1(\mathbb{R}^m) \cap \mathrm{LIP}_b(\mathbb{R}^m) \to L^\infty(\mu) \qquad \varphi \mapsto \nabla \varphi \, \cdot \, v$

is closable, in the sense that if $\{\varphi_k\}_k \subseteq C^1(\mathbb{R}^m) \cap \mathrm{LIP}_b(\mathbb{R}^m)$ is a sequence of uniformly bounded and uniformly Lipschitz functions converging pointwise to $\varphi \in \mathrm{LIP}_b(\mathbb{R}^m)$, then $D(\varphi_k) \to \ell$ in the weak^{*} topology of $L^{\infty}(\mu)$, for some $\ell \in L^{\infty}(\mu)$. If any (hence all) of the items above holds, if ℓ is as in item iii) for φ , then

$$\ell(x) = \nabla_{v(x)}\varphi(x) \cdot v(x)$$
 for μ -a.e. x .

In our approximation arguments, we are going to need the following result, which is extracted from [3, Corollary 8.3]. Below, the global Lipschitz constant of $\varphi \in \text{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ is the least number $L \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $|\varphi(x) - \varphi(y)| \leq L|x-y|$ for every $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$. Notice that the claim of the following lemma is stronger than item *iii*) of Theorem 8.1.1, as the consequence is pointwise and not only in the weak sense.

Lemma 8.1.2. Let $\varphi \in \text{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ and let μ be a finite measure on \mathbb{R}^m . Assume also that $x \mapsto v(x)$ is a bounded Borel map such that for μ -a.e. x, φ is differentiable in direction v(x) at x. Then there exists a sequence $\{\varphi_k\}_k \subseteq C^1(\mathbb{R}^m) \cap \text{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ such that $\varphi_k \to \varphi$ uniformly, the global Lipschitz constant of φ_k converges to the global Lipschitz constant of φ , and finally

 $\nabla \varphi_k(x) \cdot v(x) \to \nabla_{v(x)} \varphi(x) \cdot v(x)$ for μ -a.e. x.

8.2 Bibliographical notes

The results of the short Section 8.1 are taken from [3, 2].

In an imprecise way (see [3] for the rigorous definition), the *decomposability bundle* of μ is the "minimal" map $V_{\mu} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \operatorname{Gr}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that, whenever we have a measure space (I, dt) and a family of measures $(\mu_t)_{t \in I}$ such that

- μ_t is the restriction of \mathcal{H}^1 to an 1-rectifiable set E_t , for every $t \in I$,
- $t \mapsto \mu_t$ enjoys suitable regularity assumptions,
- $\int_I \mu_t \mathrm{d}t \ll \mu$,

then

$$\operatorname{Tan}(E_t, x) \subseteq V_{\mu}(x)$$
 for μ_t -a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and a.e. $t \in I$.

The main result of [3] is then to characterize the directions along which Lipschitz functions are differentiable μ -a.e. in terms of V_{μ} . In particular:

- for every $f \in \text{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, f is differentiable at μ -a.e. x with respect to the subspace $V_{\mu}(x)$;
- there exists $\overline{f} \in \text{LIP}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that for μ -a.e. x and $v \notin V_{\mu}(x)$, \overline{f} is not differentiable at x in direction v.

This implies the equivalence between items i) and ii) of Theorem 8.1.1. The equivalence between items i) and iii) of Theorem 8.1.1 is still a consequence of the results [3] and has been proved in [2]. More precisely, the implication iii) \Rightarrow i) (which, together with the implication i) \Rightarrow ii) is what we really need in the proof of Theorem 4.3.6) is a consequence of the construction of "width functions", see (the discussion above) [3, Lemma 4.12].

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my advisors, Prof. L. Ambrosio and Prof. N. Gigli, for their exceptional mentorship and unwavering support throughout my PhD journey. I am also deeply thankful to Prof. S. Honda, who always helped me with kindness, and whose valuable comments improved this manuscript.

Bibliography

- [1] G. Alberti. Rank one property for derivatives of functions with bounded variation. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society of Edinburgh: Section A Mathematics, 123(2):239–274, 1993.
- [2] G. Alberti, D. Bate, and A. Marchese. On the closability of differential operators. Preprint, arXiv:, 2023, 2023.
- [3] G. Alberti and A. Marchese. On the differentiability of Lipschitz functions with respect to measures in the Euclidean space. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 26(1):1–66, 2016.
- [4] L. Ambrosio. Metric space valued functions of bounded variation. Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa - Classe di Scienze, Ser. 4, 17(3):439–478, 1990.
- [5] L. Ambrosio. A new proof of the SBV compactness theorem. Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations, 3(1):127–137, 1995.
- [6] L. Ambrosio. Some Fine Properties of Sets of Finite Perimeter in Ahlfors Regular Metric Measure Spaces. Advances in Mathematics, (159):51–67, 2001.
- [7] L. Ambrosio. Fine properties of sets of finite perimeter in doubling metric measure spaces. Set Valued Analysis, 10:111–128, 2002.
- [8] L. Ambrosio. Transport equation and Cauchy problem for BV vector fields. Invent. Math., 158(2):227-260, 2004.
- [9] L. Ambrosio. Calculus, heat flow and curvature-dimension bounds in metric measure spaces. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians—Rio de Janeiro 2018. Vol. I. Plenary lectures, pages 301–340. World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2018.
- [10] L. Ambrosio, E. Bruè, and D. Semola. Rigidity of the 1-Bakry-Émery inequality and sets of finite perimeter in RCD spaces. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, page 45, 2018.
- [11] L. Ambrosio, M. Colombo, and S. Di Marino. Sobolev spaces in metric measure spaces: reflexivity and lower semicontinuity of slope. In *Variational methods for evolving objects*, volume 67 of *Adv. Stud. Pure Math.*, pages 1–58. Math. Soc. Japan, [Tokyo], 2015.
- [12] L. Ambrosio and G. Dal Maso. A General Chain rule for Distributional Derivatives. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 108(3):691–702, 1990.
- [13] L. Ambrosio and G. Dal Maso. On the relaxation in $BV(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^m)$ of quasi-convex integrals. J. Funct. Anal., 109(1):76–97, 1992.

- [14] L. Ambrosio and E. De Giorgi. Un nuovo tipo di funzionale del calcolo delle variazioni. Atti della Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei. Classe di Scienze Fisiche, Matematiche e Naturali. Rendiconti, 82:199–210, 1988.
- [15] L. Ambrosio and S. Di Marino. Equivalent definitions of BV space and of total variation on metric measure spaces. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 266(7):4150 – 4188, 2014.
- [16] L. Ambrosio and A. Figalli. Surface measures and convergence of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup in Wiener spaces. Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (6), 20(2):407–438, 2011.
- [17] L. Ambrosio, A. Figalli, and E. Runa. On sets of finite perimeter in Wiener spaces: reduced boundary and convergence to halfspaces. *Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl.*, 24(1):111–122, 2013.
- [18] L. Ambrosio, N. Fusco, and D. Pallara. Functions of bounded variation and free discontinuity problems. Clarendon Press, Oxford New York, 2000.
- [19] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, A. Mondino, and T. Rajala. Riemannian Ricci curvature lower bounds in metric measure spaces with σ -finite measure. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 367(7):4661–4701, 2012.
- [20] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, and G. Savaré. Density of Lipschitz functions and equivalence of weak gradients in metric measure spaces. *Rev. Mat. Iberoam.*, 29(3):969–996, 2013.
- [21] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, and G. Savaré. Calculus and heat flow in metric measure spaces and applications to spaces with Ricci bounds from below. *Invent. Math.*, 195(2):289–391, 2014.
- [22] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, and G. Savaré. Metric measure spaces with Riemannian Ricci curvature bounded from below. *Duke Mathematical Journal*, 163(7):1405–1490, May 2014.
- [23] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, and G. Savaré. Bakry-Émery curvature-dimension condition and Riemannian Ricci curvature bounds. The Annals of Probability, 43(1):339–404, 2015.
- [24] L. Ambrosio and S. Honda. New stability results for sequences of metric measure spaces with uniform Ricci bounds from below. *Measure Theory in Non-Smooth Spaces*, pages 1–51, 2017.
- [25] L. Ambrosio and S. Honda. Local spectral convergence in $\text{RCD}^*(K, N)$ spaces. Nonlinear Anal., 177(part A):1–23, 2018.
- [26] L. Ambrosio, S. Honda, and D. Tewodrose. Short-time behavior of the heat kernel and Weyl's law on $\text{RCD}^*(K, N)$ spaces. Ann. Global Anal. Geom., 53(1):97–119, 2018.
- [27] L. Ambrosio and B. Kirchheim. Rectifiable sets in metric and Banach spaces. Math. Ann., 318(3):527–555, 2000.
- [28] L. Ambrosio, M. Miranda Jr., and D. Pallara. Special Functions of Bounded Variation in Doubling Metric Measure Spaces. Quad. Mat., 14:1–45, 2004.
- [29] L. Ambrosio, A. Mondino, and G. Savaré. On the Bakry-Émery condition, the gradient estimates and the Local-to-Global property of $RCD^*(K, N)$ metric measure spaces. The Journal of Geometric Analysis, 26(1):1–33, 2014.
- [30] L. Ambrosio, A. Pinamonti, and G. Speight. Tensorization of Cheeger energies, the space H^{1,1} and the area formula for graphs. Adv. Math., 281:1145–1177, 2015.
- [31] L. Ambrosio and P. Tilli. Topics on analysis in metric spaces, volume 25 of Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2004.
- [32] G. Antonelli, C. Brena, and E. Pasqualetto. The Rank-One theorem on RCD spaces. Accepted at Analysis & PDE. ArXiv:2204.04921, 2022.
- [33] G. Antonelli, C. Brena, and E. Pasqualetto. Subgraphs of BV functions on RCD spaces. Annals of Global Analysis and Geometry, 65(2):14, 2024.
- [34] G. Antonelli, E. Bruè, and D. Semola. Volume bounds for the quantitative singular strata of non collapsed RCD metric measure spaces. Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces, 7(1):158–178, 2019.
- [35] G. Anzellotti and M. Giaquinta. Funzioni BV e tracce. Rendiconti del Seminario Matematico della Università di Padova, 60:1–21, 1978.
- [36] D. Bakry. Transformations de Riesz pour les semi-groupes symétriques. II. Étude sous la condition $\Gamma_2 \geq 0$. In Séminaire de probabilités, XIX, 1983/84, volume 1123 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 145–174. Springer, Berlin, 1985.
- [37] D. Bate. Characterising rectifiable metric spaces using tangent spaces. Inventiones mathematicae, 230(3):995–1070, 2022.
- [39] A. Björn and J. Björn. Nonlinear potential theory on metric spaces, volume 17 of EMS Tracts in Mathematics. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2011.
- [40] J. Bourgain, H. Brezis, and P. Mironescu. Another look at Sobolev spaces. In Optimal control and partial differential equations, pages 439–455. IOS, Amsterdam, 2001.
- [41] M. Bramanti, M. Miranda Jr., and D. Pallara. Two characterizations of BV functions on Carnot groups via the heat semigroup. Int. Math. Res. Notices, 17:3845–3876, 2012.
- [42] C. Brena and N. Gigli. Calculus and Fine Properties of Functions of Bounded Variation on RCD Spaces. The Journal of Geometric Analysis, 34(1):11, 2023.
- [43] C. Brena and N. Gigli. About the general chain rule for functions of bounded variation. Nonlinear Analysis, 242:113518, 2024.
- [44] C. Brena and N. Gigli. Local vector measures. Journal of Functional Analysis, 286(1):110202, 2024.
- [45] C. Brena, F. Nobili, and E. Pasqualetto. Maps of bounded variation from PI spaces to metric spaces. Accepted at Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. ArXiv: 2306.00768, 2023.
- [46] C. Brena, E. Pasqualetto, and A. Pinamonti. Sobolev and BV functions on RCD spaces via the short-time behaviour of the heat kernel. Accepted at Comm. in Cont. Math. ArXiv:2212.03910, 2022.

- [47] H. Brezis. How to recognize constant functions. A connection with Sobolev spaces. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk, 57(4(346)):59-74, 2002.
- [48] E. Bruè, A. Naber, and D. Semola. Boundary regularity and stability for spaces with Ricci bounded below. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 228(2):777–891, 2022.
- [49] E. Bruè, E. Pasqualetto, and D. Semola. Rectifiability of RCD(K, N) spaces via δ-splitting maps. Ann. Fenn. Math., 46(1):465–482, 2021.
- [50] E. Bruè, E. Pasqualetto, and D. Semola. Constancy of the dimension in codimension one and locality of the unit normal on RCD(K, N) spaces. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci., pages 1765–1816, 2023.
- [51] E. Bruè, E. Pasqualetto, and D. Semola. Rectifiability of the reduced boundary for sets of finite perimeter over RCD(K, N) spaces. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 25(2):413–465, 2023.
- [52] E. Bruè and D. Semola. Constancy of the dimension for RCD(K, N) spaces via regularity of Lagrangian flows. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 73(6):1141–1204, 2020.
- [53] V. Buffa, G. E. Comi, and M. Miranda Jr. On *BV* functions and essentially bounded divergence-measure fields in metric spaces. *Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana*, page 65, 2021.
- [54] R. Caccioppoli. Misura e integrazione sugli insiemi dimensionalmente orientati. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat. (8), 12:3–11, 1952.
- [55] R. Caccioppoli. Misura e integrazione sugli insiemi dimensionalmente orientati. II. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat. (8), 12:137–146, 1952.
- [56] A. Carbonaro and G. Mauceri. A note on bounded variation and heat semigroup on Riemannian manifolds. Bulletin of the Australian Mathematical Society, 76(1):155–160, 2007.
- [57] J. Cheeger. Differentiability of Lipschitz functions on metric measure spaces. Geom. Funct. Anal., 9(3):428–517, 1999.
- [58] J. Cheeger and T. H. Colding. Lower bounds on Ricci curvature and the almost rigidity of warped products. Ann. of Math. (2), 144(1):189–237, 1996.
- [59] J. Cheeger and T. H. Colding. On the structure of spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below. I. J. Differential Geom., 46(3):406–480, 1997.
- [60] J. Cheeger and T. H. Colding. On the structure of spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below. II. J. Differential Geom., 54(1):13–35, 2000.
- [61] J. Cheeger and T. H. Colding. On the structure of spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below. III. J. Differential Geom., 54(1):37–74, 2000.
- [62] T. H. Colding and A. Naber. Sharp Hölder continuity of tangent cones for spaces with a lower Ricci curvature bound and applications. Ann. of Math. (2), 176(2):1173–1229, 2012.
- [63] J. Dávila. On an open question about functions of bounded variation. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 15(4):519–527, 2002.
- [64] E. De Giorgi. Su una teoria generale della misura (r-1)-dimensionale in uno spazio ad r dimensioni. Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata, 36(1):191–213, 1954.

- [65] E. De Giorgi. Nuovi teoremi relativi alle misure (r-1)-dimensionali in uno spazio ad r dimensioni. *Ric. Mat.*, 4:95–113, 1955.
- [66] C. De Lellis. A Note on Alberti's Rank-One Theorem, pages 61–74. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008.
- [67] G. De Philippis, A. Marchese, and F. Rindler. On a conjecture of Cheeger. In *Measure theory in non-smooth spaces*, Partial Differ. Equ. Meas. Theory, pages 145–155. De Gruyter Open, Warsaw, 2017.
- [68] G. De Philippis and F. Rindler. On the structure of A-free measures and applications. Ann. of Math. (2), 184(3):1017–1039, 2016.
- [69] C. Debin, N. Gigli, and E. Pasqualetto. Quasi-Continuous vector fields on RCD spaces. Potential Anal., 54(1):183–211, 2021.
- [70] Q. Deng. Hölder continuity of tangent cones in RCD(K,N) spaces and applications to nonbranching. Preprint, arXiv: 2009.07956, 2020.
- [71] S. Di Marino. Recent advances on BV and Sobolev Spaces in metric measure spaces. PhD Thesis, 2014.
- [72] S. Di Marino. Sobolev and BV spaces on metric measure spaces via derivations and integration by parts. Preprint, arXiv:1409.5620, 2014.
- [73] S. Don, A. Massaccesi, and D. Vittone. Rank-one theorem and subgraphs of BV functions in Carnot groups. J. Funct. Anal., 276:687–715, 2019.
- [74] M. Erbar, K. Kuwada, and K.-T. Sturm. On the equivalence of the entropic curvaturedimension condition and Bochner's inequality on metric measure spaces. *Invent. Math.*, 201(3):1–79, 2014.
- [75] S. Eriksson-Bique, J. T. Gill, P. Lahti, and N. Shanmugalingam. Asymptotic behavior of BV functions and sets of finite perimeter in metric measure spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 374(11):8201–8247, 2021.
- [76] L. C. Evans and R. F. Gariepy. Measure theory and fine properties of functions. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2015.
- [77] H. Federer. Geometric measure theory. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 153. Springer-Verlag New York Inc., New York, 1969.
- [78] W. H. Fleming and R. Rishel. An integral formula for total gradient variation. Archiv der Mathematik, 11(1):218–222, 1960.
- [79] M. Giaquinta, G. Modica, and J. Soucek. Cartesian currents in the calculus of variations. I. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 1998.
- [80] N. Gigli. On the heat flow on metric measure spaces: existence, uniqueness and stability. *Calc. Var. PDE*, 39(1-2):101–120, 2010.
- [81] N. Gigli. The splitting theorem in non-smooth context. Preprint, arXiv:1302.5555, 2013.

- [82] N. Gigli. On the differential structure of metric measure spaces and applications. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 236(1113):vi+91, 2015.
- [83] N. Gigli. Lecture notes on differential calculus on RCD spaces. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., 54(4):855–918, 2018.
- [84] N. Gigli. Nonsmooth differential geometry an approach tailored for spaces with Ricci curvature bounded from below. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 251(1196):v+161, 2018.
- [85] N. Gigli. De Giorgi and Gromov working together. Preprint, arXiv: 2306.14604, 2023.
- [86] N. Gigli and B.-X. Han. Independence on p of weak upper gradients on RCD spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 271(1):1–11, 2016.
- [87] N. Gigli, A. Mondino, and T. Rajala. Euclidean spaces as weak tangents of infinitesimally Hilbertian metric measure spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below. J. Reine Angew. Math., 705:233-244, 2015.
- [88] N. Gigli, A. Mondino, and G. Savaré. Convergence of pointed non-compact metric measure spaces and stability of Ricci curvature bounds and heat flows. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3), 111(5):1071–1129, 2015.
- [89] N. Gigli and E. Pasqualetto. Lectures on nonsmooth differential geometry, volume 2 of SISSA Springer Series. Springer, Cham, [2020] (C)2020.
- [90] N. Gigli and E. Pasqualetto. Behaviour of the reference measure on RCD spaces under charts. Comm. Anal. Geom., 29(6):1391–1414, 2021.
- [91] E. Giusti. Minimal surfaces and functions of bounded variation, volume 80 of Monographs in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1984.
- [92] M. Gromov. Metric structures for Riemannian and non-Riemannian spaces. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, english edition, 2007. Based on the 1981 French original, With appendices by M. Katz, P. Pansu and S. Semmes, Translated from the French by Sean Michael Bates.
- [93] P. Hajłasz and P. Koskela. Sobolev met Poincaré. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 145, 05 2000.
- [94] B.-X. Han. Ricci tensor on $RCD^*(K, N)$ spaces. J. Geom. Anal., 28(2):1295–1314, 2018.
- [95] J. Heinonen, P. Koskela, N. Shanmugalingam, and J. T. Tyson. Sobolev spaces on metric measure spaces, volume 27 of New Mathematical Monographs. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2015. An approach based on upper gradients.
- [96] R. Jiang. Cheeger-harmonic functions in metric measure spaces revisited. Journal of Functional Analysis, 266:1373–1394, 2014.
- [97] R. Jiang, H. Li, and H. Zhang. Heat Kernel Bounds on Metric Measure Spaces and Some Applications. *Potential Analysis*, 44, 2014.
- [98] M. Kell and A. Mondino. On the volume measure of non-smooth spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below. Annali della Scuola normale superiore di Pisa, Classe di scienze, XVII:593– 610, 04 2018.

- [99] J. Kinnunen, R. Korte, N. Shanmugalingam, and H. Tuominen. Pointwise properties of functions of bounded variation in metric spaces. *Revista Matemática Complutense*, 27, 2011.
- [100] B. Kirchheim. Rectifiable metric spaces: Local structure and regularity of the hausdorff measure. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 121(1):113–123, 1994.
- [101] Y. Kitabeppu. A sufficient condition to a regular set being of positive measure on RCD spaces. *Potential Anal.*, 51(2):179–196, 2019.
- [102] P. Lahti. A sharp Leibniz rule for BV functions in metric spaces. Rev. Mat. Complut., 33(3):797–816, 2020.
- [103] P. Lahti, A. Pinamonti, and X. Zhou. A characterization of BV and Sobolev functions via nonlocal functionals in metric spaces. Preprint, arXiv:2207.02488, 2022.
- [104] J. Lott and C. Villani. Ricci curvature for metric-measure spaces via optimal transport. Ann. of Math. (2), 169(3):903–991, 2009.
- [105] N. Marola, M. Miranda Jr., and N. Shanmugalingam. Characterizations of Sets of Finite Perimeter Using Heat Kernels in Metric Spaces. *Potential Analysis*, 45(4):609–633, 2016.
- [106] A. Massaccesi and D. Vittone. An elementary proof of the rank-one theorem for BV functions. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 21(10):3255–3258, 2019.
- [107] M. Miranda. Superfici cartesiane generalizzate ed insiemi di perimetro localmente finito sui prodotti cartesiani. Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa - Classe di Scienze, 18(4):515–542, 1964.
- [108] M. Miranda Jr. Functions of bounded variation on "good" metric spaces. Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, 82(8):975 – 1004, 2003.
- [109] M. Miranda Jr., D. Pallara, F. Paronetto, and M. Preunkert. Heat semigroup and functions of bounded variation on Riemannian manifolds. J. Reine Ang. Math., 2007(613):99–119, 2007.
- [110] M. Miranda Jr., D. Pallara, F. Paronetto, and M. Preunkert. Short-time heat flow and functions of bounded variation in R^N. Annales de la Faculté des sciences de Toulouse: Mathématiques, Ser. 6, 16(1):125–145, 2007.
- [111] A. Mondino and A. Naber. Structure theory of metric measure spaces with lower Ricci curvature bounds. *Journal of the European Mathematical Society*, 21(6):1809–1854, Mar 2019.
- [112] F. Nobili, E. Pasqualetto, and T. Schultz. On master test plans for the space of BV functions. Adv. Calc. Var., 16(4):1061–1092, 2023.
- [113] T. Rajala. Local Poincaré inequalities from stable curvature conditions on metric spaces. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 44(3-4):477–494, 2012.
- [114] G. Savaré. Self-improvement of the Bakry-Émery condition and Wasserstein contraction of the heat flow in $\text{RCD}(K, \infty)$ metric measure spaces. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.*, 34(4):1641–1661, 2014.

- [115] D. Semola. Recent developments about Geometric Analysis on RCD(K, N) spaces. PhD thesis, Scuola Normale Superiore, 2020. cvgmt preprint.
- [116] N. Shanmugalingam. Newtonian spaces: an extension of Sobolev spaces to metric measure spaces. *Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana*, 16(2):243–279, 2000.
- [117] L. Simon. Lectures on Geometric Measure Theory, volume 3. The Australian National University, Mathematical Sciences Institute, Centre for Mathematics & its Applications, 1 1983.
- [118] K.-T. Sturm. Analysis on local Dirichlet spaces. II. Upper Gaussian estimates for the fundamental solutions of parabolic equations. Osaka J. Math., 32(2):275–312, 1995.
- [119] K.-T. Sturm. Analysis on local Dirichlet spaces. III. The parabolic Harnack inequality. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 75(3):273–297, 1996.
- [120] K.-T. Sturm. On the geometry of metric measure spaces. I. Acta Math., 196(1):65–131, 2006.
- [121] K.-T. Sturm. On the geometry of metric measure spaces. II. Acta Math., 196(1):133–177, 2006.
- [122] K.-T. Sturm. Ricci tensor for diffusion operators and curvature-dimension inequalities under conformal transformations and time changes. J. Funct. Anal., 275(4):793–829, 2018.
- [123] C. Villani. Optimal transport. Old and new, volume 338 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009.
- [124] C. Villani. dans Inégalités isopérimétriques espaces métriques les mesurés Cavalletti [d'après F. & Α. Mondino]. Séminaire Bourbaki, available at: http://www.bourbaki.ens.fr/TEXTES/1127.pdf, 2017.
- [125] A. I. Vol'pert. Spaces BV and quasilinear equations. Mathematics of the USSR-Sbornik, 2(2):225-267, feb 1967.
- [126] A. I. Vol'pert and S. I. Hudjaev. Analysis in Classes of Discontinuous Functions and Equations of Mathematical Physics. Mechanics: Analysis. Springer Netherlands, 1985.
- [127] N. Weaver. Lipschitz algebras and derivations. II. Exterior differentiation. J. Funct. Anal., 178(1):64–112, 2000.